A Grammar of Konso

Published by LOT Trans 10 3512 JK Utrecht The Netherlands

phone: +31 30 253 6006

e-mail: lot@uu.nl http://www.lotschool.nl

ISBN: 978-94-6093-109-3 NUR 616

Copyright © 2013: Ongaye Oda Orkaydo. All rights reserved.

ii

A Grammar of Konso

Proefschrift

ter verkrijging van

de graad van Doctor aan de Universiteit Leiden,

op gezag van Rector Magnificus prof.mr. C.J.J.M. Stolker,

volgens besluit van het College voor Promoties

te verdedigen op donderdag 28 maart 2013

klokke 13.45 uur

door

Ongaye Oda Orkaydo

geboren te Konso, Ethiopië

in 1976

Promotor:	Prof. dr. M.P.G.M. Mous
Co-promotor:	Dr. Azeb Amha
Other members:	Prof.dr. G. Banti (Universitario Orientale Napoli) Prof.dr. G.E. Booij (Universiteit Leiden) Dr. J. Doetjes (Universiteit Leiden)

The research on which this thesis is based was funded by Leiden University Centre for Linguistics (LUCL).

ii

Table of contents

List of st	ructure morphemes	vii
List of sy	mbols and abbreviations	ix
Map		xi
Acknowl	edgments	. xiii
1. Intro	oduction	1
1.1.	The people	1
1.2.	The language	2
1.3.	Previous linguistic works	
1.4.	The present study	5
1.5.	Fieldwork	6
2. Phot	nology and morphophonology	7
2.1.	Consonant phonemes	7
2.1.1	1. Description of consonant phonemes	8
2.1.2	2. (Near) minimal pairs	12
2.1.3	3. Gemination	14
2.1.4	4. Distributions of consonant phonemes	15
2.2.	Vowel phonemes	19
2.2.1	1. Description of vowels	19
2.2.2	2. Contrast of short vowels	20
2.2.3	3. Contrast of long vowels	21
2.2.4	4. Vowel length	22
2.2.5	5. Vowel co-occurrences	22
2.3.	Phonotactics	23
2.4.	Lexical variations	26
2.5.	Syllable Structure	29
2.5.1	I. Syllable patterns in nouns	30
2.5.2	2. Syllable patterns in verb roots	32
2.6.	Epenthesis and syllable sequences	35
2.7.	Phonological processes	36
2.7.1	1. Insertion of /?/	36
2.7.2	2. Devoicing	37
2.7.3	3. Assimilation	38
2.7.4	4. Spirantisation	40
2.7.5	5. Labialisation	41
2.8.	Morphophonemic processes	42
2.8.1	1. Elision of /?/	42
2.8.2	2. Metathesis	43
2.8.3	3. Assimilation involving the causative and middle derivation	44
2.8.4	4. Assimilation involving verb root final t	48
2.8.5	5. Assimilation involving n in subject clitics	48
2.8.6	5. Assimilation of a glottal stop in encliticisation	50
2.8.7	7. Vowel coalescence	54
2.8.8	B. Haplology	55

	2.9.	Tone	. 56
3.	Simpl	e sentences	. 59
	3.1.	Verbal simple sentences	. 59
	3.2.	Adjectival sentences	. 62
	3.3.	Nominal sentences	. 68
	3.4.	Cleft sentences	. 69
4.	Nouns	5	. 73
	4.1.	Gender	. 73
	4.1.1.	Gender of nouns	. 73
	4.1.2.	Gender agreement in definiteness marking	. 77
	4.1.3.	Gender agreement in demonstratives	. 78
	4.1.4.	Gender agreement in adjectives	. 79
	4.2.	Number	. 80
	4.2.1.	Number suffixes	. 80
	4.2.2.	Reduplicating the base final consonant	. 83
	4.2.3.	Plurative marking by gemination	. 84
	4.2.4.	Double plurative derivation	. 85
	4.2.5.	Irregular pluratives	. 85
	4.2.6.	Suppletive plurals	. 86
	4.2.7.	Pluratives without corresponding singulative forms	. 86
	4.2.8.	Derivation of singulatives	. 87
	4.2.9.	Associative plural	. 88
	4.3.	Plurality in adjectives	. 89
	4.4.	Semantic gender distinction	. 89
	4.5.	Diminutives	. 91
	4.6.	Indefinite reference and indefinite-specific morphemes	. 93
	4.7.	Definite reference	. 95
	4.8.	Demonstrative suffixes	. 97
	4.9.	Numerals	101
	4.9.1.	Cardinal numbers	101
	4.9.2.	Mathematical operations	104
	4.9.3.	Ordinals	107
	4.10.	Nominal derivation	108
	4.10.1	. Denominal/adjectival abstract nominals	108
	4.10.2	2. Deverbal agentive nominals	108
	4.10.3	Denominal ethnic nominals	109
	4.10.4	Denominal nouns with indication of characteristic	110
	4.10.5	5. Deadjectival individual entities	111
	4.10.6	5. Deverbal action nouns	111
	4.11.	Case	113
	4.11.1	. The nominative and accusative cases	113
	4.11.2	2. The genitive case	115
	4.11.3	5. The dative case	117
	4.11.4	The instrumental case	119
	4.11.5	5. The vocative case	119

ii

	4.11.6	5. The locational markers -Vyve and -?	. 120
	4.11.7	. The background marker	. 122
	4.12.	Compounding	. 123
5.	Prono	uns	. 127
	5.1	Personal pronouns	. 127
	5.2	Demonstrative pronouns	128
	53	Possessives	131
	5.5. 5.4	Reflevive	134
	5. 4 . 5.5	Reciprocity and 'each'	136
6	J.J. Verba	Recipioenty and each	130
0.	6.1	Verb derivation	130
	6.1.1	Concertive	120
	0.1.1.	Middle	145
	0.1.2.		143
	0.1.3.		. 140
	0.1.4.		. 149
	6.1.5.	Pluractionals and punctuals	. 151
	6.2.	Verb inflection	. 156
	6.2.1.	Aspect	. 156
_	6.2.2.	Mood	. 163
7.	Adjec	tives	. 167
	7.1.	Adjectival root classes	. 167
	7.2.	Reduplication in adjectives	. 168
	7.3.	Intensity	. 169
	7.4.	Predicative adjectives	. 170
	7.5.	Attributive adjectives	. 173
	7.6.	Deadjectival derivation	. 175
	7.6.1.	Nominal derivation and gender marking	. 175
	7.6.2.	Deadjectival action nominals	. 177
8.	Postp	ositions, adverbials and conjunctions	. 179
	8.1.	Postpositions	. 179
	8.2.	Adverbs	. 182
	8.2.1.	Locative adverbs	. 182
	8.2.2.	Combining locative adverbs and directional adverbs	. 184
	8.2.3.	Time adverbs	. 186
	8.3.	Conjunctions	. 190
9.	Basic	syntax	. 193
	9.1.	Word order	. 193
	9.1.1.	Word order in noun phrases	. 193
	9.1.2.	Word order in simple sentences	. 196
	9.2.	Verbless sentences	. 199
	9.3.	Comparative and equative sentences	. 201
	9.4.	Relative clauses	. 202
	9.4.1.	Word order in relative clauses	. 204
	9.4.2.	Subject relative clauses	. 206
	9.4.3.	Non-subject relative clauses	. 206

9.4.4. Headl	less relative clauses	208
10. Interrogativ	ve clauses	209
10.1. Polar int	errogatives	209
10.2. Tag ques	stions	212
10.3. Content	questions	212
11. Negation	-	217
11.1. Negation	n in declarative sentences	217
11.1.1. Ne	gative Perfective	217
11.1.2. Ne	gative future imperfective	219
11.1.3. Ne	gative present imperfective	220
11.1.4. Ne	gative dependent	223
11.1.5. Pro	shibitives with opa	224
11.1.6. Ne	gative imperative	225
11.1.7. Ne	gative optatives	226
11.1.8. Ne	gation in adjectival clauses	226
11.2. Negation	n in nominal clauses	227
11.3. Lexical 1	negation	228
11.4. Moveme	ent of subject clitics and emphatic negation	229
12. Complex se	entences.	231
12.1. Adverbia	al clauses	231
12.1.1. Co	nditional clauses	231
12.1.2. Ter	mporal clauses	237
12.1.3. Rea	ason and result clauses	239
12.1.4. Pu	rpose clauses	240
12.2. Compler	nent clauses	241
12.3. Other cla	ause linking	242
12.3.1. Co	njoined consecutive clauses	242
12.3.2. Co	ntrast	243
12.3.3. Alt	ternatives	244
12.4. Ouotativ	e clauses	246
13. Ideophones	and interjections	247
13.1. Ideophor	nes	247
13.1.1. Pho	onological templates	247
13.1.2. Re	duplication in ideophones	250
13.1.3. Ve	rbal derivation in ideophones	252
13.1.4. No	minal derivation in ideophones	252
13.1.5. Me	etaphoric use of ideophones	253
13.2. Interjecti	ions	254
13.2.1. Ex	pressive interjections	254
13.2.2. Co	native interiections	255
13.2.3. Pha	atic interjections	256
13.3. Greeting	s and leave-taking expressions	256
13.3.1. Gro	eetings	256
13.3.2. Lea	ave-taking	262
14. Texts	<u> </u>	265

iv

Teekoole's Son's Bag 265
cond Wife

v

List of structure morphemes

Morpheme	Gloss	Function/name
-?	DAT	dative
-?	NOM	nominative
-?	LOC	locative
-?	GEN	genitive
-?	plus	plus
-ay	PF	perfective (3SGM)
-i	PF	perfective
-i	IMP.SG	imperative singular
-a	IMP.PL	imperative plural
-a	IPF.FUT	imperfective future
-ni	IPF.PRES	imperfective present
-aɗ	MID	benefactive, middle
-aaɗ	INCH	inchoative
-ſ	DCAUS	direct causative
-acciis	ICAUS	indirect causative
-am	PAS	passive
-t	3F; 2	third person feminine; second person
-n	Р	plural gender marker
-si?	DEF.M/F	definite feminine/masculine (gender)
-sini?	DEF.P	definite plural (gender)
-asi?/-osi?	DEM.M/F	demonstrative feminine/masculine
-osini?	DEM.P	demonstrative plural (gender)
in=	1	first person affirmative subject clitic
in=	3NEG	third person negative subject clitic
i?=	2	second person affirmative subject clitic
i =	3	third person affirmative subject clitic
an =	1NEG	first person negative subject clitic
an =	1	first person nominal subject clitic
a?=	2NEG	second person negative subject clitic
a?=	2	second person nominal subject clitic
-n(n)	INST	instrumental
-n(n)	PATH	path
-awu	1SG.POSS.M/F	1SG possessive (gender)
-ayyu	1SG.POSS.P	1SG possessive plural (gender)
-aynu	1PL.POSS.M/F	1PL possessive (gender)
-annu	1PL.POSS.P	1PL possessive plural (gender)
-ayti	2SG.POSS.M/F	2SG possessive (gender)
-atti	2SG.POSS.P	2SG possessive plural (gender)
-ay∫in	2PL.POSS.M/F	2PL possessive (gender)
-assin	2PL.POSS.P	2PL possessive plural (gender)
-adi	3SG.POSS.M/F/P	3SG possessive M/F/P (gender)

-aysu?	3PL.POSS.M/F	3PL possessive M/F (gender)
-assu?	3PL.POSS.P	3PL possessive plural (gender)
-n	NEG	negative
-у	VOC.P	vocative plural (gender) addressee
-u	VOC.M/F	vocative (gender) addressee
-a(?)	M/F	gender (adjectives)
-aa?	Р	plural gender (adjectives)
-е	F/M	gender (in relative clauses)
-ee?	Р	plural gender (in relative clauses)
-(tt)eeta	DIM	diminutive

viii

List of symbols and abbreviations

1	first person
2	second person
3	third person
1SG	first person singular
1PL	first person plural
2SG	second person singular
2PL	second person plural
3M	third person masculine
3F	third person feminine
3PL	third person plural
/	high tone
*	ungrammatical form
	more than one morpheme is involved
<u>_</u>	devoiced sound
//	phonemic representation
ABST	abstract
ACC	accusative
AGENT	agentive
ASS	associative
BKGRD	background
С	consonant
CEXPEC	contrary to expectation
DAT	dative
DCAUS	direct causative
DEF	definite
DEM	demonstrative
DIM	diminutive
DP	dependent
F	feminine
FREQ	frequentative
GEN	genitive
ICAUS	indirect causative
IDEO	ideophone
IMP	imperative
INCH	inchoative
INDEF	indefinite
INST	instrumental
INSIS	insistive
INTENS	intensive
INTERJ	interjection
IPF.FUT	imperfective future
IPF.PRES	imperfective present

٦	7		
7	۱		
•	-		

locative
masculine
middle
negative
nominaliser
nominative
optative
ordinal
plural (as a value of gender)
passive
perfective
plural (as a value of number)
possessive
pronoun
reduplication
reciprocal
relative
singular (as a value of number)
species
vowel
verbal nominal
vocative





Source: Hayward (1995:7) as cited in Mulugeta Seyoum (2008:ix)

Acknowledgments

A number of people contributed to the completion of this thesis. First and foremost, my deepest gratitude goes to Prof. Maarten Mous and Dr. Azeb Amha who inspired me to pursue my PhD at the Department of African Languages and Cultures, Leiden University. They were very instrumental in guiding me before and during the undertaking of the PhD project.

LUCL, of which the Department of African Languages and Cultures is a part, was a great place for working towards my PhD. The colleagues at LUCL inspired me academically and shaped me socially: Victoria Nyst, Rebecca Voll, Mercy Lamptey, Anne-Christie Hellenthal, Ramada Elghamis, Heleen Smits, Maggy Konter-Katani, Felix Ameka, Thilo Schadeberg, Stanly Oomen, Christian Rapold, Jean Chavula, Kofi Dorvlo, Khalid Mourigh, Maarten Kossmann, Jeroen van der Weijer, Sandra Barasa, Mulugeta Seyoum, Tolemariam Fufa, Linda Badan, Mulugeta Tarekegn, Allison Kirk and Constance Kutsch Lojenga.

I would also like to thank Gea Hakker, Margreet Verra, Alice Middag, Merel van Wijk and Esrih Bakker at the LUCL office for facilitating my study through numerous sorts of practical and administrative support.

I must thank Azeb Amha and Maggy Konter-Katani again for their understanding and support. Thanks to Azebiye and Maggisha, for their hospitality, including during holidays, for which my thanks also go to their respective partners Jan Abbink and Jean-Pierre Perroud.

I would like to extend my gratitude to Teshome Ayalew who invited me to his place many times, discussed various issues with me, showed me shops and places he thought would make my life easier in and around Leiden, and would periodically stop by my office to ask me how the research was proceeding. Thanks to Teshe! The other friends who also deserve my heartfelt thanks are Frank Rother and Francis (Chief) Ndi. Frank not only encouraged me whenever we met and had drinks and/or meals but also took Francis and me to several parts of the Netherlands so that we could have a better understanding of the country. Francis was a tenant in the same flat, and we shared, chatted and discussed many things. I would also like to thank the late Berhanu Gebeyehu whom I met in Leiden. Since our first acquaintance, he became like a great elder brother to me.

Aschalew Korra and Anto (Qarta) Arkato, my closest friends, deserve a special thank-you for encouraging me before and during the PhD project. Aschalew almost always came to the airport to see me off and pick me up. When Qarta came to Twente University to pursue his PhD, he would either visit me in Leiden or invite me to Enschede so that we could discuss analytical problems I faced.

I would also like to thank Takito Ganshole, Biche Yonas, Armana (Alemnesh) Arkato, Addisu Arkato, Admasu Anto and Kushabo Kucho for the support they extended to my family.

During my endeavour to obtain linguistic works on Konso from the Mekane Yesus Church, I approached Engida Kussia and Aija-Katiriina to send me available soft copies. I thank them very much for generously supplying me with the materials they had.

I received financial support from Leiden University Fund (LUF) for my first fieldwork trip, and from LUCL for my second trip. I thank both for their generosity.

I would also like to thank my colleagues Tegene Tesfaye, Almaz Tesfaye, Getachew Endalamaw, Kebede T/Michael, Hirut W/Mariam and Dawit Tilahun for their encouragement.

My deepest gratitude goes to my wife, Kawessa Gendeche, without whose love, endurance, understanding and strong family management in my absence, this work would not have been what it is now. I am always proud of you. I would also like to thank my children (Okitta, Orapa and Orbana) for their love, patience and, of course, the various questions on numerous issues I had to answer on the phone. Without the support that my sisters-in-law (Kachana Gendeche and Kachite Kadido) and my brother (Oytiba Oda) had for my family and for my work on some analytical problems, this thesis would not have seen the light of day.

Last but not least, I would like to offer my heartfelt thanks to my grandmother who passed away without seeing the completion of this thesis. I must thank her for so many reasons. She used to tell me and my siblings stories when we were young. But she told me the stories again during my fieldwork. She always blessed me whenever I left for my studies or to be with my family. She was my mentor, advisor and motivator and emotional and material supporter. Losing her was very painful for me but then that is a natural journey. I love you grandma very much and pray that your soul rests in peace.

xiv

1. Introduction

This work is a grammar of Konso. So far, the language has not been intensively studied. In this chapter, I introduce the people and the language, review previous linguistic works, and outline the nature and organisation of this study.

1.1. The people

The Konso live in the southwest of Ethiopia in the Segen Area Peoples' Zone in the state of Southern Nations, Nationalities and Peoples' Region (SNNPR). They number about 250,000 (Central Statistical Agency 2009), and call themselves χ onsitta; they call their land χ onso and their language ?afaa ?a χ onsó? 'language of Konso'.

The Konso are organised in nine exogamous clans: Keertitta, Arkaamayta, Sawɗatta, Paasanta, Tookmaleeta, Eelayta, Iſalayta, Tikissayta and Mahalayta. I belong to the Keertitta clan. Except for the Keertitta clan, each clan has its own chief. There are two clan chiefs for the Keertitta: Guufa (in Kenaa) and Kala (in Karatte). Males of the same clan consider themselves as brothers, and the females as their sisters. This prohibits Keertitta men from marrying women from their own clan. A clan chief does not marry from the land he administers. This makes the marriage of clan chiefs different from that of the common people. Konso villages are not clan-based.

The Konso have an age grading system, called Kataa, which is similar to the well-known Gada system of Oromo. The Kataa system has become less important in the past few decades. The Konso are socially divided into two classes, the Etanta and the χ awdaa. The former comprises farmers who hold a high social profile while the latter comprises traders and craftsmen.

The Konso are hard-working people who make a living in the mountainous hills of their land. They are predominantly farmers and are known for their indigenous terracing system, which allows them to make use of even the most precipitous slopes while preventing erosion. With the efforts of many scholars and organisations, UNESCO inscribed the Konso Landscape as a World Heritage in June 2011. The inscription of the Konso Landscape was celebrated in Karatte in April 2012.

The Konso produce maize, wheat, barley, different types of beans and sorghum, and cotton, among other things. Their staple foods are **damaa** and $\chi ar f a$. **damaa** is prepared from sorghum, maize, wheat and/or barley flour, while $\chi ar f a$ is prepared from beans. **factaa** is a locally brewed drink and has different varieties. Most Konso villages are established on hilltops and are densely populated. The villages are surrounded by high walls of piled stones for protection against attacks. Each family compound traditionally consists of an upper part, called the **oytaa**, and a lower part, called the **arxatta**. The former is used for living and the latter for storage and keeping animals.

1.2. The language

Konso belongs to the Lowland East Cushitic languages of the Afroasiatic phylum. Within the Lowland East Cushitic family, it belongs to the Oromoid group, and further to the Konsoid group. The language has four dialects: Faafe, Karatte, Tuuro and χ olme (see also Black 1973). Data for this study come from the Faafe dialect, which I speak.

Though attempts have been made to develop an alphabet, there is still no standard alphabet for Konso. Two scripts have been proposed for a standard alphabet: Fidäl script (the script used for writing Amharic and Ge'ez, among others) and the Roman alphabet. The first scholar who made the attempt to establish the alphabet for Konso is Haile Eyesus Engidashet (1986). He proposes the Fidäl script after studying the phonology of the language very briefly. The other script, Latin, was first proposed by the Konso Orthography Committee in 1997. The most recent decision to adopt the Latin script was made in April 2012. On 29 April 2012, the Bureau of Culture, Tourism and Government Communications Affairs organised a one-day Language and Culture symposium in which four papers that dealt with script selection were presented. The first paper was presented by me. In my presentation, I focussed on comparing and contrasting the adoption of Fidäl and Latin scripts. The second paper proposed a modified version of the Fidäl script. The third paper dealt with the report of the 1997 Konso Orthography Committee, and the reasons why the Committee adopted the Latin script. The fourth paper was about an attempt made by a Konso native to invent a new script for writing in Konso. Interestingly, this presenter trained some children from his village on how to use the script and demonstrated that to the participants. After the paper presentations, group discussions were held to make a decision on the adoption of either the Fidäl or Latin script. After the group discussions, group representatives presented the script they proposed and the reasons why they made the choice. Except for one group that could not make a clear decision, the rest adopted Latin script for the language. The adoption was directed to the Konso Wereda Administration Council to officially endorse the adoption of Latin script. The symposium was concluded by setting up Konso Language Promotion Committee.

Although there is no standard alphabet for Konso, some written materials have been produced. The Evangelical Church of Makane Yesus has produced quite a number of materials in Konso using the Fidäl script. These materials include

the translation of both the Old and New Testaments of the Bible, religious short stories, arithmetic booklets and so on. So far, little has been produced in Latin script. Korra Garra published two storybooks at the department of African Languages and Cultures, Leiden University. The arithmetic booklets produced by Mekane Yesus Church are also available in Latin version.

1.3. Previous linguistic works

Though Konso does yet not have a comprehensive grammar, there have been some linguistic works written on the language. As the review below shows, most of the works are unpublished B.A. and M.A. theses.

Paul Black (1973) studies the phonology, morphology and syntax of the language. In the phonology part, he presents the phonemic inventory of the language and identifies twenty-one consonant phonemes and five short vowels, each with a long counterpart. He also discusses the allophonic distribution, the phonemic and phonotactic rules of consonants. In the morphology section, he deals with nominals, including nouns and pronouns, and with adjectives. In the syntax section, he describes predicate and nominal phrases as well as the formation of conditional clauses.

Ronald J Sim (1977) provides a phonemic sketch of the segmental phonemes; he discusses the phonemic status of gemination and vowel length, and presents suprasegmentals and distinctive features. He also discusses nouns, verbs and adjective categories.

Getahun Amare (1999), in his published article, deals with the structure of the noun phrase. He examines nominal positions, interrogatives, and independent personal pronouns. He also presents complements, modifiers and specifiers of the noun phrase.

In his unpublished BA thesis, Mehamed Ahmed (1999) describes the relativisation of subjects, direct objects and objects of postpositions. He claims that Konso does not have a relative pronoun like English *who*. His claim is not correct. Konso has a relative pronoun **?a**, which does not appear when the subject head noun is definite.

In his unpublished BA thesis, Beniam Mitiku (2000) presents the noun inflections for number, gender, person and case. He also examines the derivation of nouns from verbs and adjectives, and discusses noun-deriving affixes.

Daniel Damtew's (2000) thesis presents compounding in nouns, adjectives and postpositions. His examples are based on compounds in Amharic and English, and are not natural compounds in Konso (see 4.12).

Ongaye Oda (2000) writes in his unpublished BA thesis about the structure of simple sentences. He analyses the structure of declaratives, interrogatives (of yes–no questions and wh-questions), and imperatives. He also attempts to show the basic transformational rules operating on simple sentences, such as an insertion rule, optional and obligatory subject deletion rules, substitution transformation, and movement rules of object, verb and the wh-word.

In his unpublished MA thesis, Ongaye Oda (2004) presents an overview of complex sentences and complement clauses in Konso. He presents simple sentences, compound sentences and (compound-)complex sentences. He also treats result clauses, conditional clauses, concessive clauses, purpose clauses, and temporal clauses. He additionally discusses complement clauses, syntactic and semantic analysis of complementisers, the derivation of subject and object complement clauses and syntactic variations in complement clauses. Finally, he deals with higher predicates and complement clause modalities.

In his (2004) article, Maarten Mous describes middle and passive in Konso. Here he identifies the suffixes that mark these two voices. He also discusses the fact that the middle derivation is occasionally used with the passive meaning.

Maarten Mous (2005) analyses conjunctive coordination, disjunctive coordination and adversative coordination. He identifies lexical and clitic conjunctive and disjunctive coordinations.

Maarten Mous and Ongaye Oda (2009) analyse clause linking in temporal (succession) clauses and conditional clauses. They also analyse (possible) consequences of clause linking.

Daudey, H and A.C. Hellenthal (2004) study some morphosyntactic aspects of the Konso language. They discuss the structural and semantic functions of the suffixes -eeyye, -n(n), and -?. They also present the locational, directional, elevational and distance adverbs.

In his unpublished MA thesis Gallo Aylatte (2008) treats the verbal system, the relationship between tense and aspect and the inflection of the verb in the context of the past, present, and future tenses. He also describes the inflection of the verbs in relative clauses.

In her unpublished BA thesis Tizita Getahun (2003) discusses the inflection of the verb for person, number, gender, aspect, tense, mood and voice. She also deals with the derivation of the verb stem in the passive, causative, intensive, reciprocal, benefactive, gerundive and singulative. Finally, she presents morphophonemic processes such assimilation, consonant insertion (though there is no such thing in the language, as far as I know), vowel length, and epenthesis.

Alemayehu Dereje (2003) discusses the simple and complex constituency of a noun phrase. He further analyses agreement between modifiers and the head noun. He also describes the patterns of noun phrase constituents, and finally the functions of a noun phrase as a subject, object and complement.

Anna Vähäkangas's (2009) grammatical sketch of Konso (45 pages) is published by the Evangelical Church of Mekane Yesus. The booklet presents a description of the consonant as well as vowel phonemes, nouns, noun phrase modifiers, pronouns and possessives, subjects and predicates, verbs, transitive and intransitive verbs, non-final verbs and verb derivation and (some) cases. The booklet has many descriptive problems, as well as some analytical ones. For example, the uvular consonants /G/ and / χ / are described as velar consonants. The glottal stop that marks the nominative case is missing. The middle derivation is not discussed in the work. Subject clitics are poorly analysed. I have not made any use of the material in the booklet. In other words, my work is an independent research based on my own data.

1.4. The present study

This study has developed out of contact professor Mous made with me in 2000 in Ethiopia. During the summer of 2003, professor Mous invited me to Leiden University where I met scholars (Azeb Amha, Christian Rapold, Anne-Christie Hellenthal and Graziano Savá) working on Ethiopian languages. During this visit, professor Mous and I started working on Konso. I also did library work for my MA research. He again invited me to Leiden University during the summer of 2004. This time, I gave a talk at the Colloquium on African Languages and Cultures and then started writing my PhD proposal ("A Grammar of Konso"). With his and Dr Azeb Amha's support, I wrote my project proposal and submitted a couple of applications in the subsequent years. It was in 2007 that my project proposal was selected for a fully funded PhD position at Leiden University Centre for Linguistics (LUCL). The research project was supervised by both professor Mous and Dr. Azeb Amha.

As there is no standard alphabet for Konso, the transcription employed in this study closely adheres to the IPA; the exceptions include the use of y instead of j for the palatal glide, doubling letters instead of using a colon (:) to represent geminate consonants as well as long vowels.

In the next chapter, I describe phonology and morphophonemics (Chapter 2). In chapter 3, I discuss the basics of simple sentences to orient the reader on the syntactic structure before dealing with morphology in subsequent chapters. In chapters 4, 5, 6 and 7, I analyse nouns, pronouns, verbs and adjectives, respectively. Postpositions, adverbs and conjunctions are discussed in chapter 8. In chapter 9 I discuss syntax and in chapter ten interrogative clauses. In chapters

11 and 12 I present negation and complex sentences, respectively. Ideophones and interjections are discussed in chapter 13. Chapters 14 and 15 contain list of nouns and stories, respectively.

1.5. Fieldwork

I conducted fieldwork during two trips to Ethiopia. The first field trip took place from end of April to mid August 2008. During this period, I recorded stories and checked my preliminary analyses on phonology with native speakers. I also conducted library research at Addis Ababa University and participated in a conference organised by the Ethiopian Language Research Centre at Addis Ababa University.

I carried out fieldwork on the second trip from September 2009 to January 2010. During this period, I recorded more stories and transcribed some of these. I checked my preliminary analyses on morphology and syntax with several Konso native speakers and developed the chapters on these topics.

2. Phonology and morphophonology

This chapter deals with the inventory of the speech sounds as well as the morphophonology of Konso. After the identification and description of the consonant and vowel phonemes, (near) minimal pairs are provided. Phonotactic constraints, syllable structure, phonological and morphophonemic processes and tone are also treated in this chapter.

2.1. Consonant phonemes

The inventory of consonant phonemes in Konso includes labial, alveolar, (alveo)-palatal, velar, uvular and glottal places of articulation. Along these places of articulation, 21 consonant phonemes are recognised (see also Black 1973; Sim 1977). The consonants at a systematic phonemic level are given in table 1.

	Labial	Alveolar	(Alveo)- palatal	Velar	Uvular	Glottal
Plain stops	р	t	c	k		?
Implosives	6	ď	ţ		ď	
Nasals	m	n	ր		1 1 1	
Fricatives	\mathbf{f}^{1}	S	S		χ	h
Liquids		1, r				
Glides	W		у		1 1 1	

Table 1: Consonant phonemes of Konso

From table 1, we observe that Konso does not make a phonemic voice distinction in stops. Some voiceless stops are realised voiced in certain conditions (cf. Section 2.7.2). The absence of voice contrast in stops has also been reported for Diraytata (Black 1974; SIL 2002; Wondwosen 2007), Muusiye (SIL 2002:6) and Gawwada (Black 1974, Geberew 2005). Diraytata and Muusiye [Bussa], together with Konso, are Konsoid languages within the Oromoid subgroup, whereas Gawwada is a member of the Dullay group spoken to the west of Konso. Other neighbouring Cushitic languages do make a voice distinction: Oromo (see among others Andrzejewski 1957:25; Black 1974:64, Bender et. al 1976:132; Owens 1985:10; Stroomer 1995:7), Burji (Sasse 1982:15) and Ts'amakko (Savá 2005:9). Thus, the absence of a voice opposition seems to be a Konsoid innovation within the Lowland East Cushitic language family. That Gawwada does not have a voice opposition (Geberew 2005) may be attributed to language contact with the Konsoid languages (see also Sasse 1986). Moreover, all the neighbouring languages have ejectives and, in varying degrees, implosives in their inventories. However, unlike the neighbouring languages,

¹ Labio-dental fricative.

Konso does not have any ejective at all; instead, it has a series of four implosives (shown in table 1).

Ejectives in borrowed words change to implosives (1a), plain stop (1b) or fricative (1c). The systematic correspondence is as follows: the labial ejective /p'/ changes to labial implosive /6/; palatal ejective /c'/ changes to palatal implosive /f/. A velar ejective /k'/ changes to uvular implosive /G/. The alveolar ejectives /t'/ and /s'/ change to an alveolar plain stop /t/ and a voiceless alveolar fricative /s/, respectively. The following illustrative lexical items are borrowed from Amharic.

(1a)	/p'/ > /6/	t'ərəp'p'ezza lap'p' i s	tara66eessaa laa66iseeta	'table' 'eraser, rubber'
	/c'/ > /f/	c'ərk' mac' i d	farGeeta maafireeta	'textile' 'sickle'
	/k'/ > /G/	k'es k'era	Geesitta Geeraa	'priest, pastor' 'slaughterhouse'
(1b)	/t'/ > /t/	seyt'an t'ɨyyɨt ∫ɨggut'	seetana tiyyiteeta ∫ukkuteeta	'Satan' 'bullet' 'pistol'
(1c)	$/{\rm s'}/>/{\rm s}/$	s'əlot	salootita	'prayer'

Amharic does not have implosive consonants, but Oromo has the alveolar /d/, and Diraytata has the bilabial and alveolar implosives /6/ and /d/. Oromo and Diraytata lexical items with the alveolar implosive retain the alveolar implosive in Konso pronunciation. For instance, a Konso native would pronounce the Oromo word haada 'mother' as it is, although in Konso the word for 'mother' is aayyaa. Thus /d/ is not an example of an implosive replacing an ejective in loan words from Oromo, Diraytata or Ts'amakko.

2.1.1. Description of consonant phonemes

Below, I present the description of consonant phonemes and give illustrative examples. Allophonic variants are discussed in Section 2.7. The order of the consonant phonemes is based on the place of articulation.

(2) /p/ is a bilabial voiceless plain stop.
 pijaa 'water'
 pora 'road, place'
 hapura 'spirit'
 torpaa 'week'

(3) /6/ is a bilabial implosive. It is very rare in word-initial position.

6a66a§a	'well-fed (impolite for humans)'
hi6ta	'lip'
sara6ta	'calf (of leg)'
//:1-:1-1-:-1	
/m/ is a bilabiai	voiced nasai.
mura	'forest'
makla	'handle of a pot'
kusumta	'navel'
kumanta	'antelope'
/f/ is a labio-der	ntal voiceless fricative.
furaa	'key, padlock'
foola	'steam'
kuufa	'cow dung pile'
kafa	'clan'
/w/ is a labio-ve	elar voiced glide.
waaGa	'God'
kawsa	'beard'
tawna	'bell'
/t/ is an alveola	r voiceless plain stop.
tika	'house'
talteeta	'she-goat'
kuta	'dog'

(8) /d/ is an alveolar implosive.

harta

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

ɗakaa	'stone'
dikla	'elbow'
hiɗana	root crop species
tanɗa	'drink prepared without malt'

'pond'

(9) /n/ is an alveolar nasal voiced. 'person, man' nama 'soul' nessa 'nose' soonaa 'side' Ginda

(10) /s/ is an alveolar voiceless fricative.

sinɗaa	'urine'
solaa	'bird tail'
kusumta	'navel'
kawsa	'beard'

(11) /l/ is an alveolar lateral voiced liquid.

leGaa	'loan'
leemmuta	'bubble'
paleeta	'village'
kolalta	'acacia tree'

(12) $/\mathbf{r}$ is an alveolar voiced trill.

roopa	'rain'
raGaa	type of hut
para	'year'
karkaa	'beehive'

(13) /c/ is an alveo-palatal voiceless plain stop. It is the rarest phoneme and but it occurs as a single consonant in the common verb root c- 'to be, exist'. Underlyingly the verb root is kiy- or kit- as shown in the sentential examples in (14).

(14a)	i∫a? ?aye ?ica <i>i∫a-?</i> 3SGM.PRO-NOM 'He is here.'	<i>aye</i> here	<i>i=kiy-a</i> 3=be-IPF.FUT
(14b)	i ∫eenna? ?aye ikitta <i>i∫eenna-?</i> 3SGF.PRO-NOM 'She is here.'	<i>aye</i> here	<i>i=kit-t-a</i> 3=be-3F-IPF.FUT

The nouns caattaa 'life' < c-aad-ta> and acuunna (a woman's personal name), the interjection (see Chapter 13) hec, which is used to chase away a cow or ox, also contain a single /c/.

The occurrence of /c/ as a geminate consonant is also quite limited in verbs as well as in nouns. There are only two verb roots I know of in which it occurs as geminate: χ accad- 'to stink, smell bad' and hoccad- 'to work, do'. The latter verb root is also pronounced as hoffad- (cf. Oromo hodgdad- 'to work'). In nouns, there are certain proper names in which /c/ occurs as a geminate. Except

for the nominals χ accumaa 'stinking, smelling bad' and hoccaa 'work' derived from the verb roots χ accad- 'to stink, smell bad' and hoccad- 'to work, do', respectively, I could not find any other nouns with a geminate /c/. The following is an exhaustive list of the proper names I know of with geminate /c/.

(15)	kaccanna	a woman's personal name
	kaccitti	a woman's personal name
	kaccuunu	a man's personal name
	kaccaawwa	a woman's personal name
	paaccaa	a male or female person's name

(16) /f/ is a palatal implosive.

folta	'blind person'
faGaa	'local beer'
kaafaa	'money'
marfaa	'hip flesh (human)'

(17) $/\mathbf{p}/$ is a palatal nasal voiced.

naannaa	'tomato'
лаара	'enemy'
kuupata	'gnat'

(18) $/\int/$ is a palatal voiceless fricative.

∫ehta	'grass snake'
∫ааббаа	'stretcher'
pi∫aa	'water'
χar∫a	'beans'

(19) /y/ is a palatal glide voiced.

yaaya	type of bead
yooyta	'jackal'
taahayta	'sand'
torrayta	'locust'

(20) $/\mathbf{k}$ / is a velar voiceless plain stop.

keraa	'thief'
kirra	'river'
raaka	'old woman'
maakaa	'snake'

(21) /G/ is a uvular implosive.

Gayranta	'leopard'
Gapaleeta	'monkey'
telGayta	lizard species
feGerta	tree species

(22) $/\chi$ / is a uvular voiceless fricative.

χolaa	'hot drink made mainly from coffee leaves'
χala	'yesterday'
moxna	'rocky place'
?arxatta	'lower part of homestead'

(23) /?/ is a glottal stop.

ɗa?ta	'butter'
pa?atta	tree species
i∫u?	'also'

(24) /h/ is a glottal voiceless approximant.

harreeta	'donkey'
hotaarta	acacia tree species
laha	'ram'
oha	'fodder'

2.1.2. (Near) minimal pairs

Below I show place and manner opposition between plain stops and implosives. I refrain from providing evidence for opposition in manner of articulation between plain stops and fricatives, plain stops and nasals, etc., but such oppositions can be found in the language.

Opposition in place of articulation

Plain voiceless stops /p, t, c, k, ?/

From the series of the plain stops, /p, t, k/ are found contrastive in word-initial and medial positions as shown in (25a) and (25b), respectively.

(25a)	paka taka	'half' 'small birds that fly together and eat crops'
	kakaa	'comb (of honey)'

(25b)	kapaa	'near, beside'
	kataa	'age grading system'
	kaka	'comb (of honey)'

Implosives /6, d, f, d/d

(26)	/ 6 / and / d /	haa6uta haaɗita	a children's game 'load, burden'
	/6/ and /ʃ/	kaa6aa kaafaa	man's name 'money'
	/6/ and /G/	lebi legi	<pre>'kick (many times/things)!' 'smear (many times)!'</pre>
	/ d / and / ʃ /	ɗakara fakara	'old coin token' 'piece of old cloth'
	/ d / and / G /	ɗarta Garta	'lie (untruth)' 'firstborn son'
	/ ʃ / and / G /	foraa Goraa	'coin purse' 'trees'
Nasals	/m, n, n/		
(27)	/m/ and $/n/$	maalaa naalaa	<pre>'cutting crops randomly' 'spoilt behaviour'</pre>
	/m/ and /n/	maraa ɲaraa	'hillside' 'contention, threat'
		irma irɲa	'wheat/barley stalk' 'gum'
	/ n / and / n /	пара јаара	'soot' 'enemy'

Plain voiceless stops and implosives

(28)	/p/ and /6/	kapa	'near'
		kaɓa	'canal'

/t/ and /d/	tankaa ɗankaa	sorghum species 'pharynx'
	tuuta tuuɗa	'festival after crop harvest' 'pillar'
/c/ and /ʃ/	caattaa faatta ²	'life, living' < caad-taa > 'thorn'
/k/ and /G/	lekaa leGaa	'congested sprouts' 'loan (of money)'

2.1.3. Gemination

All consonants may appear geminate. Geminate consonants occur only in word-medial position. In addition to geminate consonants in lexical roots, gemination can arise grammatically. As we shall see shortly, a substitution of a non-geminate consonant for a geminate counterpart may bring about a semantic difference in lexical items. Grammatically, geminate consonants may mark plural number (see 4.2.3.)

Geminate consonants function as ambisyllabic segments, appearing as a coda of a preceding syllable and the onset of the following syllable (see 2.4.2). As mentioned in the introduction, geminate consonants are written by doubling the symbol (e.g. consonant /t/ in apitta 'fire').

Below I provide (near) minimal pairs consisting of geminate and non-geminate consonants. Where I lack nominal examples, I provide imperative verbs or simple sentences with intransitive verbs.

(29)	/p/ and /pp/	kapaa kappaa	'near' 'wheat'
	/t/ and $/tt/$	aataa aattaa	'culture' form of address for an elder sibling
	/k/ and /kk/	hikaa hiikkaa	'art of building huts' 'stars'
	/?/ and /??/	i?anti i??anti	'She went.' 'You (SG) went.'
	/ d / and / dd /	hiɗana	root crop species

² faatta has a variant with glottal stop /?/: fa?atta.

	hiɗɗana	'bundle'
/ʃ/ and /ʃʃ/	kaafaa kaaffaa	'money' a children's game
/G/ and /GG/	peeGaa peeGGaa	'metal or clay plate for baking' 'quarrel, dispute'
/m/ and $/mm/$	kamaa kammaa	'hillside' 'behind, after'
/n/ and /nn/	mana mannaa	'hut' 'huts'
/f/ and /ff/	tafaa taffaa	type of game played by males 'thighs'
/s/ and /ss/	pisa pissa	'flower' 'complexion (of a sick person)'
/h/ and /hh/	mehi mehhi	'Shake (many times) to dry!' 'Shake (once) to dry!'
$/\mathfrak{f}$ and $/\mathfrak{f}$	haa∫aa haa∫∫aa	as in haa∫aa haaɗi 'Get lost!' 'leaf, leaves'
/l/ and /ll/	dilaa dillaa	'charcoal' 'fields, farms'
/r/ and $/rr/$	xara xarra	'shivering, trembling' 'door, gate'
w/ and $w/$	ɗawiyaa ɗawwiyaa	<pre>'hitting (something)' 'herding'</pre>
/y/ and/yy/	хаауа хааууаа	'labour (childbirth)' 'labour (for clan chief, landlord)'

2.1.4. Distributions of consonant phonemes

Except for the glottal stop, all consonant phonemes occur in word-initial position underlyingly. As we shall see latter, the glottal stop is inserted word initially to avoid onsetless syllables. All consonant phonemes occur in wordmedial and intervocalic positions. Only a few lexical items, mainly numerals,

contain consonants in word final position. However, all the consonant phonemes occur in word final position in ideophones (Chapter 13). In what follows, the distributions of consonants in word-initial, word-medial (i.e., in consonant clusters), in intervocalic and word-final positions are discussed. Examples of geminate consonants are also provided. C stands for "consonant" and V for "vowel".

Plain stops /p, t, k, ?, c/

All the plain stops occur word-initially. /t/ and /c/ occur only as a second member of a consonant cluster, while /2/ occurs only as a first member in a consonant cluster. The rest of the plain stops occur in word medial position preceding or following another consonant. All the plain stops occur as geminate and intervocalically. These distributions are shown in table 2.

		Med	ial				
	Initial	-C	C-	V-V	Geminate		
/p/	poorta	χapnaa ³	kilpa	tapayta	tappa		
	'barley	'forest'	'knee'	'rat'	'seven'		
/ t /	tawna		farta	ditiitaa	χottooma		
	'bell'		'horse'	'sweat'	'fist'		
/ k /	karitta	mikta	karkaa	saka	takka		
	'belly'	'right hand'	'beehive'	'blessing'	'one'		
/?/		yo?matta		χola?itta	i??anti		
		'millstone'		'sp. of cactus'	'You (SG) went.'		
/c/	caattaa		incaa	icaa	xaccumaa		
	'life'		'I exist'	'He exists.'	'bad smell'		

Table 2: Distribution of plain stops

Implosives /6, d, f, G/

All implosive consonants occur in word initial position. /6/ is the rarest in this position. Except for /f/, they also occur in word medial position either preceding or following another consonant. All of them occur intervocalically as well as geminate. Table 3 contains illustrative examples for the distributions of these phonemes.

 $^{^{3}}$ **\chiapnaa** is a forest that belongs to the clan chief's family, mainly around their homestead.

		Medi	ial		
	Initial	-C	C-	V-V	Geminate
/6/	6aal6aala	hi6ta	kol6a	kaɓa	fi66oota
	ʻbig-	ʻlip'	'water reservoir in	'canal'	'sin'
	bellied		the field'		
/ d /	ɗakaa	mudkahanta	sinɗaa	koɗaa	noodduta
	'stone'	sp. of plant	'urine'	'work'	'bribe'
/ʃ/	fa66aa		furfaa	paafuta	paraffaa
	'weed'		'baby's faeces'	'sideburns'	crop spe-
					cies
/ G /	Goyra	poGla	marGinaa	paaGa	laaGGuta
	'tree'	'chief,	'intestine'	'disease'	'bread'
		king'			

Table 3: Distribution of implosives

Nasals /m, n, n/

All the nasal phonemes occur in word initial, word medial and intervocalic positions. In word medial position, /m/ and /n/ can precede or follow other consonants, but /p/ occurs only as a second member. All nasals can appear geminated. /p/ as a non-geminate consonant is very rare. Examples that show these distributions of the nasal phonemes are given in table 4.

		Medial			
	Initial	-C	C-	V-V	Geminate
/m/	matta	taamta	arma	ama	ɗaammaa
	'head'	'branch'	'weed'	'breast'	'flour'
/n/	nama	kansaata	tawna	kutanaa	Gannatta
	'man'	'yam'	'bell'	'hunting'	'lizard sp.'
/ɲ/	nirfaa		irna	kuunata	finnitta
	'hair'		'gum'	'gnat'	'pimple'

Table 4: Distribution of nasals

Of the three nasal phonemes, only /n/ occurs in a word final position in (two) cardinal numbers given in (30).

(30) ken 'five' kuɗan 'ten'

Fricatives /f, s, \int , χ , h/

All fricative consonants occur in word-initial, medial and intervocalic positions. Except /h/, all fricatives may precede or follow other consonants. /h/ occurs only as a first member in a consonant cluster. They all appear geminate,

though geminate /h/ is very rare in lexical items. There is one word containing /h/ in word final position: leh 'six'. Other fricatives are not attested in word final position.

		Medi	al		
	Initial	-C	C-	V-V	Geminate
/f/	farta	lafta	konfa	kafa	χoffaa
	'horse'	'bone'	'shorts'	'clan'	'groin'
/ s /	saka	koskorta	kawsa	piisa	nessa
	'blessing'	'partridge'	'beard'	'all'	'breath'
/ ʃ /	∫ааббаа	koſkoſa	te?∫aa	pi∫aa	χa∬itta
	'stretcher	'(chicken's) comb'	'elephantiasis'	'water'	'shoulder'
/χ/	χolmaa	moxna	malxaa	oxinta	тахха
	'neck'	'rocky area'	'flood'	'fence'	'name'
/h/	harreeta	pohmayta		taahayta	pondahdo-
	'donkey'	'chameleon'		'sand'	hhaata plant species

Table 5: Distribution of fricatives

Liquids /l, r/

Both liquids occur in word-initial, medial and intervocalic positions. In a consonant cluster, they can precede or follow other consonants. Rarely, they occur in word final position, and the existing instances are cardinal numbers. These distributions are illustrated in table 6.

		Medial				
Sound	Initial	-C	C-	V-V	Geminate	Final
/1/	lakki	olsaa	hawla	ɗila	tollo?ta	sakal
	'two'	'dream'	'grave'	'farm'	'hump'	'nine'
/ r /	roopa	marGinaa	Gayranta	para	kirra	afur
	'rain'	'intestine'	'leopard	'year'	'river'	'four'

Table 6: Distribution of liquids

Glides /w, y/

Both glides occur in word-initial, medial and intervocalic positions. In consonant clusters, they occur only as a first member; they do not occur in wordfinal position in lexical items. Both glides may occur as geminate. Illustrative lexical examples are given in the following table.
		Medial			
	Initial	-C	C-	V-V	Geminate
/w/	waaGa	tawna		Gaawa	kawwatta
	'God'	'bell'		'hole'	'terrace'
/y/	yaakata	Gimayta		muutiya	tuuyyata
-	'bead'	'old man'		'worm'	'pig'

Table 7: Distribution of glides

2.2. Vowel phonemes

Konso has five short vowels /i, e, a, o, u/ and five corresponding long vowels /ii, ee, aa, oo, uu/. For the production of the vowel phonemes, we identify three heights of the tongue (high, mid and low) and three places of articulation or parts of the tongue: front, centre and back. Table 8 presents the vowel phonemes of the language.

	Front		Centre		Back	
High	i	ii			u	uu
Mid	e	ee			0	00
Low			a	aa		

Table 8: Konso vowel phonemes

Both the short and long vowels occur in word-medial and final positions. Short vowels are phonetically realised with a whisper in utterance-final position. All vowels occur word initially. Most nouns end in the vowel /a/.

2.2.1. Description of vowels

Vowels approximate cardinal vowels. The following is the description of the vowel phonemes.

(31) /i/ high, front vowel

ilta	'eye'
Gina?itta	ʻrib'
tiraa	'liver'

/e/ mid front vowel

ekerta	'olive'
parre	'tomorrow'
kere?ta	'thieves'

/a/ low central vowel

para	'year'
aɗa	'chick'
toola	'family'

/u/ high back vowel

unta	'grain, crop'
punitta	'coffee'
tulluppaata	'wood-boring beetle'

/o/ mid back vowel

oxinta	'fence'
toma	'bowl'
monta	'sky, heaven'

2.2.2. Contrast of short vowels

Short vowels may occur in a contrastive distribution as the (near) minimal pairs in (32) show. Contrast in word-final position is limited. Final vowels in verbs have a grammatical function, and nouns end in **a**.

(32)	/i/ and /e/	kiraa keraa	'daily labour for money' 'thief'
	/i/ and /u/	tiraa turaa	'liver' 'in front of'
	/i/ and /a/	hi6ta ha6ta	'lip' 'border; foreign country'
	/i/ and $/o/$	χa?naa χo?naa	'rise, ascension' 'favourite'
	/e/ and /a/	ferta farta	'small metal tool' 'horse'
	/e and $/u$	feraa furaa	'harvesting' 'padlock, key'
	/e and $/o$	ekta oktaa	'tail' 'pot'

/ a / and / u /	faroota furoota	'omen, fortune, luck' type of bead
/ a / and / o /	ɗa?ayta ɗo?ayta	tree species 'cattle skin for carrying things'
/u/ and $/o/$	utaa otaa	'faeces, droppings (of birds)' 'insult, curse'

2.2.3. Contrast of long vowels

Like the short vowels, long vowels occur in a contrastive distribution as the following pairs show.

(33)	/ii/ and /ee/	miila meela	'runny honey' 'animal body part (e.g. leg)'
	/ii/ and /uu/	diika duuka	ʻblood' ʻyoghurt'
	/ii/ and /aa/	piisa paasa	'all' plant species
	/ii/ and /oo/	fiifaa foofaa	'cursing' 'roughly ground grain'
	/ aa / and / uu /	Gaaddaa Guuddaa	'cow/ox cage, barn' type of grain store
	/ aa / and / ee /	yaala yeela	'labour, toiling' 'field along a river bank'
	/ aa / and / oo /	kaattaa koottaa	'shade' 'anus, bottom'
	/uu/ and /ee/	kuur- keer-	'to choke' 'to run [SG]'
	/uu/ and /oo/	puulluta poolluta	'dough (fermented flour)' 'hole in the ground'
	/ee/ and /oo/	needduta noodduta	'hatred' 'bribe'

2.2.4. Vowel length

Vowel length is phonemic. Below, I show the phonemic status of vowel length by providing minimal pairs for short vowels and their corresponding long vowels.

(34)	/i/ and /ii/	pisa piisa	'flower' 'all'
	/e/ and /ee/	χela χeela	'age mate' 'border, boundary'
	/u/ and /uu/	furaa fuuraa	'pad lock, key' 'fear'
	/o/ and /oo/	∫oraa ∫ooraa	'jumping' 'thin stick to punish children with'
	/a/ and /aa/	saraa saaraa	'plunder, looting' 'poem'

In word final position, we find vowel length contrast of |a| and |aa| as shown in (35).

(35)	/ a / and / aa /	dila dilaa	'field, farm' 'charcoal'
		moora mooraa	'fat' 'public meeting place'
		χoora χooraa	'gathering' 'appointment'

2.2.5. Vowel co-occurrences

In the following table, I present the possible sequences of vowels in lexical items: the vowels on the left-most column occur preceding the vowels on the top row. The vowels may occur short or long.

	a	e	i	0	u
a	nama 'person'	maχeena 'barren cow'	karitta 'stomach'	aakkootita 'female animal'	paafuta 'sideburns'
e	seyta 'plant sp.'	sereeruta 'diarrhoea'	seettitaa 'upper part of foot'		eetuta 'dinner'
i	mikta 'right hand'	pileeta 'insect that feeds on moistened leather'	irritta 'upper arm'	silpoota 'hoe'	
0	toma 'bowl'	pokkeeta type of shorts	sookitta 'salt'	poGoota 'mandible'	
u	kuma 'thousand'	kulleeta 'hat'	Gupitta 'finger'		muukuta 'frog'

Table 9: Possible sequences of vowels in lexical items

2.3. Phonotactics

We have already seen that consonant clusters do occur, but only in wordmedial position. As we will see in 2.5 below, syllable onsets and codas can be filled by one consonant, and therefore consonant clusters can only occur when a closed syllable is followed by another syllable. Onsets and codas can be filled by any consonant but not all consonant sequences are allowed. The restrictions are discussed in this section. Moreover, the epenthetic vowel i is inserted as part of the general constraint against a sequence of three consonants, including a sequence of a geminate consonant and a non-geminate consonant. In what follows, I will present permissible sequences of consonants.

Plain stops may be followed by nasals, fricatives or the liquid /l/ or another plain stop. In this latter case, the first member is either a glottal stop or a bilabial plain stop and the second member is the alveolar plain stop. Plain stops do not precede implosives, glides, or the liquid /r/. Table 10 contains example words in which a plain stop is a first member of the cluster.

	Plain stop	Nasal	Fricative	Liquid
Plain	sata?ta 'lung'	Gapnaa 'possession'	ipsaa ʻlight'	sipla 'metal'
stop	apteenta 'snow'	χa?naa 'rising'	G ep∫i 'Break (it)!	dikla 'elbow'
		takma 'honey'	te?∫aa 'elephantiasis'	
		yo?maa 'grindstone'	ki?saa 'fireplace'	

Table 10: Pain stop as a first member of a consonant cluster

Implosives may be followed by a plain stop or a liquid or by the fricatives /f/ and /s/. Clusters with fricatives as second members only arise from suffixation: /f/ is a causative suffix (see Section 6.1.1) while /s/ is part of a demonstrative suffix -si? (see Section 4.8). Illustrative examples are given in table 11.

	Plain stop	Liquid	Fricative
	sarabta 'calf (leg)'	pogla 'chief'	sii6∫i 'Hang!'
Implosive			
	mudkahanta plant	∫oloGloGitta	macfi 'Divert!'
	species	'claw'	
			sara6si? 'this calf (of the
			leg)'
			locsi? 'this leg'

Table 11: Implosive as a first member of a consonant cluster

Nasals may be followed by a plain stop (except for the glottal stop), an implosive (except for the bilabial implosive) or a fricative (only the labio-dental, alveolar and palato-alveolar fricatives). The palatal nasal never occurs as a first member a consonant cluster. Note that the bilabial nasal need not be homorganic with the stop (plain or implosive).

	Plain stop	Implosive	Fricative
	kanta	sinɗaa	komfa
	'neighbour'	'urine'	'shorts (cloth)'
Nasal			
	kaaŋkita	falanfalleeta	tansa
	'mule'	plant species	'dance'
	χampirteeta	fangala	kurruum∫aa
	'bird'	'splinter'	'droppings
			(of goats, sheep)'
	taamta	ɗumɗuma	
	'branch'	'from elbow to fin-	
		gertip'	

Table 12: Nasal as a first member of a consonant cluster

Fricatives may be followed by a fricative, plain stop, implosive or nasal. A liquid or glide does not follow a fricative. And as can be seen from the following table, not all fricatives, plain stops, implosives or nasals follow a fricative. There are no $\int n$ or sn clusters.

	Fricative	Plain stop	Implosive	Nasal
Fricative	kurruuf∫aa	lafta	pondohdohhaata	moxna
	'goat/sheep drop- pings'	'bone'	plant species	'rocky area'
	1 0	koskorta	fehfeha	pahnaa
		'partridge'	tree species	'example'
		ko∫ko∫a		pohmayta
		'chicken comb'		'chameleon'
		napahta		
		'ear'		

Table 13: Fricative as a first member of a consonant cluster

In some Amharic loan words, plain stops preceding /t/ in a cluster become /f/ as in (36).

(36)	taftara	< Amh. dəbtər 'exercise book' >
	toftoritta	< Amh. doktər 'doctor'>

A liquid may be followed by a plain stop, implosive, nasal or a fricative as shown in table 14.

	Plain stop	Implosive	Nasal	Fricative
	kilpa 'knee'	6aal6aala 'potbel-	χolmaa	χolfa 'earring'
	tulta 'back'	lied'	'neck'	olsaa 'dream'
	alkitta 'sisal'	ipaldi 'It is	urmalaa	malxaa 'flood'
Liquid	arpa 'ele-	wide.'	'market'	pirfaa 'hair'
	phant'	telGayta 'lizard'	irna 'gum'	marsaa 'but-
	kaharta 'ewe'	sar6aa 'leg		tocks'
	murkufaa	calves'		karsatta tree
	'fish'	pardoota mon-		species
		goose species		χarχarayta
		tarɗaa 'ash'		'warthog'
		marfaa 'hip flesh'		
		marGinaa 'intes-		
		tine'		

Table 14: Liquid as a first member of a consonant cluster

Glides do not form a second member of a consonant cluster containing implosives or fricatives or liquids. Similarly, liquids do not follow nasals or fricatives in a consonant cluster. These can be seen from the examples in table 15.

	Plain stop	Implosive	Nasal	Fricative	Liquid
	kawpa	sawdatta	tawna	yewsi	ɗawraa
	'beside'	'clan name'	'bell'	'this	'prohibition'
	kawkawa	hayɗaa	χayna?taa	year'	sayleeta
Glide	ʻjaw'	'meat fried	'thread'	kawsa	'mane'
	aykitta grass	with butter'	deymatta	'beard'	aylaa
	species		'irony'		'sowing
					(seeds)'
					Goyra
					'tree'
					hawla
					'grave, tomb'

Table 15: Glide as a first member of a consonant cluster

2.4. Lexical variations

There is a remarkable but ill-understood lexical variation for a limited number of lexemes. Both consonant as well as vowel phonemes occur in lexical variation, but there is no phonological rule for their distribution. The phenomenon is not productive and may involve phonemes that belong to different categories. Probably it is a result of double reflexes of the same original root, a historical accident. Below I present an exhaustive list of lexical items that involve lexical variations of consonants. The variation involves both non-geminate consonants (table 16) and geminate consonants (table 17).

/f/ and /d/	facefeite	'man d'
/J/ and /u/	Jooggita	muu
	dooGGita	
/t/ and /d/	ɗarta	'lie, untruth'
	ɗarɗaa	
/t/ and /n/	taakite	'otherwise'
	taakine ⁴	
/ r / and / l /	haaruta	'revenge'
	haaluta	
	?arGuuGaa	type of bean
	?alGuuGaa	
/f/ and /k/	furtaa	'(woman's) cotton belt'
	kurtaa	
/ʃ/ and /h/	∫iparaata	'bat (animal)'
	hiparaata	
/f and $/m$	kurruuf∫aa	'droppings (of sheep or goats)'
	kurruum∫aa	
/6/ and /f/	χorroobita	cockroach species
	χorroofita	
/y/ and $/w/$	payraa	type of farm tool
	pawraa	
$/\mathbf{r}$ and $/\mathbf{y}$?are	'here'
	?aye	
/k/ and / χ /	kompalta	'cactus'
	χompalta	
/k/ and /ʃ/	kiwwayta	'calabash with cord'
	∫iwwayta	

Table 16: Lexical variations involving single consonants

 $^{^{\}rm 4}$ taakine or taakite also involves vowel variation in the first syllable: tookine or tookite.

/ \$\$ / and / cc /	Gora∬a	'medicine'
	Goraacca	
/66/ and /??/	lee66uta	type of dance
	lee??uta	
/ dd / and / nn /	helaadda	'earlier this day'
	helaanna	
/tt/ and /nn/	paraatta	'next year'
	paraanna	
/tt/ and / <u></u> /	laaGGitta ⁵	'ram'
	laaGGi∬a	

Table 17: Lexical variation involving geminate consonants

Certain lexical items also involve variation in gemination. These are given in table 18.

/p/ and /pp/	teepaa	'rope'
	teeppaa	
$/\chi$ and $/\chi\chi$	deexa	'lawsuit'
	deexxaa	
/r/ and /rr/	diiraa	'men'
	diirraa	
	tuparaa	'girls'
	tuparraa	

Table 18: Lexical variations involving gemination

No variation involving alternation between short and long vowels was found. Table 20 presents the list of lexical items involving variation for short vowels.

⁵ The other form for 'ram' is **laha**. Notice that **laha** is irregular and that the **itta** of **laa**GGitta cannot be considered to be suffix here (but see 4.2.1). The iff of the form **laa**GGiffa is not a suffix at all.

/i and $/u$	fi66oota	'sin'
,	fu66oota	
/i/ and /e/	inanta	ʻgirl'
	enanta	
/i/ and /a/	∫iwwayta	'calabash with strip to sling on the shoulder
	∫awwayta	
	innayyaa inniyyaa	'young animal, bird'
/e/ and /a/	nelGaa	'young animals, birds'
	nalcaa	

Table 20: Lexical variations involving short vowels

There are also certain lexical items in which we find lexical variation that involves long vowels as shown in the following table.

/aa/ and /oo/	taakite	'otherwise'
	tookite	
/aa/ and /ee/	pottaata potteeta	'pumpkin'
/oo/ and /ii/	soonaa siinaa	'nose'

Table 21: Lexical variation involving long vowels

2.5. Syllable Structure

Konso has both open and closed syllables. The onset and coda cannot be occupied by more than one consonant phoneme. All syllables begin with a consonant. This means that the onset is always filled. All consonant phonemes may occur in the coda position. Geminate consonants function as ambisyllabic segments, appearing as a coda of a preceding syllable and as an onset of a following syllable. The nucleus position of a syllable may have a short vowel or a long vowel.

We can formulate the following four possible syllable structures.

(37) CV CVV CVC CVC

The object pronoun form of the second person singular ke is the only independent word with a CV syllable structure. Similarly, except for the numerals ken 'five' and leh 'six' with a CVC structure, an independent word consists minimally of two syllables.

2.5.1.Syllable patterns in nouns

Noun roots always add a suffix or a terminal vowel (**a**, **aa**). All noun roots are monosyllabic. Below, I show the syllable patterns of nominal stems, since the addition of a suffix or a terminal vowel alters the canonical shape of the syllable patterns. Nominal stems may have disyllabic (38a), trisyllabic (38b) or four syllabic (38c) canonical patterns.

(38a)	$C_1 V. C_2 V$	pora tika	'road' 'house'
	C ₁ VC ₂ .C ₃ V	ɗahta harka tawna χolfa	'firefly' 'hand' 'bell' 'earring'
	C ₁ V.C ₂ VV	taraa ɗilaa kosaa tiraa	ʻash' ʻcharcoal' ʻgranary' ʻliver'
	C ₁ VC ₂ .C ₃ VV	karmaa kanɗaa karkaa ɲirfaa	'lion' plant species 'beehive' 'hair'
	$C_1VC_2.C_2VV$	ƒаббаа карраа	'weed' 'wheat'
	C ₁ VV.C ₂ V	miira kuufa moora	'anger' 'manure, pile of cow dung' 'fat'
	C ₁ VVC ₂ .C ₃ V	moonta poorta tookta	'sky' 'barley' 'profit'
	$C_1 VVC_2 C_2 V$	mootta teetta	'friend' 'threshing ground'
	C ₁ VV.C ₂ VV	maakaa mooraa tooraa	'snake' 'public place' 'opposition'

	C ₁ VVC ₂ .C ₂ , ₃ VV	aappaa aakkaa paankaa waakkaa aannaa	'father' 'grandfather' 'machete' 'wooden grave monument' 'milk'
(38b)	C ₁ V.C ₂ VC ₃ .C _{3,4} V	Gupitta apitta ilkitta ɗakinta sata?ta kollatta	'finger' 'fire' 'tooth' 'body, skin' 'heart' 'hide'
	C ₁ V.C ₂ VV.C ₃ V	mukuuka ɗukeeta	'wooden tool forweaving''wood dust produced bywood-boring insects'
	C ₁ VC ₂ .C _{2,3} VV.C ₄ V	silpoota talteeta pottaata kulleeta	'hoe' 'she-goat' 'pumpkin' 'cape'
	C ₁ VV.C ₂ V.C ₃ V	ɗuusuta muukuta paafuta	'fart' 'frog' 'sideburns'
	$C_1 VVC_2 C_2 V C_3 V$	poolluta maammata laaGGuta	'a hole in the ground' 'aunt' 'bread'
	$C_1VC_2.C_3VC_3.C_4V$	partupta parnanta	'September' 'split between buttocks'
	$C_1VC_2.C_3VVC_4.C_4V$	halkeetta	'night'
	$C_1V.C_2VVC_3.C_3VV$	pakaannaa	edible tuber species
(38c)	$C_1C_2V.C_3VC_4.C_4V$	Gina?itta mara?itta xola?itta	'rib' grass species cactus species

2.5.2. Syllable patterns in verb roots

Except a handful of verb roots (see (47) below), verbal roots are closed syllables with monosyllabic (the majority) or disyllabic templates. I could not find an underived trisyllabic verb root. In (39), I provide the canonical shapes of the verb roots arranged in their frequency of occurrence, from most to least frequent.

(39) CVC-CVVC-CVCC-CVVCC-CVCV(V)C-CVCCV(V)C-CVVCCVVC-CVC[i]-

Below, I give illustrative examples for the canonical shapes presented in (39). The verb roots in (40a) have the CVC- structure whereas those in (40b) have the CVVC- structure.

(40a)	C1VC2	ɗam- muk- ഹ്ലി-	'to eat' 'to sleep' 'to slaughter'
		Got-	'to dig'
(40b)	C1VVC2	fiif- ɗaa∫- keer- puuf- pooy-	'to curse' 'to give' 'to run[SG]' 'to spray' 'to cry'

The verb roots in (41) have the CVCC- structure. The CC of the verb root structure can be a geminate consonant (41a) or a cluster of consonants (41b).

(41a)	C1VC2C2	mitt- kull- pidd- Gi∬-	<pre>'to sever, pick (a fruit)[SG]' 'to enter' 'to buy[SG]' 'to destroy, demolish'</pre>
(41b)	C1VC2C3	tarp- teym- kirp- erk- dink- hawl-	 'to cross, bypass' 'to forget' 'to sing, dance' 'to send' 'to kiss' 'to bury'

The verb roots in (42) have the CVVCC- syllable pattern. The CC is a geminate consonant. CVVCC verb root structures in which CC is a cluster of consonants have not been attested.

(42)	C1VVC2C2	kaa66-	'to be jealous'
		needd-	'to hate'
		puull-	'to ferment'
		paayy-	'to start'
		tuull-	'to cross over'

The verb roots in (43a) have the CVCVC- structure while those in (43b) have the CVCVVC- structure.

(43a)	C1V.C2VC3	opay- ɗakay- ɗeham- ɲapal-	'to give light' 'to hear' 'to advise' 'to spoil'
(43b)	C1V.C2VVC3	oraap- malaal-	'to fetch water' 'to be unable to'
		axaaw-	'to roast'
		paɗaaw-	'to add, increase'
		Ganiin-	'to bite'
		suraaw-	'to hurt'

The verb roots in (44) have the CVCCVC- structure where the CC is a consonant cluster (44a) or a geminate (44b):

(44a)	C1VC2.C3VVC4	anGal- marmaɗ-	'to cook' 'to deny, betray'
(44b)	C1VC2.C2VVC3	immak-	'to fill'
		ullup-	'to cry for help'
		faccal-	'to stick to'
		Gaddaap-	'to catch up with'
		tuGGuur-	'to push'
		hadduun-	'to hold (a child)'
		Gappaaf-	'to swell'

The following verb root has a canonical shape CVV.CVVC.

(45) $C_1VV.C_2VVC_3$ tiitaaw- 'to return'

The verb roots in (46) have the shape CVVCCVVC-. This canonical shape of verb roots is the longest, and, as we can see from the examples below, it seems

that the verb root is a full reduplication of CVVC. However, the CVVC- does not occur alone to give the meaning of the whole verbal root.

(46)	C1VVC2.C3VVC4-	GaarGaar-	'to help, assist'
		GaatGaat-	'to chase closely'
		taaltaal-	'to stagger'

So far, all the canonical shapes of the verb roots that we have seen are C final. However, a small set of verb roots have an optional final V. The optional final vowel is always [i]. In (47), I give a near-exhaustive list of such verb roots.

(47)	as[i]-	'to wait'
	da?t[i]-	'to smear, paint'
	pir[i]-	'to finish'
	pal[i]-	'to ripen; ready to eat'
	ker[i]-	'to grow old'
	par[i]-	'to sunrise; day break'
	fa?[i]-	'to pack a load'
	heer[i]-	'to buy[PL]'
	raa?[i]-	'to hang down'
	sooh[i]-	'to twist together (e.g. thread)'
	kee?[i]-	'to belch'
	kaa?[i]-	'to tear, split'

The above exceptional set of verb roots acquire the canonical shape CVCV when an affix which is, or which begins with, a consonant follows the verb root. For example, in (48), the verb root ker- 'grow old' gains a CVCV structure because it is followed by the third person feminine gender agreement maker -t in (48a) and the present imperfective suffix -ni in (48b). When the verb root is followed by an affix that is, or begins with, a vowel, the canonical shape of the verb root becomes CVC as in (49).

alleetasi? ?ikeriti		
alleeta-si?	i=keri-t-i	
hut-DEF.M/F	3 = grow.old	-3F-PF
'The hut got old.	,	
Goroosinid dettov	v ikerini	
Goraa-osini?	dettow	i=keri-ni
	alleetasi? ?ikeriti alleeta-si? hut-DEF.M/F 'The hut got old.' Goroosinid dettow Goraa-osini?	alleetasi? ?ikeriti alleeta-si? i=keri-t-i hut-DEF.M/F 3 = grow.old 'The hut got old.' Goroosinid dettow ikerini Goraa-osini? dettow

GOFAA-OSIMI1	aenow	1 = Keri-ni
trees-DEM.P	quickly	3 = be.old-IPF.PRES
'These trees grew	old quickly.'	

(49a) namasi? ?ikeray *nama-si? i=ker-ay* man-DEF.M/F 3=be.old-PF[3M] 'The man grew old.'

(49b)	okkattoosid dettow ?inkeru		
	okkatta-osi?	dettow	in=ker-u
	cow-DEM.M/F	soon	3NEG = be.old-NEG.IPF.FUT
	'This cow will not be old soon.'		

In the following examples, I show the opposition between the verb roots ker[i]-'to grow old' and fer- 'to harvest'. The examples show that the [i] of the verb root ker[i] cannot be regarded to be an epenthetic vowel (see 2.6).

(50a)	i∫eenna? ?ikeriti				
	<i>ijeenna-</i> ?	i=keri-t-i			
	3SGF.PRO-NOM	3 = grow.old- 3 F-	PF		
	'She grew old.'	C			
(50b)	iseenna? ?unta-si? ?iferti				
	i∫eenna- ?	unta-si?	i = fer-t-i		
	3SGF.PRO-NOM	crop-DEF.M/F	3 = harvest-3F-PF		
	'She harvested the cr	ops.'			

The verb root c- 'to be, exist' seems to be an example of a verb root consisting of a single consonants. This is the only example I found. However, when I questioned the phonemic status of /c/ in 2.1.2, I also pointed out that underlyingly c- has the CVC- verb root kiy- or kit-. Thus, I argue that there are no verb roots consisting of single consonants in Konso.

2.6. Epenthesis and syllable sequences

An epenthetic vowel i is inserted as a resolution of a general constraint against a sequence of three consonants. The insertion of the epenthetic vowel is mainly observed in verbal roots with CC (geminate or consonant cluster) to which verbal suffixes are added. In the following examples, the epenthetic vowel is shown in the phonetic forms (first line) but not in the underlying forms (second line).

(51a)	Apittu? ?akalasi? ?ikullijay				
	Apittu-?	akala-si?	i=kull-ſ-ay		
	Apittu-NOM	sack-DEF.M/F	3 = enter-DCAUS-PF[3M]		
	'Apittu put the sack in the house.'				
(51b)	inantasik kutasi? ?i?akkiti				
	inanta-si?	kuta-si?	i=akk-t-i		
	girl-DEF.M/F	dog-DEF.M/F	3 = see-3F-PF		
	'The girl saw th	e dog.'			

(51c)	i∫inax xala kirpa ikkirpitin				
	ifina-?	xala	kirpa	i?=kirp-t-i-n	
	2PL.PRO-NOM	yesterday	song	2 = sing - 2 - PF - P	
	'You (PL) sang a song yesterday.'				
(51d)	namasig tiltilaasinig garan intarpini				
	nama-si?	tiltilaa-sini?	Gara-n		
	man-DEF.M/F	rope-DEF.P	on-PA'	ГН	
	in = tarp-n-i				
	3NEG = cross-NE	G-PF			

'The man did not cross the bridge.'

The strategy of inserting the epenthetic vowel i to prevent a sequence of three consonants is also attested in other Cushitic languages such as Oromo (Owens 1985:22), Diraytata (Wondwosen 2007:13), Gawwada (Geberew 2005:11), Ts'makko (Savá 2005:36) and Dhaasanac (Tosco 2001:53).

2.7. Phonological processes

In this section, I treat the phonological processes of inserting /2/ to prevent onsetless syllables, as well as devoicing, assimilation, spirantisation and labialisation. These processes occur independently of the morphemes involved and independently of morphological structure. Phonological processes that are restricted to certain morphemes are discussed seperately as morphophonological processes. The phonological process of inserting the epenthetic vowel i to avoid clusters of three consonants was already discussed in 2.6.

2.7.1. Insertion of /?/

The glottal stop /2/ is inserted to the initial position of words that begin with vowels to avoid syllables with empty onsets. This can be seen from the following examples in (52).

(52a)	anti? ?apittu in?akkay				
	anti-?	Apittu	in=akk-ay		
	1SG.PRO-NOM	Apittor	1 = see-PF[3M]		
	'I saw Apitto.'	-			
(52b)	i∫eenna? ?ide?ti				
	ifeenna-?	i = de	y-t-i		
	3SGF.PRO-NOM	3 = co	me-3F-PF		
	'She came.'				

2.7.2. Devoicing

Short vowels as well as implosives can occur devoiced. The devoicing of short vowels occurs when they appear utterance final and have low tone, as shown in (53a-c). High-toned short vowels in utterance final position are not devoiced, as in (53d).

- (53a) raakasi? ?imukti *raaka-si? i=muk-t-i* old.woman-DEF.M/F 3=sleep-3F-PF 'The old woman slept.'
- (53b) antik kulin aana *anti-?* kuli = *in aan-a* 1SG.PRO-NOM later = 1 go-IPF.FUT 'I will go later.'
- (53c) indammi in = dam-ni 1 = eat-IPF.PRES'I eat (it).'
- (53d) indammí *in=dam-n-í* 3NEG=eat-NEG-PF 'He/she/they did not eat (it).'

The phenomenon of devoicing short vowels in utterance final position has been reported for Oromo (Bender, et al. 1976:132, Stroomer 1995:15).

In Konso, implosives are devoiced when they occur as geminate, as shown in (54a). Remember that consonant clusters and geminate consonants occur only in word medial position. Single implosives do not occur devoiced, as the data in (54b) show.

(54a)	/fa66aa/	[ʃaộộaa]	'weed'
	/haɗɗaa/	[ha¢çîaa]	'venom'
	/peecGGaa/	[pecç?çîaa]	'quarrel'
	/piffitta/	[pi∰îtta]	crop species
(54b)	Goyra koɗaa hanfufaa saraɓta ɗa?ta	'tree' 'work' 'saliva' 'calf (of a leg)' 'butter'	

Except in the remainder of this chapter, I will not mark devoiced sounds in the subsequent chapters of this thesis.

2.7.3. Assimilation

As we shall see below, we find both progressive (anticipatory) and regressive assimilation. The sounds that involve phonological assimilation include the alveolar nasal /n/ and the plain stops /k/ and /p/.

The alveolar nasal as part of a lexical root or a grammatical morpheme shows progressive or regressive assimilation in place as well as voice. The assimilation may be partial or complete. Phoneme /n/ assimilates progressively in place of articulation to following plain stops, implosives and fricatives. In (55), I first give the allophones and the phonetic environments that trigger the assimilation of the phoneme /n/ in (55), and then provide illustrative examples in (56).

- (55) $[\eta]$ before /k/
 - [N] before uvulars $/\chi$, G/
 - [m] before /f/
 - [**p**] before palatals /c, \int , f/
 - [m] before /p/ and /6/ in verbs

(56a)	/dankaa/[dangaa] 'throat'			
	/paankaa/	[paaŋgaa]	'sword'	
	/ponkora/	[poŋgora]	'young man'	
(56b)	/funxaa/	[funxaa]	'dense (e.g. forest)'	
	/fanGala/	[fangala]	'splinter'	
	/GoonGita/	[GoonGita]	'throat'	
(56c)	/konfa/	[komfa]	'pocketless shorts'	
	/finfoota/	[fimfoota]	'stick with metal end	
(56d)	/hanfufaa/	[hanfufaa]	'saliva'	

(56e) impanní in=pan-n-í 3NEG = open-NEG-PF 'He/she/they did not open the door.'

The alveolar nasal /n/ as a morpheme (for example, marking the first person plural) or part of a morpheme (for example, part of the present imperfective morpheme (-ni)) regressively and completely assimilates in place and manner

of articulation to one of these verb root final sounds m, l, r as can be seen from the following illustrative examples.

(57a)	χar∫asi? ?inɗamm	ıį			
	χar∫a-si?	in = dam	-n-i		
	beans-DEF.M/F	1 = eat-1	PL-PF		
	'We ate the bean	s.'			
(57b)	attik kappaasit tu	mmi			
(-,-)		trammaa	-:::	tom ai	
	alli-i 2SC DDO NOM	Kappaa-S	EE M/E = 2	thread IDE DDES	
	'You (SG) are th	reshing the wl	heat.'	uitesii-irr.rkes	
(58a)	tikupa kalla				
	tika-ona ka	l-n-a			
	house-to ret	house-to return home-1PL-OPT			
	'Let's go home.'				
(58b)	Goyraasil luukkata idalli				
	Goyra-asi?	luukkata	i=dal-ni		
	tree-DEM.M/F	fruit	3 = bear-IPF	PRESS	
	'This tree bears f	ruit.'			
(59a)	Goyraasim murra				
	Goyra-asi?	mur-n-a			
	tree-DEM.M/F	cut[SG]-1	PL-OPT		
	'Let's cut this tre	e.'			
(59b)	inantasi? ?ixarri				
	inanta-si?	i = xar-ni			
	girl-DEF.M/F	3 = shiver-IP	F.PRES		
	'The girl is shive	ring.'			
	0	-			

As can be seen from the above examples, /n/ regressively assimilates completely to a verb root final bilabial nasal as in (57) or liquid as in (58-59).

The plain stops /k/ and /p/ assimilate in voice to preceding voiced obstruents. /k/ has a voiced velar variant [g] when preceded by a voiced consonant as the data in (60a) show. /p/ has a voiced bilabial variant [b] when preceded by nasal consonants as the data in (60b) illustrate. The other plain stops /t/ and /c/ do not show voicing assimilation.

(60a) /k/ > [g]/C- where C is a voiced phoneme

/ilkitta/	[ilgitta]	'tooth'
/ɗankaa/	[ɗaŋgaa]	'throat'
/aykitta/	[aygitta]	grass species
/alkitta/	[algitta]	'sisal'

(60b) /p/ > [b]/C- where C is a nasal consonant

/rumpatta/	[rumbatta]	'foam (of saliva)'
/tampoota/	[tamboota]	'tobacco'
/dompolta/	[dombolta]	'chunk of soil'
/haampata/	[haambata]	'calabash to drink from'
/timpaa/	[timbaa]	'drum'

2.7.4. Spirantisation

The phonemes /p/ and /6/ are spirantised and have the voiceless bilabial fricative variant $[\Phi]$ between two vowels as in (61a), preceding or following a resonant consonant as in (61b) or following a vowel in a consonant cluster with t as a second non-sonorant as in (61c). The spirantisation of the phonemes does not take place when they occur word initial or as geminate as in (61d).

(61a)	/tapayta/	[taфayta]	'rat'
	/apitta/	[aфitta]	'fire'
	/hapura/	[haoura]	'spirit'
	/fapara/	[faøara]	'rag'
	/ka6a/	[kada]	'canal'
	/hii6a/	[hiiϕa]	'meat soup'
(61b)	/Golpa/	[Golþa]	'he-goat'
	/kilpa/	[kilþa]	'knee'
	/dapna/	[ɗaþna]	'side of the face, temple'
	/arpa/	[arþa]	'elephant'
	/silpa/	[silþa]	'metal, iron'
(61c)	/saalpataa/	[saalφataa]	'belt'
	/kaypaata/	[kayoaata]	'(skin) rash'
	/hi6ta/	[hiota]	'lip'
	/sara6ta/	[saraota]	'calf (of leg)'
	/xo6ta/	[χοφta]	'shoe'
(61d)	paala	[paala]	'feather'
	биббаа	[bubbaa]	'egg (Karatte dialect)'
	tappa	[tappa]	'seven'
	∫ааббаа	[∫aaĢĢaa]	'stretcher'

2.7.5. Labialisation

Labialisation of the initial consonant takes place when the glottal stop /2/ is elided between /o/ and /a(a)/ vowels. The elision of the glottal stop results in the vowel sequence /oa(a)/. Since the language does not have diphthongs, it appears that /o/ is raised, yielding a labialised consonant. Illustrative examples are given in (61).

(61)	so?aayta	[s ^w aayta]	'witch doctor'
	do?ayta	[d ^w ayta]	'hide for carrying things'
	so?aa	[s ^w aa]	'meat'
	lo?aa	[l ^w aa]	'cow'

We also find labialisation when such verb roots as to?- 'die [SG]', χo ?- 'like very much', do?- 'to jump' are followed by the [3M] perfect aspect marker -ay or the future imperfective aspect marker -a. For example, in (62a) t and χ are labialised because the verb roots to?- 'to die' and χo ?- 'to like very much' (62b) are followed by -ay and -a, respectively. On the other hand, in (63), t and χ are not labialised because the verb roots are followed by the third person feminine gender marker -t, which does not result in the context that triggers labialisation.

(62a)	Gimaytasi? ?it ^w ay	
	Gimayta-si?	i=to?-ay
	old.man-DEF.M/F	3 = die - PF[3M]
	'The old man died.'	

(62b)	hamiyaasi? luukk	luukkata ?iχ ^w a		
	hamiyaa-si?	luukkata	i=xo?-a	
	boy-DEF.M/F	fruit	3 = like.very.much-IPF.FUT	
	'The boy likes fruit very much.'			

(63a) raakasi? ?ito?ti raaka-si? i=toy-t-i old.woman-DEF.M/F 3 = die-3F-PF 'The old woman died.'

(63b) inantasil luukkata ixo?ta

inanta-si?	luukkata	$i = \chi o^2 - t - a$
girl-DEF.M/F	fruit	3 = like.very.much-IPF.FUT
'The girl likes fru	uit very muc	h.'

2.8. Morphophonemic processes

In this section, I treat the morphophonemic processes of eliding the glottal stop, and also replacing it with the palatal glide (2.8.1), metathesis (2.8.2), assimilation involving the causative and middle derivation (2.8.3), assimilation involving verb root final t (2.8.4), assimilation involving n in subject clitics (2.8.5), assimilation involving the glottal stop in cliticisation (2.8.6), vowel coalescence (2.8.7) and haplology (2.8.7). I consider processes that are restricted to certain lexemes or morphemes as morphophonemic processes.

2.8.1.Elision of /?/

The glottal stop is optionally elided when it is a first member of a consonant cluster in nominals. After the elision, the vowel preceding it is lengthened. The following are illustrative examples:

(64)	/yo?matta/	[yoomatta]	'millstone'
	/ɗa?ta/	[ɗaata]	'butter'
	/xa?tiya/	[xaatiya]	'fly'
	/kupa?taa/	[kupaataa]	'tortoise'
	/sata?ta/	[sataata]	'heart'
	/to?ta/	[toota]	'death'
	/kala?ta/	[kalaata]	'spider'
	/xa?naa/	[xaanaa]	'waking up; resurrection'

The glottal stop /?/ is optionally replaced by the glide y when it occurs between two vowels, of which the one following the glottal stop is a high front vowel /i/. The available examples have the singulative suffix -itta as in (65a). The plurative forms of the singulatives, however, occur only with the glottal stop rather than with the palatal glide as shown in (65b); (also see Section 4.2.1).

(65a)	Gina?itta	Ginayitta	'rib'
	Xola?itta	xolayitta	cactus species
	mara?itta	marayitta	grass species
	sa?itta	sayitta	'seed corn for root crops'
	riwwa?itta	riwwayitta	'the Milky Way'
(65b)	Gina?itta	Gina?iyyaa	'rib'
	Xola?itta	xola?iyyaa	cactus species
	mara?itta	mara?iyyaa	grass species
	sa?itta	sa?iyyaa	'seed corn for root crops'
	riwwa?itta	riwwa?iyyaa	'the Milky Way'

2.8.2. Metathesis

The phenomenon of metathesis is limited to certain lexemes and may take place in consonant clusters or across syllables. Lexemes that allow metathesis in consonant clusters require the alveolar lateral liquid /l/ to be either the first or the second member in a consonant cluster. In some cases speakers show preference to one or the other of the forms, but in other cases no such preference is expressed. For instance, the variants listed in the left column in (66a) are preferred to those in the right column, while with the variants in (66b) no such preference is expressed.

(66a)	kilpa	~ kipla	'knee'
	ilkitta	~ iklitta	'tooth'
	dikla	~ dilka	'elbow'
	pogla	~ polGa	'clan chief'
	siklaa	~ silkaa	'(poison from) bee or wasp sting'
	Golfaa	~ Goflaa	'bark (of tree)'
(66b)	sipla	~ silpa	'mental'
	siploota	~ silpoota	'hoe'

Consonant clusters containing glides as a first member followed by the alveolar lateral liquid /l/ as a second member do not allow metathesis as shown in (67).

(67)	kaylaa	~ *kalyaa	'tassel'
	pawlaa	~ *palwaa	'old Ethiopian coin'
	hawla	~ *halwaa	'grave, tomb'

In the following words, metathesis takes place after vowel deletion in the second syllable.

(68)	χosalaa	~ χolsaa	'laughter'
	afuratta	~ arfatta	'fourth'

There are certain Amharic loan words that exhibit metathesis. The first two also show metathesis in Amharic, but the last one does not undergo metathesis in this language.

(69)	kipriteeta	~ kirpiteeta	'match' (Amh. kibrit ~ kirbit)
	iskiriptoota	~ iskipirtoota	'pen' (Amh. iskiripto ~ iskipirto)
	taaksita	~ taaskitą	'taxi' (Amh. taksi)

It is difficult to formulate a general rule for metathesis across syllables. Below, I give an exhaustive list of the nouns that show metathesis across syllables.

katipayta	~ kapitayta	plant species
arasaa	~ asaraa	'local drink made for sale
punsukkayta	~ punkussayta	, 'owl'
hinkaaffata	~ hinfaakkata	'ant' ⁶
moGorGorissa	~ moroGroGissą	weed species
	katipayta arasaa punsukkayta hinkaaffata moGorGorissa	katipayta ~ kapitayta arasaa ~ asaraa punsukkayta ~ punkussayta hinkaaffata ~ hinfaakkata moGorGorissa ~ moroGroGissa

For the first three nouns, the variants on the left are preferred, while for the last two the variants do not show any preference.

As mentioned earlier, the phenomenon of metathesis is limited to certain lexemes. In the following data in (71), we find that the lexemes contain consonant clusters /lp/ or /pl/, but they do not allow metathesis. Notice that in the majority of the instances, the consonant cluster is /lp/.

(71)	saalpata	*saaplata	'belt'
	Golpa	*Gopla 'he-goat'	
	saalpuuGaa	*saapluuGaa	'skunk'
	palpalayta	*paplalayta	'joker.M'
	Galpeeta	*Gapleeta	'good manner'
	talpooti	*taplooti	woman's name
	tulpeeta	*tupleeta	'hippopotamus'
	eplaa	*elpaa	'season when ripening begins'
	χalpa	*χapla	'seventy-five cents'
	kulpa	*kupla	'gourd for carrying water'

2.8.3. Assimilation involving the causative and middle derivation

The (direct) causative suffix $-\int$ and the middle suffix -ad also involve assimilation with certain morphemes. See Section 6.1.1 and 6.1.2 for details of causative derivation and middle derivation, respectively.

The causative suffix is realised as /s/ when followed by other derivations. For example, in (72a), the causative suffix is followed by the middle derivational suffix -ad, in (72b) by the passive derivational suffix -am, and in (73) by the voiceless alveolar stop /t/. The voiceless alveolar stop may be a 3F marker (73a), second person marker (73b) or part of the verbal nominal derivational suffix -taa (73c). In fact, the voiceless alveolar stop also becomes a voiceless alveolar fricative /s/. Thus, we may argue that there is double assimilation when we have the sequence $\int t$ becoming /ss/: voiceless alveolar stop /t/ also changes to a voiceless alveolar fricative s.

⁶ Notice that in the word hinkaaffata 'ant', the non-geminate consonant /k/ becomes geminate when it is relocated in the position of the geminate /f/, and the geminate /f/ becomes single when relocated in the position of the non-geminate /k/.

- (72a) namasit tika iharmisaɗay nama-si? tika i=harm-f-ad-ay man-DEF.M/F house 3 = prepare-DCAUS-MID-PF[3M]
 'The man prepared a house for his benefit.'
- (72b) tomasi? ?ikullisamay toma-si? i=kull-f-am-ay bowl-DEF.M/F 3=enter-DCAUS-PAS-PF[3M]
 'The bowl was moved into the house.'
- (73a) ijeennat talaasini? ?ikalissa *ijeenna-? talaa-sini?* 3SGF.PRO-NOM goats-DEF.P

i=kal-f-t-a 3=return.home-DCAUS-3F-IPF.FUT 'She will bring the goats back home.'

(73b) attit taloosini? ?ikkalissa *atti-? talaa-oosini?* 2SG.PRO-NOM goats-DEM.P

> *i?=kal-f-t-a* 2=return.home-DCUAS-2-IPF.FUT 'You (SG) will bring the goats back home.'

(73c) anti? ?innaasinil luukkata ɗamissaa immalaalay anti-? innaa-sini? luukkata 1SG.PRO-NOM child-DEF.P fruit

> *dam-f-taa in=malaal-ay* eat-DCAUS-VN 1=be.unable.to-PF[3M] 'I could not feed the child fruit.'

The voiceless palatal fricative \int at the end of verb roots may or may not be affected by derivational morphemes, and this calls for further investigation. If we take, for example, the verb root dif- 'to plant', we do find that the final consonant remains the same despite being followed by a 3F morpheme (74a), a middle derivation (74b) or present imperfective suffix (74c). On the other hand, if we take the verb root diif- 'to stop, leave', we find that the verb root's final \int is affected when followed by a 3F morpheme as in (74d) or when followed by a middle derivation as shown in (74e).

- (74a) inantasip poGollootasi? ?idisti i=dif-t-i inanta-si? poGolloota-si? girl-DEF.M/F maize-DEF.M/F 3 = plant-3F-PF'The girl planted the maize.' (74b) attip poGollootasi? ?idijatta atti-? poGolloota-si? 2SG.PRO-NOM maize-DEF.M/F i=dif-ad-t-a 3 = plant-MID-2-IPF.FUT'You (SG) planted the maize for your benefit.'
- (74c) antim muusitan difanni anti-? muusita = in dif-ni1SG.PRO-NOM banana = 1 plant-IPF.PRES 'I plant bananas.'
- (74d) inantasi? ?anta idiissi *inanta-si?* an-ta *i=diif-t-i* girl-DEF.M/F go-VN 3=stop-3F-PF 'The girl stopped going.'
- (74e) innaasinik kammaa desa idiisamin *innaa-sini? kamma-a desa i=diif-am-i-n* child-DEF.P after-LOC from.side 3 = stop-PAS-PF-P'The child was abandoned.'

A verb root final **d** does not change its features when followed by vowel-initial (derivational) suffixes as in (75). However, it becomes ? when followed by consonant-initial inflectional suffixes as in (76).

(75a)	χar∫asiɗ ɗiluppan (desa ifid-am-ay		
	χar∫a-si?	dila-opa-n	desa	
	beans-DEF.M/F	field-DEST-	PATH towards	
	i=fid-am-ay			
	3 = scatter-PASS-I	PF[3M]		
	'The beans were s	cattered over the	field.'	
(75b)	namasic Goraasini	? ?ihaaɗanni		
(,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	nama-si?	Goraa-sini?	i=haad-ad-ni	
	person-DEF.M/F	tree-DEF.M/F	3 = carry.PL-MID-IPF.P	RES

'The person carries the trees for his benefit.'

(76a)	namasik koɗaasi? ?iko?ni				
	nama-si?	kodaa-si?	i=kod-ni		
	person-DEF.M/F	work-DEF.M/F	3 = do-IPF.PRES		
	'The person does	the work.'			
(76b)	inantasix xar∫asi?	?ifi?ti̯			
	inanta-si?	χar∫a-si?	i=fid-t-i		
	girl-DEF.M/F	beans-DEF.M/F	3 = scatter - 3F - PF		
	'The girl scattered	I the beans.'			

It is interesting to see that causative and middle behave differently in that they have allomorphs in s and t, respectively, when followed by other derivations.

The causative suffix $-\int$ also completely and progressively assimilates to the alveolar nasal that marks the first person plural as in (77a) or is part of the present imperfective marker -ni as in (77b).

- (77a) indaminni in = dam-f-n-i 1 = eat-DCAUS-1PL-PF 'We fed (it).'
- (77b) antih hellaan kollinni anti-? hellaa=in koll-f-ni
 1SG.PRO-NOM children=1 teach-DCAUS-IPF.PRES 'I teach children.'

Concerning the assimilation of the alveolar implosive of the middle derivation, we find that there is a complete regressive assimilation of the implosive when followed by /n/ of the first person plural marker -n as in (78a) or the one which is part of the present imperfective marker -ni as in (78b).

(78a) xormasin katanna

xorma-si?=inkat-ad-n-aox-DEF.M/F=1sell-MID-1PL-IPF.FUT'We will sell the ox for our benefit.'

(78b) orrasi? ?untaa ipohanni

orra-si?	<i>?untaa</i>	i=poh-ad-ni
people-DEF.M/F	crops	3 = collect-MID-IPF.PRES
'The people are harve	esting crop	os.'

The alveolar implosive of the middle suffix is also realised as t when it is followed by /t/ that marks second person as in (79a), third person feminine as in (79b) or the /t/ of the verbal nominaliser -taá as in (79c).

- (79a) luukkatasi? ?immittatta luukkata-si? i?=mitt-ad-t-a fruit-DEF.M/F 2=pick.SG-MID-IPF.FUT 'You (SG) will pick the fruit for your benefit.'
- (79b) aturraatasiG Goyrasi? ?iGapatti aturraata-si? Goyra-si i=Gap-ad-t-i cat-DEF.M/F tree-DEF.M/F 3=catch-MID-3F-PF 'The cat held the tree for its benefit.'
- (79c) alleeta Gupattaá ipaGaari *alleeta Gup-ad-taá i=paGaar-i* house build-MID-VN 3= be.good-PF 'Building a house is good for oneself.'

2.8.4. Assimilation involving verb root final t

The alveolar voiceless stop t in verb final position assimilates completely in manner of articulation to the next n, as the following examples show.

(80a) okkattasil lekaytan ipanni

okkatta-si?	lekaytan	i=pat-ni
cow-DEF.M/F	many.times	3 = disappear-IPF.PRES
'The cow disappea	rs many times.'	

(80b) if $oonna\chi \chiarfasi?$?inkanní *if oonna-? \chi arfa-si? in = kat-n-í* 3PL.PRO-NOM beans-DEF.M/F 3NEG = sell-NEG-PF 'They did not sell the beans.'

2.8.5. Assimilation involving n in subject clitics

The alveolar nasal in subject clitics (in=, an=) assimilates partially or completely in place of articulation to the initial consonant of the verb root or noun to which a subject clitic is encliticised. It has the allomorphs listed in (81). I provide illustrative examples in (82-86).

(81) /n/ [m] before a verb root initial bilabials / p, 6, m/, as in (61)
[I] before a verb root initial /l/, as in (62)
[r] before a verb root initial /r/, as in (63)
[w] before a verb root initial /w/, as in (64a)
[y] before a verb root initial /y/, as in (64b)
[m] before a verb root initial /k/, as in (65a)
[ŋ] before a verb root initial /k/, as in (65b)
[N] before a verb root initial /G, χ/, as in (65c)

(82a) kodaasi? ?impira kodaa-si? in=pir-a work-DEF.M/F 1 = finish-IPF.FUT 'I will finish the work.'

- (82b) ammukni an=muk-n-i 1NEG=sleep-NEG-PF 'I did not sleep.'
- (83a) illella *in = lel-n-a* 1 = tell-1PL-IPF.FUT 'We will tell.'
- (83b) illaa66ini
 in = laa66-n-i
 1 = cross.over-1PL-PF
 'We crossed over.'
- (84a) irroopní in=roop-n-í 3NEG-rain-NEG-PF 'It did not rain.'
- (84b) irrakkay
 in = rakk-ay
 1 = hung.SG-PF[3M]
 'I hung (it).'
- (85a) pocfollootasi? ?iwwaanni pocfolloota-si? in = waat-n-i maize-DEF.M/F 1 = roast-1PL-PF 'We roasted the maize.'

(85b) kappaasi? ?iyyooGay kappaa-si? in=yooG-ay wheat-DEF.M/F 1=grind-PF[3M]

'I ground the wheat.'

- (86a) imfurtu
 in = fur-t-u 3NEG = untie-3F-NEG.IPF.FUT
 'She will not untie.'
- (86b) tikupa iŋkala

tika-opa in = kal-a house-to 1 = return.home-IPF.FUT 'I will go home.'

(86c) χ ampirteetasi? ?in χ aptay χ ampirteeta-si? in = χ apt-ay bird-DEF.M/F 1 = throw-PF 'I threw the bird.'

2.8.6. Assimilation of a glottal stop in encliticisation

The glottal stop that marks a certain grammatical function or is a final consonant of certain suffixes or words assimilates completely in place of articulation as well as manner of articulation to a following consonant. Below, I provide an exhaustive list of the suffixes or words in which the glottal stop occurs in final position.

The glottal stop that marks nominative case assimilates completely to the initial consonant of a following word as shown in (87).

(87a)	inuc diluppan anni <i>inu-?</i> 1PL.PRO-NOM 'We went into the fig	<i>dîla-oppa=in</i> field-in=1 eld.'	<i>an-n-i</i> go-1PL-PF
(87b)	i ∫at tikaayye ica <i>ifa-?</i> 3SGM.PRO-NOM 'He is at home.'	<i>tika-ayye</i> house-LOC	<i>i=kiy-a</i> 3=be-IPF.FUT

The suffixes that mark definiteness in Konso have a final glottal stop. This glottal stop assimilates completely to the initial consonant of a following constituent as shown in (88). For the details on definite reference, see Section 4.7.

(88a)	attif faGaasinip pirti				
	atti-?	faGaa-sini?	i?=pir-t-i		
	2SG.PRO-NOM	local.beer-DEF.P	2 = finish-2-PF		
	'You (SG) finished (drinking) the local beer.'				
(88b)	antit tomasik kutta	infaGay			

<i>su)</i>	anni tomasik kutta ijijaGay				
	anti-?	toma-si?	kutt-a		
	1SG.PRO-NOM	bowl-DEF.M/F	be.big-M/F		

in=faG-ay 1 = wash-PF[3M] 'I washed the big bowl.'

The glottal stop that is the final consonant of the plural gender agreement marker -aa? in attributive adjectives also assimilates completely to the initial consonant of any following constituent. For example, the singular object noun filaasini? 'the comb' in (89a) and the plural object noun ?okkayyaasini? 'the cows' (89b) have a plural gender value marked by -aa?. In these examples, we can see that the glottal stop assimilates completely to the initial consonant /p/ of the word patta 'only' (89a) and /l/ of the word lakki 'two' (89b).

(89a)	filaasinik kuttaa	p pattan akkay	ý	
	filaa-sini?	kutt-aa?	patta = in	akk-ay
	comb-DEF.P	be.big-P	only = 1	see-PF[3M]
	'I saw only the	big comb.'		

(89b)	okkayaasinik kukuttaal lakkin akkay				
	okkayaa-sini?	ku-kutt-aa?	lakki = in	akk-ay	
	cows-DEF.P	PL-be.big-P	two = 1	see-PF[3M]	
	'I saw the two big	g cows.'			

The glottal stop which is the final consonant of the plural gender agreement marker -ee? in relative clauses also assimilates completely to the initial consonant of any following constituent. In example (90a), we have the singular object noun inantasi? 'the girl' which has a singular gender value; in example (90b) and (90c) we have the singular object noun innaasini? 'the child' and the plural object noun kaharraasini? 'the sheep', respectively. These nouns have a plural gender value marked by suffix -ee?. See 4.1 on plural *gender* agreement which may include numerically singular nouns.

(90a)	inantasit tikupa de?ti pattan akkay				
	inanta-si?	tika-opa	dey-t-i	patta = in	
	girl-DEF.M/F	house-to	come-3F-PF	only = 1	

akk-ay see-PF[3M] 'I saw only the girl who came home.'

(90b)	innaasinit tikupa <i>innaa-sini?</i> child-DEF.P	a ɗeyayeep pa <i>tika-opa</i> house-to	nttan akkay <i>dey-ay-ee?</i> come-PF[3M]-P	patta = in only = 1
	<i>akk-ay</i> see-PF[3M] 'I saw only the	child who ca	me home.'	
(90c)	kaharraasinik ka <i>kaharraa-sini?</i> sheep-DEF.P	akkatamayeep <i>kak-kat</i> PL-sell	pattan akkay - <i>am-ay-ee?</i> -PAS-PF[3M]-P	patta = in only = 1

akk-ay see-PF[3M] 'I saw only the sheep that were sold.'

The glottal stop that is the final consonant of the third person possessive suffixes (-ayfu? and -ssu?) also assimilates completely to the initial consonant of any following constituent as demonstrated in (91). For details see Section 5.3.

(91a)	okkattaay∫ux xala it ^w a okkatta-ay∫u? cow-3PL.POSS.M/F 'Their cow died yester	y <i>xala</i> yesterday rday.'	<i>i=to?-ay</i> 3=die[SG]-PF[3]	M]	
(91b)	okkayyaassux xala ileyin okkayaa-ssu? xala i=ley-i-n				
	cows-3PL.POSS.P 'Their cows died yeste	yesterday erday.'	3 = die[PL]-PF-P		

The glottal stop which is the final consonant of the demonstrative suffixes -asi?/-oosi?/-oosini? also assimilates completely to the initial consonant of any following constituent as shown in (92).

(92a)	kahartaasip pi∫aasini? ?i?ikti			
	kaharta-asi?	pi∫aa-sini?	i=?ik-t-i	
	ewe-DEM.M/F	water-DEF.P	3 = drink-3F-PF	
	'This ewe drank the water.'			

(92b)	kaharoosinip pi∫aasini? ?i?ikin			
	kaharraa-osi?	pi∫aa-sini?	i=?ik-i-n	
	sheep-DEM.P	water-DEF.P	3 = drink-PF-P	
	'These sheep dran			

The glottal stop that marks the locative case also assimilates completely to the initial consonant of any following word as shown in (93).

(93a)	dakaasik kirra kapax xaayi				
	dakaa-si?	kirra	kapa-?	χaay-i	
	stone-DEF.M/F	river	near-LOC	put-IMP.SG	
	'(You (SG)) Put th				

(93b)	antis silpootasi? ?intikad dii∫ay				
	anti-?	silpoota-si?	in=tika-?		
	1SG.PRO-NOM	hoe-DEF.M/F	1 = house-LOC		
	diif-ay				
	leave-PF[3M]				
	'I left the hoe at home.'				

The glottal stop that marks the genitive case also assimilates completely to the initial consonant of any following word (94).

(94)	antit taamta Goyram muriya inheena				
	<i>anti-?</i> 1SG.PRO	-NOM	<i>taamta</i> branch	a GEN	<i>Goyra-?</i> tree-GEN
	<i>mur-iya</i> cut-VN	<i>in=he</i> 1=wa	<i>en-a</i> nt-IPF.FUT		

'I want to cut a branch of a tree.'

The glottal stop which is the final consonant of the words ifu? 'and', ini? 'this one', sedi? 'this' and seni? 'these' also assimilates completely to the initial consonant of any following constituent, as illustrated in (95).

(95a) ana ijuk Kappooli inde?nį

	ana	?iſu?	Kappooli	in=dey-n-i
	1SG.PRO.ACC	and	Kappooli	1 = come-1PL-PF
	'I and Kappoole	came.	,	
5	init tikooway			

(95b) init tikaawu *ini? tika-awu* this house-1SG.POSS.M/F 'This is my house.'

- (95c) sedim maana sedi? maana this what 'What is this?'
- (95d) senid dillaayyu seni? dillaa-yyu these fields-1SG.POSS.P 'These are my fields.'

2.8.7. Vowel coalescence

There are two instances of vowel coalescence that I have discovered. Neither instance occurs with other morphemes, but both only involve the postpositions opa 'to' and oppa 'in'. The first instance involves the combination of adverbials with a final /e/ (e.g., parre 'tomorrow', partaane 'after tomorrow') and the postposition opa 'to, towards'. When the words are combined, the glottal stop of the postposition is elided, resulting in the sequence /eo/. Since diphthongs are not allowed, the sequence /eo/ becomes /i/ as demonstrated in (96). The combination of such adverbials and the postposition opa requires such verbs as muk- 'to sleep', χaay - 'to put, lay', tuukk- 'to push.SG' to indicate a postponement of an appointment.

- (96a) kodoosip parripa mukinna kodaa-oosi-? parre-opa muk-f-n-a work-DEM.M/F tomorrow-to sleep-CAUS-1PL-OPT 'Let's postpone the work until tomorrow.'
- (96b) antoosip partaanipa tuukkina antoosi? partaane-opa after tomorrow-to 'for the day after tomorrow'

We do not get vowel coalescence when the postposition opa occurs with the adverbs aye 'here' and awwi 'today'. We rather get aypa 'here (lit. to here)', and awwipa 'for today', respectively.

The second instance involves the postposition oppa 'in' or opa 'to, towards' when it is attached to singulative nouns that have a final short vowel **a**. In this case, the sequence |ao| of the final vowel of the noun and the initial vowel of the postposition produces the vowel |u|. In (97a) the vowel coalescence involves the postposition opa whereas (97b) shows coalescence involving the postposition oppa.
(97a)	hemittaasip paraannupa tuukkina			
	hemitta-asi?	paraanna-opa	tuukk-n-a	
	marriage-DEM.M/F	next.year-to	push.SG-1PL-OPT	
	'Let's postpone this wedding until next year.'			

(97b)	inud diluppan anni				
	inu-?	dila-oppa = in	an-n-i		
	1PL.PRO-NOM	field-in $= 1$	go-1PL-PF		
	'We went into the fie	-			

Furthermore, when the postpositions kapa 'beside, near' and opa 'to' are combined, we get kapupa 'to' as in (98a). The combination of the postpositions also yields kawpa in fast speech by eliding the first p of kapupa and changing /u/ to /w/ to avoid the vowel sequence /au/ as in (98b).

(98a)	ana kapupa χοοyi ana 1SG.PRO.ACC '(You (SG)) Come	<i>kapa-opa</i> near-to to me!'	<i>хооу-і</i> come-IMP.SG
(98b)	ana kawpa χοοyi ana 1SG.PRO.ACC '(You (SG)) Come	<i>kapa-opa</i> near-to to me!'	<i>χοοy-i</i> come-IMP.SG

2.8.8.Haplology

The suffix -ay, which marks perfective aspect for third person singular masculine, is optionally elided when it is attached to a verb root that has a final ay. The sequence of ay-ay is reduced to one ay. Verb roots with a final ayy or aay or aayy do not qualify for haplology. In (99a), I provide illustrative verb roots with the final ay; in (99b), verb roots which end in aay, ayy and aayy are given for comparison.

(99a)	kay- tay- ɗay-	'to reach, arrive' 'to leave, desert' 'to hit'
	day- ɗakay-	'to hear'
(99b)	χaay- kayy- paayy-	'to put''to jump and touch''to start'

The following are illustrative sentential examples. The examples in (100a-b) occur with the reduced -ay while the equivalent examples in (100c-d) occur with the full verb root plus the 3M perfective suffix -ay.

(100a)	i∫at tikuppa ikay		
	1Ja-7	tika-oppa	1=Kay
	3SGM.PRO-NOM	house-in	3 = reach.PF[3M]
	'He arrived at home.'		
(100b)	anti? ?otootasi? ?indaka	ay	
	anti-?	otoota-si?	in=dakay
	1SG.PRO-NOM	news-DEF.M/F	1 = hear.PF[3M]
	'I heard the news.'		
(100c)	i∫at tikuppa ikayay		
	ifa-?	tika-oppa	i=kay-ay
	3SGM.PRO-NOM	house-in	3 = reach-PF[3M]
	'He arrived at home.'		
(100d)	anti? ?otootasi? ?indakaya	ıy	

anti-? otoota-si? in=dakay-ay 1SG.PRO-NOM news-DEF.M/F 1=hear-PF[3M] 'I heard the news.'

The sentential example in (101a) has the verb root kayy- 'to jump and touch'. It ends in ayy and has the third person masculine perfective suffix -ay. And as mentioned above, such verb roots do not allow the reduction of the perfective -ay suffix as shown in (101b).

(101a) Kappoolit taamtasi?	?ikayyay	i=kayy-ay
Kappooli-?	taamta-s	si?3 = jump.and.touch-PF[3M]
kappoole-NOM	branch-	DEF.M/F
'Kappoole jumped	and touched	1 the branch.'

(101b) *kappoolit taamtasi? ?ikayy *kappooli-? taamta-si? i=kayy* kappoole-NOM branch-DEF.M/F 3 = jump.and.touch (intended: 'Kappoole jumped and touched the branch.')

2.9. Tone

Konso has low and high tone levels which do not have a lexical role, but rather a grammatical role. In this work, only high tone is marked with an acute stroke (). Despite my countless efforts, and the many efforts I made with colleagues like Constance Kutsch Lojenga and Anne-Christie Hellenthal, the full account

of tone (or maybe pitch-accent) of the language still remains ill understood. The grammatical roles of tone that I am able to identify include making a distinction between the nominative and the accusative (cleft construction) and indicating contrasts in person-marking between some affirmative and negative paradigms.

The tonal distinction between nominative and accusative case is that a noun in the nominative has a low tone as in (102a) while the same noun has a high tone in the accusative case as in (102b). The sentence in (102b) is a cleft construction (details appear in Section 3.5).

(102a)	oraaytaa kuta Ganiinay			
	oraayta = i	kuta	Ganiin-ay	
	hyena $= 3$	dog	bite-PF[3M]	
	'A hyena bit	a dog.'		

(102b) oraaytaá kuta Ganiinay oraayta = i kuta Ganiin-ay hyena = 3.ACC dog bite-PF[3M] 'It is a dog that bit a hyena.'

Another grammatical role that tone plays is that it distinguishes first person singular present imperfective (103a) from third person perfective negative, as in (103b). It also distinguishes first person singular in the present imperfective (103a repeated as 104a) from first person plural in the perfective as in (104b). In this case, the final vowel of the sentence with the first person singular carries a low tone whereas the third person or first person plural has a high tone as illustrated in (103). The distinction between the first person plural and the third person negative is made only on the basis of a discourse context.

(103a) inanni

in=an-ni 1=go-IPF.PRES 'I go/I am going.'

- (103b) in = an-n-í 3NEG = go-NEG-PF 'He/She/They did not go.'
- (104a) inanni in = an-ni1 = go-IPF.PRES'I go/I am going.'

(104b) in = an-n-i 1 = go-1PL-PF'We went.'

3. Simple sentences

This chapter describes the basic structure of simple sentences. It presents simple verbal sentences, adjectival sentences, subject clitics, nominal sentences and cleft sentences.

3.1. Verbal simple sentences

Verbal simple affirmative declarative sentences may contain overt subjects, verb roots with (affirmative or negative) subject clitics and inflectional suffixes. There is no marking to show that a sentence is declarative. They are only characterised by a sentence-final falling intonation (Ongaye 2000). The basic word order in simple sentences is SOV. This is shown in (1):

(1a)	attix xar∫a idɗammi			
	atti-? X	ar∫a	i?=dam-ni	
	2SG.PRO-NOMbeans		2 = eat-IPF.PRES	
	'You (SG) eat bea	ns.'		

(1b) antik kulleetasi? ?inGeeda anti-? kulleeta-si? in=Geed-a 1SG.PRO-NOMhood-DEF.M/F 1=take-IPF.FUT 'I will take the hood.'

As is apparent in the above examples, (1a) contains the overt subject ?atti 'you (SG)', the overt object $\chi ar f a$ 'beans', the second person subject clitic i?=, the verb root dam- 'eat', and the aspect marker -ni. Similarly, (1b) contains the overt subject anti 'I', the overt object kulleetasi? 'the hood', the first person subject clitic in=, the verb root Geed- 'take' and the imperfective future aspect marker -a on the verb.

Overt subjects, such as anti 'I' and atti 'you (SG)' in (1) can be optionally left out because they are understood from the type of the subject clitics and the gender agreement markers on the verb. For instance, example (2a) and (2b) are such versions of the example in (1a) and (1b), respectively.

- (2a) $\chi ar \int a i d f a mmi$ $\chi ar \int a i f = d a m-ni$ beans 2 = eat-IPF.PRES 'You (SG) eat beans.'
- (2b) kulleeta-si? in = Geed-a hood-DEF.M/F 1 = take-IPF.FUT 'I will take the hood.'

A simple verbal sentence with transitive verb roots may also occur with covert subjects and objects. As mentioned earlier, covert subjects are understood from the type of subject clitics and the gender agreement markers on the verb. For covert objects, there are no such clues. They are understood only from an earlier mention in a discourse. For instance, if we omit the subject and object of the examples in (1), we get the sentences in (3):

- (3a) iddammi i? = dam-ni 2 = eat-IPF.PRES'You (SG) eat (it).'
- (3b) in=Geed-a 1=take-IPF.FUT 'I will take (it).'

In the literature on Konso, various terms have been used for subject clitics: preverbals (Black 1973; Ongaye 2000, 2004), person indices (Sim 1977, Daudey & Hellenthal 2004). In this work, I choose the term "subject clitics" because they are clitics and always indicate the person value of the subject.

Most sentences contain one subject clitic. The position of subject clitics in the sentences is mainly with the verb of the sentence. However, they can be procliticised or encliticised to other constituents of a sentence, as we shall see below. The subject clitics do not distinguish gender or number; they only distinguish person. Gender (and person/number) is marked by the inflectional suffix on the verb. Without an overt subject, it is only the subject clitics that distinguish between second person singular and third person singular feminine, which have the same verb form, as shown below.

- (4a) i??anti i? = an-t-i2 = go-2-PF'You (SG) went.'
- (4b) i?anti i=an-t-i3=go-3F-PF'She went.'

We identify different forms of affirmative and negative subject clitics for various persons depending on the sentence/clause type. The following table presents these forms.

Sentence/Clause type	Affirmative		Negative			
	1	2	3	1	2	3
Verbal/Adjectival	in=	i?=	i=	an =	a?=	in=
Nominal	an =	a?=	-	-	-	-
Optative/Imperative	-	-	-	-	in=	in=

Table 1: Forms of subject clitics

With explicit subject and object, the subject clitics may occur in any of the following four positions: as a proclitic to the verb as in (5a), as an enclitic to the object as in (5b), as a proclitic to the object as in (5c), or as an enclitic to the subject as in (5d).

(5a)	inuk kuufa inhaa?n <i>inu-?</i> 1PL.PRO-NOM 'We carried a cow	i <i>kuufa</i> cow.dung.pile dung pile.'	<i>in=haad-n-i</i> 1=carry-1PL-PF
(5b)	inuk kuufan haa?ni <i>inu-?</i> 1PL.PRO-NOM 'We carried a cow	<i>kuufa=in</i> cow.dung.pile=1 dung pile.'	<i>haad-n-i</i> carry-1PL-PF
(5c)	inu? ?inkuufa haa? <i>inu-?</i> 1PL.PRO-NOM 'We carried a cow	ni <i>in=kuufa</i> 1=cow.dung.pil dung pile.'	<i>haad-n-i</i> e carry-1PL-PF

(5d)	inun kuufa haa?ni				
	inu=in	kuufa	haad-n-i		
	1PL.PRO = 1	cow.dung.pile	carry-1PL-PF		
	'We carried a cow dung pile.'				

In the following examples, the subjects are implicit and the subject clitics are negative.

- (6a) akkaltu a?=kal-t-u
 2NEG = return.home-2-NEG.IPF.FUT
 'You (SG) will not go home.'
- (6b) $\chi ar \int asi? ?an dammi$ $<math>\chi ar \int a-si?$?an = dam-n-i beans-DEF.M/F 1NEG = eat-NEG-PF 'I did not eat the beans.'

- (6c) $\chi ar \int asi?$?indammi $\chi ar \int a-si?$ in = dam-n-i beans-DEF.M/F 3NEG = eat-NEG-PF'He/She/They did not eat the beans.'
- (6d) a??anni akkittu a?=?an-ni a?=kit-t-u 2NEG=go-IPF 2NEG=be-2-NEG'You (SG) do not go.'

3.2. Adjectival sentences

Adjectives differ from verbs in that both number and gender are marked on the former (see 4.1.4). Adjectives are like verbs with regard to hosting subject clitics. Like the independent verbal sentences, affirmative adjectival sentences occur with the same subject clitics: in = for first person, i? = for second person, and i = for third person. Singular subjects are not marked but plural subjects are marked by reduplicating the adjectival root's initial $C_1V(C_1)$. Adjectival sentences, like nominal sentences (see 3.4), have no copula. Both nominal and adjectival sentences may occur with overt or covert subjects. For example, the example in (7a) has the overt subject inantasi? 'the girl' and the one in (7b) has hellaasini? 'the children'. The adjectival root in both examples is deribe tall'.

- (7a) inantasi? ?ideri *inanta-si?* i=der-igirl-DEF.M/F 3=be.tall-PF'The girl is tall.'
- (7b) hellaasini? ?idedderi hellaa-sini? i=ded-der-i children-DEF.P 3=PL-be.tall-PF
 'The children are tall.'

First person plural and second person plural take the suffixes **-nna** and **-ttan**, respectively, in addition to reduplication on the adjectival roots as shown in (8).

(8a) inu? ?indedderinna inu-? in = ded-der-i-nna 1PL.PRO-NOM 1 = PL-be.tall-PF-1PL 'We are tall.'

(8b) ijina? ?idedderittan *ijina-?* i=ded-der-i-ttan
2PL.PRO-NOM 3=PL-be.tall-PF-2PL
'You (PL) are tall.'

Adjectival sentences may occur without an overt subject. We can show this by omitting the overt subjects inantasi? 'the girl' and hellaasini? 'the children' in the above examples. With the absence of an overt subject we only know the number of the implicit subject from reduplication and also from the suffixes -nna and -ttan for first person and second person plural. Examples:

- (9a) i = der i3 = be.tall-PF 'She/He/It is tall.'
- (9b) i = ded der i3 = PL-be.tall-PF 'They are tall.'
- (9c) in = ded-der-i-nna1 = PL-be.tall-PF-1PL 'We are tall.'

Negation in adjectives is marked by negative subject clitics as well as by negative suffixes on the verb 'be, exist'.

- (10a) and ereen co an = der - i = an kiy-o 1 NEG = be.tall-PF = 1 NEG be-NEG 'I am not tall.'
- (10b) derin kittu der - i = in kit-t-u be.tall-PF = 3NEG be-3F-NEG 'She is not tall.'

Negative adjectival sentences in which adjectival roots serve as predicates differ from adjectival affirmative sentences in the following ways:

- They require the existential verb kit- 'to be, exist' in addition to the adjectival predicate;
- Except third persons, the other persons do attach negative subject clitics on the adjectival predicates;
- All persons have negative subject clitics on the verb 'be, exist';
- Except for second person plural and third person plural, negation is also marked on the verb kit- 'to be, exist'.

The following are illustrative examples of negative adjectival sentences.

(11a)	anderi anco an = der-i 1NEG = be.tall-PF 'I am not tall.'	<i>an=kiy-o</i> 1NEG=be-NEG
(11b)	addedderi akkittan <i>a?=ded-der-i</i> 2NEG = PL-be.tall-PF 'You are not tall.'	<i>a?=kit-t-a-n</i> 2NEG=be-2-PF-P

The negative subject clitics of the verb kit- 'to be, exist' mainly occur as enclitics with the adjectival predicate. This leftward movement omits the glottal stop for all persons. This in turn causes vowel coalescence for first and second persons: i+a=ee. For third persons, the vowel i is elided, and negation is marked only by the suffix -n. Below I provide some illustrative examples.

(12a)	andereen co		
	an=der-i=an	kiy-o	
	1 NEG = be.tall-PF = 1 NEG	be-NEG	
	'I am not tall.'		
(12b)	addereek kittu		
	a?=der-i=a?	kit-t-u	
	2NEG = be.tall-PF = 2NEG	be-2-NEG	

'You (SG) are not tall.'

(12c)	dedderin can		
	ded-der-i=in	kiy-a-n	
	PL-be.tall- PF = $3NEG$	be-IPF.FUT-P	
	'They are not tall.'		

The position of subject clitics is restricted in content questions and conditional clauses when the conditional conjunctions are not expanded with the suffix -n, for which I could not find the grammatical function or semantic content (but see 12.2.1 for details on conditional conjunctions). In content questions, subject clitics are attached only to the content-question word as shown in (13). The examples in (14) are unacceptable because the subject clitics have moved to the verbs.

(13a) maanan ifad ɗaafa maana = in ifa-? daaf-a what = 1 him-DAT give-IPF.FUT 'What shall I give him?'

- (13b) $ay \int aak kitta$ $ay \int aa = i?$ kit-t-a where = 2 be-2-IPF.FUT 'Where are you?'
- (14a) *maana ifa? ?inɗaafa maana ifa-? in=daaf-a what him-DAT 1=give-IPF.FUT (intended: 'What shall I give him?')
- (14b) *ayfaa i?=kit-t-a where 2=be-2-IPF.FUT (intended: 'Where are you?')

The position of subject clitics is also restricted in conditional clauses that contain conjunctions that are not expanded with suffix -n. For instance, in (15), we have the unexpanded conditional conjunction kande 'if'. Accordingly, the subject clitic must occur with this conjunction. This is shown in (15a) where the first person subject clitic occurs with the conjunction kande. The example in (15b) is unacceptable because the first person subject clitic has moved from the conditional conjunction kande to the verb root.

(15a)	kanden um <i>kande=in</i> if=1	nalaapa aanay lahar <i>urmalaa-opa</i> market-to	n pidda <i>an-ay</i> go-PF[3M]	laha = in ram = 1
	pidd- <i>a</i> buy[SG]-I 'If I went	PF.FUT to the market, I wo	uld buy a ram.'	
(15b)	*kande urr <i>kande</i> if	nalaapa inaanay, lal ? <i>urmalaa-opa</i> market-to	nan piɗɗa <i>in=an-ay,</i> 1=go-PF[3M	[]
	<i>laha=in</i> ram=1 (intended:	<i>pidd-a</i> buy[SG]-IPF.FUT 'If I went to the ma	arket, I would buy	y a ram.')

Subject clitics are also restricted in their position of occurrence when the adverb **amma** 'now' follows the discourse marker **asu** 'just'. The adverb **amma** 'now' has an inherent emphasis and as a result only hosts subject clitics when followed by **asu** 'just' as in (16a). The example in (16b) is unacceptable because the subject clitic has moved from the adverb to the verb.

(16a)	amman asu koɗaasiɗ ɗikki∫ay			
	amma = in	asu	kodaa-si?	dikkif-ay
	now = 1	just	work-DEF.M/F	finish-PF[3M]
	'I have just	finished	d the work.'	
(16b)	*amma asu	koɗaasi	? ?indikki∫ay	
	amma a	asu k	kodaa-si?	in=dikkif-ay
	now j	ust v	vork-DEF.M/F	1 = finish-PF[3M]
	(intended: "	l have j	ust finished the wo	ork.')

So far, I have discussed about the presence of subject clitics in sentences. Now, I return to presenting cases where subject clitics are absent. Subject clitics are absent in affirmative imperatives and optative sentences. They are also absent in cleft sentences. Since various sections are dedicated to each of these sentence types in this work, here, I only provide illustrative examples to show that subject clitics are absent in these sentence/clause types.

The examples in (17) illustrate imperatives (see imperatives in 6.4.1). They, however, differ in the presence or absence of subject clitics. The example in (17a) does not have a subject clitic because it is an affirmative imperative. In contrast, the example in (17b) has a subject clitic because it is a negative imperative. Notice that the form of the negative subject clitic of the negative imperative is identical to that of the first person affirmative subject clitic in affirmative verbal sentences.

(17a)	alleesip poota	
	alleeta-si?	poot-a
	hut-DEF.M/F	demolish-IMP.PL
	'(You (PL)) Demolish this hut!'	

(17b) alleesi? ?impootan alleeta-si? in=poot-a-n hut-DEF.M/F 2NEG = demolish-IMP.PL-NEG '(You (PL)) Do not demolish this hut!'

Optative sentences are illustrated in (18) (see also Section 6.4.2). The affirmative optative in (18a) does not have subject clitics whereas the negative optative in (18b) has a subject clitic. Again, notice that the form of the negative subject clitic of the negative optative is identical to that of the first person affirmative subject clitic in affirmative verbal sentences.

(18a) **a kal-u** REL return.home-OPT 'Let him return home.'

(18b) in=kal-i-n 3NEG=return.home-OPT-NEG 'Let him not return home.'

In non-cleft verbal sentences, the subject pronoun has a nominative suffix, and the verb has the subject clitic, gender suffix and aspect marker as in (19a). On the other hand, in cleft sentences, the subject occurs in the form of an accusative pronoun followed by a cleft sentence marker. Moreover, the verb has no subject clitic and gender/person marker. It only has the verb root and invariable aspect marker as shown in (19b-c).

i=kal-t-i
return.home-3F-PF

- (19b) ifeenna-á kal-ay 3SGF.PRO[ACC]-CLF return.home-PF[3M] 'It's her who returned home.'
- (19c) ke-é kal-ay 2SG.PRO.ACC-CLF return.home-PF 'It's you (SG) who returned home.'

In the preceding sections, I have presented the forms of affirmative as well as negative subject clitics in various sentence/clause types. In these sentence/clause types, subject clitics are flexible with regard to their placement in most verbal sentences. This flexibility in the placement of the subject clitics renders subtle differences in meaning. Further research should be done in order to understand these differences. It seems that the explanation lies in information structure.

Content question words host subject clitics as in (20a) (see also Section 10.3). The example in (20b) is ungrammatical because the subject clitic has moved from the content question word.

(20a)	anti? ?aynun xonsupa erka			
	anti-?	aynu=in	xonso-opa	erk-a
	1SG.PRO-NOM	who $= 1$	Konso-to	send-IPF.FUT
	'Whom shall I se	nd to Konso?), ,	
(20b)	*anti? ?avnu yon	supa inerka		
	anti-?	ay	nu xonso-opa	in=erk-a
	1SG.PRO-NOM	w	ho Konso-to	1 = send-IPF.FUT
	(intended: 'Whor	n shall I send	l to Konso?')	

Inherent emphasis can be obtained from the adverb amma 'now' when followed by asu 'just' as in (21).

(21)	anti? ?amman asu koɗaasiɗ ɗikki∫ay			
	anti-?	amma = in	asu	koɗaa-si?
	1SG.PRO-NOM	now = 1	just	work-DEF.M/F

dikkif-ay finish-PF[3M] 'I have just finished the work now.'

3.3. Nominal sentences

A citation form of a noun serves as a base for a nominal sentence for third person singular as in (22a). When the first person singular or second person singular is the subject of such nominal sentences, the nouns occur with subject clitics as in (22b-c). The forms of the subject clitics are: an = and a? = for first person and second person, respectively. Notice that the forms of the nominal subject clitics for first and second persons are identical to the negative subject clitics of the verbal sentences. For first and second person plurals, however, overt pronouns are mandatory in addition to the subjet clitics, as illustrated in (22d-e).

- (22a) **xorma** (a) bull' or 'It is a bull.'
- (22b) an=χorma
 1=bull
 'I am a bull (i.e. I am brave.)'
- (22c) aχχοrma a?=χοrma 2=bull
 'You (SG) are a bull (i.e. You are brave.)'
- (22d) inu? ?anxormadaa inu-? an = xormadaa 1PL.PRO-NOM 1 = bulls 'We are bulls (i.e. We are brave).'
- (22e) ijina? ?axxormadaa *ijina-?* a?=xormadaa
 2PL.PRO-NOM 2=bulls
 'You (PL) are bulls (i.e. You (PL) are brave)'.

Derived nominals such as the agentive also form nominal sentences. Such nominal sentences occur with subject clitics for first and second persons. Examples:

- (23a) an=akim-itta 1=treat-AGENT.M 'I am a physician.'
- (23b) a?=akim-itteeta 2=treat-AGENT.F 'You (SG.F) are a physician.'
- (23c) akim-iyyaa treat-AGENT.PL 'They are physicians.'

Nominal sentences do not have negative subject clitics. Rather they have a negative nominal suffix **-n(nin)**.

- (24a) $i \int a \chi \chi ormannin$ $i \int a - i \int a \chi orma-nnin$ 3 SGM.PRO-NOM bull-NEG 'He is not a bull (i.e. He is not brave).'
- (24b) if ina? ?a??oraayaannin *if ina?* a? = oraayaa-nnin2PL.PRO-NOM 2 = hyenas-NEG 'You (PL) are not hyenas (i.e. You are not greedy).'

3.4. Cleft sentences

As mentioned in the preceding section, cleft sentences do not take subject clitics. Furthermore, they are characterised by not having gender markers on the verb. The forms of the aspect markers do not vary. In cleft sentences, all nouns with short final vowels lengthen the final vowel. When personal pronouns are used, they occur in the object form.

Below, I provide paradigms to show the above characteristics of cleft sentences, using the verb root **dam**- 'eat'. Interlinear glossing and translation are given for the first person singular in each of the paradigm.

(25a) anaa ɗammi *ana-a ɗam-ni* 1SG.PRO.ACC-CLF eat-IPF.PRES 'It is me who eats (it).'

	inoo ɗammi kee ɗammi i∫inaa ɗammi i∫eennaa ɗammi i∫aa ɗammi i∫oonnaa ɗammi	'It is us who eat (it).' 'It is you (SG) who eat (it).' 'It is you (PL) who eat (it).' 'It is her who eats (it).' 'It is him who eats (it).' 'It is them who eat (it).'
(25b)	anaa ɗamay <i>ana-a</i> 1SG.PRO.ACC-CLF 'It is me who ate (it).'	<i>dam-ay</i> eat-PF[3M]
	inoo ɗammay kee ɗamay i∫inaa ɗammay i∫eennaa ɗamay i∫aa ɗamay i∫oonnaa ɗamay	'It is us who eat (it).' 'It is you (SG) who ate (it).' 'It is you (PL) who ate (it).' 'It is her who ate (it).' 'It is him who ate (it).' 'It is them who ate (it).'
(25c)	anaa ɗama <i>ana-a</i> 1SG.PRO.ACC-CLF 'It is me who will eat (i	<i>dam-a</i> eat-IPF.FUT t).'
	inoo ɗama kee ɗama i∫inaa ɗama i∫eennaa ɗama i∫aa ɗama i∫oonnaa ɗama	'It is us who will eat (it).' 'It is you (SG) who will eat (it).' 'It is you (PL) who will eat (it).' 'It is her who will eat (it).' 'It is him who will eat (it).' 'It is them who will eat (it).'

With transitive verbs, the object is marked with a high tone (see also 4.12.1 for nominative-accusative case distinction).

(26a)	ana-a 1SG.PRO.ACC-CLF 'It is me who will kill a lio	karmaá lion n.'	i∬-a kill[SG]-IPF.FUT
(26b)	ke-e 2SG.PRO.ACC-CLF 'It is you (SG) who will ca	keraá thief tch a thief.'	G ap-a catch-IPF.FUT

Verbless cleft sentences are marked by the suffix -Vn as shown in the following illustrative examples:

- (27a) ineen Goyraawu *ini-en Goyra-awu* this-CLF tree-1SG.POSS.M/F 'It's this one which is my tree.'
- (27b) iʃeenna-án akimi-tteeta 3SGF.PRO[ACC]-CLF treat-F 'It's her who is a physician.'
- (27c) helloosineen kere?ta hellaa-oosini?-en kere?ta children-DEM.P-CLF thieves 'It's these children who are thieves.'

4. Nouns

This chapter is about nominal morphology. Here, I describe gender, number, plurality in adjectives, semantic gender distinction, diminutive, indefinite reference and indefinite–specific morphemes and definite reference. I also deal with demonstrative suffixes, numerals, nominal derivation, case and compounding.

4.1. Gender

4.1.1.Gender of nouns

There are three interacting notions with regard to gender in nouns. First, we have the notion of plural gender versus non-plural (masculine and feminine) gender; secondly, we have the notion of semantic plurality; and thirdly, plurative versus singulative. The distinction plural gender versus non-plural masculine and feminine gender is based on the concord between a noun in the subject function and the verb of the same sentence. As will be shown later, the distinction of gender agreement markers on the verb is realised only when nouns serve as non-focused subjects. With regard to semantic plurality, we see that plural gender does imply semantic plurality in some cases but not in all, and that the non-plural genders can have plural interpretations. To avoid the confusion that might arise from the use of terms, I use the term 'plural' in the context of agreement on the verb whether the subject is numerically single or multiple. I also use the terms "singulative" and "plurative" for derived forms of nouns, and "base" for the form on which the derivation (singulative or plurative) is based. Moreover, I use the terms "single" and (following Hayward (1981)) "multiple" for the number values of nouns, and the terms, "masculine", "feminine" and "plural" for the values of gender.

Like other Cushitic languages, Konso shows gender, not number, agreement in the subject inflection on the verb. And gender has the values M(asculine), F(eminine) and P(lural), as is not uncommon for Cushitic languages. The third value for gender agreement is P(lural) because that is the ending on the verb. I use the abbreviation M/F in those gender agreement markers that do not distinguish between M and F. The head noun may be either M or F.

Thus, according to gender agreement on the verb, we have nouns that trigger the same agreement as the third person male subject (marked by the suffix -ay), those that trigger the same agreement as the third person female subject (marked by suffix -t) and those that trigger the same agreement as the third person plural subject (marked by the suffix -n).

Most nouns which are semantically specified for sex as female trigger the third person feminine gender agreement marker -t on the verb as shown in (1):

- 74
- (1a) inantasi? ?ide?ti *inanta-si?* i = dey-t-igirl-DEF.M/F 3 = come-3F-PF'The girl came.'
- (1b) talteetasi? ?ipi?ti talteeta-si? i=pi?-t-ishe-goat-DEF.M/F 3 = fall-3F-PF'The she-goat fell.'

Certain nouns that are semantically female have masculine gender agreement. Her is an example:

(2a) okkattasi? ?ipi?ay okkatta-si? i=pi?-ay cow-DEF.M/F 3=fall-PF[3M] 'The cow fell.'
(2b) arpasi? ?idalay arpa-si? i=dal-ay elephant-DEF.M/F 3=give.birth-PF[3M] 'The elephant gave birth.'

Nouns that are semantically specified for sex as male trigger third person masculine gender agreement on the verb as in (3).

- (3a) $\chi \text{ormasi? ?ipatay}$ $\chi \text{orma-si?}$ i=pat-ayox-DEF.M/F 3=get.lost-PF[3M]'The ox got lost.'
- (3b) hamiyaasi? ?ideyay hamiyaa-si? i=dey-ay boy-DEF.M/F 3=come-PF[3M] 'The boy came.'
- (3c) lahai? ?ipatay *laha-si? i=pat-ay* ram-DEF.M/F 3=get.lost-PF[3M] 'The ram got lost.'

All nouns with plural suffixes have the plural gender agreement -n on the verb. For example, the suffix -wwaa in harreewwaa 'donkeys' in (4a), -daa in χ ormadaa 'oxen' in (4b) and -ddaa in lahaddaa 'rams' in (4c) are plural suffixes and, thus, impose the plural gender agreement marker -n on the verb.

- (4a) harreewwaasini? ?ipatin harreewwaa-sini? i=pat-i-n donkeys-DEF.P 3=get.lost-PF-P 'The donkeys got lost.'
- (4b) χ ormadaa-sini? ?ipatin χ ormadaa-sini? i=pat-i-noxen-DEF.P 3=get.lost-PF-P'The oxen got lost.'
- (4c) lahaɗɗaasini? ?ipatin lahaɗɗaa-sini? i=pat-i-n rams-DEF.P 3=get.lost.PF-P 'The rams got lost.'

There are certain nouns which are semantically plural but have a masculine or feminine gender agreement on the verb. For instance, iskatta 'women' in (5a) is semantically plural but occurs with a masculine gender marker on the verb. In the same fashion, kuyleeta 'the Ts'amakko' in (5b) is semantically plural but occurs with a feminine gender agreement -t on the verb.

(5a)	iskatta-si? ?idey-ay	
	iskatta-si?	i=dey-ay
	women-DEF.M/F	3 = come-PF[3M]
	'The women came.'	
(5b)	kuyleetasi? ?ide?ti	
	kuyleeta-si?	i=dey-t-i
	Ts'amakko-DEF.M/F	3 = come-3F-PF
	'The Ts'amakko came.	,

Most nouns that are semantically undetermined for sex require masculine gender agreement, feminine gender agreement or plural gender agreement. The gender assignment cannot be predicted by the semantics of the nouns. Here are some examples:

(6a)	Goyrasi? ?iGepay		
	Goyra-si?	i=Gep-ay	
	tree-DEF.M/F	3 = break-PF[3M]	
	'The tree was broken.'		

(6b) harreetasi? ?iGepti harreeta-si? i=Gep-t-idonkey-DEF.M/F 3=be.broken-3F-PF'The donkey was broken.' (6c) filaasini? ?iGepin
 filaa-sini? i=Gep-i-n comb-DEF.P 3 = be.broken-PF-P
 'The comb was broken.'

From our discussion so far, it is apparent that nouns fall into three groups based on their subject agreement on the verb: those with M(asculine), F(eminine) and P(lural) gender agreement. The three gender values to some degree follow the semantics of nouns but for quite a number of nouns the gender value cannot be predicted by semantics. Semantically plural nouns may trigger M, F or P agreement, and semantically singular nouns may trigger P agreement. Singular and plural pairs of nouns can have different gender values.

Agreement on the adjective shows that gender and number are separate agreement systems. On the adjective number is marked by reduplication (for plural), see 3.2 above, and P(lural) gender is marked by a suffix, see 4.1.4. Nouns that are plural in number need not be P(lural) in gender and nouns that are P(lural) in gender are not always plural in number. This state of affairs is confusing for those not acquainted with Cushitic languages. Using a different term for the third value of gender would be misleading because the agreement does coincide with that of third person plural 'they'.

When there are suppletive verb roots for singulative and pluractional (see 6.2.5 for pluracitonality), nouns that have a singulative notion occur with singulative verb roots, and those that have a plurative notion occur with pluractional verb roots. Nouns with plurative notion may differ in their gender agreement on the verb. For example, if we take, as in (7), the nouns kawwaaɗaa 'the Gawwada', kaahuta 'Kaaho villagers' and χ oyraa 'the Burji' and the suppletive verb roots keer- 'to run[SG]' and hir- 'to run[PL]', we see that all the nouns have a plurative notion, and hence occur with the suppletive pluractional verb root hir- 'to run[PL]' rather than the singulative verb root keer- 'to run[SG]'. However, they differ in gender agreement: kawwaaɗaa 'the Gawwada' in (7a) triggers the same gender agreement as the third person masculine subject, kaahuta 'Kaaho villagers' in (7b) triggers the same gender agreement as the third person feminine subject, and χ oyraa 'the Burji' in (7c) triggers the same gender agreement as plural subject.

 (7a) kawwaaɗaasi? ?ihiray kawwaɗa-si? kawwaɗa-DEF.M/F 'The Gawwada ran.'

i = hir-ay3 = run[PL]-PF[3M]

- (7b) kaahutasi? ?ihirti *kaahuta-si? i=hir-t-i* kaaho-DEF.M/F 3=run[PL]-3F-PF 'The kaahuta ran.'
- (7c) χ oyraasini? ?ihirin χ oyraa-sini? i=hir-i-nburji-DEF.P 3=run[PL]-PF-P'The Burji ran.'

There are some nouns with M~F gender values. The alternative use of the M~F does not bring any difference in meaning. For instance, the singulative raaka 'old woman' is semantically feminine but it may occur with the indefinite F takka in (8a) or with the M counterpart tokka in (8b), the former is preferred.

- (8a) raaka takka? ?ipi?ti *raaka takka-? i=pi?-t-i* old.woman INDEF.F-NOM 3=fall-3F-PF'A certain old woman fell down.'
- (8b) raaka tokkan akkay raaka tokka = in akk-ay old.woman INDEF.M = 1 see-PF[3M] 'I saw a certain old woman.'

4.1.2. Gender agreement in definiteness marking

The gender of nouns determines the assignment of definite marking on nouns: nouns that trigger the same gender agreement as the masculine or feminine subject assign the definite suffix -si? as illustrated in (9).

- (9a) Gimaytasi? ?ikuti?ay
 Gimayta-si? i=kuti?-ay
 old.man-DEF.M/F 3=sit.down-PF[3M]
 'The old man sat down.'
- (9b) orra-si? ?ikal-ay orra-si? i=kal-ay people-DEF.M/F 3 = return.home-PF[3M] 'The people returned home.'
- (9c) alleetasi? ?ipi?ti alleeta-si? i=pi?-t-ihut-DEF.M/F 3=fall-3F-PF'The hut fell.'

Nouns that trigger the same agreement as the plural subject on the verb assign the definite suffix -sini?. For example, the nouns innaa 'child' in (10a) and filaa 'comb' in (10b) are semantically singular. However, they add the plural gender agreement marker -n on the verb just like the noun lahaddaa 'rams' in (10c). This clearly shows that -n is a gender agreement marker, not a number marker.

- (10a) innaasini? ?imukin *innaa-sini? i=muk-i-n* child-DEF.P 3=sleep-PF-P 'The child slept.'
- (10b) filaasini? ?iGepin filaa-sini? i=Gep-i-ncomb-DEF.P 3=be.broken-PF-P'The comb was broken.'
- (10c) lahaɗɗaasini? ?ikataman lahaɗɗaa-sini? i=kat-am-a-n rams-DEF.P 3=sell-PAS-IPF.FUT-P 'The rams will be sold.'

4.1.3. Gender agreement in demonstratives

The gender of nouns determines the assignment of demonstrative marking on nouns. In other words, nouns that trigger the same gender agreement as masculine or feminine subject assign the demonstrative suffix -asi? or -osi? as illustrated in (11). For the distribution of the demonstrative suffixes, see Section 4.8.

- (11a) kahartaasi? ?idalti kaharta-asi? i=dal-t-iewe-DEM.M/F 3= give.birth-3F-PF 'This ewe gave birth.'
- (11b) Goyroosi? ?icfepay
 Goyra-osi? i=Gep-ay
 tree-DEM.M/F 3=be.broken-PF[3M]
 'This tree was broken.'
- (11c) orraasi? ?ikalay
 orra-asi? i=kal-ay
 people-DEM.M/F 3 = return.home-PF[3M]
 'These people returned home.'

Nouns that trigger the same gender agreement as the plural subject on the verb assign the demonstrative suffix -osini?. In the following examples, the semantically singular noun innaa 'child' (12a) and the plurative noun pottaawwaa 'pumpkins' (12b) add the plural gender agreement suffix -osini?.

(12a)	innoosinif fatanaappaa ipi?in				
	innaa-osini?	fatanaa-oppaa	i=pi?-i-n		
	child-DEM.P	exam-in	3 = fall-PF-P		
	'This child failed the exam.'				

 (12b) pottaawwoosini? ?iŋapalin pottaawwaa-osini? i=papal-i-n pumpkins-DEM.P 3=be.spoiled-PF-P
 'These houses were spoiled.'

4.1.4. Gender agreement in adjectives

When adjectives serve as attributes, gender is marked in addition to number. Plural number is expressed by reduplicating the adjectival root's initial $C_1V(C_1)$. Gender agreement is marked by suffixes -a for M/F gender and by the suffix -aa? for plural gender. For example, in (13a), the modified noun **xormasi**? 'the ox' is semantically singulative and [M] in gender and it has an M/F gender suffix on the adjectival root. In (13b), the modified noun filaasini? 'the comb' is semantically singulative but requires a plural gender suffix -aa? on the adjectival root. In (13c), the modified noun **?orrasi**? 'the people' is semantically plural and [M] in gender and requires a plural number agreement marked by reduplication but an M/F gender suffix on the adjectival root. In (13d), the object **xormaGaasini**? 'the oxen' is semantically plural and [P] in gender and has a plural number agreement marked by reduplication and a plural gender agreement suffix -aa? on the adjectival root. Notice that the subject of each sentence in (13) is the first person singular.

(13a)	χormasik kappa i <i>χorma-si?</i> ox-DEF.M/F 'I saw the fat ox.	n?akkay <i>kapp-a</i> be.fat-M/F '	<i>in=akk-ay</i> 1=see-PF	/ [3M]
(13b)	filaasinip pooraa <i>filaa-sini?</i> comb-DEF.P 'I saw the black	? ?in?akkay <i>poor-aa?</i> be.black-P comb.'	<i>in=akk-a</i> 1=see-P	<i>ay</i> F[3M]
(13c)	orrasik kakappa i orra-si? people-DEF.M/F 'I saw the fat peo	n?akkay <i>ka-kapp</i> PL-be.f	9-a at-M/F	<i>in=akk-ay</i> 1=see-PF[3M]

(13d)	χormaɗaasinik kakappaa? ?in?akkay				
	xormadaa-sini?	ka-kapp-aa?	in=akk-ay		
	ox-DEF.P	PL-be.fat-P	1 = see-PF[3M]		
	'I saw the fat oxen.'				

From the foregoing discussions, it is clear that gender as a morphological category has the M, F and P values in subject agreement marking on the verb, and M/F and P values in the noun phrase agreement, namely in definite nouns, demonstratives and adjectives.

4.2. Number

Number in nouns is derivational rather than inflectional (see Ongaye (in print)). The derivation of number in nouns involves the derivation of pluratives, and, to a much lesser degree, the derivation of singulatives. As I mentioned earlier, I use the terms "singulative" and "plurative" for derived forms of nouns, and "base" for the form on which the derivation (singulative or plurative) is based. Moreover, I use the terms "single" and (following Hayward (1981)) "multiple" for the number values of nouns. "Single" nouns refer to semantically individual entities while "multiple" nouns refer to semantically plural entities. In what follows, I first present the derivation of pluratives and then the derivation of singulatives.

Plurative is marked by the following ways:

- A. attaching plurative suffixes
- B. reduplicating the base-final consonant
- C. geminating the last consonant of the base

Pluratives derived by any one of the above strategies are plural semantically and also trigger plural gender agreement marking on the verb. As we shall see later, there are also suppletives in Konso. Singular suppletives express single reference, while plural suppletives express multiple reference.

4.2.1. Number suffixes

There are five number suffixes used to mark plurative in nouns. The number suffixes are arranged from the most to the least frequently occurring suffix with a sample of about 470 nouns (see Chapter 15).

Form of number suffix	Base
Adɗaa (27%)	stem
Bwwaa (22%)	root-ta (F)
Cɗaa (16%)	stem
Dayaa (7.5%)	root-atta (M)
Eiyyaa (5.5%)	root-itta (M)

From the correlation between the number suffixes and their bases, we can see that some plurative suffixes are added to bases while others replace singulative suffixes. Thus, the plurative suffix of each noun has to be learned lexically. Furthermore, a lexeme may occur with more than one plurative suffix. In some cases, nouns with plurative suffixes may serve as bases to further derive pluratives. In fact, sometimes it is only the singulative that is derived. In other words, the system has both singulatives and pluratives, and both can be basic.

Below, I discuss each of the number suffixes. In the illustrative examples, I only indicate the gender values of the bases because plurative suffixes impose a plural gender value.

Plurative suffix -ddaa

The plurative suffix **-ddaa** is added to a base. Base final **aa** is shortened when **-ddaa** is added. The bases may have a masculine, feminine or plural gender values. The bases are either underived, or derived singulatives in **-ta**. The following are illustrative examples:

(14)	Base	gloss	plurative	gloss
	da?ta (M)	'butter'	da?taddaa	'butters'
	kittayyaa (M)	'bedbug'	kittayyaɗɗaa	'bedbugs'
	maakaa (M)	'snake'	maakaɗɗaa	'snakes'
	mahanta (F)	'grass'	mahantaɗɗaa	'grasses'
	oxinta (F)	'fence'	oxintaɗɗaa	'fences'
	fiifaa (P)	'curse'	fiifaɗɗaa	'curses'
	kaariyyaa (P)	'evil spirit'	kaariyyaddaa	'evil spirits'
	kosaa (P)	'granary'	kosaɗɗaa	'granaries'
	marGinaa (P)	'intestine'	marGinaddaa	'intestines'

Plurative suffix -wwaa

The plurative suffix -wwaa replaces the singulative suffix -ta. Except apuyyaata 'maternal uncle (M)' and kawkawa 'lower jaw (M)', all such singulative nouns trigger a feminine gender agreement. Examples:

(15)	Base	gloss	plurative	gloss
	hinfaakkata (F)	'ant'	hinfaakkawwaa	'ants'
	kaankita (F)	'mule'	kaankiwwaa	'mules'
	fooGGita (F)	'mud'	fooGGiwwaa	'muds'
	noodduta (F)	'bribe'	noodduwwaa	'bribes
	muukuta (F)	'frog'	muukuwwaa	'frogs'
	fillayyaata (F)	'flea'	fillayyaawwaa	'fleas'
	landeeta (F)	'liver'	landeewwaa	'livers'

Plurative suffx -daa

Like the suffix -ddaa, plurative suffix -daa is added to its bases. The bases have either a consonant cluster or geminate consonants preceding the suffix with the short d. Although degemination in the context of geminate consonants or clusters of consonants has been attested elsewhere in the language, we cannot posit the suffix -ddaa as an allomorph of the suffix -ddaa because the suffix -ddaa also occurs after clusters of consonants, as in oxintaddaa 'fences' and hawladdaa 'graves'. Base final aa is shortened. The bases may have a masculine, feminine or plural gender value, but the majority have a masculine gender value. The following are illustrative examples. Notice that the plurative suffixes -ddaa and -daa are not allomorphs of the same plurative suffix.

(16)	Base	gloss	plurative	gloss
	arpa (M)	'elephant'	arpadaa	'elephants'
	ipsaa (P)	'light'	ipsaɗaa	'lights'
	dalta (F)	'seed'	daltadaa	'seeds'
	farta (F)	'horse'	fartaɗaa	'horses'
	maxxa (M)	'name'	maxxaɗaa	'names'
	kirra (M)	'river'	kirraɗaa	'rivers'
	kappaa (M)	'wheat'	kappaɗaa	'wheat'
	karmaa (M)	'lion'	karmaɗaa	'lions'
	karkaa (M)	'beehive'	karkaɗaa	'beehives'
	naannaa (P)	'tomato'	naannaɗaa	'tomatoes'
	paankaa (P)	'machete'	paankaɗaa	'machetes'

The base noun **naappaa** 'tomato' can have plural interpretation in the absence the plurative suffix -daa. Plural or singular interpretation is understood not from the gender agreement on the verb, as both trigger plural gender agreement marking on the verb, but rather from the singulativity or pluractionality of the action: when the verb root is a singulative suppletive or the verb root's initial $C_1V(C_1)$ is not reduplicated (for non-suppletives), then it has a singular interpretation. However, when the verb root is a plurative suppletive or the verb root's initial $C_1V(C_1)$ is reduplicated (for non-suppletives), then it has plural interpretation.

Plurative suffix -ayaa

The plurative suffix -ayaa replaces the singulative suffix -atta as can be seen from the data in (17). The majority of the bases have a masculine gender agreement.

(17)	Base	gloss	plurative	gloss
	oypatta (M)	tree species	oypayaa	tree species
	arpatta (M)	grass species	arpayaa	grass species

karsatta (M)	tree species	karsayaa	tree species
dittatta (M)	plant species	dittayaa	plant species
hoppatta (M)	'gut'	hoppayaa	'guts'
kollatta (M)	'hide, skin'	kollayaa	'hides, skins'
okkatta (M)	'cow'	okkayaa	'cows, cattle'
karratta (M)	'squirrel'	karrayaa	'squirrels'
massatta (M)	'crocodile'	massayaa	'crocodiles'
kawwatta (F)	'terrace'	kawwayaa	'terraces'

There is one instance of a nominal root with a singulative suffix -eetta and a plural suffix -eeyyaa: kupeetta (M) kupeeyyaa 'lower bone of hind leg'.

Plurative suffix -iyyaa

The plurative suffix -iyyaa is added to roots by replacing the singulative suffix -itta. All the bases trigger a masculine gender agreement. Here are some examples:

(18)	Base	gloss	plurative	gloss
	alkitta (M)	'sisal'	alkiyyaa	'sisals'
	fippitta (M)	'pimple'	finniyyaa	'pimples'
	Gupitta (M)	'finger'	Gupiyyaa	'fingers'
	ilkitta (M)	'tooth'	ilkiyyaa	'teeth'
	karitta (M))	'belly'	kariyyaa	'bellies'
	orritta (M)	'devil'	orriyyaa	'devils'
	apitta (M)	'fire'	apiyyaa	'fires'
	Gina?itta (M)	ʻrib'	Gina?iyyaa	'ribs'

4.2.2. Reduplicating the base final consonant

Reduplicating the base final consonant is another strategy that marks plurative. In this number derivation strategy, a base final consonant /l/ or /n/ in a consonant cluster is reduplicated and subsequently geminated/lengthened. The plurative forms have a final long **aa**. Most often the consonant clusters containing /l/ undergo metathesis (cf. 2.7.6.). The bases may have a short **a** or a long **aa**. A base final **-aa** is shortened in the plurative. The bases trigger either masculine or plural gender agreement, the majority triggering masculine gender agreement. The following is an exhaustive list:

(19)	Base	gloss	plurative	gloss
	hawla (M)	'tomb, grave'	hawlallaa	'tombs, graves'
	fanGala (M)	'splinter'	fanGallaa	'splinters'
	tawna (M)	'bell'	tawnannaa	'bells'
	moxna (M)	'rocky place'	moxnannaa	'rocky places'
	Golfaa (P)	'park, pod'	Golfallaa	'parks (of tree), pods'

dikla (M)	'elbow'	diklallaa	'elbows'
silpa (M)	'metal'	silpallaa	'metals'
kilpa (M)	'knee'	kilpallaa	'knees'
kulpa (M)	'big calabash'	kulpallaa	'big calabashes'
Golpa (M)	'he-goat'	Golpallaa	'he-goats'
dapna (M)	'temple (body)'	ɗapnannaa	'temples'

The bases in (20a) have the same phonological pattern as those in (19) but they do not reduplicate the final consonant in the plurative. The correct plurative forms are given in (20b).

(20a)	Base	gloss	plurative
	talpa (M)	'lentil'	*talpallaa
	hupna (M)	'strength'	*hupnannaa
	haynaa (P)	'remains after sucking cane'	*haynannaa
(20b)	talpaɗaa (P)	'lentils'	
	hunnannaa (D)	'atronatha'	

`	hupnannaa (P)	'strengths'
	haynaɗaa (P)	'remains after sucking cane'

4.2.3. Plurative marking by gemination

This plurative marking strategy geminates the onset of the last syllable. The short vowel /a/ of the bases is lengthened in the plurative forms. The majority of the bases trigger masculine gender agreement. The following are illustrative data.

(21)	Base	gloss	plurative	gloss
	tika (F)	'house	tikkaa	'houses'
	raaka (F)	'old woman'	raakkaa	'old women'
	dila (M)	'field'	dillaa	'fields'
	каба (М)	'canal'	ka66aa	'canals'
	kafa (M)	'clan'	kaffaa	'clans'
	mura (M)	'forest'	murraa	'forests'
	pora (M)	'road, route'	porraa	'roads, routes'
	paaGa (M)	'disease'	paaGGaa	'diseases'
	paala (M)	'feather'	paallaa	'feathers'
	kaasa (M)	'horn, gun'	kaassaa	'horns, guns'
	tuuɗa (M)	ʻpillar'	tuuddaa	'pillars'
	hoofa (M)	'hole'	hooffaa	'holes'

The pluratives of the following bases are derived by geminating the onset of the last syllable but the singulative is marked by suffix **-ta**.

(22)	Base	gloss	plurative	gloss
	kaharta (F)	'ewe'	kaharraa	'sheep'
	locta (F)	'leg'	loggaa	'legs'
	hi6ta (F)	ʻlip'	hi66aa	'lips'

4.2.4. Double plurative derivation

Certain plurative forms serve as bases for further derived pluratives. Double pluratives are derived by adding the plurative suffix -daa when the plurative bases are formed by reduplicating the base final consonant as in (23a). They are also derived by adding the plurative suffix -ddaa when the plurative bases are formed by geminating the base final consonant as in (23b).

(23a)	Base (plurative)	Base (plurative) plurative (double derived)	
	tikkaa	tikkaɗaa	'houses'
	raakkaa	raakkaɗaa	'old women'
	dillaa	dillaɗaaa	'fields'
	ka66aa	ka66aɗaa	'canals'
	kaffaa	kaffaɗaa	'clans'
	murraa	murradaa	'forests'
	porraa	porradaa	'roads, routes'
	paaGGaa	paaGGadaa	'diseases'
	paallaa	paalladaa	'feathers'
	kaassaa	kaassaɗaa	'horns, guns'
	tuuddaa	tuuddadaa	'pillars'
	hooffaa	hooffaɗaa	'holes'
(23b)	silpallaa	silpalladdaa	'metals'
. ,	diklallaa	diklalladdaa	'elbows'
	kilpallaa	kilpallaɗɗaa	'knese'
	kulpallaa	kulpalladdaa	'big calabashes'
	Golpallaa	Golpalladdaa	'he-goats'
	hawlallaa	hawlallaɗɗaa	'tombs, graves'
	fanGallaa	fanGalladdaa	'splinters'
	tawnannaa	tawnannaddaa	'bells'
	moxnannaa	moxnannaddaa	'rocky places'
	ɗapnannaa	ɗapnannaɗɗaa	'temples'
	Golfallaa	Golfalladdaa	'parks (of tree), pods'

4.2.5. Irregular pluratives

Certain pluratives do not fall into the patterns discussed above. For example, the plurative ildaa 'eyes', which is derived from the nominal root il- 'eye' (singulative ilta (F) 'eye'), does not conform to the pattern I discussed earlier for the plurative suffix -daa. That is, in my earlier analysis, I showed that -daa is added to bases, not roots. But in ildaa 'eyes', it is added to a root. The other

pluratives that do not fall into our earlier patterns include Goraa 'trees', harkaa 'hands' and kere?ta 'thieves'. The plurative Goraa 'trees' has the singulative Goyra (M) 'tree'. The derivation of the plurative Goraa 'trees' involves the deletion of the consonant y in the singulative, and lengthening the final vowel of the singulative. The plurative harkaa 'hands' is derived from the base by lengthening only the final vowel of the base. With regard to the derivation of the plurative kere?ta 'thieves' and its singulative keraa (M) 'thief', both have a root ker- to which -e?ta and -aa are added to derive the plurative and singulative, respectively.

In fact, the pluratives harkaa 'hands' and kere?ta 'thieves' can alternatively be used as stems to derive the plurative harkaɗaa and kere?ewwaa, respectively. Similarly, the singulative Goyra may serve as a stem to derive the plurative Goyraɗaa. This derivation fits into our analysis for the derivational pattern of the number suffix -ɗaa.

4.2.6. Suppletive plurals

Certain single-reference nouns have suppletive multiple reference counterparts. An exhaustive list is given in (24). The single-reference forms may trigger masculine, feminine or plural gender agreement; on the other hand, the plurals may trigger masculine or plural gender agreement.

(24)	Single	gloss	multiple	gloss
	innaa (P)	'child'	hellaa (P)	'(human) children'
	nama (M)	'man, person'	orra (M)	'people'
	saallaa (M)	'cow dung'	kuufa (M)	'pile of cow dung'
	inanta (F)	'girl'	tupar(r)aa (P)	'girls'
	innayyaa (P)	'young animal'	pelGaa (P)	'young animals/birds'

4.2.7. Pluratives without corresponding singulative forms

In the preceding sections, we discussed the derivation of pluratives from singulative bases. The roots of the bases carry the semantics of singulative. However, there are instances in which there is only one number form which is plurative and not singulative. Such nouns are listed below.

(25)	horeeta (F)	'livestock'
	sawwaa (M)	'people (formal setting)'
	ikkaamaa (P)	'seed corn'

Our evidence for claiming that the above nouns are plurative comes from agreement. For instance, the examples in (26) are acceptable because the nouns **horreta** 'livestock' and **sawwaa** 'people' occur with the pluractional verb root hir- 'run[PL]'. On the other hand, the examples in (27) are unacceptable be-

cause the same nouns horeeta and sawwaa occur with a singulative verb root keer- 'run[SG]'.

(26a)	horeetasi? ?ihirti <i>horeeta-si?</i> livestock-DEF.M/F 'The livestock ran.'	i = hir - t - i 3 = run[PL]-3F-I	ÞF
(26b)	keraasiG Gapiyas sa <i>keraa-si?</i> thief-DEF.M/F	wwaasi? ?ihiray <i>Gap-iya-?</i> catch-INF-DAT	<i>sawwaa-si?</i> people-DEF.M/F
	<i>i=hir-ay</i> 3=run[PL]-PF[3M 'The people ran in a] order to catch the thic	ef.'
(27a)	*horeetasi? ?ikeerti <i>horeeta-si?</i> livestock-DEF.M/F (intended: 'The live	<i>i=kccr-t-i</i> 3=run[SG]-3F- estock ran.')	PF
(27b)	*keraasiG Gapiyas s <i>keraa-si?</i> thief-DEF.M/F	sawwaasi? ?ikeeray <i>Gap-iya-?</i> catch-INF-DAT	<i>sawwaa-si?</i> people-DEF.M/F

i=keer-ay 3=run[SG]-PF[3M] (intended: 'The people ran in order to catch the thief.')

4.2.8. Derivation of singulatives

Singulatives are derived from underived pluratives by deleting final vowels and adding the suffixes -ayta (M) as in (28a), -ta (M/F) as in (28b), -itta (M) as in (28c) or -teeta (F) as in (28d).

(28a)	Plurative	singulative	gloss
	ɗa?ayaa	da?ayta (M)	plant species
	karayaa	karayta (M)	'gorge'
	keltayaa	keltayta (M)	'baboon'
	ottayaa	ottayta (M)	tree species
	Gimayaa	Gimayta (M)	'old man'
(28b)	kumaanaa maskahanaa pinaanaa	kumaanta (M) maskahanta (M) pinanta (M)	'antelope' tree species 'animal'

	hotaaraa	hotaarta (M)	acacia tree species
	kolalaa	kolalta (M)	acacia tree species
	lafaa	lafta (F)	'bone'
	koromaa	koromta (F)	'heifer'
	kusumaa	kusumta (F)	'navel'
	oxinaa	oxinta (F)	'fence'
	koskoraa	koskorta (F)	'partridge'
(28c)	Gina?aa falaGGaa ilkaa xola?aa Gina?aa lukkalaa	Gina?itta (M) falaGGitta (M) ilkitta (M) xola?itta (M) Gina?itta (M) lukkalitta (M)	<pre>'rib' 'flat stone' 'tooth' cactus species 'rib' 'chicken'</pre>
(28d)	ikkiraa	ikkirteeta (F)	'louse'
	xampiraa	χampirteeta (F)	'bird'
	talaa	talteeta (F)	'she-goat'

The singulative okkatta (M) 'cow' is derived from the plurative okkaa 'cows'. The singulative apitta (M) 'fire' may also serve as a stem to derive the plurative apittaddaa.

4.2.9. Associative plural

Associative plural is marked by the particle **opa** followed by the noun it modifies.⁷ Associative plural expresses that the noun which the associative particle modifies has an associate(s) whose name(s) is (are) not mentioned. The associative plural may be a subject as in (29a) or an object as in (29b).

(29a)	opa	χampiru? ?ideyin	
	opa	xampiru-?	i=dey-i-n
	ASS	χampiro-NOM	3 = come-PF-P
	'χampiro	and his associates car	me.'

(29b)	anti? ?opa Apittun akkay				
	anti-?	opa	Apitto = in	akk-ay	
	1SG.PRO-NOM	ASS	Apitto = 1	see-PF[3M]	
	'I saw ?apitto and his associate(s).'				

⁷ The associative particle and the postposition indicating destination (see Section 8.2.1) have the same form **opa** but occur in different positions with regard to the noun they modify. I consider them to be distinct, homophonous morphemes.

4.3. Plurality in adjectives

Plural number agreement in adjectives is marked by reduplicating the root initial C_1V when there is a geminate consonant in the root as in (30), otherwise, C_1VC_1 as in (31). For example, in (30a), the initial C_1V of the adjectival root **Galla?** 'to be thin, slim' is not reduplicated because the subject **inanta** 'girl' is singular. In (30b), it is reduplicated because the subject **tuparaa** 'girls' is plural. In the same fashion, in (31a), the initial C_1VC_1 of the adjectival root **der**. 'to be long' is not reduplicated because the subject **Goyrasi**? 'the tree' is singular. In (31b), the initial C_1VC_1 of the adjectival root der subject **Goyrasi**? 'the tree' is singular. In (31b), the initial C_1VC_1 of the adjectival root is reduplicated because the subject **Goyrasi**? 'the tree' is plural.

- (30a) inantaasi? ?iGalla?i *inanta-asi? i=Galla?-i* girl-DEM.M/F 3=be.slim-PF 'This girl is slim.'
- (30b) tuparoosini? ?iGaGalla?i *tuparaa-sini?i=Ga-Galla?-i* girls-DEM.P 3=PL-be.slim-PF 'These girls are slim.'
- (31a) Goyrasi? ?ideri Goyra-si? i=der-itree-DEF.M/F 3=be.tall-PF'The tree is tall.'
- (31b) Goraasini? ?idedderi *Goraa-sini? i=ded-der-i* tree-DEF.P 3=PL-be.tall-PF 'The trees are tall.'

We should note that reduplicating the adjectival root's initial $C_1V(C_1)$ shows only plural interpretation, and not plural gender agreement.

4.4. Semantic gender distinction

Names referring to certain domestic animals make a lexical semantic distinction between males and females. The lexical items that refer to 'sheep' are listed in (32a); those that refer to 'cow, ox, bull' are listed in (32b); and those that refer to 'goat' are listed in (32c).

	Male	Female	
(32a)	laha (M) 'ram'	kaharta (F) 'ewe'	
		sukeenta (F)	'female lamb'

(32b)	Male xorma (M) mirkoota (M)	ʻox, bull' ʻyoung b	ull'	Female okkatta (M) koromta (F) tullatta (M)	'cow' 'heifer' 'old cow'
(32c)	Golpa/Golpayta	(M)	'he-goat	talteeta (F) ritta (F)	'she-goat' 'young she-goat'

From the data in (32), we see that all the lexical items that are semantically male trigger masculine gender agreement on the verb. But lexical items such as **?okkatta** 'cow' and **tullatta** 'old cow', which are semantically female, trigger masculine gender agreement on the verb as shown in (33).

(33a)	okkattasi? ?iɗalay		
	okkatta-si?	i=dal-ay	
	cow-DEF.M/F	3 = give.birth-PF[3M]	
	'The cow gave birth.'		

(33b) tullattasi? ?ipi?ay tullatta-si? i=pi?-ayold.cow-DEF.M/F 3 = fall-PF[3M]'The old cow fell.'

Lexical semantic gender distinction is also made in kinship terms. In the following table, I give the lexical items that refer to males in the first column, and their corresponding female names in the second column.

Male		Female
aappaa	'father'	aayyaa 'mother'
aappaa	'husband'	ahta 'wife'
apuyyaata	'maternal uncle'	maammata 'aunt'
aakkaa	'grandfather'	okkooyyita 'grandmother'
oopaa	'grandson'	oopta 'granddaughter'
a∫uma	'nephew'	ajumta 'niece'
alawa	'male sibling'	alawta 'female sibling'
hamiya	'baby boy'	inanta 'baby girl'

Table 1: Semantic gender distinction in kinship terms

Certain proper names also distinguish gender. In most instances, the female names are derived from male names by geminating the onset of the last syllable of the male name. One instance (last example) shows that when the penultimate syllable of a male name has a closed syllable, the coda of that syllable is geminated for the female name rather than the onset of the final syllable (i.e.
orxayto/orxayya). Most of the male names end in -o and the female counterparts end in -a.

(34a)	Male	female	source noun	meaning of source
	proper name	proper name		
	Katano	Katanna	katana	'season for sowing'
	Roopo	Rooppa	roopa	'rain'
	χampiro	χampirra	χampirteeta	'bird'
	Kappino	Kappinna	kappina	'bush'
	Urmale	Urmalla	?urmalaa	'market'
	Teykane	Teykanna	teykantaa	'morning'
	Guɗaaɗo	Guɗaaɗɗa	Guɗaaɗaa	'late morning'
	Kuyyawo	Kuyyanna	kuyya?ta	'noon, day'
	Kallapo	Kallappa	kallapta	'late afternoon'
	Halkeeyo	Halkeeyya	halkeetta	'midnight'
	Orxayto	Orxayya	orxayta	'adopted child'
(34b)	Male proper name	female proper name	source noun	meaning of source
	Oraapo	Oraappa	oraap-	'to fetch water'
	Kutano	Kutanna	kut-	'to hunt'
	Kal∫o	Kalisso ⁸	kal∫-	'to make go home'

4.5. Diminutives

Diminutive is marked by the suffix -(tt)eeta. The diminutive suffix is added to nouns that show third person masculine gender value. The diminutive suffix renders a third person feminine gender value to the noun it is added to. The diminutive suffix implies that the addresser has a low opinion of the noun in question. For example, in (35a), the addresser has a high opinion of the noun **Gimaytasi?** 'the old man', as it has no diminutive suffix; however, in (35b), it occurs with the diminutive suffix, implying that the addresser has a low opinion of the referent. In the translations of the examples below, I use the adjective 'little' to denote diminutive.

(35a)	GimaytasiG Goyrasi? ?ihaaday			
	Gimayta-si?	Goyra-si?	i=haad-ay	
	old.man-DEF.M/F	tree-DEF.M/F	3 = carry-PF[3M]	
	'The old man carried	I the tree.'		
(35b)	GimayteetasiG Goyra	si? ?ihaa?ti		
	Gimayta-eeta-si?	Goyra-si?	i=haad-t-i	
	old.man-DIM-DEF.M	M/F tree-DEF.M/	F = carry-3F-PF	
	'The little old man c	arried the tree.'		

⁸ kalisso is underlyingly kalisto.

Diminutive does not seem to occur with nouns that trigger plural gender agreement. The only exception that I noted is innaa 'child' but even then, the form of the diminutive is different: -innaata as shown in (36b).

(36a)	innaasini? ?ipi?in				
	innaa-sini?	i=pi?-i-n			
	child-DEF.P	3 = fall-PF-P			
	'The child fell.'				

(36b)	inninnaatasi? ?ipi?ti	
	innaa-nnaata-si?	i=pi?-t-i
	child-DIM-DEF.M/F	3 = fall-3F-PF
	'The lttle child fell.'	

The female lexical items okkatta 'cow' and tullatta 'old cow' that trigger masculine gender agreement on the verb acquire third person feminine gender agreement on the verb when the diminutive suffix is added to them. This is shown in (37).

(37a)	okkatteetasi? ?ito?ti okkatta-eeta-si? cow-DIM-DEF.M/F	<i>i=toy-t-i</i> 3=die[SG]-3F-PF
	'The little cow died.'	
(37b)	tullatteetasi? ?ipi?ti	

tullatta-eeta-si?	i=pi?-t-i	
old.cow-DIM-DEF.M/F	3 = fall-3F-PF	
'The little old cow fell.'		
	<i>tullatta-eeta-si?</i> old.cow-DIM-DEF.M/F 'The little old cow fell.'	

In the following examples, we have the noun **Goyra** 'tree'. This noun has third person masculine gender agreement without the diminutive as in (38a). However, with the diminutive suffix, it acquires third person feminine gender agreement on the verb, as illustrated in (38b).

(38a)	Goyrasi? ?ikupaɗay <i>Goyra-si?</i> tree.M-DEF.M/F 'The tree was burnt.'	<i>i=kup-ad-ay</i> 3=burn-MID-PF[3M]
(38b)	Goyritteetasi? ?ikupatti <i>Goyra-tteeta-si?</i> tree.F-DIM-DEF.M/F 'The little tree was burnt '	<i>i=kup-ad-t-i</i> 3=burn-MID-3F-PF

When the performance of a referent in question excels the expectation of the addresser, the diminutive suffix expresses a surprise of the addresser. The following are illustrative examples:

- (39a) raakitteetasi? ?ifapaatti raaka-tteeta-si? i=fapaad-t-i old.woman-DIM-DEF.M/F 3=be.strong-3F-PF 'Wow! The old little woman became strong.'
- (39b) aappitteetasiG Goyrasi? ?iha?ti *aappaa-tteeta-si?* Goyra-si? i=had-t-i father-DIM-DEF.M/F tree/wood-DEF.M/F 3 = carry-3F-PF 'Wow! The little man carried the log.'

Some nouns seem to have frozen diminutive suffix: talteeta 'she-goat', lammit-teeta 'second wife'.

4.6. Indefinite reference and indefinite-specific morphemes

Indefinite reference is not morphologically marked both in subject and object function. This can be seen from the nouns laha 'ram', ?appitta 'fire', Gimayaa 'old men' and χ ormadaa 'bulls' with indefinite reference which appear in their citation forms as the following sentences demonstrate.

(40a)	antil laha impiɗɗa <i>anti-?</i> 1SG.PRO-NOM 'I will buy a ram.'	<i>laha</i> ram	<i>in=pida</i> 1=buy[<i>f-a</i> SG]-IPF.FUT	
(40b)	inantasi? ?apitta i?o <i>inanta-si? a</i> girl-DEF.M/F f 'The girl built fire.'	passi apitta ire	<i>i=opay</i> - 3=build	<i>f-t-i</i> l.fire-DCAUS-3F	-PF
(40c)	G imayaa dise caa <i>Gimayaa dise</i> old.men there 'There are old men	<i>kiy-</i> be-I over th	<i>aa</i> PF.PRES ere.'		
(40d)	i∫oonnax xormaɗaa <i>i∫oonna-?</i> 3PL.PRO-NOM 'They bought bulls.	heerin <i>xorm</i> bulls	adaa=i =3	<i>heer-i-n</i> buy[PL]-PF-P	

Specific-indefinite reference may be marked by tokka 'one.M' or takka 'one.F' or takkan ~ takka-n 'one-P'. In the following examples, tokka, takka and takkan speficy the nouns hamiya 'boy', ?inanta 'girl' and <code>xormadaa</code> 'oxen', respectively. These nouns have an inherent gender value: masculine, feminine and plural, respectively.

(41a)	hamiya tokka? ?iɗeyay			
	hamiya	tokka-?	i=dey-ay	
	boy	INDEF.M-NOM	3 = come-PF	
	'A certain	boy came.'		
(41b)	inanta takk	a? ?ide?ti		
	inanta	takka-?	i=de?-t-i	
	girl	INDEF.F-NOM	3 = come-3F-PF	
	'A certain	girl came.'		
(41c)	χormaɗaa	takka-n=in	akk-ay	
	oxen	INDEF-P = 1	see-PF	
	'I saw a ce	ertain oxen.'		

Sex-unspecific singulative nouns that have a specific-indefinite reference may have a masculine, feminine or plural gender value. For instance, the singulative alleeta 'house (F)' requires a feminine gender specific-indefinite reference marker takka in (42a). The singular Goyra 'tree (M)' requires a masculine gender specific indefinite reference marker tokka in (42b). The singulative filaa 'comb (P)' requires a plural gender specific-indefinite reference marker takkan in (42c).

(42a)	alleeta takkan piɗɗaɗay			
	alleeta	takka = in	pidd-ad-ay	
	house	INDEF.F = 1	buy[SG]-MID-PF[3M]	
	'I bought	t a certain house f	or myself.'	

(42b) Goyra tokkan piddaday
Goyra tokka=in pidd-ad-ay
tree INDEF.M=1 buy[SG]-MID-PF[3M
'I bought a certain tree for myself.'

(42c) filaa takka-n=in pidd-ad-ay comb INDEF-P=1 buy[SG]-MID-PF[3M] 'I bought a certain comb for myself.'

It should be noted that the specific-indefinite reference takka, but not tokka, is used in the numeral system, meaning 'one' (see Numerals in 4.8).

4.7. Definite reference

Definite reference is marked by suffixes -si? and -sini? on nouns. Inherently definite entities such as proper names may also appear with the definite suffix -si?.

Nouns which trigger masculine or feminine gender agreement add the definite suffix -si?. For instance, in (43), the singulative nouns **Gimayta** 'old man' and **raaka** 'old woman' and the plurative noun **orra** 'people' occur with the M/F definite reference -si?.

(43a)	Gimaytasi? ?imukay Gimayta-si? old.man-DEF.M/F 'The old man slept.'	i = muk-ay 3 = sleep-PF[3M]
(43b)	raaka-si? ?imukti <i>raaka-si?</i> old.woman-DEF.M/F 'The old woman slept.'	<i>i=muk-t-i</i> 3=sleep-3F-PF
(43c)	orrasi? ?imukay orra-si? people-DEF.M/F 'The people slept.'	i = muk - ay 3 = sleep-PF[3M]

Nouns that trigger plural gender agreement add the definite suffix -sini?. For instance, in (44), the singulatives furaa 'comb' and aannaa 'milk' and the plurative karmaɗaa 'lions' occur with the plural definite reference suffix.

- (44a) furaasini? ?ipatin *furaa-sini? i=pat-i-n* key-DEF.P 3=disappear-PF-P 'The key disappeared.'
- (44b) aannaasini? ?inapalin *aannaa-sini? i=napal-i-n* milk-DEF.P 3=be.spoiled-PF-P 'The milk went bad.'
- (44c) karmadaa-sini? ?ihirin karmadaa-sini? i=hir-i-nlions-DEF.P 3=run[PL]-PF-P'The lions ran.'

Nouns derived from verb roots occur with the M/F definite suffix -si? as can be seen from the following examples.

(45) keeritaasi? ?i?ana kafti∫ay keer-taa-si? i=?ana run[SG]-VN-DEF.M/F 3=1SG.PRO.ACC
kafad-f-ay tire[MID]-CAUS-PF[3M] 'The running made me tired.'

Proper names can occur with the M/F definite suffix -si?. The definite suffix is added to a proper name when there is shared knowledge between the interlocutors about the person. Examples:

(46a)	Katannasi? ?i?aakta			
	Katanna-si?	i=aak-t-a		
	Katanna-DEF.M/F	3 = be.well-3F-IPF.FUT		
	'The Katanna is well (recovering from illness).'		

(46b)	kappoolesi? ?ayyee ca			
	kappoole-si?	ayye=i	kiy-a	
	Kappoole-DEM.M/F	here $= 3$	be-IPF.FUT	
	'The Kappoole is here.'			

The shared knowledge between the interlocutors in (46a) is about Katanna's health situation while in (46b), it is about Kappoole's whereabouts.

When definite suffixes are followed by the dative or instrumental suffix, the definite suffixes have the forms -sit for M/F (47) and -sinit for P as shown in (48).

(47a)	okkattasitip pi∫aa ɗa	a∫i		
	okkatta-sit-?	<i>pi∫aa</i>	daa∫-i	
	cow-DEF.M/F-DAT	water	give-IMP.SG	
	'(You (SG)) Give w	ater for the c	ow!'	
(47b)	iskatteetasi? ?orrasiti?ee facaa katti			
	iskatteeta-si?	orra-sit-?=	= <i>i</i>	faGaa
	woman-DEF.M/F	people-DE	F.M/F-DAT = 3	local.beer
	kat-t-i			
	11 AD DD			

sell-3F-PF

'The woman sold the people local beer.'

(47c)	kaasasitinin karmaasi? ?i∬ay				
	kaasa-sit-n $=$ in	karmaa-si?	? <i>i</i> ∬-ay		
	gun-DEF.M/F-INS'	T = 1 lion-DEF.M/F	kill-PF[3M]		
	'I killed the lion wi	th the gun.'			
(48a)	anti? ?innaasiniti?in xopaa pidday				
	anti-?	?innaa-sinit-?=in	χopaa		
	1SG.PRO-NOM	boy-DEF.P-DAT = 1	shoes		
	pidd-ay				

buy[SG]-PF[3M] 'I bought shoes for the boy.'

(48b) teepaasinitin xormaasih hidi teepaa-sinit-n xorma-asi? hidd-*i* rope-DEF.P-INST ox-DEM.M/F tie.SG-IMP.SG '(You (SG)) Tie this ox with the rope!'

Definite reference does not obligatorily require definite marking. In stories and conversations, for instance, it is quite customary to encounter entities that have been mentioned before used without definite suffixes later in the story or conversation. For example, in sentence (49), taken from a story about a lion that lived in a jungle, the noun **karmaa** 'lion', which has been mentioned a couple of times earlier in the story, appears without a definite marker.

(49)	karmaa ka GapaleesiG Garaa kaassumaa kaassaɗay			
	karmaa	ka	G <i>apaleeta-asR</i>	G <i>araa</i>
	lion	and	monkey-DEM.M/F	on
	kaassuma question = 'And, [th	i = i = 3 e] lion	<i>kaassa</i> d- <i>ay</i> ask-PF[3M] asked this monkey [the	question.'

4.8. Demonstrative suffixes

There are four demonstrative suffixes that express proximity. These are: -oosi?, -asi?, -si? and -oosini?. The suffixes -oosi?, -asi?, and -si? occur with nouns that trigger an M/F gender. The suffix -oosini? occurs with nouns that trigger a plural gender. Among -oosi?, -asi?, and -si?, the suffix -oosi? is added to any nominal root. Examples:

(50a) **kut-oosi?** dog-DEM.M/F 'this dog'

- (50b) karm-oosi? lion-DEM.M/F 'this lion'
- (50c) orr-oosi? people-DEM.M/F 'these people'

The following are illustrative sentential examples:

(51a)	kutoosis s ^w aa ihatay		
	<i>kut-oosi?</i> dog-DEM.M/F 'This dog stole m	<i>so?aa</i> meat	i = hat - ay 3 = steal-PF[3M]
	This dog stole meat.		

- (51b) dakoosi? ?i?ulsi dak-oosi? i=?uls-i stone-DEM.M/F 3=be.heavy-PF 'This stone is heavy.'
- (51c) orroosi? ?ileki orr-oosi? i=lek-i people-DEM.M/F 3=be.many-PF 'These people are numerous.'

The demonstrative suffix -asi? is added to nominal roots that have the nominaliser -a (but not -aa) or the singulative suffix -ta, as shown in the following illustrative phrases.

- (52a) **kuta-asi?** dog-DEM.M/F 'this dog'
- (52b) **nama-asi**? person-DEM.M/F 'this person'
- (52c) tuuyyata-asi? pig-DEM.M/F 'this pig'
- (52d) **tapayta-asi?** rat-DEM.M/F 'this rat'

The following are illustrative sentential examples in which the nouns kuta 'dog', Goyra 'tree' and tapayta 'rat' have the definite suffix -asi?.

- (53a) kutaasi? ?ipoori *kuta-asi? i=poor-i* dog-DEM.M/F 3=be.black-PF 'This dog is black.'
- (53b) Goyraasi? ?iGepay
 Goyra-asi? i=Gep-ay
 tree-DEM.M/F 3=be.broken-PF[3M]
 'This tree was broken.'
- (53c) tapaytaasi? ?ikappi tapayta-asi? i=kapp-irat-DEM.M/F 3=be.fat-PF'This rat is fat.'

Nominal roots that have the nominaliser -aa do not occur with the demonstrative suffix -asi?: karmaa 'lion', dakaa 'stone' karkaa 'beehive', maakaa 'snake'. The nominal roots of such nouns occur only with the demonstrative suffix oosi?.

The demonstrative suffix -si? occurs with nominal roots that have the nominaliser -a (but not -aa) or the singulative suffix -ta. In such cases -si? replaces the nominaliser and the singulative suffix. Note that -si? has the same form as the definite M/F reference marker.

(54a)	por-si? road-DEM.M/F 'this road'	< pora 'road'
(54b)	tik-si? house-DEM.M/F 'this house'	< tika 'house'
(54c)	G imay-si? old.man-DEM.M/F 'this old man'	< Gimayta 'old man
(54d)	ɗam-si? food-DEM.M/F 'this food'	< damta 'food'

The following are illustrative sentential examples:

(55a)	Gimaysi? ?ipaaGni		
	Gimay-si?	i=paa	G-ni
	old.man-DEM.M/	F = 3 = be.	sick-IPF.PRES
	'This old man is s	sick.'	
(55b)	ɗamsi? ?akataa m	e?awni	
	dam-si?	akata = i	me?aw-ni
	food-DEM.M/F	very = 3	be.sweet-IPF.PRES
	'This food is quite	e delicious.'	
	1 10.01.0		

(55c) harreesi? ?ideepoodti
harree-si? i=deep-ood-t-i
donkey-DEM.M/F 3 = be.thirsty-MID-3F-PF
'This donkey is thirsty.'

Nominal roots with a final CC (e.g. moott- 'friend', hark- 'hand') do not allow the demonstrative suffix -si?.

The demonstrative suffix -oosini?, as mentioned earlier, is added to nouns that trigger a plural gender agreement on the verb. For instance, the nouns innaa 'child', pifaa 'water', harreewwaa 'donkeys' and dillaa 'fields' in the following examples occur with -osini?.

(56a)	innoosini? ?ipi?in	
	innaa-oosini?	i=pi?-i-n
	child-DEM.P	3 = be.thin-PF-P
	'This child fell.'	

- (56b) *pifoosini? 2ipooraawin pifaa-oosini? i=pooraaw-i-n* water-DEM.P 3=be.impure-PF-P 'This water became impure.'
- (56c) harreeww-oosini? ?i=ka-kapp-i harreewwaa-oosini? i=ka-kapp-i donkeys-DEM.P 3=PL-be.fat-PF 'These donkeys are fat.'
- (56d) dilloosini? ?ipappaldi
 dillaa-oosini? i=pap-pald-i
 fields-DEM.P 3=PL-be.wide-PF
 'These fields are wide.'

Using the nominal root **por-** 'road' or the singulative noun **pora** 'road', in (57) we show the occurrence of the demonstrative suffixes and the definite reference suffix:

(57)	por-si?	'this road'
	por-oosi?	'this road'
	pora-asi?	'this road'
	pora-si?	'the road'

Distal location is expressed by a locative adverb (see Section 8.2.1), the existential verb and a noun with a demonstrative suffix. The following are illustrative examples:

(58a)	namsid disee co moottaawu				
	nam-si?	dise=i	kiy-o		
	person-DEM.M/F	there $= 3$	be-3M		
	moottaa-wu				
	friend-1SG.POSS.M/	ΈF			
	'That man is my frie	nd.'			

(58b) kaharroosini? ?irre ca ileki *kaharr-oosini? irre kiy-a i=lek-i* sheep-DEM.P up.there be-IPF.FUT 3=be.many-PF 'Those sheep up there are numerous.'

4.9. Numerals

4.9.1. Cardinal numbers

The cardinal number system is decimal. The cardinal **kuma** 'thousand' is the highest basic unit of the numeral system. The basic cardinal numbers are the following:

(59)	takka	'one'
	lakki	'two'
	sessaa	'three'
	afur	'four'
	ken	'five'
	leh	'six'
	tappa	'seven'
	settee?	'eight'
	sakal	'nine'
	kuɗan	'ten'
	dippa	'hundred'

kuma 'thousand'

The cardinal numbers **dippa** 'hundred' and **kuma** 'thousand' can occur with the basic cardinal units from one to nine as shown in (60a-b). Moreover, **kuma** 'thousand' may occur with the basic cardinal unit **kuɗan** 'ten' and **dippa** 'hundred', as demonstrated in (60c-d).

- (60a) **dippa takka** hundred one 'one hundred'
- (60b) kuma lakki thousand two 'two thousand'
- (60c) kuma kuɗan thousand ten 'ten thousand'
- (60d) **kuma dippa** thousand hundred 'hundred thousand'

The cardinal numbers kuɗan 'ten', dippa 'hundred' and kuma 'thousand' may take plural suffixes, as in (61). Note that there is metathesis when kuɗan 'ten' is plural: kunɗa. The plural suffixes indicate 'many tens/hundreds/thousands'.

- (61a) kunɗaɗɗaa 'tens'
- (61b) **dippadaa** 'hundreds'
- (61c) kumaddaa 'thousands'

Cardinals between eleven and nineteen are formed from the base ten (kuɗan), the conjunction ka 'and' and the lower cardinals (one to nine). Literally, the combination means 'ten and X', where X stands for a lower cardinal. The combinations are as follows:

(62)	kuɗan ka takka	'eleven'	(lit.: ten and one)
	kuɗan ka lakki	'twelve'	(lit.: ten and two)
	kuɗan ka sessaa	'thirteen'	(lit.: ten and three)
	kuɗan ka afur	'fourteen'	(lit.: ten and four)

kuɗan ka ken	'fifteen'	(lit.: ten and five)
kuɗan ka leh	'sixteen'	(lit.: ten and six)
kuɗan ka tappa	'seventeen'	(lit.: ten and seven)
kuɗan ka settee	'eighteen'	(lit.: ten and eight)
kuɗan ka sakal	'nineteen'	(lit.: ten and nine)

Multiples of ten, hundred or thousand are formed from base kunda <kudan> 'tens', dippa 'hundred' or kuma 'thousand' and the unit cardinals from one to nine. The following are illustrative examples.

(63)	kunda afur	'forty'
	dippa sessaa	'three hundred'
	dippa ken	'five hundred'
	kuma leh	'six thousand'
	kuma sakal	'nine thousand'

It is possible to say kunda takka 'ten' (lit. 'one ten').

Addition is expressed by ka after the unit ten, but by ka or ? otherwise. The ? appears as a gemination of the initial consonant of the following cardinal. Addition of single digits to the multiples of ten, hundred or thousand requires base ten, hundred or thousand followed by the unit cardinal of the multiple of ten, hundred or thousand. The cardinals occur in descending order from left to right. Here are some examples:

(64a)	kunɗa lakkis <i>kunɗa</i> ten 'twenty-thre	s sessaa <i>lakki-?</i> two-plus ee'	<i>sessaa</i> three		
(64b)	dippa sessaa <i>dippa</i> hundred 'three hundr	k kunɗa ke sessaa-? three-plus ed fifty'	n <i>kunda</i> tens	<i>ken</i> five	
(64c)	dippa lakkik <i>dippa</i> hundred 'two hundre	t kunɗa lakk <i>lakki?</i> two twenty-th	tis sessaa <i>kunda</i> ten tree'	<i>lakki-?</i> two-plus	<i>sessaa</i> three
(64d)	dippa ken ka dippa hundred 'five hundred	a kunɗa afu <i>ken ka</i> five and ed forty-thre	ris sessaa <i>kunda</i> ten ee'	<i>afur-?</i> four-plus	<i>sessaa</i> three

(64e) kuma afur ka dippa sessak kunda ken kuma afur dippa sessa-? ka thousand four and hundred three-plus kunda ken five ten 'four thousand three hundred and fifty'

The addition of digits of hundred expressed by ? in (64c) can be replaced by ka 'and'. Likewise, ka 'and' in (64d) can be replaced by the suffix ? 'plus'.

Single digits after the multiples of hundred are expressed by a multiple of hundred followed by conjunction ka 'and', postposition Garaa 'on' and the single unit. Similarly, single units or multiples of ten after the multiples of thousand are expressed by multiple of thousand followed by the conjunction ka 'and', postposition Garaa 'on' and the single unit or multiple of ten. Examples:

(65a)	dippa hundred 'two hund	lakki two lred and t	ka and hree'	G ara-a on-LOC	sessaa three	
(65b)	kuma thousand 'seven the	tappa seven ousand an	ka and d nine'	G ara-a on-LOC	sakal nine	
(65c)	kuma thousand 'five thou	ken five sand and	ka and sixty'	G ara-a on-LOC	kuɗan ten	leh six

4.9.2. Mathematical operations

Two arithmetic exercise booklets (booklet I (2001) and booklet II (2004)) have been written in Konso by the Evangelical Church of Mekane Yesus. With very little adaptation, I use the terminology used for mathematical operations in booklet II. The terminology is derived from verb roots or verb stems: the mathematical operation for addition is derived from the verb root padaaw-'add, increase', subtraction from $\chi a? f$ - 'to cause to rise, lift', multiplication from lek- 'to be many', division from Goot- 'to divide'. The expressions are given in (66a). In (66b), I provide the glossed versions of some of the expressions.

(66a)	paɗaawtu	addition	(+)
	χa?issu / <i>χa?∫tu</i> /	subtraction	(-)
	lekissu / lekstu/	multiplication	(×)
	Goottu	division	(÷)

	minakkittu / <i>min</i> Gara Gaptu kelpa xata kittu Gara Gaptu taakk kelpa xata kittu	<i>a?kittu</i> ∕ kite minakk taakkite min	equal to greater less tha ittu greater nakkittu less	than (> n (< than or equal to than or equal to	<pre>>) >) (≥) (≤)</pre>		
(66b)	GaraGap-t-onexceed'greater than (>	u 1-3F-DP -)'					
	kelpa χata kittu <i>kela-pa χata kit-t-u</i> under-to down be-3F-DP 'less than (<)'						
	Gara Gaptu taakkite minak kittu Gara Gap-t-utaakkite taakkitemina-?kit-t-uonexceed-3F-DPotherwisefront-DESTbe-3F-DP'greater than or equal to (\geq) ''''						
	kelpa xata kittu taakkite minak kittukela-paxatakit-t-utaakkitemina-?under-DESTdownbe-3F-DPotherwisefront-DEST						
	<i>kit-t-u</i> be-3F-DP 'less than or equ	to (\leq)					

Note that all the expressions of mathematical operations have the third person feminine gender agreement marker -t.

Expressions of mathematical operations are introduced by conditional conjunctions. In addition, for the operation of addition the conjunction Gara 'on' is required. The suffix -? 'plus' is added to the conjunction. The following is an illustrative example.

(67)	oo la	lkki Garal	lakki paɗaa	iwan, afur	e koɗɗini		
	<i>oo</i>	<i>lakki</i>	<i>Gara-?</i>	<i>lakki</i>	<i>paɗaaw-a-n</i>		
	if	two	on-plus	two	add-IPF.FUT-P		
	<i>afur=i</i> kodd-ni four=3 become-IPF.PRES 'If two is added to two, it becomes four.' $(2 + 2 = 4)$						

The operation of addition may also be expressed by the conjunction **ka** 'and' as shown below:

(68a)	3a) lakki ka sassaa kenee koddini					
	lakki	ka	sassaa	ken=i	kodd-ni	
	two	and	three	five $= 3$	become-IPF.PRES	
	'Two a	nd thre	e become	five.'		
(68b)	sessa ka	a afur ta	appaa koo	ſdini		
	sessa	ka	afur	tappa = i	kodd-ni	
	three	and	four	seven = 3	become-IPF.PRES	
	'Three and four become seven.'					

Like that of addition, the operation of subtraction requires the conjunction Gara 'on' to which the locative suffix -a is attached. The following is an illustrative example.

(69)	oo leh Ga				
	oo leh	Gara-a	lakki	χa?∫-a-n	
	if six	on-LOC	two	lift-IPF.FUT-P	
	afur=i	kela-a	ha	si-ni	
	four = 3	under-LC)C rei	nain-IPF.PRES	
	'If two is	(6-2 = 4)			

The following is an example of the operation of multiplication:

(70)	oo sessaan leh kiɗan, kuɗan ka settee?e koɗɗini					
	00	sessaa-n		leh	kid-a-n,	
	if	three-tin	nes	six	say-IPF.FUT-P	
	kuɗan	ka	sette	ee?=i	koɗd-ni	
	ten	and	eigh	t=3	become-IPF.PRES	
	'If six	is said th	ree ti	mes, it	becomes eighteen.' $(6 \times 3 = 18)$	

The following is an example of the operation of the division.

00	kuɗan	pora	lakki-?	Goot-a-n
if	ten	place	two-DAT	divide-IPF.FUT-P
Ken=	=1 KOG	<i>a-ni</i>		
four	=3 bec	ome-IPF	PRES	

The examples in (72a) and (72b) are illustrative examples for the operations of greater than and less than, respectively.

(72a)	tappak ken Gara <i>tappa-?</i> seven-NOM 'Seven is greate	a Gapta <i>ken</i> five er than fiv	<i>Gara=i</i> on=3 re.' (7 >	<i>Gap-t-a</i> exceed-3F-IPF.FUT 5)
(72b)	sakalik kuɗan ka <i>sakali-?</i> nine-NOM	elpa xataa <i>kuɗan</i> ten	n kitta <i>kela-opa</i> under-to	χ ata = i down = 3

kit-t-a be-3F-IPF.FUT 'Nine is less than ten.' (9 < 10)

4.9.3. Ordinals

All ordinal numerals, except for 'first', are formed by adding the suffix -atta to the cardinal numerals. The ordinal numeral 'first' is formed from the verb root paayy- 'to start, begin'. The ordinal number 'second' is formed from the older Cushitic root lamm- 'two' (cf. the cardinal lakki 'two') and the suffix -atta. It is also important to point out: that the final vowel in sessaa 'three' is shortened in the ordinal, that there is metathesis in the ordinal numeral arf-atta 'fourth' (cf. afur 'four'), that there is vowel deletion in saklatta 'ninth' (cf. sakal 'nine'), and that /t/ replaces the glottal stop in the cardinal number settee? 'eight'.

(73)	paayyuta	'first'
	lammatta	'second'
	sessatta	'third'
	arfatta	'fourth'
	kenatta	'fifth'
	lehatta	'sixth'
	tappatta	'seventh'
	setteetatta	'eighth'
	saklatta	'ninth'
	kunɗatta	'tenth'
	kuɗan ka takkatta	'eleventh'
	kuɗan ka sessatta	'thirteenth'
	kunɗa kenatta	'fiftieth'
	dippatta	'hundredth'

4.10. Nominal derivation

4.10.1. Denominal/adjectival abstract nominals

Abstract nominals may be derived from nominal or adjectival roots (not from derived stems) by the suffix -um. The abstract suffix is followed by the suffixes -a or -aa. Abstract nominals derived from nominal roots occur with -a (M) while those derived from adjectival roots occur with -aa (P). For example, the abstract nominal innuma 'childhood (M)' in (74a) is derived from innaa 'child (P)' while the abstract nominal kappumaa 'fatness (P)' in (74b) is derived from the adjectival root kapp- 'be fat'.

- (74a) innumasi? ?i?ifa diifay *innaa-um-a-si? i=ifa diif-ay*child-ABS-NMZ-DEF.M/F 3=3SGM.PRO[ACC] leave-PF[3M]
 'He does not behave like a child any longer.'
 (lit.: The childhood left him.)
- (74b) okkattasik kappumaa ipaayyay
 okkatta-si? kapp-um-aa i=paayy-ay
 cow-DEF.M/F be.fat-ABS-NMLZ 3=start-PF[3M]
 'The cow started to get fat.'
 (lit.: The cow started fatness.)

An abstract noun referring to 'childhood' is also derived from the suppletive multiple reference noun hellaa 'children (P)': helluma 'childhood (M)'

4.10.2. Deverbal agentive nominals

Deverbal agentive nominals are derived from verb roots by the suffix -aamp. The agentive suffix is followed by the nominal gender suffixes -ayta for masculine, -ayt-ceta for feminine and -ayaa for plural. The feminine suffix is a serial derivation in that it is built on the masculine agentive. From the verb roots Got- 'dig', kod- 'work' and pol- 'joke', we derive the masculine agentive nominals (75a), the feminine agentive nominals (75b) and the plural agentive nominals (75c).

(75a)	Gotaamp-ayta koɗaamp-ayta polaamp-ayta	'farmer.3M' 'worker.3M' 'joker.3M'
(75b)	Gotaamp-ayt-eeta koɗaamp-ayt-eeta polaamp-ayt-eeta	'farmer.3F' 'worker.3F' 'joker.3F'

(75c)	Gotaamp-ayaa	'farmer.3P'
	koɗaamp-ayaa	'worker.3P'
	polaamp-ayaa	'joker.3P'

In the following examples, I show the nominal gender agreement with various subjects. In (76a), the agentive nominal occurs with the nominal masculine gender suffix -ayta for the semantically singular subject nama 'man'. In (76b), the agentive nominal occurs with the nominal masculine gender suffix -ayta for the semantically plural subject χ onsitta 'the Konso'. In (76c), the agentive nominal occurs with the nominal feminine gender suffix -ayteeta for the semantically plural subject kuyleeta 'the Ts'amakko'. Lastly, in (76d), the agentive nominal occurs with the nominal plural gender suffix -aytea for the semantically singular subject kuyleeta 'the Ts'amakko'. Lastly, in (76d), the agentive nominal occurs with the nominal plural gender suffix -ayta for the semantically singular subject innaa 'child'.

- (76a) namoosiG Gotaampayta *nama-osi? Got-aamp-ayta* man-DEM.M/F farm-AGENT-3M 'This man is a (hard-working) farmer.'
- (76b) **xonsitta** Got-aamp-ayta Konso.PL farm-AGENT-3M 'The Konso are (hard-working) farmers.'
- (76c) kuyleeta Got-aamp-ayt-eeta Ts'amakko.PL farm-AGENT-3M-3F 'The Ts'amakko are (hard-working) farmers.'
- (76d) innoosiniG Gotaampayta *innaa-osini? Got-aamp-ayaa* child-DEM.P farm-AGENT-3P 'This child is a (hard-working) farmer.'

4.10.3. Denominal ethnic nominals

Nationals or individuals of ethnic groups or place of residence (e.g. village) may be derived from nominal roots by means of gender suffixes: -itta (M) for male, -itteeta (F) for female and -itta (M), -aa (P) or -eeta (F) for plural. The plural form is the one used to refer to the name of the ethnic group or residents of a place. Table 2 contains illustrative examples for derived nominals referring to nationalities or ethnic groups. Table 3 contains illustrative examples for derived nominals referring to residents of particular villages.

Male	Female	Plural	
χons-itta	χons-itt-eeta	χons-itta (M)	Konso
Konso man	Konso woman	Konso people	
χoyr-itta	χoyr-itt-eeta	χoyr-aa (P)	Burji
kawwaad-itta	kawwaad-itt-eeta	kawwaad-aa (M)	Gawwada
firaat-itta	firaat-itt-eeta	firaat-aa (M)	Diraa∫e
kuyl-itta	kuyl-itt-eeta	kuyl-eeta (F)	Ts'amakko
Gaww-itta	Gaww-itt-eeta	Gaww-eeta (F)	Amhara

Table 2: Examples of derived nominals referring to nationality or ethnic group

Male	Female	Plural	Village name
kuum-itta	kuum-itt-eeta	kuuma (M)	Kuume
(male) person	(female) person	people from	
from Kuume	from Kuume	Kuume village	
		_	
mafaG-itta	mafaG-itt-eeta	mafaGaa (M)	MafaGe
dekatt-itta	dekatt-itt-eeta	dekattoota (F)	dekatto
sawkam-itta	sawkam-itt-eeta	sawkamaata (F)	Sawkama
kaa∫al-itta	kaa∫al-itt-eeta	kaa∫alaa (M)	Kaa∫ale

Table 3: Examples of derived nominals referring to residents of particular villages

4.10.4. Denominal nouns with indication of characteristic

Persons with certain characteristic are derived from nouns with the suffix -ool which is followed by the nominal gender marking suffixes -ayta (M), -ayt-eeta (F) and -ayaa for male, female and plural, respectively. The derivation is productive mainly occurring with plural nouns and has a semantic specialisation indicating large quantity of the entities in question. With singulatives, it indicates that the noun in question has a large size. For example, from the singulative **matta** 'head', **kessa** 'chest' and plurative **dillaa** 'fields', we may derive the masculine nominals in (77a), feminine nominals in (77b) or plural nominals in (77c).

(77a)	matt-ool-ayta	'one (M) with a big head'
	kess-ool-ayta	'one (M) with a broad chest
	dill-ool-ayta	'one (M) with many fields'
(77b)	matt-ool-ayt-eeta	'one (F) with a big head'
	kess-ool-ayt-eeta'one	(F) with a broad chest'
	dill-ool-ayt-eeta 'one	(F) with many fields'
(77c)	matt-ool-ayaa	'ones with big heads'
	kess-ool-ayaa	'ones with broad chests'
	dill-ool-ayaa	'ones with many fields'

With the noun χ olmaa 'neck (P)', the derivation χ olm-ool-ayta means 'a man who uses force to obtain something'; χ olm-ool-ayt-eeta 'a woman who uses force to get something' and χ olm-ool-ayaa 'people who use force to obtain something'. With the noun hoppatta 'guts (M)' the derivation indicates greed: hoppatt-oolayta 'a greedy man'; hoppatt-ool-ayt-eeta 'a greedy woman' and hoppatt-ool-ayaa 'greedy people'.

4.10.5. Deadjectival individual entities

Deadjectival nominals are derived from adjectival roots with the nominal gender suffixes -ayta, -ayteeta and -yaa for third person masculine, feminine and plural, respectively. Plural deadjectival nominals are also characterised by having the adjectival root based on the plural adjective and hence containing initial $C_1V(C_1)$ reduplication. For instance, from the adjectival roots **der**- 'be tall, long', **kapp**- 'be fat' and **Galla**?- 'be thin', we can derive the masculine deadjectival nominals (78a), third person feminine deadjectival nominals (78b), singulative deadjectival nominals with plural gender (78c) or plural deadjectival nominals (78d).

(78a)	derayta	'tall one.3M'
	kappayta	'fat one.3M'
	Galla?ayta	'thin one.3M'
(78b)	derayteeta	'tall one.3F'
	kappayteeta	'fat one.3F'
	Galla?ayteeta	'thin one.3F'
(78c)	derayaa	'tall one.P'
	kappayaa	'fat one.P'
	Galla?ayaa	'thin one.P'
(78d)	dedderayaa	'tall ones'
	kakappayaa	'fat ones'
	GaGalla?ayaa	'thin ones'

The nominal gender suffixes added to deadjectival individual entities can be used not only to refer to persons but also to other entities.

4.10.6. Deverbal action nouns

Deverbal action nouns are derived from verb roots by using various suffixes as illustrated below. The list of the suffixes is not exhaustive.

(79a)	-anta (F)			
	hatanta palanta keranta faranta	<pre>'stealing' 'ripening' 'ageing' 'crack'</pre>	hat- pal- ker- far-	'to steal' 'to ripen' 'to be old' 'to crack'
(79b)	-antaa (M)			
	xa?antaa Ga?antaa hirantaa	ʻflying' 'standing' 'running[PL]'	χa?ad- Ga?ad- hir-	'to fly' 'to stand' 'to run[PL]'
(79c)	-oota (F)			
	ɗaloota Galoota	'birth' 'slaughtering'	ɗal- Gal-	'to give birth' 'to slaughter'
(79d)	-eeta (F)			
	Goteeta piddeeta diipeeta	ʻdigging' 'buying[SG]' 'washing'	Got- pidd- diip-	'to dig, farm' 'to buy[SG]' 'to wash'
(79e)	-naa (P)			
	Gahnaa pahnaa ?upnaa sahnaa	'fleeing' 'example' 'knowledge' 'capacity'	Gah- pah- ?up- sah-	'to flee' 'to resemble' 'to know' 'to be able to'
(79f)	-a (M)			
	deeχa diika χar∫a	'peace making' 'blood' 'beans'	deeχ- diik- χar∫-	'to make peace' 'to bleed' 'to cook beans'
(79g)	-aa (P)			
	fataa ɗamaa	'vomit' 'food'	fat- ɗam-	'to vomit' 'to eat'

(79h) -uta (F)

noodduta	'bribe'	noodd-	'to push'
needduta	'hatred'	needd-	'to hate'
paakkuta	'span'	paakk-	'to measure with span'
puussuta	'writing, line'	puuss-	'to draw a line'
moossuta	'piece of bread'	mooss-	'to break (bread)'

4.11. Case

Konso has nominative–accusative case alignment. The core cases nominative and accusative are rarely distinguished, see 4.11.1. Genitive constructions are marked with a genitive particle following its head noun. Dative and Instrumental nouns are marked with a suffix. The dative suffix is homophonous with one of the locative suffixes, both consisting of a glottal stop. The other locative suffix is similar to the background suffix, both ending in -yye. When addressing people, a vocative ending can be used. These phenomena do not form a coherent system within the language but are discussed here under the heading Case.

4.11.1. The nominative and accusative cases

Proper names, pronouns and days of a week are marked for the nominative case with the suffix -?. For example, the proper names **Kappoole** and **Apitto** occur in the subject positions as in (80a) and (80b), respectively. Both also occur unmarked in the object position as in (80b) and (80a), respectively. In (80c), the subject pronoun **?inu** 'we' occurs with the suffix -?, and in (80d), the week day **palawwa** 'Saturday' occurs with the suffix -?.

Nominative marking by glottal stop is limited to the above cases. Common nouns do not distinguish nominative and accusative case (except in cleft constructions, see below). The items that do show nominative marking have in common that they are inherently specific. In this respect, it is interesting to observe that demonstrative and definite suffixes end in a glottal stop while possessive suffixes do not.

(80a)	Kappooli? ?apittu ?	liGoffay	
	Kappooli-?	Apittu	i=Goff-ay
	Kappoole-NOM	Apitto	3 = pinch.SG-PF[3M]
	'Kappoole pinched	l Apitto onc	ce.'

(80b) Apittuk Kappooli icoffay
 Apittu-? Kappooli i=coff-ay
 Apitto-NOM Kappoole 3 = pinch.SG-PF[3M]
 'Apitto pinched Kappoole once.'

- (80c) inut toman piddini inu-? toma=in pidd-n-i 1PL.PRO-NOM bowl=1 buy[SG]-1PL-PF 'We bought a bowl.'
- (80d) palawwap partaane palawwa-2 partaane
 Saturday-NOM day.after.tomorrow
 'Saturday is the day after tomorrow.'

With regard to pronouns, only first person singular and second person singular make a lexical distinction for nominative and accusative cases: anti 'I' vs. ana 'me' and atti 'you (SG) and ke 'you (SG)' (see Chapter 5 for details of pronouns). All pronouns in the subject position are also marked for nominative by the suffix -?. For example, the pronoun anti 'I' and ke 'you (SG)' in (81a) occur in the subject and object positions, respectively. Similarly, the pronouns atti 'you (SG)' and ana 'me' in (81b) occur in the subject and object positions, respectively.

(81a)	antik ke inGoffay		
	anti-?	ke	in=Goff-ay
	1SG.PRO-NOM	2SG.PRO.ACC	1 = pinch.SG-PF[3M]
	'I pinched you (SG)) once.'	

(81b)	atti? ?ana iGGoffiti		
	atti-?	ana	i?=Goff-t-i
	2SG.PRO-NOM	1SG.PRO.ACC	2 = pinch.SG-2-PF
	'You (SG) pinched	l me once.'	•

Pronouns that do not make a lexical distinction for nominative and accusative are still marked by the suffix -? for nominative as shown in (82).

(82a)	inu? ?i∫oonna inɗaanni					
	inu-?	<i>i∫oonna</i>	in = daan-n-i			
	1PL.PRO-NOM	3PL.PRO[ACC]	1 = chase-1PL-PF			
	'We chased them.'					
(82b)	i∫oonna? ?inu iɗaan	ni				
	i∫oonna-?	inu	i=daan-n-i			
	3PL.PRO-NOM 'They chased us.'	1PL.PRO[ACC]	3 = chase-3PL-PF			

Tone is used to make the nominative and accusative case distinction in cleft sentences in such a way that the nominative case is marked by a low tone whereas the accusative case is marked by a high tone. For example, in (83a-b),

we have the nouns harreeta 'donkey' and χ orma 'ox, bull'. In both examples, harreeta 'donkey' precedes χ orma 'ox, bull'. The lengthened final vowel of the noun harreeta 'donkey' in (83a) has a low tone; final vowel lengthening is one of the characteristic features of clefting (as discussed in Section 3.5). In (83b), however, the lengthened final vowel of harreeta 'donkey' has a high tone which marks the accusative case.

- (83a) harreeta-a xorma diit-ay donkey-CLF[NOM] ox kick[SG]-PF[3M] 'It is a donkey that kicked an ox.'
- (83b) harreeta-á xorma diit-ay donkey-CLF[ACC] ox kick[SG]-PF[3M] 'It is a donkey that an ox kicked.'

Now, when we exchange the positions of the two nouns harreeta 'donkey' and χ orma 'ox, bull' in (84a-b), we find that the final vowel of χ orma 'ox, bull' is lengthened. Moreover, in (84a), the lengthened final vowel carries a low tone, thus, marking nominative case while in (84b), the lengthened final vowel carries a high tone, thus, marking an accusative case.

- (84a) **xorma-a** harreeta diit-ay ox-CLF[NOM] donkey kick[SG]-PF[3M] 'It is an ox that kicked a donkey.'
- (84b) **xorma-á harreeta diit-t-i** ox-CLF[ACC] donkey kick[SG]-3F-PF 'It is an ox that a donkey kicked.'

4.11.2. The genitive case

The genitive is expressed with the genitive particle a for human possessors, and a...? for non-human possessors. The final syllable of the possessor has a high tone.

The distribution of the genitive suffixes in accordance with whether the possessor is human or non-human is clear from the example in (85a) the noun locta 'leg' is possessed by a human possessor Kappoole but by a non-human possessor tulpeeta 'hippo' in (85b). Similarly, in the examples in (85c), the noun tika 'house' is possessed by the human possessor Anto while the noun napahta 'ear' in (85d) is possessed by the non-human possessor arpa 'elephant'. In (85e), the noun taamta 'branch' is possessed by the non-human possessor Goyra 'tree'.

116

(85a)	loGta a kappoolí? ?akkiti						
	loGta	а	kappoolí = i	? akk	r-t-i		
	leg	GEN	kappoole = 2	2 see	-2-PF		
	'You (S	SG) saw	Kappoole's l	eg.'			
(85b)	loGta a	tulpeetái	?i? ?akkiti				
	loGta	а	tulpeetá	?=i?	akk-t-i		
	leg	GEN	hippo-GI	EN = 2	see-2-PF		
	'You (S	SG) saw	hippopotamu	s's leg.'			
(85c)	tika	a	Antú i=p	ald-i			
	house	GEN	Anto $3 = 1$	be.wide-P	F		
	'Anto's	house is	s wide.'				
(85d)	napahta	ı a	arpá-?		i=pald-i		
	ear	G	EN elephan	t-GEN	3 = wide-PF		
	'The ea	r of an e	lephant is wi	de.'			
(85e)	inantasi	it taamta	a Goyra? ?im	urti			
	inanta-s	si?	taamta	а	Goyra-?		
	girl-DE	EF.M/F	branch	GEN	tree-GEN		
	i=mur	-t-i					
	3 = cut[SG]-3F-1	PF				
	'The gi	rl cut a b	oranch of a tr	ee.'			
Proper	names v	with a fi	nal aa also l	nave 7 in	the genitive c	onstruction	as in
(86).							

- (86a) okkatta a Oynaá-?=in akk-ay cow GEN Oynaa-GEN=1 see-PF[3M] 'I saw Oynaa's cow.'
- (86b) ijeennat tika a kaabaá? ?i?upta *ijeenna-?* tika a kaabaá-?
 3SGF.PRO-NOM house GEN kaabaa-GEN *i=up-t-a*3 = know-IPF.FUT
 'She knows Kaabaa's house.'

Nouns possessed by associative plural are expressed with the genitive particle followed by the associative particle opa and the name, as illustrated in (87).

(87a)	tika	а	opa	kappoolí	i=sek-i
	house	GEN	ASS	kappoole	3 = be.far-PF
	'Kappool	e (and hi	s associa	te)'s house is :	far.'

(87b) **dila a opa kintilí i = pald-i** field GEN ASS kintile 3 = be.wide-PF 'Kintile (and his associate)'s field is wide.'

The genitive particle may occur after nouns with possessive suffixes, as illustrated below.

(88)hellaa-nnoaχonsú-?i=dey-i-nchildren-1PL.POSS.PGENKonso-GEN3 = come-PF-P'Our Konso fellows came.'(lit.: 'Children of our Konso came.')

In fast speech, the glottal stop that occurs at the end of the genitive construction is elided, resulting in a complete assimilation to the initial vowel of the possessor noun if the possessor begins with a (glottal stop plus) vowel as in (89a-b). If the possessor begins with another consonant, the affix may be elided as in (89c).

(89a)	χorma aantú ?ipoori				
	χorma	а	Antú	i=pe	oor-i
	OX	GEN	Anto	3 = b	e.black-PF
	'Anto's	ox is bla	ek.'		
(89b)	aannook	kattá? ?ir	n?ikay		
	aannaa	а	okkat	ttá-?	in=ik-ay
	milk	GEN	l cow-	GEN	1 = drink-PF[3M]
	'I drank	cow mill	k.'		
(89c)	hoofa ka	rrattá? ?i	nakkini		
	hoofa	a	karrattá-?	,	in=akk-n-i
	hole	GEN	squirrel-C	θEN	1 = see-P-PF
	'We saw	v a squirr	el's hole.	,	
		•			

4.11.3. The dative case

The dative is marked with the suffix -?. The dative suffix differs from the nominative suffix in that it is not limited to pronouns and names but also occurs on common nouns. The main role of the dative is to denote the beneficiary. The following are examples:

118

(90a)	atticf cfolpasi? ?ifat <i>atti-?</i> 2SG.PRO-NOM	? ?ippidditi <i>Golpa-si?</i> he-goat-DEF.M/F	<i>iʃa-?</i> 3SGM.PRO-DAT
	<i>i?=pidd-t-i</i> 2=buy[SG]-2-PF 'You (SG) bought	him a he-goat.'	
(90b)	inatasi? ?anap pi∫a <i>inata-si?</i> girl-DEF.M/F 'The girl gave me	a iɗaassi <i>ana-?</i> 1SG.PRO.ACC-DAT water.'	<i>pifaa i=daaf-t-i</i> water 3=give-3F-PF
(90c)	antin nama tokka?i <i>anti-?</i> 1SG.PRO-NOM	n χapaa pidday <i>nama tokka-?=</i> person one.M-D.	<i>in χapaa</i> AT=1 shoes
	<i>pidd-ay</i> buy[SG]-PF[3M] 'I bought shoes for	r someone.'	
(90d)	tuparaasini? ?okka <u>:</u> <i>tuparaa-sini?</i> girls-DEF.P	yaa?e oha ohin okkayaa-?=i cows-DAT=3	
	<i>oha oh-i-r.</i> fodder cut.fo 'The girls cut fodd	dder-PF-P ler for the cows.'	

First and second person beneficiaries are always marked with the dative suffix. However, it is possible for third person beneficiaries not to be marked. In this case, the dative suffix occurs at the end of the verb. This results in the final vowel of the verb having a high tone. For example, in (91a), there is no dative suffix, and as a result the final vowel of the verb occurs with a low tone. In (91b), there is a dative suffix at the end of the verb, and the preceding vowel has a high tone.

- (91a) in=daaj-a 1=give-IPF.FUT 'I will give (it).'
- (91b) in=daaj-á-? 1=give-IPF.FUT-DAT 'I will give (it) for him/her/them.'

The example in (91b) can also be used to mean 'I will give (it) on behalf of him/her/them.'

4.11.4. The instrumental case

The instrumental case is marked by the suffix -n(n). The suffix appears single before consonants (92a), and geminate before vowels (92b). It indicates that the noun it is added to is used as an instrument by an agent. For example, the nouns **faasita** 'pick axe' and **ulayta** 'stick' are used as instruments to accomplish the actions of cutting and hitting, respectively.

(92a)	attif faasitan Goyrasi? ?immurti					
	atti-?	faasita-n	Goyra-si?			
	2SG.PRO-NOM	pickaxe-INST	tree-DEF.M/F			

i?=mur-t-i 2=cut-2-PF 'You (SG) cut the tree with a pickaxe.'

(92b) anti? ?ulaytannin pinantasid ɗayay *anti-*? *ulayta-nn = in pinanta-si*? 1SG.PRO-NOM stick-INST = 3 animal-DEF.M/F

> *day-ay* hit-PF[3M] 'I hit the animal with a stick.'

The instrumental suffix also indicates manner as in (93).

(93)	malannil lukkalittasiG Gaptin					
	mala-nn=i?	lukkalitta-si?	Gap-t-i-n			
	wisdom-INST = 2	chicken-DEF.M/F	catch-3F-PF-P			
	'You (PL) caught the					

4.11.5. The vocative case

The vocative is marked by the suffixes -u/o and -y. The former occurs with nouns that trigger M/F gender agreement on the verb, as in (94), and the latter with nouns that trigger a plural gender agreement on the verb, as in (95).

(94a)	namu, maana? ?aye ko?ni					
	nama-u	maana = i?	aye	kod-ni		
	man-VOC.M/F	what $= 2$	here	do-IPF.PRES		
	'You guy, what are you doing here?'					

(94b)	karru, okkattaa <i>karraa-u,</i> squirrel-VOC.	yti ka χ M/F	ormaawu ku <i>okkatta-ay</i> cow-2SG.I	lee ɗalay <i>ti</i> POSS.M/F	<i>ka</i> and
	<i>χorma-awu</i> ox-1SG.POSS 'Squirrel, your	.M/F cow as	<i>kuli=i</i> also=3 well as my	<i>dal-ay</i> give.birth- ox gave birth	·PF[3M] h.'
(95a)	tuparraa-y girls-VOC.P 'You girls, con	χοοy- come ne!'	-a -IMP.PL		
(95b)	?innaa-y boy-VOC.P	χοοy- come	·i -IMP.SG		

In kinship terms, we may find the vocative suffixes -u/o, -i/e and -a. The distribution is lexically determined as can be seen from the following examples.

(96)	Vocative form	1	source	
	aapp-u/o	'daddy!'	aappaa	'father'
	okkooyy-u/o	'grandma!'	okkooyyita	'grandmother'
	aayy-i/e	'mamma!'	aayyaa	'mother'
	aatt-i/e	'elder sibling!'	aattaa	'elder sibling'
	aakk-a	'grandpa!'	aakkaa	'grandfather'
	maamm-a	'(paternal) aunt!'	maammata	'aunt'

Proper names with a final -o in the base form attach the vocative suffix -u/o as in (97a); those with a final -e attach the vocative -e/i as in (97b); those with a final -a attach the vocative suffix -a as in (97c).

(97a)	Antu/o Katanu/o Paritu/o	'Anto!' 'Katano!' 'Parito!'
(97b)	Kappoole/i Kanaase/i	'Kappoole!' 'Kanaase!'
(97c)	χalaalla Orkeeta	'χalaalla!' 'Orkeeta!'

'You boy, come!'

4.11.6. The locational markers -Vyye and -?

The suffixes -Vyye and -? mark location (see locational adverbs in 8.2.1). The V of -Vyye is the lengthening of the final vowel of the noun). The locational

marker -Vyye occurs mainly with the verb root kiy- 'be, exist' whereas -? occurs with actions verbs such as χaay - 'put', diif- 'leave'. The following are illustrative examples.

(98a)	sakooyyaf faaseeyyee ca					
	sakooyya-?	faase-eyye=i	kiy-a			
	sakooyya-NOM	$faa \int e - LOC = 3$	be-IPF.FUT			
	'Sakooyye is at Faa∫e.'					

(98b) inantasit tomasit tika? ?ixaayti *inanta-si?* toma-si? tika-? i=xaay-t-i girl-DEF.M/F bowl-DEF.M/F house-LOC 3=put-3F-PF 'The girl put the bowl at home.'

The locational markers do not replace each other. This can be seen from the examples in (99), which are modified versions of the examples in (98).

(99a)	*sakooyyaf faaji? ?ica				
	sakooyya-?	faafe-?	i=kiy-a		
	sakooyya-NOM	faa∫e-LOC	3 = be-PF.FU	JT	
	(intended: 'Sakooyye is at Faase.')				
(99b)	*inantasit tomasit tikaayye ixaayti				
	inanta-si?	toma-si?	tika-ayye	i=xaay-t-i	
	girl-DEF.M/F	bowl-DEF.M/F	house-LOC	3 = put-3F-PF	
	(intended: 'The girl put the bowl at home.')				

The locational suffixes differ with respect to optionality: It is possible to leave out -Vyye but not -?. For example, in (100a), -Vyye occurs with the noun tika 'house' but it does not occur with the same noun in (100b). On the other hand, -? is obligatory. To demonstrate this, example (100b) is repeated with and without the suffix in (100c) and (100d).

(100a)	Gimaytasit tikaayyee ca			
	Gimayta-si?	tika-ayye=i	kiy-a	
	old man-DEF.M/F	house-LOC = 3	be-IPF.FUT	
	'The old man is at home.'			

(100b)	Gimaytasit tikaa ca			
	Gimayta-si?	tika = i	kiy-a	
	old man-DEF.M/F	house = 3	be-IPF.FUT	
	'The old man is at home.'			

- (100c) inantasit tomasit tika? ?ixaayti *inanta-si?* toma-si? tika-? $i=\chi aay-t-i$ girl-DEF.M/F bowl-DEF.M/F house-LOC 3 = put-3F-PF'The girl put the bowl at home.'
- (100d) *inantasit tomasit tika ?ixaayti *inanta-si?* toma-si? tika $i = \chi aay-t-i$ girl-DEF.M/F bowl-DEF.M/F house 3 = put-3F-PF'The girl put the bowl at home.'

The locational suffix -Vyye can be used as ablative, as in the following examples:

- (101a) inantaasix xonsooyyee de?ti *inanta-asi?* xonso-eyye=i dey-t-i girl-DEM.M/F Konso-LOC=3 come-3F-PF 'This girl came from Konso.'
- (101b) urmalaayyeen laha pidday urmalaa-eyye=in laha pidd-ay market-LOC=1 ram buy[SG]-PF[3M]
 'I bought a ram from the market.'

4.11.7. The background marker

The background is marked by the suffixes -eyye or -yye. The former has an allomorph -e. The distribution is phonologically determined: nouns with a short terminal -a occur with -eyye or -e, and nouns with a terminal vowel -aa occur with -yye. The background marker has the meaning 'person-wise' or 'entity-wise'.

(102a)	i∫an nameeyye ider <i>i∫a-?</i> 3SG.PRO-NOM 'Person-wise, he is	i <i>nama-eyye</i> person-BKGRD.M tall.'	1/F	i = der - i 3 = be.tall-PF	
(102b)	GoyraasiG Goyre G Goyra-asi? tree-DEM.M/F	oyra a kokay <i>Goyra-e</i> tree-BKGRD.M/F	<i>Goyra</i> tree	<i>a</i> REL	
	<i>kok-ay</i> dry-PF[3M] 'Tree-wise, this tree is dry.' (lit.: 'Tree-wise, this tree is a tree which is dry.')				

- (102c) filoosinif filaayye itiimi *filaa-osini? filaa-yye i=tiim-i* comb-DEM.P comb-BKGRD.P 3=be.red-PF 'Comb-wise, this comb is red.'
- (102d) tikkaa-yye i=pap-pald-i houses-BKGRD.P 3=PL-be.wide-PF 'House-wise, they are wide.'

Deadjectival nominals that modifiy head nouns also occur with the background suffix -eye For instance, the deadjectival nominal Galla?ayta 'thin one' in (103a) occurs with the head noun Goyra 'tree' which, in the example, has the background suffix -eye. However, head nouns that have the definite suffix -si? do not allow deajectival nominals to occur with the background suffix, as shown in (103b). Similarly, deadjectival nominals do not occur with subject clitics, as illustrated in (103c).

- (103a) Goyreeyye Galla?ayta *Goyra-eyye Galla?-ayta* tree-BKGRD.M/F be.thin-NMLZ.M 'Tree-wise, it is a thin one.'
- (103b) *GoyreeyyesiG Galla?ayta *Goyra-eyye-si? Galla?-ayta* tree-BKGRD-DEF.M/F be.thin-NMLZ.M (intended: 'Tree-wise, the tree is thin.')
- (103c) *iGalla?ayta i=Galla?-ayta3 = be.thin-NMLZ.M(intended: 'It is thin one.')

4.12. Compounding

Compounding is not really productive; I disagree with Daniel (2000) on this point. The following are the compound nouns I was able to find. Most of them have the genitive particle **a**. The words are compounds because, for example, the first two have reduced first parts which do not exist in this form independently. The rest of the compound words have a specialised, non-predictable meaning and thus are lexicalised.

(104a) kurťakkayta kurra + ďakkayta ear + deaf.M tree species

- (104b) kuttimpira kuttumaa-pir-a growth-finish-NMLZ 'molar tooth'
- (104c) duusutakaarayyaá?9 duusuta-a-kaarayyaá-? fart-GEN-devil-GEN mushroom species
- (104d) akalaparaffaá? akala-a-paraffaá-? sack-GEN-cereal.species-GEN 'centipede'
- (104e) xormawaaGá? χorma-a-waaGá-? ox-GEN-God-GEN grasshopper species
- (104f) keraawaaGá? keraa-a-waaGá-? thief-GEN-God-GEN 'witchdoctor'

The above compound words may form their pluratives by replacing the singulative suffix with a plurative suffix, adding a plurative suffix in the end or to the initial part. The first compound forms its plurative by replacing the singulative suffix -ta with -aa. The the second three compound words form their pluratives by adding the plurative suffix -ddaa. The last two compound words form their pluratives based on the pluratives of the first words. Notice that the final genitive marker ? in the singulatives appears after the plurative suffix. Below, I give the plurative of each of the above compound words to show that these words are one word and a noun.

Singulative plurative (105a) kurdakkayta kurɗakkayaa kurra + dakkayta kurra + dakkayaa ear + deaf.M ear + be.deaf.P tree species

⁹ Also ussukkaarayyaa.

- tree species

- (105b) kuttimpira *kuttumaa-pir-a* growth-finish-NMLZ 'molar tooth'
- (105c) **duusutakaarayyaá?** *diusuta-?a-kaarayyaá-?* fart-GEN-devil-GEN 'mushroom (species)'
- (104d) **akalaparaffaá?** *akala-a-paraffaá-?* sack-GEN-cereal.species-GEN 'centipede'
- (104e) **xormawaaGă?** *xorma-a-waaGă-?* ox-GEN-God-GEN 'grasshopper (species)'
- (104f) keraawaaɗá? *keraa-a-waaɗá-?* thief-GEN-God-GEN 'witchdoctor'

kutimpiraddaa *kuttumaa-pir-a-ddaa* growth-finish-NMLZ-P 'molar teeth'

duusutakaariyyaddaá? *diuusuta-a-kaariyyaa-ddaá-?* fart-GEN-devil-P-GEN 'mushrooms'

akalaparaffaddaá? akala-a-paraffaddaá-? sack-GEN-cereal.species.P -GEN 'centipedes'

xormadawaacfá? *xormadaa-a-waacfá-?* oxen-GEN-God-GEN 'grasshoppers'

kere?tawaaGá? kere?ewwa-a-waaGá-? thieves-GEN-God-GEN 'witchdoctors'
5. Pronouns

In this chapter I discuss personal pronouns, demonstratives and possessives. I also treat reflexive and reciprocals. Personal pronouns distinguish number for all persons, but gender only for third person singular. With regard to case distinctions, it is only the first person singular and the second person singular pronouns that show a lexical distinction for nominative and accusative cases.

5.1. Personal pronouns

The following table presents the personal pronouns.

	Singul	ar	Plural	
	Nominative	Accusative	Nominative / Accusative	
1	anti	ana	inu	
2	atti	ke	i∫ina	
3F	i∫eenna		i∫oonna	
	i∫eet(t)a		i∫oot(t)a	
	i∫eed(d)a		iʃood(d)a	
3M	i∫a		• • • •	

Table 1: Independent personal pronouns

As can be seen from the table, it is only the first and second person singular pronouns that show a lexical distinction for nominative and accusative cases. In (1a), the personal pronoun $i\mathbf{j}\mathbf{a}$ 'he' and **ana** 'me' are marked for their respective cases morphologically and lexically. However, in (1b), the nominative case distinction with the personal pronouns **anti** 'I' is made morphologically while the accusative case for the personal pronoun $i\mathbf{j}\mathbf{a}$ 'him' is neither morphologically marked nor lexically expressed. It is understood only from the word order.

(1a)	ifa? ?ana i?akkay <i>ifa-</i> ? 3SGM.PRO-NOM 'He saw me.'	የ <i>ana</i> 1SG.PRO.ACC	<i>i=akk-ay</i> 3=see-PF
(1b)	anti? ?i∫a in?akkay <i>anti-?</i> 1SG.PRO-NOM 'I saw him.'	<i>ifa</i> 3SGM.PRO[ACC]	<i>in=akk-ay</i> 1=see-PF[3M]

Second person plural accusative pronoun form occurs without a final vowel when it occurs as an object of a postposition as in (2a). Otherwise, it occurs with the final vowel as in (2b-c).

- (2a) Golpasi? ?ijin kapa ica Golpa-si? ifin kapa he-goat-DEF.M/F 2PL.PRO.ACC near
 i=kiy-a 3 = be-IPF.FUT 'The he-goat is with you (PL).'
- (2b) antil luukkawwaasinin ifinaɗ ɗaɗɗaafay *anti-? luukkawwaa-sini?=in* 1SG.PRO-NOM fruits-DEF.P=1

ifina-? 2PL.PRO.ACC-DAT 'I gave you (PL) the fruits.'

(2c) ijinaa tikupa kalay
 ifina-á tika-opa kal-ay
 2PL.PRO-CLF[ACC] house-to return.home-PF[3M]
 'It is you (PL) who returned home.'

The alternants for third person feminine and third person plural pronoun forms differ only in the vowels in the second syllable. Except with the nasal consonant, which is always geminate, the forms of these pronouns can occur in free variant forms: with a single or geminate final consonant.

Personal pronouns can be used not only for humans but also for non-human entities agreeing in gender to the gender of the noun they refer to.

5.2. Demonstrative pronouns

The demonstrative pronouns are **sedi**? and **seni**?. The former is used with nouns that trigger an M/F gender agreement on the verb, whereas the latter is used with nouns that trigger a P gender agreement on the verb. Like the demonstrative suffixes (see 4.8), the demonstrative pronouns express proximity. No distal distinction is made. Here are some examples:

(3a)	sedic Goyi	ra
	sedi?	Goyra
	this.M/F	tree[M]
	'This is a t	tree.'

(3b) sedît tikaayti sedî? tika-ayti this.M/F house[F]-2SG.POSS.M/F 'This is your house.'

- (3c) senif filaayyu seni? filaa-yyu this comb[P]-1SG.POSS.P 'This is my comb.'
- (3d) senic Goraa seni? Goraa these trees.P 'These are trees.'

The word **ini?** 'this one' is used as demonstrative pronoun as well. It is used with nouns that are semantically singular and may trigger a masculine or feminine gender agreement on the verb.

- (4a) init tikaawu *ini? tika-awu* this.M/F house-1SG.POSS.M/F 'This is my house.'
- (4b) inim maakaa *ini? maakaa* this.M/F snake[M] 'This is a snake.'

It is interesting to see that some numerically singular nouns which trigger a plural gender agreement occur with ini?, and some do not. For example, the nouns filaa 'comb[P]' and innaa 'child [P]' trigger plural gender agreement in possessives. However, the nouns show a difference in their distribution with regard to the demonstrative pronoun ini?: innaa 'child[P]' does occur with ini?, as in (5a), whereas filaa 'comb[P]' does not (5b).

- (5a) ini? ?innaayyu *ini? innaa-yyu* this.M/F child[P]-1SG.POSS.P 'This is my child.'
- (5b) ***inif filaayyu** *ini? filaa-yyu* this.M/F comb[P]-1SG.POSS.P (intended: 'This is my comb.')

There is also the demonstrative pronoun ossini? 'this thing' which is used with reference to (non-)animate entities as illustrated in (6).

- 130
- (6a) ossinim maana ossini? maana this.thing what 'What is this thing?'
- (6b) ossini? ?ineeG-i ossini? i=neeG-i this.thing 3=be.bad-PF 'This thing is bad.'

The glottal stop of the demonstrative pronouns may be elided in fast utterances. This can be seen from the examples in (7).

- (7a) sedi tikaayti
 sedi tika-ayti
 this.M/F house[F]-2SG.POSS.M/F
 'This is your house.'
- (7b) ini maakaa *ini maakaa* this.M/F snake[M] 'This is a snake.'
- (7c) ossinineeG-i
 ossini i=neeG-i
 this.thing 3=be.bad-PF
 'This thing is bad.'

The glottal stop is not elided from ossini? 'this thing' with such question words as meecaa 'how much?' (8a) and maana 'what?' (8b). It is elided with the question word ayfa 'where?', as shown in (8c).

- (8a) *ossini meeGaa
 this.thing how.much
 (intended: 'How much is this thing?')
- (8b) ***ossini maana** this.thing what (intended: 'What is this thing?')
- (8c) ossini ayfa?id dakayti
 ossini ?ayfa-?=i? dakay-t-i
 this.thing where-LOC=2 hear-2-PF
 'Where did you hear this thing from?'

Distal location is expressed by a locative adverb (see Section 8.2.1), the existential verb and a demonstrative pronoun as can be seen from the following examples:

- (9a) sedid disee co Goyraawu
 sedi? dise=i kiy-o Goyra-awu
 this.DEM.M/F there=3 be-3M tree-1SG.POSS.M/F
 'That is my tree.'
 (lit: 'This tree there is my tree.')
- (9b) senix xatee caaG Goraayyu
 seni? xate=i kiy-aa? Goraa-yyu
 these down=3 be-P trees-1SG.POSS.P
 'Those are my trees.'
 (lit: 'These trees down there are my trees.')

5.3. Possessives

Possessives may be marked by suffixes or independent pronouns. I first present possessive suffixes. Except for the third person singular, all possessive suffixes that occur with nouns not only distinguish the number of the possessor but also the gender of the possessum. The third person singular has the same possessive suffix for all (F/M/P, S/PL) possessums. Table 2 presents the possessive suffixes.

Possessor	Possessum (M/F)	Possessum (P)
1SG	-awu	-yyu
1PL	-aynu	-nnu
2SG	-ayti	-tti
2PL	-ay∫in	-ssin
3SG.M/F	-adi	-adi
3PL	-ay∫u?	-ssu?

Table 2: Possessive suffixes

In the following examples, the nouns tika 'house', karkaa 'beehive' and orra 'people' in (10) occur with M/F possessum suffixes because of the M/F gender agreement on the verb. On the other hand, the nouns tikkaa 'houses', filaa 'comb' and pijaa 'water' in (11) occur with plural possessum suffixes because of the plural gender agreement on the verb.

(10a) tika-awu i = sek-ihouse-1SG.POSS.M/F 3 = be.far-PF'My house is far (from here).' 132

(10b)	karkaaayju? ?ipatay karkaa-ayju? beehive-3PL.POSS.M/F 'Their beehive got lost.'	<i>i=pat-ay</i> 3=get.lost-PF[3M]
(10c)	?orra-ay∫in people-2PL.POSS.M/F 'Your (PL) people came	i = dey-ay 3 = come-PF[3M]
(11a)	tikkaa-nnu houses-1PL.POSS.P 'Our houses are numero	i = lek-i 3 = be.many-PF us.'
(11b)	filaa-tti comb-2SG.POSS.P 'Your (S) comb got spoi	i=napal-i-n 3=be.spoiled-PF-P led.'

(11c) pifaassu? ?itucfmadin pifaa-ssu? i=tucf-am-ad-i-n water-3PL.POSS.P 3 = spill-PAS-MID-PF-P 'Their water got spilt.'

Kinship terms such as **aappaa** 'father', **aayyaa** 'mother', **aakkaa** 'grandfather', **maammata** 'paternal aunt', **okkooyyita** 'grandmother' and **apuyyaata** 'maternal uncle' are used with plural possessive suffixes even when used by an only child. It indicates a relation that cannot be possessed individually. Table 3 contains the suffixes used with kinship terms.

Noun	Possessive suffixes	added to the noun to	indicate person and
	number distinction of	f the possessor	
	1 person	2 person	3 person
aappaa	-aynu	-ay∫in	-ay∫u?
aayyaa	-nnu	-ssin	-ssu?
aattaa	-nnu	-ssin	-ssu?
maammata	-aynu	-ay∫in	-ay∫u?
aakkaa	-aynu	-ay∫in	-ay∫u?
okkooyyita	-aynu	-ay∫in	-ay∫u?
appuyyaata	-aynu	-ay∫in	-ay∫u?

Table 3: Possessive suffixes with kinship terms

Kinship terms such as ajuma 'sister's/(grand)aunt's son', ajumta 'sister's/(grand)aunt's daughter', oopaa 'grandson' and oopta 'granddaughter' need not have plural possessive suffixes. Examples:

oopaa-wu	i=dey-ay
grandson-1SG.POSS.M/F	3 = come-PF[3M]
'My grandson came.'	
ooptaawu ide?ti	
oopta-awu	i=dey-t-i
granddaughter-1SG POSS M/F	3 = come-3F-PF
	oopaa-wu grandson-1SG.POSS.M/F 'My grandson came.' ooptaawu ide?ti <i>oopta-awu</i> granddaughter-1SG POSS M/F

'My granddaughter came.'

Interestingly, the term **aappaa** may mean 'father' or 'husband' depending on the type of possessive suffix added to it. When it occurs with suffix **-aynu** it refers to father: **aappaaynu** 'our father'. However, with suffix **-wu**, it means 'husband': **aappaawu** 'my husband'.

Independent possessive pronouns are formed from the noun space filler χa and the possessive suffixes. The noun space filler χa does not have any meaning. It just replaces the noun. In my dialect, not all the possessive suffixes I presented above may occur with χa as can be seen from the following table. First person singular, the second persons and the third person plural possessors have variant forms that do not occur with nouns. The pronouns indicate number distinction in the possessor but not in the possessum.

1SG	χayyu∕χayya/*χawu	'mine'	
1PL	xannu/*xaynu		'ours'
2SG	χaayti/χatti		'yours'
2PL	χaay∫in/χassin/χa∬in	'yours'	
3SG.M/F	χaadi		'his/hers'
3PL	χaay∫u/χassu/χa∫∫u		'theirs'
Table 4: In	dependent possessives		

The unacceptable forms in table 4 are acceptable in χ olme and in some parts of Faafe dialects.

Table 4 shows that independent possessives do not distinguish the gender of the possessum. As the examples in (13) illustrate, independent possessives like $\chi ayyu$ 'mine' in (13c) may have a singular possessor interpretation like 'It is mine' or a plural possessor interpretation like 'They are mine' based on whether the possessum is singular as in (13a) or plural as in (13b).

(13a)	init tika			
	ini?	tika	а	aynu
	this	house	GEN	who
	'Whose	e house is	this?'	

- (13b) senit tikkaa a aynu seni? tikkaa a aynu these houses GEN who 'Whose houses are these?'
- (13c) xayyu 1SG.POSS.SG/PL 'It's mine/They are mine.'

5.4. Reflexive

Reflexive anaphoric reference is expressed by isi 'self'. It has the variant ?issi when followed by dative or instrumental suffixes. Sometimes, the body part harka 'hand' may also be used to express reflexive. The reflexive pronoun isi is not inflected for number, gender or person. In a clause, the reflexive pronoun follows the subject as shown in (14).

(14a)	anti? ?isin faGay anti-? is 1SG.PRO-NOM s 'I washed myself.'	<i>isi</i> self	<i>in=fa</i> 1=wa	<i>G-ay</i> sh-PF[3M]	
(14b)	raakasi? ?isi imurti <i>raaka-si?</i> old.woman-DEF.M/F 'The old woman cut h	iersel	<i>isi</i> self f.'	<i>i=mur-t-i</i> 3=cut[SG]-3F	-PF
(14c)	keltaytasim mattuppa <i>keltayta-si?</i> baboon-DEF.M/F	isi ixe <i>mati</i> head	oo ∬a y <i>ta-oppa</i> l-in	<i>isi</i> self	
	$i = \chi cooff-ay$ 3 = scratch.SG-PF[3M 'The baboon scratched	[] d itse	lf on the	e head once.'	

In the following examples, the reflexive pronoun has the form issi because there is the dative in (15a) and instrumental in (15b).

(15a) issip piddi *issi-? pidd-i* self-DAT buy[SG]-IMP.SG 'Buy it for yourself.'

(15b) issi-n xooy-i self-INST come-IMP.SG 'Come by yourself!'

With the verb roots up- 'to know' and dakay- 'to hear' and the postposition Gara 'on', the reflexive pronoun ?isi yields the meaning of 'self-consciousness'. It is mainly used in negative sentences to express that someone is deeply asleep or seriously sick and unconscious of themselves. The examples in (16) may have either interpretation depending on the discourse setting.

- (16a) iscGara inuptu isi-Gara in = up-t-u self-on 3NEG = know-3F-NEG 'She is unconscious.' (lit.: 'She does not know on herself.')
- (16b) isGara dakayin co isi-Gara dakay=in kiy-o self-on hear=3NEG be-NEG 'He is unconscious.' (lit.: 'He does not hear on himself.')

With the verb root faG- 'to wash', such nouns as pifaa 'water' and dakinta 'body' may be used instead of the reflexive pronoun ?isi. The use of these nouns, however, requires the verb to contain the middle suffix as can be observed from the examples in (17).

- (17a) pifaan faGanni pifaa=in faG-ad-n-i water = 1 wash-MID-1PL-PF 'We washed ourselves.' (lit.: 'We washed water (for our benefit).')
- (17b) atti? dakintaf faGatti atti-? dakinta = i? faG-ad-t-i2SG.PRO-NOM body = 2 wash-MID-2-PF 'You (SG) washed yourself.' (lit.: 'You (SG) washed your body.')

The reflexive pronoun and the middle suffix **-ad** do not co-occur in a sentence as shown in (18).

(18a) *anti? ?isin facaday anti-? isi=in fac-ad-ay 1SG.PRO-NOM self=1 wash-MID-PF[3M] (intended: 'I washed myself for my benefit.') (18b) *ifeenna? ?isi ifaGatti *ifeenna-?* isi i=faG-ad-t-i
3SGF.PRO-NOM self 3=wash-MID-3F-PF
(intended: 'She washed herself for her benefit.')

In addition to the reflexive pronoun isi, the body parts matta 'head' and harka 'hand' may be used to express reflexivity. The body part matta occurs with possessive suffixes and the dative. This is illustrated in (19).

(19) namasim mattaadi? ?urmalaapa ?i?aanay nama-si? matta-adi-? urmalaa-opa person-DEF.M/F head-3SG.POSS.M/F-DAT market-to *i=aan-ay* 3=go-PF[3M] 'The man went to the market for himself.' (lit.: 'The man went to the market for his head.')

The use of the body part harka 'hand' to express reflexive meaning is contextually limited. It is used when someone takes a risk to do something and it yields a negative consequence. The instrumental suffix and the verb kod- 'to do, work' are required in using harka to express reflexive. Examples:

(20a) harkanne kodaday

harka-nn=i kod-ad-ay hand-INST=3 do-MID-PF[3M] 'He caused the trouble for himself.' (lit.: 'He made it with his hand for himself.')

(20b) harkanne kodatti

harka-nn=i kod-ad-t-i hand-INST=3 do-MID-3F-PF 'She caused the trouble for herself.' (lit.: 'She made it with her hand.')

5.5. Reciprocity and 'each'

Reciprocity is expressed by the pronoun oli. The following are illustrative examples.

(21a) olin upna oli=in up-n-a RECP=1 know-P-IPF.FUT 'We know each other.'

(21b)	hellaasinix xalaa ?oli Gidin					
	hellaa-sini?	χala=i	?oli	Gid-i-n		
	children-DEF.P	yesterday $= 3$	RECP	beat-PF-P		
	'The children beat each other yesterday.'					

The reciprocal pronoun **oli** has the variant **olli** when followed by the dative (22a) or instrumental suffix (22b).

(22a)	harka lakkee ollip pi∫aa ſaGin				
	harka	lakki = i	olli-?	pifaa	faG-i-n
	hand	two = 3	RECP-DAT	water	wash-PF-P
	'Two ha				
	(lit.: Two hands wash water for each other.)				

(22b)	inu? ?ollinnin dilup	inu? ?ollinnin diluppupa sookanni				
	inu-?	olli-nn=in	dila-oppupa			
	1PL.PRO-NOM	RECP-INST = 1	field-into			

sookad-n-i go.to field-1P-PF 'We went to the field together.' (lit.: We went to the field with each other.)

The example in (22a) is a proverb. It is used to express the situation where someone offers help to someone else who has offered them help before.

The reciprocal is expressed by the pronoun oli and the (locative-directional) compound minaadesa (minaa 'in front of' desa 'toward (facing)') when many participants are involved in the reciprocal action and when there is no one-to-one relationship among the actors in the event. The following is an illustrative example.

(23)	orrasim minaadesaa oli Giday					
	orra-si?	minaadesa = i	oli	Gid-ay		
	people-DEF.M/F	toward = 3	RECP	beat-PF[3M]		
	'The people beat one another.'					

Notice the number agreement between the subject and the verb root. Sentences with the reciprocal pronoun require plural subjects and plural verb roots. For example, in sentence (24a) the reciprocal subject harreewwaasini? 'the donkeys' occurs with a corresponding plural verb root Gom- 'bite[PL]'. Sentence (24b) is unacceptable because of the incongruence between the plural subject and the singulative verb root Ganiin- 'to bite[SG].

- (24a) harreewwaasini? ?olee Gomin harreewwaa-sini? oli=i Gom-i-n donkeys-DEF.P RECP=3 bite[PL]-PF-P 'The donkeys bit each other.'
 (24b) *harreewwaasini? ?olee Ganiinin
- *harreewwaasini? oli=i Ganiin-i-n* donkeys-DEF.P RECP=3 bite[SG]-PF-P

Finally, 'each (of)' is expressed by matta matta 'head head' followed by the instrumental suffix -n(n). This is demonstrated below.

(25)	hellaasinim matta	hellaasinim matta mattannee xoradin				
	hellaa-sini?	matta	matta-nn = i	χorad-i-n		
	children-DEF.P	head	head-INST $= 3$	be.fined-PF-P		
	'Each of the children was fined.'					

6. Verbs

In this chapter verbal derivations such as the causative, middle, passive, inchoative, pluractionals and punctuals are discussed. I also present verb inflections including the perfective and imperfective aspects. The last section treats imperative and optative mood.

As we shall see in detail below, when a verb form contains both derivational and inflectional affixes, they occur in the following order: Verb root-derivational suffix-inflectional suffix

6.1. Verb derivation

6.1.1.Causative

Causative derivation is productive and applies to transitive as well as intransitive verb roots. The forms of the causative are $-\int$, -acciis, and $-(n)ay \int/-(n)a \int$. The causative suffix -acciis underlyingly has the frozen middle suffix -acf (see also Mous 2004). However, it is not clear whether the part of the suffix after the frozen middle is siis or ciis. In this work, I do not commit myself to accounting for the underlying form and hence use only -acciis.

The causative suffix $-\int$ marks direct causative in verbs. The causative forms $-(n)ay\int/-(n)a\int$ also mark direct causative in certain adjectival roots. The causative form -acciis marks indirect causative. Indirect causative is also occasionally marked by the suffix -siis.

In the direct causatives, we may have only two participants: the subject which can be agentive or non-agentive causes the action, and the object is the affected entity as illustrated below:

(1a)	namasiG Goyrasi nama-si? man-DEF.M/F 'The man broke	? ?iGep∫a Goyra tree a tree.'	i = Gep-f-ay 3 = be.broken-DCAUS-PF[3M]
(1b)	roopasi? ?unta in <i>roopa-si?</i> rain-DEF.M/F 'The rain destro	apal∫ay <i>unta</i> crop	<i>i=papal-f-ay</i> 3=be.destroyed-DCAUS-PF[3M]

In the above examples, the direct causative suffix $-\int$ is added to the verb roots Gep- 'to be broken' and napal- 'to be destroyed'. In (1a), the subject namasi? 'the man' is an agent causing the action of breaking to affect the object Goyra

'tree'. Likewise, in (1b), the subject **roopasi**? 'the rain' is non-agentive causing the action of destroying the object **?unta** 'crops'.

A direct causative may have three participants: the causer, the causee and the affected entity. For example, in (2), the subject Apitto is the causer, the object hellaasini? 'the children' is the causee and muusita 'banana' is the affected entity.

(2)	Apittuh hellaas	inim muusita iɗam∫ay	
	Apittu-?	hellaa-sini?	muusita
	Apitto-NOM	children-DEF.P	banana

i=dam-f-ay 3=eat-DCAUS-PF[3M] 'Apitto fed the children banana.'

As mentioned earlier, causatives may be derived from intransitive verb roots such as **muk**- 'to sleep' in (3a) and **kal**- 'to go home' in (3b).

(3a)	inantasi? ?innaas	ini? ?imukissi	
	inanta-si?	innaa-sini?	i=muk-ſ-t-i
	girl-DEF.M/F	child-DEF.P	3 = sleep-DCAUS-3F-PF
	'The girl made th	he child sleep.'	
(3b)	hellaasini? talaas	ini? ?ikal∫in	
	hellaa-sini?	talaa-sini?	i=kal-ſ-i-n
	children-DEF.P	goats-DEF.P	3 = return.home-DCAUS-PF-P
	'The children bro	ought the goats h	ome.'

In the above examples, the intransitive verb roots occur with the direct causative suffix $-\int$.

Mous (2004, 4-5) analyses the form of the causative as $-i\int$ after the alveolar consonants t^{10} , **d** and **s** and the palatal consonants \int , **c** and \int as in (4a).

	base		causative
(4a)	waad-	'to hurry'	waaɗ-i∫-
	pas-	'to loose'	pas-i∫-

¹⁰ There are also cases where the t of the verb root becomes \int when the causative - \int is added to the verb root. The following are examples:

fat-	'to vomit'	fa∬-	'to cause to vomit'
pat-	'to disappear'	pa∬-	'to destroy; lose'
Git-	'to collapse'	Gi∬-	'to cause to collapse'

However, not all verb roots with t and \int form the causative with -i \int . Rather, they are formed by the suffix -acciis (4b) or using a syntactic causative construction as in the case of the verb afaf- 'to order' discussed below.

	base		causative	causative
(4b)	dot-	'to stab'	*dot-i∫-	dotacciis
	ɗaa∫-	'to give'	*ɗaa∫-i∫-	ɗaa∫acciis
	afaf-	'to order'	*afaf-i∫-	(syntactic causative)

As Mous (2004) showed, with some verb roots that end in h, e.g. sah- 'sweep', peeh- 'to scatter', mooh- 'to have more', poh- 'to collect', only the indirect causative form can be used to derive the causative. However, in other verbs ending in h the causative with $-\int$ rather than $-V\int$ is preferred. Examples:

	base		causative
(5)	Gah-	'to flee, run away'	Gah∫-
	nah-	'to be good hearted'	nah∫-
	miih-	'to be spoilt'	miih∫-

Some verb stems with frozen middle suffix have t before the causative -f. The i vowel before the causative suffix is an epenthetic vowel. Here are some examples:

(6a)	base Gap- kam- ɗap-	'to catch' 'to be stubborn' 'to miss'	causative Gapti∫- kamti∫- ɗapti∫-	'to make catch (snare)' 'to force to do something' 'to make miss'
(6b)	kafaɗ-	'to be tired'	kafti-	'to make tired'
	xoraɗ-	'to be fined'	χorti∫-	'to make fined'

With the verb root piifad- 'to have lunch' the causative marker can be either $-\int$ or -ti, i.e. piiff- or piiftif- 'to make eat lunch'.

The form of the direct causative with certain adjectival roots is $-ay\int$ as in (7a), and $-nay\int$ with other adjectival roots as in (7b). It is difficult to formulate rules for the distribution of the forms.

der-ay∫-'to make tall, long'lek-ay∫-'to make many'deh-ay∫-'to make near'sek-ay∫-'to make far'att-ay∫-'to make white'nukkull-ay∫-'to make weak, soft'	(7a)	awl-ay∫-	'to make yellow'	
lek-ay∫-'to make many'deh-ay∫-'to make near'sek-ay∫-'to make far'att-ay∫-'to make white'nukkull-ay∫-'to make weak, soft'		ɗer-ay∫-	'to make tall, long'	
deh-ay∫-'to make near'sek-ay∫-'to make far'att-ay∫-'to make white'nukkull-ay∫-'to make weak, soft'		lek-ay∫-	'to make many'	
sek-ay∫-'to make far'att-ay∫-'to make white'nukkull-ay∫-'to make weak, soft'		ɗeh-ay∫-	'to make near'	
att-ay∫-'to make white' at-t- nukkull-ay∫-'to make weak, soft'		sek-ay∫-	'to make far'	
nukkull-ay∫- 'to make weak, soft'		att-ay∫-	'to make white'	at-t-
		nukkull-ay∫-	'to make weak, soft'	

	kumma?-ay∫- ∫olla?-ay∫-	'to make short' 'to make light'	
(7b)	poor-nay∫-	'to make black'	
	tiip-nay∫-	'to make red'	
	ilaaw-nay∫-	'to make green'	
	Gah-nay∫-	'to make thin'	< Gaah- 'to be thin' >
	kokkon-nay∫-	'to make strong'	<kokkook- 'to="" be="" strong'=""></kokkook->
	paGaar-nay∫-	'to make good, bea	utiful'
	neeG-nay∫-	'to make bad, ugly	,

The following are sentential examples:

(8a)	namasiχ χalittasi? ?ikummaay∫ay		
	nama-si?	χalitta-si?	i=kumma?-ay∫-ay
	man-DEF.M/F	stick.DEF.M/F	3 = be.short-DCAUS-PF[3M]
	'The man shorte	ned a stick.'	

- (8b) roopasip piita i?ilaawnay∫ay
 roopa-si? piita i=?ilaaw-nayſ-ay
 rain-DEF.M/F land 3=be.green-DCAUS-PF[3M]
 'The rain made the land green.'
- (8c) tikasip paGaarnassi *tika-si?=i? paGaar-naf-t-i* house-DEF.M/F=2 be.good-DCAUS-3F-PF 'You (SG) made the house look good.'
- (8d) napasi? ?oktaasi? ?ipoornani napa-si? oktaa-si? i=poor-naf-ni soot-DEF.M/F pot-DEF.M/F 3=be.black-DCAUS-IPF.PRES 'The soot blackens the pot.'

As already mentioned, the indirect causative is marked by -acciis. In indirect causatives, the subject of the sentence is not directly involved in performing the action, and hence, has no direct control over the action. The subject lets someone/something else do the action (see also Mous 2004). Many transitive verb roots attach the indirect causative form rather than the direct causative form. The following are illustrative sentences:

(9a)	antin namasin dilasid dotacciisay			
	anti-?	nama-si?=in	dila-si?	
	1SG.PRO-NOM	person-DEF.M/F = 1	field-DEF.M/F	

Got-acciis-ay dig-ICAUS-PF[3M] 'I made the person work on the field.'

 (9b) antuc Goyrasi? ?imuracciisay antu-? Goyra-si? i=mur-acciis-ay ?anto-NOM tree-DEF.M/F 3=cut[SG]-ICUAS-PF[3M] '?anto had the tree cut.'

In example (9a), we find three explicit participants: the indirect causer of the action of working on the field **anti** 'I' which is the subject, and the direct agent **namas**?i 'the person', which is an object, and the affected entity **dila** 'field' which is also an object. In (9b), we only find two explicit participants: the indirect causer **Anto** which is the subject, and the affected entity **Goyrasi**? 'the tree'.

Mous (2004: 9-13) reports the indirect causative marker -siis. However, this morpheme is very rare, used for example in deriving Gap-siis 'to make hold, make catch someone (say, a thief)' from Gap- 'to hold, catch'. In contrast, the verb root muk- 'to sleep' in (10) requires only a direct causative form \int as in (10b).

(10a)	?	dinoote	innaa	muk-siis-ay
		dinoote	boy	sleep-ICAUS1-PF[3M]
		'dinoote n	nade a boy	sleep by using a sleeping pill.'

 (10b) dinoote innaa muk-f-ay dinoote boy sleep-DCAUS1-PF[3M]
 'dinoote made a boy sleep by using a sleeping pill.'

Indirect causative is also expressed by the verb kod- 'to make' and a subordinate clause which contains the action done by the direct actor. Mous (2004: 2) calls this a syntactic indirect causative construction. The construction involves three participants: the causer, the causee and the affected entity as shown in (11a). Moreover, the verb kod- may attach the indirect causative -acciis as in (11b).

(11a)	?akkaa	ɗam-t-u	i=kod-ay
	that.3	eat-3F-DP.IPF	3 = make - PF[3M]
	'He mad	e her eat (somethin	g).'

(11b)	akkaa ɗamtu ikoɗacciisay		
	akkaa ɗam-t-u		i=kod-acciis-ay
	that.3	eat-3F-DP.IPF	3 = make-ICAUS-PF[3M]
	'He let someone make her eat (something).'		

Causerless or impersonal causatives exist but they are fixed expressions in that they are based only on the verb stem **parpaacciis**- 'make want, need'. The verb stem **parpaacciis** is derived from the Oromo verb root **barbaad**- 'look for' and the causative suffix -ciis. The verb stem **parpaacciis**- is a transitive verb stem but it does not add an external causer. In other words, the constructions are without an explicit causer. Moreover, they always occur in the order Patient— Agent and the agent is human. Only the present imperfective aspect is allowed in causerless causatives. The examples in (12a) and (12b) are without overtly stated causers. In these examples, neither **kaasa** 'gun' nor **okkatta** 'cow' is an agent. Both **kaasa** 'gun' and **okkatta** 'cow' are patients and **ana** 'me' and **ke** 'you (SG)' are the causee.

- (12a) kaasaa ana parpaacciisni kaasa-a ana parpaadciis-ni gun-CLF 1SG.PRO.ACC make.need-IPF.PRES 'I need a gun.' (lit.: 'It makes me need a gun.')
- (12b) okkattaa ki parpaaccisni okkatta-a ki parpaadciis-ni cow-CLF 2SG.PRO.ACC make.need-IPF.PRES 'You (SG) need a cow.' (lit.: 'It makes you (SG) need a cow.')

The dative suffix may occur in the above constructions as shown in (13).

(13)	kaasa anap parpaacciisni			
	kaasa	ana-?	parpaadciis-ni	
	gun	1SG.PRO.ACC-DAT	make.need-IPF.PRES	
	'A gur	n is needed for me.'		

Tolemariam (2009) also reports causerless causatives for Oromo. The following (adapted) illustrative examples are taken from his work (2009:17).

(14a)	ibsaa	isa	barbaacc-is-a
	light.ABS	him.ABS	look.for -CAUS1-3M.IMPF
	'He needs li	ght.'	
	(lit.: 'It mak	es him look fo	r light.')

(14b) inni isaan ibsaa barbaacc-is-e he.NOM him.INST light.ABS look.for-CAUS1-3M.PF 'He made him look for light.'

6.1.2. Middle

The middle derivation is marked by the suffix -ad. The most productive meaning of the middle derivation is to render the verb auto-benefactive, that is, the action is done for one's own benefit. In (15a), for example, the subject namasi? 'the man' does the cutting for his benefit. Likewise, in (15b), the subject parkasi? 'the workteam' does the slaughtering for the benefit of its members. The middle has a wider semantic range of functions (see Mous 2004).

(15a)	namasiG Goyrasi? ?imuraɗay				
	nama-si?	Goyra-si?	i=mur-ad-ay		
	person-DEF.M/F	tree-DEF.M/F	3 = cut[SG]-MID-PF[3M]		
	The man cut the tre	e for himself.'			
(15b)	parkasiy yormasi? ?iGalaɗay				
	parka-si?	χorma-si?	i=Gal-ad-ay		
	workteam-DEF.M/F	ox-DEF.M/F	3 = slaughter-MID-PF[3M]		
	'The work team slaughtered the ox for themselves.'				

The verb roots **mur**- 'cut[SG]'and **Gal**- 'to slaughter' with which the middle derivation suffix occurs in the above examples are transitive.

There are many verb stems with the frozen middle suffix. The following are illustrative examples.

(16)	kollad-	'to learn'
	faalad-	'to choose, love'
	ampad-	'to babysit'
	kaassad-	'to ask'
	Ginsad-	'to beg'
	kaassad-	'to ask, request'
	Gullad-	'to bend down'

With the verb stems kallaad- 'to live' and akkaad- 'to be seen', the frozen form of the middle suffix has a long vowel: -aad.

With the verb roots given in (17), the middle suffix has a passive meaning (see also Mous 2007). But the agent cannot be expressed. As we shall see below, passive derivation is marked by a separate suffix **-am**. The agent cannot be expressed.

(17)	ɗal-	'to give birth'	ɗalaɗ-	'to be born'
	kup-	'to burn'	kupad-	'to be burnt'
	χor-	'to fine'	χorad-	'to be fined'

The following are illustrative sentential examples with the derived verb stems above:

(18a)	kallappa parpalee dalatt kallappa parpali?= kallappa last.year= 'Kallappa was born las	i <i>dal-ad-t-i</i> 3 give.birth-MID-3F-PF t year.'
(18b)	harka-awu hand-1SG.POSS.M/F 'My hand was burnt.'	i = kup-ad-ay 3 = burn-MID-PF[3M]
(18c)	Gimaytasi? ?ixoraɗay <i>Gimayta-si?</i> old.man-DEF.M/F 'The old man was fined	<i>i=xor-ad-ay</i> 3=fine-MID-PF[3M] d.'

The substitution of the passive suffix for the middle suffix in the above examples yields unacceptable sentences as shown in (19).

- (19a) *harka-awu i=kup-am-ay hand-1SG.POSS.M/F 3=burn-PAS-PF[3M] (intended: 'My hand was burnt.')
- (19b) *Gimaytasi? ?ixoramay *Gimayta-si? i=xor-am-ay* old.man-DEF.M/F 3 = fine-PAS-PF[3M] (intended: 'The old man was fined.')

6.1.3. Passive

Passive derivation is marked by the suffix **-am**. Both transitive and intransitive verb roots can be passivized. First, I present passives with transitive verbs. The form of the passive derivation is illustrated in the following transitive verbs.

(20)	mur-	'to cut[SG]'	mur-am-	'to be cut[SG]'
	Gid-	'to beat'	Gid-am-	'to be beaten'
	ɗam-	'to eat'	ɗam-am-	'to be eaten'
	kat-	'to sell'	kat-am-	'to be sold'
	Gup-	'to build'	Gup-am-	'to be built'
	fur-	'to untie'	fur-am-	'to be untied'

A sentence with a transitive verb root without a passive suffix may occur with an agent and patient as in (21a). When such verb roots acquire the passive suffix, the sentence cannot have an expressed agent as shown by the ungram-

matical form in (21b). The passive sentence in (21c) is acceptable because it does not have an overt agent.

(21a)	ifac Goyrasi? ?im <i>ifa-?</i> 3SGM.PRO-NON 'He cut the tree.'	uray <i>Goyra-si?</i> A tree-DEF.M/F	<i>i=mur-ay</i> 3=cut[SG]-PF[3M]
(21b)	*Goyra si? ?i∫an ? <i>Goyra-si?</i> tree-DEF.M/F (intended: 'The tr	'imuramay <i>ifa-n</i> 3SM.PRO-INST ee was cut by him.')	<i>i=mur-am-ay</i> 3=cut[SG]-PF[3M]
(21c)	Goyrasi? ?imuram <i>Goyra-si?</i> tree-DEF.M/F 'The tree was cut	i = mur-am-ay $3 = cut[SG]-PF[3N]$	М]

When objects are used as instruments to accomplish certain actions, the instrumental suffix is added to the overtly expressed instrument. The sentence in (22) with a passive verb is acceptable for two reasons. First, there is no overt agent; secondly, **faasita** 'axe' is an instrument used for performing the action of cutting.

(22) Goyrasif faasita-n imuramay
 Goyra-si? faasita-n i=mur-am-ay
 tree-DEF.M/F axe-INST 3=cut[SG]-PF[3M]
 'The tree was cut with an axe.'

As it is possible with transitive verbs not to have an explicit subject, it is also the case with intransitive verbs that the passive has no explicit subject. However, the implied subject of a passive clause with an intransitive verb, is always the first person singular or plural. The context makes the distinction whether the subject is first person singular or plural. In passives of intransitive verbs the gender agreement on the verb is always the third person feminine. In other parts of the grammar, including passives of transitive verbs, the impersonal verb form is that of third person masculine, which is zero-marked. It seems that the speaker has no subject in mind as referent to the third person feminine inflection. The passive derivation in intransitive verb roots mainly expresses having difficult circumstances. Here are some examples:

(23a) i=muk-am-t-i 3=sleep-PAS-3F-PF 'We spent the night.' (23b) i=kal-am-t-i 3 = return.home-PAS-3F-PF 'We returned home.'

In example (23a), the speaker implies that they had a very difficult night. In the same fashion, in (23b), the speaker implies that they had difficulty when returning home, maybe due to danger, accident, etc. on the way.

With the verb root hem- 'marry', there is a lexical passive marking: a masculine subject always occurs in the active as in (24a) but a feminine always occurs in the passive as in (24b). The example in (24c) is unacceptable because the subject is masculine while the verb has a passive derivation.

(24a)	nama-si? ?inanta <i>nama-si?</i> man-DEF.M/F 'The man marrie	si? ?ihemay <i>inanta-si?</i> girl-DEF.M/F ed the girl.'	i=hem-ay 3 = marry-PF[3M]
(24b)	inantasin namasi <i>inanta-si?</i> girl-DEF.M/F 'The girl was ma	ti? ?ihemamti <i>nama-sit-?</i> man-DEF.M/F-DA arried to the man.'	<i>i=hem-am-t-i</i> 3=marry-PAS-3F-PF
(24c)	*namasi? ?inanta <i>nama-si?</i> man-DEF.M/F (intended: 'The r	asiti? ?ihemamay <i>inanta-siti-?</i> girl-DEF.M/F-DA' man was married to p	<i>i=hem-am-ay</i> T 3=marry-PAS-PF[3M] the girl.')

In the **xolme** dialect, two separate verb roots are used: **hem-** 'to marry' when the subject is male and **taw-** 'to marry' when the subject is female. The verb root **taw-** does not require a passive derivation. The passive reading is entailed in the meaning of the verb root. Examples:

(25a)	namasi? ?ihemay	
	nama-si?	i=hem-ay
	man-DEF.M/F	3 = marry - PF[3M]
	'The man married	,

(25b) inanta-si? ?itawti *inanta-si? i=taw-t-i* girl-DEF.M/F 3=be.married-3F.PF 'The girl was married.'

There are certain verb roots which inherently entail passive reading: the two verb roots that refer to breaking Gep- 'to be broken [long objects]' and paG- 'to

be broken [round objects]' and the verb root **fap**- 'to be infested with weevil; be soaked; be rotten' are such verb roots. The use of the passive suffix with these verb roots yields unacceptable constructions, as exemplified by the unacceptable forms in (26).

- (26a) *Goyrasi? ?iGepamay *Goyra-si? i=Gep-am-ay* tree-DEF.M/F 3=be.broken-PAS-PF[3M] (intended: 'The tree was broken.')
- (26b) *untasi? ?ifapamti *unta-si? i=fap-am-t-i* grain-DEF.M/F 3=be.infested.with.weevils-PAS-3F-PF (intended: 'The grain was infested with weevils.')

The correct versions are given in (27):

- (27a) Goyra-si? ?iGep-ay Goyra-si? i=Gep-ay tree-DEF.M/F 3=be.broken-PF[3M] 'The tree was broken.'
- (27b) untasi? ?ifapti
 unta-si? i=fap-t-i
 grain-DEF.M/F 3 = be.infested.with.weevils-3F-PF
 'The grain was infested with weevils.'

6.1.4. Inchoative

The inchoative is marked with derivational affixes. Inchoative suffixes may be derived from adjectival or nominal roots. In adjective roots, the suffixes -ad, -aad or -naad are used to derive inchoative. Notice that the first of the inchoative suffixes is identical to the middle derivation marker.

The distribution of the inchoative suffixes in adjectival roots is as follows: adjectival roots that have a geminate consonant or a consonant cluster add -ad as in (28a); those that have the CVC- template add -aad as in (28b); those with a long vowel in the root add -naad as in (28c). It is difficult to formulate rules on the basis of phonological shapes or semantic categories to capture the distribution of these suffixes. For this reason, below, we provide the adjectival roots with the type of inchoative form that they require.

(28a)	kapp-	'to be fat'	kapp-ad-	'to become fat'
	kutt-	'to be big'	kutt-ad-	'to become big'
	pald-	'to be wide'	pald-ad-	'to become wide'

	apd-	'to be skinny'	apd-ad-	'to become skinny'
	∫akk-	'to be small'	∫akk-aɗ-	'to become small'
	Goyy-	'to be wet'	Goyy-ad-	'to become wet'
	kumma?-	'to be short'	kumma?-ad-	'to become short'
	∫olla?-	'to be light'	∫olla?-aɗ-	'to become light'
	kord-	'to be thick'	kord-ad-	'to become thick'
	pald-	'to be wide'	pald-ad-	'to become wide'
(28b)	der-	'to be tall, long'	der-aad-	'to become tall, long'
	deh-	'to be near'	deh-aad-	'to become near'
	sek-	'to be far'	sek-aad-	'to become far'
	at-	'to be white'	at-t-aad-	'to become white'
	awl-	'to be yellow'	awl-aad-	'to become yellow'
	lek-	'to be many'	lek-aad-	'to become many'
	nukkull-	'to be weak'	nukkull-aad-	'to become weak'
(28c)	ilaaw	'to be green'	ilaaw-naad-	'to become yellow'
	paGaar-	'to be good'	paGaar-naad-	'to become good'
	poor-	'to be black'	poor-naad-	'to become black'
	neeG-	'to be bad, ugly'	neeg-naad-	'to become bad, ugly
	tiim-	'to be red'	tiip-naad-	'to become red'
	Gaah-	'to be thin'	Gah-naad-	'to become thin'
	kokkook-	'to be strong'	kokkon-naad-	'to become strong'

It seems that adjectival roots that have a geminate consonant or a cluster of consonants tend to occur with the inchoative suffix -ad. Note that when the inchoative suffix is added to the adjectival roots Gaah- 'to be thin' and kok-kook- 'to be strong', the long vowels are shortened.

From the distributions of the inchoative and causative suffixes in adjectival roots, we can draw the following distributional parallels:

- those adjectival roots that occur with the inchoative suffix -ad occur with the causative suffix -j;
- those adjectival roots that occur with the inchoative suffix -aad occur with the causative suffix -ayj; and,
- those adjectival roots that occur with the inchoative suffix -naad occur with the causative suffix -nayj;

Exceptionally, the following adjectival roots require the inchoative suffix -aad.

(29)	uls-	'to be heavy'	uls-aad-	'to become heavy'
	nukkull-	'to be weak'	nukkull-aad-	'to become weak'

Inchoative of nominal roots is derived by suffixes **-ood** and **-um**. The inchoative suffix **-ood** is added to nominal roots to express physical or mental state of becoming (30a). The suffix **-um** is added to nominal roots to express social status, such as becoming a father (30b).

(30a)	xas-ood maa∬-ood deep-ood miir-ood te?∫-ood	'become happy''to become drunk''to become thirsty''to become angry''to have elephantiasis'	χasa maa∬aa deeputa miira te?∫aa	'happiness' 'drunkenness' 'thirst' 'anger' 'elephantiasis'
(30b)	aapp-um- moott-um- aakk-um-	'to become a father''to become a friend''to become a grandfather'	aappaa mootta aakkaa	'father' 'friend' 'grandfather'

6.1.5. Pluractionals and punctuals

Pluractionals and punctuals can be expressed by pairs of (lexical) suppletive verb roots or by means of derivational marking. Below, I first present the suppletive verb roots for pluractional and punctual. The pluractional and punctual suppletive verb roots can be either transitive (31a) or intransitive (31b). Lexical punctuals may express single events or single actions.

(31a)	i∬-	'to kill[SG]'	ley∫-	'to kill[PL]'
	pidd-	'to buy[SG]'	heer-	'to buy[PL]'
	put-	'to uproot[SG]'	huu6-	'to uproot[PL]'
	mur-	'to cut[SG]'	Guur-	'to cut[PL]'
	χapt-	'to throw[SG]'	ɗakk-	'to throw[PL]'
	ɗay-	'to hit[SG]'	Gid-	'to hit[PL]'
	Ganiin-	'to bite[SG]'	Gom-	'to bite[PL]'
(31b)	keer	'to run[SG]'	hir-	'to run[PL]'
	toy-	'to die[SG]'	ley-	'to die[PL]'
	pi?-	'to fall[SG]'	seh-	'to fall[PL]'
	χa?ad-	'to fly[SG]'	paGad-	'to run/fly[PL]'

In intransitive suppletive verbs, the choice of pluractional or punctual suppletive verb is determined by the number of the subject. For example, in (32a), the subject **inantasi**? 'the girl' is singular and hence **keer**- 'to run[SG]'. In (32b), the subject **hellaasini**? 'the children' is plural and hence **hir**- 'to run[PL]'. The examples in (33) are unacceptable because of the mismatch between the number of the subject and the suppletive verb: in (33a) the subject is singular but the verb root is pluractional; in (33b), the subject is plural but the verb root is punctual. 152

(32a)	inantasi? ?ikeerti <i>inanta-si?</i> girl-DEF.M/F 'The girl ran.'	i = keer-t-i 3 = run[SG]-3F-PF
(32b)	hellaasini? ?ihirin <i>hellaa-sini?</i> children-DEF.P 'The children ran	i = hir - i - n 3 = run[PL]-PF-PL a.'
(33a)	*inantasi? ?ihirti <i>inanta-si?</i> girl-DEF.M/F (intended: 'The g	<i>i=hir-t-i</i> 3=run[PL]-3F-PF sirl ran more than once.')

(33b) *hellaasini? ?ikeerin *hellaa-sini? i=keer-i-n* children-DEF.P 3=run[SG]-PF-PL (intended: 'The children ran.')

In transitive suppletive verbs, the choice of the pluractional or punctual is determined by the number of the object rather than the subject. This is illustrated in the examples in (34), where we have the same singular subject but a singular object and punctual suppletive verb in (34a), and a plural subject and pluractional suppletive verb in (34b).

(34a)	namasik karmaa i?i∬ay				
	<i>nama-si?</i> man-DEF.M/F 'The man killed a	<i>karmaa</i> lion a lion.'	$i = i \iint ay$ 3 = kill[SG]-PF[3M]		
(34b)	namasik karmaɗa	a iley∫ay			
	nama-si?	karmaɗaa	i=leyf-ay		
	man-DEF.M/F	lions	3 = kill[PL]-PF[3M]		

'The man (has) killed lions.'

As stated earlier, pluractionality and punctual are also marked by means of derivation apart from the lexical suppletives. From underived (punctual) verb roots we derive pluractional verb stems, and from underived pluractional verb roots we derive punctual verb stems. From derived punctual stems we may also derive pluractionality. In what follows, I first discuss the derivation of pluractionals from singulative verb roots, then discuss the derivation of pluractionals, but this time, to their derivation from punctual verb stems. Since the marking of pluractionality is obligatory, the unmarked verb is interpreted to be punctual.

Pluractional derivation is marked by reduplicating the singulative verb root's initial C_1V when there is a geminate consonant in the verb root as in (35a), otherwise C_1VC_1 as in (35b). Notice that long vowels following the verb root's initial consonant appear short in the reduplicated $C_1V(C_1)$.

(35a)	tuGGuur- faGGal- moddoor-	<pre>'to push[SG]' 'to stick to[SG]' 'to twist[SG]'</pre>	tu-tuGGuur- fa-faGGal- mo-moddoor-	'to push.PL' 'to stick to.PL' 'to twist.PL'
(35b)	dot-	'to stab[SG]'	dod-dot-	to stab.PL'
	toom-	'to hit with fist[SG]'	tot-toom-	to hit with fist.PL'
	torp-	'to shoot with spear[SG]'	tot-torp-	shoot with spear.PL'

Some pluractionals are derived by repeating the verb root. The following are illustrative:

ɗam-	'to eat'	ɗamɗam-	'to chew a bit'
pul-	'to scatter'	pulpul-	'to dismantle'
sar-	'to loot, plunder'	sarsar-	'to loot quickly'
fap-	'to decay'	fapfap-	'to rot completely'
fur-	'to untie'	furfur-	'to untie quickly'
	ɗam- pul- sar- ∫ap- fur-	dam-'to eat'pul-'to scatter'sar-'to loot, plunder'fap-'to decay'fur-'to untie'	dam-'to eat'damdam-pul-'to scatter'pulpul-sar-'to loot, plunder'sarsar-fap-'to decay'fapfap-fur-'to untie'furfur-

Punctual derivation is different from pluractional derivation in that in punctual derivation, it is the verb root's final part that is involved. Precisely, punctual is derived by geminating the final consonant of verb roots (see also Ongaye 2010). The derivation is quite productive and expresses that the action is done once. Here are some examples:

(37)	Gol-	'to pinch[PL]'	Go∰-	'to pinch.SG'
	rak-	'to hung[PL]'	rakk-	'to hung.SG'
	1e6-	'to kick[PL]'	le66-	'to kick.SG'
	Gud-	'to pierce[PL]	Gudd-	'to pierce.SG'
	tuuk-	'to push[PL]'	tuukk-	'to push.SG'
	moof-	'to break[PL]'	mooff-	'to break.SG'

From the above examples, we can notice that the pluractional verb roots from which punctual stems are derived may have a CVC- or CVVC- template. It is not possible to have a pluractional root ending in CC.

In Ts'amakko, Savá (2005:186) reports the derivation of punctual from the CVCVC verb root by geminating the second consonant of the verb root. Evidence of comparable material in Konso would probably be the verb root χ osal-'to laugh' which optionally derives the verb stem χ ossal-. It may also be argued that possibly the verb roots tucGuur- 'to push[SG]', faGGal- 'to stick to[SG]' and moddoor- 'to twist[SG]' in (35a) are examples of frozen punctuals. The adjectival roots ilaaw- 'to be green' and padaar- 'to be good, beautiful' have free variant forms: ilaa?- 'to be green' and padaar- 'to be good, beautiful'. The intensive form of padaar-/padaar is formed by geminating the middle consonant: paddaar-/paddaar 'to be very good, beautiful'. No punctual form is derived from the verb roots with CVC[i] structure.

The object of punctual verb stems has to be singular. Unless the object requires the efforts of many people who act as a team, the subject of punctual verb stems has to also be singular. For instance, in (38a), both the subject namasi? 'the man' and the object inantasi? 'the girl' are singular. In (38b), the subject orrasi? 'the people' is plural but the object dakaasi? 'the stone' is singular, implying that the single pushing required the effort of more than one person. The example in (38c) is unacceptable because the subject is singular but the object is plural. Likewise, the example in (38d) is unacceptable because the subject is plural and the object singular, implying that the action of pinching once does not require the effort of more than one person.

(38a)	namasi? ?inantasi?	?iGoffay	
	nama-si?	inanta-si?	i=Goff-ay
	person-DEF.F/M	girl-DEF.M/F	3 = pinch.SG-PF[3M]
	'The person pinche	ed the child once.'	
(38b)	orrasic dakaasi? ?it	uukkay	
	orra-si?	dakaa-si?	i=tuukk-ay
	people-DEF.M/F	stone-DEF.M/F	3 = push.SG-PF[3M]
	'The people pushed	d the stone once.'	
(38c)	*namasih hellaasin	i? ?iGoffay	
	nama-si?	hellaa-sini?	i=Goff-ay
	person-DEF.F/M	children-DEF.	P $3 = pinch.SG-PF[3M]$
	(intended: 'The per	son pinched the c	hildren once.')
(38d)	*orrasi? ?innaasini?	? ?iGoffay	
	orra-si?	innaa-sini?	i=Goff-ay
	people-DEF.M/F	child-DEF.P	3 = pinch.SG-PF[3M]

(intended: 'The people pinched the child once.')

Apart from signalling the performance of an action being just once, some punctual verb stems also imply the use of extra force/energy compared to their underived verb roots. For instance, the punctual verb stems Goff-'to pinch.SG' and le66- 'to kick.SG' imply the use of more force than their corresponding underived pluractional verb roots Gof- 'to pinch[PL]' and le6- 'to kick[PL]'.

For the pairs, fad- ~ fadd- 'to look for[SG/PL]' and ik- ~ ikk- 'drink[SG/PL]', they have the same meaning and both are used as equal alternatives for punctual and pluractional.

The verb root $\chi oo 66$ - 'to take a sip' is also a suppletive form for ik(k)-'to drink'.

The verb root **muk**- 'to sleep' is an instance of intransitive verb root with a punctual derivation: **mukk**- 'to take a nap; lie on something'.

The derivation of pluractionals from derived punctual verb stems are characterised by having a C_1V reduplication of the punctual verb stem's initial because the last consonant of all derived punctual verb stems is geminate. Pluractionals derived from punctual verb stems express the performance of an action more than once but less than many times. Examples:

(39a)) raakasi? ?inantasi? ?iGoGoffiti				
	raaka-si?	inanta-si?	i=Go-Goffi-t-i		
	old.woman-DEF.M/F	girlDEF.M/F	3 = PL-pinch.SG-3F-PF		
	'The old woman pinche	ed the girl a few t	times.'		

(39b)	Kappoolik k ^w aasitasi? ?ilele66ay			
	Kappooli-?	k ^w aasita-si?	i=le-lebb-ay	
	Kappoole-NOM	ball-DEF.M/F	3 = PL-kick.SG-PF[3M]	
	'Kappoole kicked t	he ball a few times.'		

The derivation of pluractional is also possible from the underived pluractional verb root. Since underived pluractional verb roots do not have geminate consonants, the derivation of pluractionals from the underived pluractional verb roots involves the reduplication of the verb root's initial C_1VC_1 . With an individual entity, it expresses event plurality. That is, it indicates the performance of the action in question many times during more than one event. With plural entities, it expresses either event plurality (performing the action during each event on one individual many times) or the plurality of both the action and entities during an event.

(40)	Gimaytasih hellaasini? ?iGoGGofay			
	<i>Gimayta-si?</i> old.man-DEF.M/F	hellaa-sini? children-DEF.P		
	i- fof fof m			

i=GoG-Gof-ay 3=PL-pinch[PL]-PF[3M] 'The old man pinched the children many times.'

6.2. Verb inflection

6.2.1.Aspect

Konso makes a morphological distinction between perfective and imperfective aspect. The imperfective aspect is further distinguished in present imperfective and future imperfective. I use the term "perfective" because the distinction is primarily aspectual, but in fact all perfective marked verbs refer to the past. The imperfective present **-ni** is used for general truth statements. It is primarily imperfective and it can in fact be used for past reference, (54). The Imperfective Future is again primarily imperfective and is used for present tense with certain verbs, (47-48). Below I discuss the perfective and imperfective aspects in detail.

6.2.1.1. The Perfective

Except for first person singular and third person masculine, the perfective aspect is marked by suffix -i. Perfective aspect for the first person singular and third person masculine singular is marked by -ay. In Karatte dialect, perfective aspect is marked by suffix -e for all persons (Black (1973), Bliese and Sokka (1986)). Third person feminine and second person singular and first person plural have person marking before the perfective marker. For second person plural and third person plural, the perfective aspect marker occurs before the plurality marker on the verb.

The perfective aspect expresses actions/events completed before or at the moment of speaking. The actual time difference between the completion of an action/event and the speech time does not affect the form of the perfective aspect suffix. However, adverbs such as **amma** 'now' and **\chiala** 'yesterday' locate the situation in time relative to the moment of speaking. The word **asu** 'just' is used with the adverb **amma** 'now' to give more emphasis to the completion of the action/event at the moment of speaking. Here are some examples:

(41a)	antix xar∫asi? ?in <i>anti-?</i> 1SG.PRO-NOM 'I ate the beans.'	ɗamay <i>xar∫a-si?</i> beans-DEF.M/F	<i>in=dam-ay</i> 1=eat-PF[3M]
(41b)	inantasix xar∫asi? <i>inanta-si?</i> girl-DEF.M/F 'The girl ate the l	? iɗamti <i>xarʃa-si?</i> beans-DEF.M/F beans.'	<i>i=dam-t-i</i> 3=eat-3F-PF
(41c)	ammaa asu kodaa $amma = i$ asu $now = 3$ just'She has just finis	sid dikkissi <i>kodaa-si?</i> t work-DEF.M/F shed the work.'	<i>dikkif-t-i</i> finish-3F-PF

(41d)	i∫inax xalací diluppupa antin				
	i∫ina-?	χala=i?	dila-oppupa	an-t-i-n	
	2PL.PRO-NOM	yesterday = 2	field-into	go-2-PF-P	
	'You (PL) went to				

(40e)	inuχ χar∫asi? ?indammi			
	inu-?	χar∫a-si?	in=dam-n-i	
	1PL.PRO-NOM	beans-DEF.M/F	1 = eat-1PL-PF	
	'We ate the beans.'			

In cleft constructions, the perfective aspect is invariably marked by the suffix -ay for all persons since the verb has the default 3M form in the cleft construction (see also 3.5). The examples in (42a-b) are non-cleft sentences but those in (42c-d) are equivalent clefts.

(42a)	inantasix xar∫asi? ?iɗamti			
	inanta-si?	χar∫a-si?	i=dam-t-i	
	girl-DEF.M/F	beans-DEF.M/F	3 = eat-3F-PF	
	'The girl ate the	beans.'		

(42b)	i∫inaχ χalad diluppupa antin				
	i∫ina-?	χala=i?	dila-oppupa	an-t-i-n	
	2PL.PRO-NOM	yesterday = 2	field-into	go-2-PF-P	
	'You (PL) went to	the field yesterda	ıy.'		

(42c)	inantasi?eé xar∫asi? ?iɗamay			
	inanta-si?-é	χar∫a-si?	i=dam-ay	
	girl-DEF.M/F-CLF	beans-DEF.M/F	3 = eat-PF[3M]	
	'It is the girl who ate			

(42d)	i∫inaá χala diluppupa aanay						
	i∫ina-á	χala	dila-oppupa	aan-ay			
	2PL.PRO[ACC]-CLF	yesterday	field-into	go-PF[3M			
	'It is you (PL) who went to the field yesterday.'						

6.2.1.2. The Imperfective

The imperfective aspect is further distinguished into the present imperfective and the future imperfective. Below, I treat each of them in turn.

The present imperfective is marked by suffix -ni for all persons. Except for first person plural and second person plural, there is no person marking on the verb. The present imperfective may be used to refer to situations taking place the same time the speech event takes place, as in (43a); it may also refer to habitual actions, as in (43b), or to general truth (43c).

(43a)	amman tikupa anni					
	amma = in	tika-op	oa an-n	i		
	now = 1	house-	to go-Il	PF.PRE	S	
	'I am going	home no	ow.'			
(43b)	toolaasi? ?av	vtapiisa	diluppupa i	sookanı	ni	
	toola-asi?		awtapiisa	dila	a-oppupa	
	family.DEM	[.M/F	always	fiel	d-into	
	i=sookad-n	i				
	3 = go.to.fiel	d-IPF.PI	RES			
	'This family	goes to	the field ev	very dag	y.'	
(43c)	karamaɗaa s	^w aa patta	a ɗammi			
	karamaɗaa	so?	aa patta	i=i	dam-ni	
	lions	mea	at only	= 3	eat-IPF.PRES	3

'Lions only eat meat.'

The first person plural and second person plural also add **-nna** and **-ttan**, respectively, to **-ni**. This is shown in (44):

(44a)	inu? ?urmalaapan anninna			
	inu-?	urmalaa-pa = in	an-ni-nna	
	1PL.PRO-NOM	market-to $= 1$	go-IPF.PRES-1PL	
	'We are going to t	he market.'		

(44b)	i∫inat tikupa idde?nittan				
	i∫ina-?	tika-opa	i?=dey-ni-ttan		
	2PL.PRO-NOM	house-to	2 = come-IPF.PRES-2PL		
	'You (PL) are con	ning home.'			

The present progressive suffix -nna for the first person plural is added to the perfective form of the first person plural as illustrated in (45a).

(45a)	inu? ?urmalaapan anninna				
	<i>inu-?</i> 1PL.PRO-NOM 'We are going to the	<i>urmalaa-opa = in</i> market-to = 1 he market.'	<i>an-ni-nna</i> go-IPF.PRES-1PL		
(45b)	inu? ?urmalaapan a	nni			
	inu-?	urmalaa-opa = in	an-n-i		
	1PL.PRO-NOM	market-to $= 1$	go-1PL-PF		
	'We went to the m	arket.'			

In the imperfective aspect, third persons may also occur with the additional suffixes **-tta**, **-ya** and **-yan** for feminine subject (46a), masculine subject (46b) and plural subject (46c), respectively. These suffixes are optional and are used to add meaning such as contrary to expectation (see Section 12.4).

- (46a) inantasi? ?ikallitta
 inanta-si? i=kal-ni-tta
 girl.DEF.M/F 3=return.home-IPF.PRES-3F.CEXPEC
 'Hey! The girl is going home!'
- (46b) hamiyasiG silpootasi? ?iGeenniya hamiya-si? silpoota-si? i=Geed-ni-ya
 boy-DEF.M/F hoe-DEF.M/F 3=take-IPF.PRES-3M.CEXPEC
 'Hey! The boy is taking the hoe!'
- (46c) hellaasini? ?ihirriyan *hellaa-sini? i=hir-ni-yan*children-DEF.P 3=run[PL]-IPF.PRES-3PL.CEXPEC
 'Hey! The children are running!'

In the above examples, the addresser reports that in (46a) the addresser reports that the girl is going home but she is not expected to go home and in (46b), the boy is taking the hoe but he is not expected to take it. In (45c), the addresser reports that the children are running but they are not expected to run.

There are certain verb roots (listed in (47)) that require suffix -a rather than -ni to mark the present imperfective. The suffix -a marks the future imperfective to be discussed shortly. Thus, in the glossing, I maintain the use of IPF.FUT despite the present imperfective reference.

(47) up- 'to know' pah- 'to look like, resemble' heen- 'to want' sah- 'to be able to' Gap- 'to have' χο?- 'to like something very much'

The following are sentential examples.

(48a)	i∫an namoosi? ?i?upa		
	ifa-?	nama-osi?	i=up-a
	3SGM.PRO-NOM	person-DEM.M/F	3 = know-IPF.FUT
	'He knows this person	ı.' [¯]	

(48b) inantaasi? ?aappaayfu? ?ipahta *inanta-asi? aappaa-ayfu?* girl-DEM.M/F father-3PL.POSS.M/F *i=pah-t-a*

> 3 = resemble-3F-IPF.FUT 'This girl resembles her father.'

(48c) ijoonnal luukkawwaasinid ɗamiyaa iheenan *ijoonna-? luukkawwaa-sini? dam-iyaa* 3PL.PRO-NOM fruits-DEF.P eat-INF

> *i*=*heen-a-n* 3=want-IPF.FUT-P 'They want to eat the fruits.'

The formation of the future imperfective from the above verb roots requires the inchoative suffix **-naad**. The examples in (49a) and (49b) are the future imperfective versions of the examples in (48a) and (48b), respectively.

(49a)	i∫an namoosi? ?i?upnaaɗa				
	ifa-?	nama-osi?	i=upnaad-a		
	3SGM.PRO-NOM	person-DEM.M/F	3 = know.INCH-IPF.FUT		
	'He will know this	person.'			
(49b)	inantaasi? ?aappaay	fu? ?ipahnaatta			
	inanta-asi?	aappaa-ay∫u?			
	girl-DEM.M/F	father-3PL.POSS.M	l/F		
	i-nahraadta				

i=pahnaad-t-a 3=resemble.INCH-3F-IPF.FUT 'This girl will resemble her father.'

The verb roots do not occur with the present imperfective suffix -ni except when the verb is marked with inchoative suffix -naad as shown in (50). But this later use is not frequent.

(50)	dilaasi? ?awtapiisa fabbaa iGapnaanni				
	dila-asi?	awtapiisa	<i>fabbaa</i>		
	field-DEM.M/F	always	weed		

i=Gapnaad-ni 3=have.INCH-IPF.PRES 'This field always has weeds.'

Now, I return to the future imperfective of the imperfective aspect. As mentioned above, the future imperfective is marked by the suffix -a for all persons. It expresses actions that have not started yet at the moment of speaking. Positionally, the future imperfective suffix occurs after the subject marker on the verb. For second person plural and third person plural, it is followed by the plural person marker -n on the verb. The following are illustrative examples.

(51a)	antik konfa parre impidda					
	anti-?	konfa	parre	in=pidd-a		
	1SG.PRO-NOM	shorts	tomorrow	1 = buy[SG]-IPF.FUT		
	'I will buy shorts to	omorrow.'				
(51b)	hekere Goyroosi? ?i	deraada				
	hekere Goyra-o	osi?	i=der-aad-a	2		
	future tree-DEM.M/F		3 = be.long-INCHOA-IPF.FUT			
	'This tree will beco	me long ir	the future.'			
(51c)	inantasip pi∫aa? ?i?a	anta				
	inanta-si? p	oi∫aa-?	i=an-t-a			
	girl-DEF.M/F water/DAT $3 = go-3F-IPF.FUT$					
	'The girl will go to fetch water.'					
	(lit.: 'The girl will	go for wate	er.')			
	、 U .	_	,			

(51d) attix xonsupa i??anta

atti-?	χonso-opa	i?=an-t-a
2SG.PRO-NOM	Konso-to	2 = go-2-IPF.FUT
'You (SG) will go t	o Konso.'	

6.2.1.3. Continuative constructions

In this section, I discuss bounded and unbounded continuative constructions. I begin with the unbounded continuative constructions. Unbounded continuative constructions that express ongoing actions/events at the time of speaking without reference to the time of start are expressed by verbal nominals, the verb root kit- 'to be, exist' and the postposition Garaa 'on (top of)'. Here are some examples:

(52a)	inuk kirpa ɗawiya Garaan kinna				
	inu-?	kirpa	daw-iya	Garaa = in	
	1PL.PRO-NOM	song	sing-VN	on = 1	

kit-n-a be-P-IPF.FUT 'We are singing a song.' (lit.: 'We are on (top of) singing a song.') (52b) inuh hiranta Garaan kinna *inu-? hir-anta Garaa = in* 1PL.PRO-NOM run[PL]-VN on = 1 *kit-n-a*

be-P-IPF.FUT 'We are running.' (lit.: 'We are on (top of) running.')

Bounded continuative constructions that express actions/events that started before the moment of speaking but still in progress at the time of speaking are expressed by verbal nominals, the verb root kit- 'to be, exist' and the postposition **Gudaa** 'on (side)' as demonstrated in (53).

(53a)	inuk kirpa ɗawiya Guɗaan kinna				
	<i>inu-?</i> 1PL.PRO-NOM	<i>kirpa</i> song	<i>ɗaw-iya</i> sing-INF	<i>Gudaa=in</i> on=1	
	kit_n_a				

kit-n-a be-P-IPF.FUT 'We have been singing a song.' (lit.: 'We are on (the side of) singing a song.')

(53b) inuh hiranta Guɗaan kinna *inu-? hir-anta Guɗaa=in* 1PL.PRO-NOM run[PL]-VN on = 1

> *kit-n-a* be-P-IPF.FUT 'We have been running.' (lit.: 'We are on (the side of) running.')

Similarly, bounded continuative constructions that express actions/events done over a certain period of time before the time of speaking are expressed by the present imperfective suffix -ni and the adverb χ atta 'in the past, long time ago'. The word **pora** 'road, place' is also commonly used in this context but most often it implies that the action is not approved by the speaker. In the following illustrative examples, I use the label IPF.PRES for the suffix -ni despite its past reference.

(54a)	namsix xatta horeetaa ɗawwini		
	nama-asi?	χatta	horeeta = i
	man-DEM.M/F	long.ago	cattle = 3
dawwi-ni tend-IPF.PRES 'A long time ago this man used to tend cattle.'

(54b)	i∫ax xatta ɗillaa pora ikatanni					
	ifa-?	χatta	dillaa	pora		
	3SGM.PRO-NOM	long.ago	fields	road		

i=kat-ad-ni 3=sell-MID-IPF.PRES 'A long time ago he used to sell fields for his benefit.'

6.2.2.Mood

6.2.2.1. Imperative

The affirmative imperative is marked by suffixes -i and -a for singular and plural addressee, respectively. (See Section 11.1.6 on negative imperatives.) This can be seen in (55a) and (55b). The second person plural may also be used with first person plural, as shown in (55c).

- (55a) tika kara sah-i house in sweep-IMP.SG '(You (SG)) Sweep the house!'
- (55b) tika kara sah-a house in sweep-IMP.PL '(You (PL)) Sweep the house!'
- (55c) tika kara sah-n-a house in sweep-1PL-IMP.PL 'Let us sweep the house!'

The form of the imperative for singular addressee is **-u** when verb stems end in the (frozen) middle or inchoative suffixes. Here are some examples:

- (56a) **pidd-ad-u** buy[SG]-MID-IMP.SG '(You(SG)), Buy for yourself!'
- (56b) kutt-ad-u be.big-INCH-IMP.SG '(You (SG)) Become big!'

Polite insistive expression is constructed on the basis of the imperative. It is formed by using the word **ata** and by attaching the suffix **-n** after the imperative

morpheme. The word **ata**, which is obligatory and has the meaning 'please' in this context, may occur initially as in (57a-b) or finally as in (57c-d).

- (57a) ata ɗam-i-n please eat-IMP.SG-INSIST '(You (SG)) Eat, please!'
- (57b) ata ɗam-a-n please eat-IMP.PL-INSIST '(You (PL)) Eat, please!'
- (57c) **dam-i-n** ata eat-IMP.SG-INSIST please '(You (SG)) Eat, please!'
- (57d) **dam-a-n** ata eat-IMP.PL-INSIST please '(You (PL)) Eat, please!'

There is some level of overlap between imperative and optative.

6.2.2.2. Optative

Optative is marked on the verb by suffix -u for first persons and third person singular, and by -i for third person plural. In addition to the verbal suffixes, first person independent personal pronouns and the morpheme -a are used. As might be expected, there is no optative form for second persons. For third persons, the optative expresses an indirect order or wish. Note that there is some level of overlap between optative and imperative.

(58a)	ana-a 1SG.PRO.AC 'Let me swee	CC-OPT	tika house e.'	sah-u sweep-OPT
(58b)	inoo tikasahn <i>ino-a</i> 1PL.PRO.AC 'May we swe	u C-OPT ep the hou	<i>tika</i> house se.'	<i>sah-n-u</i> sweep-1PL-OPT
(58c)	a-tika OPT-house 'Let her swee	sah-t-u sweep- p the hous	3F-OPT e.'	
(58d)	a-tika	sah-i-n		

(58d) **a-tika** sah-1-n OPT-house sweep-OPT-P 'Let them sweep the house.'

Negative optative for first and third persons is expressed using the verb root diif- 'to stop' and a predicate nominal as in (59).

(59a) ana-a keer-intaa diij-u 1SG.PRO.ACC-OPT run[SG]-VN stop-OPT 'Let me not run.' (lit.: 'Let me stop running.')

(59b) keerintaa adiissu
 keer-intaa adiissu
 run[SG]-VN OPT = stop-3F-OPT
 'Let her not run.'
 (lit.: 'Let her stop running.')

For third persons, the optative negative can be formed by affixing negative subject clitics directly to the verb root rather than using dii⁻ 'stop'. Here are some examples:

(60a)	i∫a? ?inkeerin <i>i∫a-?</i> 3SGM.PRO-NOM 'Let him not run.'	<i>in=keer-in</i> 3NEG=run[SG]-NEG
(60b)	i ſeenna? ?inkeerin <i>iſeenna-?</i> 3SGF.PRO-NOM 'Let her not run.'	<i>in=keer-in</i> 3NEG=run[SG]-NEG
(60c)	i∫oonna? ?inkeerin <i>i∫oonna-?</i> 3PL.PRO-NOM 'Let them not run.'	<i>in=keer-in</i> 3NEG=run[SG]-NEG

Without the overt subjects, it is impossible to identify the number of the subject in the above sentences. This can be seen from the translation of the following example:

(61) in=keer-in 3NEG=run[SG]-NEG 'Let him/her/them not run.'

Verbal negative conjugations are discussed in chapter 11.

7. Adjectives

7.1. Adjectival root classes

Konso has a limited number of adjectival roots (Black 1973; Mous and Ongaye 2009). Below I give an exhaustive list of the adjectival roots by grouping them into certain semantic categories: those in (1a) are colour adjectives, those in (1b) are height/size adjectives, those in (1c) are quality adjectives and those in (1d) are distance/location adjectives.

(1a)	at-	'to be red'
	awl-	'to be brown (+non-human)'
	room-	'to be brown (+human)'
	poor-	'to be black'
	tiim-	'to be red'
	ilaaw-	'to be green'
	makaal-	'to be brown'
	puddayyays-	'to be yellow'
	pufaffars-	'to be multi-coloured'
	purpurrays-	'to be spotted'
(1b)	der-	'to be tall, long'
	kumma?-	'to be short'
	kapp-	'to be fat'
	Galla?-	'to be thin (length)'
	Gaah-	'to be thin (width)'
	kord-	'to be thick'
	kutt-	'to be big'
	lek-	'to be many'
	killa?-	'to be narrow'
	pald-	'to be wide'
	∫akk-	'to be small'
	apd-	'to be skinny'
(1c)	kokkook-	'to be strong, hard'
	nukkull-	'to be weak, soft'
	paGaar-	'to be good, beautiful'
	neeG-	'to be bad, ugly'
	Goyy-	'to be wet'
	uls-	'to be heavy'
	∫olla?-	'to be light'
	woyy-	'to be better' ¹¹

¹¹ The adjectival root woyy- 'to be better' does not form a plural number agreement by reduplication, possibly because of the notion of comparative degree (as opposed to simple degree of comparison). (1d) **deh**- 'to be near, shallow' sek- 'to be far, deep'

Adjectival roots behave like verbs in the sense that they occur with subject clitics as well as aspect markers except when they are used as attributives. Gender agreement markers occur after the adjectival root, see below (7.4).

7.2. Reduplication in adjectives

As is the case with verbs, adjectival roots also show two types of reduplication: full reduplication and partial reduplication. The reduplication of an adjectival root has a distributive connotation (i.e. the meaning of the adjectival root in question applies to every single member of the group).

Not all adjectival roots show full reduplication of the root. The adjectival roots that reduplicate the full root are listed below.

(2)	tiimtiim-	'to be red.PL'	from	tiim-	'to be red'
	poorpoor-	'to be black.PL'	from	poor-	'to be black'
	at?at ¹² -	'to be white.PL'	from	at-	'to be white'

The above adjectival roots also have partial reduplication of the root as discussed below.

Partial reduplication in adjective roots may be either C_1V or C_1VC_1 . The C_1V reduplication is a variant of the C_1VC_1 reduplication with subsequent degemination conditioned by a geminate consonant in the following syllable. That is, C_1V applies only to adjectival roots with geminate consonants. The following are illustrative examples.

(3)	ka-kapp-	'to be fat.PL'	from	kapp-	'to be fat'
	ku-kutt-	'to be big.PL'	from	kutt-	'to be big'
	∫a-∫akk-	'to be small.PL'	from	∫akk-	'to be small'
	Go-Goyy-	'to be wet.PL'	from	Goyy-	'to be wet'
	ki-killa?-	'to be narrow.PL'	from	killa?-	'to be narrow'

The C_1VC_1 reduplication applies to adjectival roots that do not have geminate consonants. Interestingly, long vowels in the adjectival roots appear short in the reduplicated part. Below are illustrative examples.

(4)	ded-der-	'to be tall, long.PL'	from	der-	'be tall, long'
	pap-pald-	'to be wide.PL'	from	pald-	'to be wide'
	u?-?uls-	'to be heavy.PL'	from	uls-	'to be heavy'

 $^{^{12}}$ at?at- 'to be white.PL' is also pronounced with a geminate glottal stop: a??at- 'to be white.PL'

kok-kord-	'to be thick.PL'	from	kord-	'to be thick'
nen-neeG-	'to be bad, ugly.PL'	from	neeg-	'be bad, ugly'
tit-tiim-	'to be red.PL'	from	tiim-	'to be red'
pop-poor-	'to be black.PL'	from	poor-	'to be black'

Banti (1986) reports that the plurals of adjectives in Konso are 'like [in] Oromo but always without consonant doubling'. However, from the above examples we note that adjectival plurality in Konso also involves consonant doubling, (i.e. the C_1VC_1 reduplication (see also below for more examples).

The following are instances that do not follow the above mentioned patterns of reduplication:

(5)	kur-kutt-/kut-kutt-	'to be big.PL'	from	kutt-	'to be big'
	Gal-Galla?-	'be thin.PL'	from	Galla?-	'to be thin'
	kap-kapp-	'to be fat.PL'	from	kapp-	'to be fat'
	∫ak-∫akk-	'to be small.PL	' from	∫akk-	'to be small'

7.3. Intensity

Intensity in some adjectives is expressed by alternating adjectival roots. For some adjectival roots the variation may involve gemination of the middle consonant if there is one in the root, as in the case of **paGaar**- in example (6).

(6)	ti∰iim-	'to be very red'	from	tiim-	'to be red'
	puGGuur-	'to be very black'	from	poor-	'to be black'
	paGGaar-	'to be very good'	from	paGaar-	'be good'

The other way of expressing intensity in adjectives is reduplicating the whole phrase. Intensity of a situation can be expressed in relation to an individual entity or a group of entities. For instance, the example in (7a) expresses intensity of *der* 'be tall' of the individual entity *Goyra* 'tree', whereas the example in (7b) expresses the same in relation to a group of entities **?orra** 'people'. Note that the subject clitics occur only once.

(7a)	Goyrasi? ?ideri d	eri			
	Goyra-si?	i=der-i	der-i		
	tree-DEF.M/F	3 = be.tall-PF	be.tall-PF		
	'The tree is very very tall.'				
	2				

(7b)	orrasi? idedderi dedderi				
	orra-si?	i=ded-der-i	ded-der-i		
	people-DEF.M/F	3 = PL-be.tall-PF	PL-be.tall-PF		
	'The people are very very tall.'				

7.4. Predicative adjectives

The adjectival verb roots may occur in affirmative or negative sentences as predicates that describe a state of being or becoming. When used to describe a state of being, they require subject clitics and aspect marking. For the plurals of all persons, the adjectival root initial C_1V or C_1VC_1 is reduplicated. First person plural and second person plural also have the suffixes -nna and -ttan, respectively, on the adjective. The following are illustrative examples:

- (8a) anti? inderi *anti-? in=der-i* 1SG.PRO-NOM 1=be.tall.PF 'I am tall.'
- (8b) ijina? ?iddedderittan *ifina-? i?=ded-der-i-t-tan* 2PL.PRO-NOM 2=PL-be.tall-PF-2-2PL 'You (PL) are tall.'

In the following paradigm, the adjectival root **der**- 'be tall, long' is used to show the use of adjectival predicates with the various persons to describe the state of being.

(9)	anti? ?inderi	'I am tall.'
	inu? ?indedderinna	'We are tall.'
	atti? ?idderi	'You (SG) are tall.'
	isina? ?iddedderittan	'You (PL) are tall.'
	ifa? ?ideri	'He is tall.'
	iseenna? ?ideri	'She is tall.'
	ifoonna? ?idedderi	'They are tall.'

Adjectival roots form verb forms by adding derivational suffixes such as the inchoative and the causative. The inchoative forms are **-ad**, **-aad** and **-naad** (see 6.1.4). The following are sentential examples.

(10a) ideraatti

- *i=der-aad-t-i* 3=be.tall-INCH-3F-PF 'She became tall.'
- (10b) **i = ka-kapp-ad-a-n** 3 = PL-be.fat-INCH-IPF.FUT-PL 'They will become fat.'

- (10c) ikkappatti *i?=kapp-ad-t-i*2=be.fat-INCH-2-PF
 'You (SG) became fat.'
- (10d) indedderaanna in=ded-der-aad-n-a 1=PL-be.tall-INCH-PL-IPF.FUT 'We will become tall.'

The causative derivation that renders adjectival roots verbs has three forms: - \int , -ay \int and -nay \int (see 6.1.1). Examples:

- (11a) $\chi ormasi?$?ikkappissan $\chi orma-si?$ i?=kapp-f-t-a-nox-DEF.M/F 2=be.fat-DCAUS-2-IPF.FUT-P'You (PL) will fatten the ox.'
- (11b) kokaasi? ?innukkullayʃay
 kokaa-si? in = nukkull-ayʃ-ay
 skin-DEF.M/F 1 = be.soft-DCAUS-PF[3M]
 'I softened the skin.'
- (11c) oktoowwaasini? ?inenneeGnay \int in *oktoowwaa-sini?* $i=nen-neeG-nay \int$ -*i-n* pots-DEF.P 3=PL-be.bad-DCAUS-PF-P 'They made the pots bad.'

So far, we have considered affirmative sentences in which adjectival roots serve as predicates. Next, we examine negative sentences in which adjectival roots serve as predicates.

Negative sentences in which adjectival roots serve as predicates differ from their counterpart affirmative sentences in the following ways:

- They require the existential verb kit- in addition to the adjectival predicate;
- Except for third persons, the other persons do attach negative subject clitics on the adjectival predicates;
- All persons have negative subject clitics on the existential verb;
- Except for second and third person plurals, all persons attach a negation marker on the existential verb.

The above features of negative sentences in which adjectival roots are predicates can be observed from the following examples. (12a) and eri anco an = der - i an = kiy - o 1NEG = be.tall-PF 1NEG = be-NEG'I am not tall.'

(12b) addedderi akkittan a?=ded-der-i a?=kit-t-a-n 2NEG=PL-be.tall-PF 2NEG=be-2-IPF.FUT-P'You (SG) are not tall.'

The examples in (12) are obtained only in careful speech. In fast speech, however, the negative subject clitics of the existential verb kit- occur as enclitics to the adjectival predicate. This leftward cliticisation suppresses the glottal stop of the subject clitics. This in turn causes vowel coalescence for first and second persons: i+a=ee. For third persons, the vowel i is deleted and negation is marked only by -n. The following are illustrative examples.

(13a)	andereen co an = der - i = an 1 NEG = be.tall-PF = 1 NEG 'I am not tall.'	<i>kiy-o</i> be-NEG.IPF.FUT
(13b)	addereek kittu a?=der-i=a? 2NEG = be.tall-PF = 2NEG 'You (SG) are not tall.'	<i>kit-t-u</i> be-2NEG.IPF.FUT
(13c)	dedderin can <i>ded-der-i = in</i>	kiy-a-n

PL-be.tall-PF = 3NEG

'They are not tall.' For a complete structure, I provide the following paradigm with the same ad-

jectival root der- 'be tall, long' as a predicate.

be-PF-P

(14)	andereenco	'I am not tall.'
	andeddereenkinnu	'We are not tall.'
	addereekkittu	'You (SG) are not tall.'
	addeddereekkittan	'You (PL) are not tall.'
	derinco	'He is not tall.'
	derinkittu	'She is not tall.'
	dedderincan	'They are not tall.'

In the following table, I present both the affirmative and negative subject clitics that occur with adjectival predicates.

Person	Affirmative subject with adjectival root	clitics	Negative subject c with adjectival roots cooccuring verb kit- '	litics realized s or with the be'
1SG	in=	:	an =	an=
1PL	in=	:	an =	an=
2SG	i?=	:	a?=	a?=
2PL	i?=	i	a?=	a?=
3SGM	i=			in=
3SGF	i=			in=
3PL	i=			in=
Table 1: S	bubject clitics that occur v	with adjee	ctive predicates	

Approximation of the prototype meaning of the adjective can be expressed by using the instrumental suffix on the subject as illustrated in (15).

- (15a) if anne poori if a-nn=i poor-i he-INST=3 be.black-PF 'It's blackish.'
- (15b) if anne tiimi if a-nn=i tiim-i he-INST = 3 be.red-PF 'It's reddish.'
- (15c) if annik kappi if a-nn=i? kapp-i he-INST=2 be.fat-PF 'You (SG) are a bit overweight.'
- (15d) if a-nn = in Galla?-i he-INST = 1 be.thin-PF 'I'm a bit thin.'

7.5. Attributive adjectives

Adjectival roots that serve as attributives do occur neither with subject clitics nor with aspect markers. Rather, they occur with terminal vowels **a** and **aa**?. These terminal vowels are gender agreement markers in that those head nouns that show the third masculine or third feminine gender agreement require **a**, while those head nouns that trigger the third person plural gender agreement require **aa**?. Number agreement is shown by reduplication. Indefinite head nouns also require a genitive particle **a**, which has not been recognised in the earlier works on the language. The genitive particle occurs between the head noun and the adjective. Definite head nouns do not require the genitive particle.

The following examples contain the adjectival roots kutt- 'to be big'. The distribution of number-gender agreement with this adjectival root can be seen in the examples in (16). In (16a), we have the semantically singular noun **Goyra** 'tree[M]' for which the adjectival root has only the singular gender agreement marker on the adjective. In (16b), we have the semantically singular noun innaa 'child[P]' for which the adjectival root has only the plural gender agreement marker on the adjective. In (16c), we have the semantically plural noun orra 'people[M]' for which the adjectival root has a plural number agreement and a singular gender agreement on the adjective. In (16d), we have the semantically plural noun **dillaa** 'fields[P]' for which the adjective has plural number and gender agreement markers.

(16a)	namasiG Goyra a kuta <i>nama-si?</i> person-DEF.M/F	a imuray <i>Goyra</i> tree	<i>१</i> GEN	<i>kutt-a</i> be.big-3M/F
	<i>i=mur-ay</i> 3=cut[SG]-PF[3M] 'The person cut a big (lit.: 'The person cut	g tree.' a tree wh	ich is big	.')
(16b)	iskatteetasi? ?innaa a	kuttaa? ?i	Gap-t-a	
	iskatteeta-si?	innaa	а	kutt-aa?
	woman-DEF.M/F	child	GEN	be.big-P
	i=Gap-t-a 3 = have-3F-IPF.FUT 'The woman has a gr (lit.: 'The woman has	own up cl s a child w	hild.' vho is big	g.')
(16c)	anti? ?orra a kukuttta	n akkay		
	anti-?	orra	а	ku-kutt-a=in
	1SG.PRO-NOM	people	GEN	PL-be.big- $3M/F = 1$
	<i>akk-ay</i> see-PF[3M] 'I saw big people.' (lit.: 'I saw people w	ho are big	.')	

(16d) attic dillaa a kukuttaa?iG Gapta *atti-2 dillaa a ku-kutt-aa?=i?* 2SG.PRO-NOM fields GEN PL-be.big-P=2

> *Gap-t-a* have-2-IPF.FUT 'You (SG) have big fields.' (lit.: 'You (SG) have fields which are big.')

Banti (1986:242) reports that Konso is the only language within Oromoid with adjectival words preceding the nouns they modify. His claim holds true only when agentive suffixes are added to adjectival roots (see 7.6 below). Otherwise, the opposite order [N Adj] is the case in Konso, as can be seen from the preceding examples. We can further look at the examples in (17a) and (17b), in which the head noun kutasi? 'the dog[M]' and hellaa 'children[P]' are modified by the adjectival roots kutt- 'to be big' and ʃakk- 'be small', respectively.

(17a)	kutasik kutta it ^w aay				
	kuta-si?	kutt-a	i=toy-ay		
	dog-DEF.M/F	be.big-3M/F	3 = die-PF		
	'The big dog died.'				
	(lit.: 'The dog which was big died.')				

(17b)	hellaa a ∫a	llaa a jajakkaa? ?ideyin			
	hellaa	а	fa-fakk-aa?	i=dey-i-n	
	children	GEN	PL-be.small-P	3 = come-PF-P	
	'Small children came.'				
	(lit.: 'Children that are small came.')				

7.6. Deadjectival derivation

7.6.1. Nominal derivation and gender marking

Adjectival roots may combine with agentive suffixes which trigger gender marking: -ayta, -ayteeta and -ayaa for masculine, feminine and plural gender respectively. They give the reading 'X one' where X contains the semantics of the adjective. In the following examples, we observe that the adjectival root der- 'be tall' has the agentive suffix -ayta in (18a), -ayteeta in (18b) and -ayaa in (18c). In (18c) we also observe that in addition to the plural gender agreement, the adjective root is reduplicated for number marking. The same suffixes are used for deverbal agentives, see 4.10.2.

(18a) der-ayta be.tall-AGENT.M 'tall one'

- (18b) **der-ayt-eeta** be.tall-AGENT.F 'tall one'
- (18c) **ded-der-ayaa** PL-be.tall-AGENT.P 'tall ones'

Adjectival roots that have agentive suffixes occur in relativised or nonrelativised phrases. When they occur in relativised phrases, the head noun occurs phrase final as in (19a). On the other hand, in non-relativised phrases, the head noun occurs phrase-initially, as in (19b). The examples in (20) are unacceptable because in (20a) the genitive particle is missing between the agentivised adjective and the head noun; (20b) is unacceptable because a genitive particle is inserted between the head noun and the agentivised adjective.

- (19a) kutt-ayteeta a tika be.big-AGENT.F GEN house 'a house which is big'
- (19b) **tika kutt-ayteeta** house be.big-AGENT.F 'a big house'
- (20a) ***kutt-ayteeta** tika be.big-AGENT.F house
- (20b) ***tika a kutt-ayteeta** house GEN be.big-AGENT.F

Earlier we saw the gender agreement when the adjectives are used attributively. We have seen that plural nouns such as **orra** 'people' and **iskatta** 'women' trigger the same gender agreement as the third person singular masculine or feminine subject. However, with the background suffix -eyye added to nominal roots, all nouns that are semantically plural occur with the plural agentive suffix -ayaa. Singular nouns that trigger plural gender agreement also occur with the agentive plural suffix -ayaa. The following are illustrative examples.

(21a)	tikeeyye kuttayteeta		
	tika-eyye	kutt-ayteeta	
	house-BKGRD	be.big-AGENT.F	
	'House-wise, it is a wide one.'		

- (21b) Goyreeyye derayta *Goyra-eyye* der-ayta tree-BKGRD be.tall-AGENT.M 'Tree-wise, it is a tall one.'
- (21c) innaayye Galla?ayaa *innaa-eyye Galla?-ayaa* child-BKGRD be.thin-AGENT.P 'Child-wise, he is a thin one.'
- (22a) orreeyye dedderayaa orra-eyye ded-der-ayaa people-BKGRD PL-be.tall-AGENT.P 'People-wise, they are tall ones.'
- (22b) iskatt-eeyye GaGalla?ayaa *iskatta-eeyye Ga-Galla?-ayaa* women-BKGRD PL-be.thin-AGENT.P 'Women-wise, they are thin ones.'
- (22c) dillaayye pappaldayaa *dillaa-eeyye pap-pald-ayaa* fields-BKGRD PL-be.wide-AGENT.P 'Fields-wise, they are wide ones.'

7.6.2. Deadjectival action nominals

Deadjectival action nominals are derived from adjectival stems by adding the suffix **-taá**. The inchoative suffix is required before attaching **-taá** as shown in (23).

- (23a) paldattaá *pald-ad-taá* be.wide-INCH-NML 'widening'
- (23b) kappattaá *kapp-ad-taá* be.fat-INCH-NML 'getting fat'

Below are sentential examples:

(24a)	sukeentasik kuttattaá ipaayyiti			
	sukeenta-si?	kutt-ad-taá	i=paayyi-t-i	
	lamb.F-DEF.M/F	be.big-INCH-NMLZ	3 = strat-3F-PF	
	'The lamb has started to grow.'			
	(lit.: 'The lamb start	ted to become big.')		
(24b)	okkattasik kappattaá	ipaayyay		

(24b) OKKattasik kappattaa ipaayyay okkatta-si? kapp-ad-taá i=paayy-ay cow-DEF.M/F be.fat-INCH-NMLZ 3=start-PF[3M]'The cow has started to get fat.'

8. Postpositions, adverbials and conjunctions

8.1. Postpositions

Postpositions occur either with a final -a or -aa. When they occur with a short final -a, they indicate the reference object (e.g. a container). When they occur with a final long -aa, they indicate the located object (e.g. a contained object). Earlier works (e.g. Black 1973; Bliese and Sokka 1986; Getahun 1999; Daudey and Hellenthal 2004) did not recognise both the difference in the quantity of the final vowel and the semantic distinction between the reference and located object. In table 1, I give the list of the postpositions in the language.

final -a	final -aa	Gloss
Gara	Garaa	'on'
kapa	kapaa	'near'
Guɗa	Guɗaa	'on (non-horizontal plane)'
tupa	tupaa	'behind'
tura	turaa	'in front of'
kela	kelaa	'under'
kara	karaa	'in(side)'
mina	minaa	'in front'
oppa	oppaa	'in (centre)'
Guta	Gutaa	'behind (a bit far)'
tula	tulaa	'in front of (a bit far)'
kamma	kammaa	'behind'

Table 1: Konso postpositions

The following sentences illustrate how the short and long final vowels on the postposition indicate reference object (ground) or the located object:

(1a)	tika	kara	sah-i
	house	in.REF	sweep-IMP.SG
	'(You (SG)) Swee	p the (inside of the) house!'

- (1b) tika kara-a sah-i house in-LOC sweep-IMP.SG '(You (SG)) Sweep it out of the house!'
- (2a) kannootasiG Gudan faGay kannoota-si? Guda = in faG-ay calabash-DEF.M/F on.REF = 1 wash-PF[3M] 'I washed (the exterior of) the calabash.'

(2b) kannootasiG Gudaan faGay kannoota-si? Guda-a = in faG-ay calabash-DEF.M/F on-LOC = 1 wash-PF[3M] 'I washed (the exterior of) the calabash.'

In examples (1a) and (2a) above, the postpositions end in -a while those in (1b) and (2b) end in -aa. It is this difference in the quantity of the final vowel that accounts for the difference in the interpretation of the sentences: sentences (1a) and (2a) with postpositions ending with -a indicate that the sweeping and washing affects a specific part of the house and the calabash, respectively; the sentences in (1b) and (2b) with postpositions ending with -a indicate that the nouns 'house' and 'calabash' are used as ground or reference points for something else that is swept and washed, respectively.

The postpositions also occur with the locative suffix -?. The final -aa and the locatonial suffix make a semantic distinction with such verb roots as Geed- 'to take', pidd- 'to buy[SG]' and kat- 'to sell'. The semantic distinction is that postpositions ending with the long vowel have the meaning of 'taking something away from something else' while the locative suffix renders the meaning of 'adding something to something else'. The following are illustrative examples.

(3a)	GoroosiniG Gudaa Geedi
	Goraa-osini? Gudaa Geed-i
	trees-DEM.P on.LOC take-IMP.SG
	'(You (SG)) Take (some trees) from these trees!'
(3b)	Goroosinig gudag geedi
	Goraa-osini? Guda-? Geed-i
	trees-DEM.P on-LOC take-IMP.SG
	'(You (SG)) Add (some trees) to these trees!'
(3c)	punittaasiG Gudaa piddi
	punitta-asi? Guda-a pidd-i
	coffee-DEM.M/F on-LOC buy[SG]-IMP.SG
	'(You (SG)) Buy (some coffee) from this coffee!'
(3d)	punittaasic Gudap piddi

u)	punitta-asi?	Guda-?	pidd-i
	coffee-DEM.M/F	on-LOC	buy[SG]-IMP.SG
	'(You (SG)) Buy (se	ome coffee) i	n addition to this coffee!'

The postposition equivalent to the English preposition 'until, up to' is expressed by the locational head noun haka and the genitive particle **a**, and the object noun of the postposition occurs with the specifier suffix -ti? as shown in

(4). Mous suggested to me that the locational head noun haka could be a loan word from Swahili through some intermediate languages, as it is a word for 'border' which is used as a preposition for 'until'.

 (4) haka a xarratit tikaasis sahi haka a xarra-ti? tika-asi? until GEN gate-SPEC house-DEM.M/F
 sah-i sweep-IMP.SG '(You (SG)) Sweep this house up to the gate!'

Similarly, the postposition equivalent to the English preposition 'about' is expressed by the noun **Goota** 'concerning', the genitive particle **?a** and the specifier suffix -te and the directional adverb **desa** (see 8.2.2 below). The following is an illustrative example:

(5b)	attic Goota-awo de	a maana? ?upta			
	atti-?	Goota-awo	desa		
	2SG.PRO-NOM	concerning-1SG.POSS.M/F	towards		
	maana=i? up	p-t-a			
	what $= 2$ km	iow-2-IPF.FUT			
	'What do you know about me?'				

Note that the postposition turaa 'in front of' is used to express detrimental action as in (6a-b). Moreover, with the same detrimental meaning, turaa 'in front of' may occur with the background suffix -yye as in (6c).

(6a)	kaafaan inantasit turaa Geeday				
	kaafaa = in	inanta-si?	turaa	Geed-ay	
	money = 1	girl-DEF.M/F	in.front.of	take-PF[3M]	
	'I took money away from the girl.'				
(6b)	i∫at namasit turaa Goraa ?imuray				
	ifa-?	nama	-si?	turaa	
	3SGM.PRO-NO	DM man-	DEF.M/F	in.front.of	

Goraa i = mur-aytrees 3 = cut-PF[3M]'He cut the trees away from the man.'

(6c) Goyra-si=in if a turaa-yye tree-DEF.M/F=1 3SGM[ACC] in.front.of-BKGRD mur-ay
cut[SG]-PF[3M]
'I cut the tree to his detriment.'
(lit.: 'I cut the tree in front of him.')

8.2. Adverbs

In this section, I discuss locative adverbs (8.2.1) and directionals (8.2.2), combination of locative adverbs and directionals (8.2.3), time adverbs (8.2.4) and conjunctions (8.3).

8.2.1. Locative adverbs

Both underived and derived locative adverbs exist. There are four underived locatives in Karatte dialect (7a), but three in my dialect. In my dialect the underived locative ile 'up there' is not used. Instead, the derived locative irre 'further up there' is used. Derived locatives are derived by geminating the onset of the last syllable of the underived locative (7b). Derived locatives show location further away from the deictic centre.

(7a)	ile	'up there'
	aye ~are	'here'
	dise	'there (horizontal plane, sideways)'
	χate	'down there'
(7b)	ille/irre	'further up there'
	disse	'further there (sideways)'
	χatte	'further down there'

In the following diagramme, I attempt to show the parallel between the horizontal and vertical planes for the underived and derived locatives. The arrows show the direction of the location. The deictic centre is the locative **aye** 'here'.



Consider the following illustrative examples:

- (8a) xormasi? ?irree ca xorma-si? irre=i kiy-a ox-DEF.M/F up.there=3 be-IPF.PRES 'The ox is up there.'
 (8b) ifeennad dissipa i?anti i/eenna?
- *ifeenna-? disse-opa i=aan-t-i* 3SGF.PRO-NOM there.further-DEST 3=go-3F-PF 'She went further there.'
- (8c) orsig gate maanaa ko?ni orra-si? gate maana=i kod-ni people-DEF.M/F down what=3 do-IPF.PRES 'What are the people down there doing?'

The locative adverb **dise** and its derived form **disse** mostly involve finger pointing (by the addresser) in the direction of the located object to make it clear for the addressee that the located object is placed in the direction being pointed in. The object could be located on the right or left side.

When individuals are positioned on a higher elevation (say, in a tree) and on a lower elevation (say, on the ground), the words **moonta** 'sky' and **piita** 'earth, ground' also serve as locatives meaning 'up' and 'down', respectively, as demonstrated in (9).

(9)	antim moonteen cama i∫ap piitee ca				
	anti-?	moonta = in	kiy-a-ma		
	1SG.PRO-NOM	sky = 1	be-IPF.FUT-but		
	i∫a-?	piite=i	kiy-a		
	3SGM.PRO-NOM	earth = 3	be-IPF.FUT		
	'I am up here but he	e is down there	(on the ground).'		

The adverb opa is used to indicate destination as in (10).

(10a)	kuntiχ	χonsupaa tay	
	kunte-?	χonso-opa=i	tay-ay
	kunte-NOM	Konso-DEST = 3	leave-PF[3M]
	'Kunte went	to Konso.'	
(10b)	inantasit tiku	pa ide?ti	
	inanta-si?	tika-opa	i=dey-t-i
	girl-DEF.M/	F house-DEST	3 = come-3F-PF
	'The girl car	ne home.'	

8.2.2. Directional adverbs

There are three directional adverbs. These are given in (11).

(11) xata 'downwards—from a higher altitude to a lower altitude'
 'upwards—from a lower altitude to a higher altitude'
 'sideways—on a horizontal plane'

The deictic centre is the locative aye 'here', as shown in the following diagramme.



8.2.2. Combining locative adverbs and directional adverbs

The locative adverbs and the directional adverbs can combine. When we combine the locative adverb **irre** 'up there' with the directional adverbs, we obtain the combinations in (12a). When we combine the locational **aye** 'here' with the directionals, we get the combinations in (12b).

- (12a) **irrexata** 'from up there towards the speaker' **irredesa** 'from up there horizontally' **irrredela** from up there downwards'
- (12b) ayexata 'from up there to here/from here downwards' ayedesa 'from here to somewhere on a horizontal plane' ayedela 'from down up to here/from here downwards'

Below are illustrative examples:

(13a)	keraasi? ?irrexataa lekkaɗay		
	keraa-si?	irrexata = i	lekkad-ay
	thief-DEF.M/F	up.there.downwards $= 3$	climb.down-PF[3M]
	'The thief climb	ed down from up there do	ownwards.'

(13b) mottooGaasi? ?ayedesa itarpay mottooGaasi? aye car-DEF.M/F here

desa	i=tarp-ay
from.here.on.a.horizontal.plane	3 = cross-PF[3M]
'The car passed across here.'	

Most often, utterances like those in (13) are accompanied by finger-pointing.

The word **asse** used with the locative **aye** combines with the directionals generating a meaning like 'straight, along this' along the direction mentioned.

The locatives and directionals may combine with the destination adverb opa. The placement of the destination adverb with locatives differs from its placement with directionals: with locatives it is suffixed to the locatives (14a), but with directionals it occurs before the directional (14b).

(14a)	aypa /aye+opa/	'to here'		
	ilipa /ile + opa/	'to up there'	'to up there' 'to there (horizontal)'	
	disipa /dise+opa	/ 'to there (horizontal)'		
	xatipa /xate + op	a/ 'to down there'		
	irripa /irre+opa/	'to up further there'		
	dissipa /disse+o	pa/ 'to further there (horiz	zontal)'	
	xattipa /xatte + o	pa/ 'to down further there	,,	
(14b)	opadela	'one step up from there'		
	opadesa	'one step from there (horizontal)'		
	opaxata	'one step down from there'		

The directionals can be cliticised to the locatives as presented in the following table.

Locative	Directional	Combination
irre	χata	irreexaa irreeta 'from there down here'
irre	dela	irreela 'from up there upwards'
irre	desa	irreesa 'from up there on the horizontal plane'
aye	χata	ayeexaa ayeeta 'from here downwards'
aye	dela	ayeela 'from here upwards; from down up here'
aye	desa	ayeesa 'xxx'
dise	χata	diseexaa < diseeta > 'from there on the horizontal plane downwards'
dise	ɗela	diseela 'from there on the horizontal plane upwards'
dise	desa	diseesa 'from there on the horizontal plane on- wards'
disse	χata	disseexaa < disseeta > 'from further there down- wards'
disse	dela	disseela 'from further there upwards'

Locative	Directional	Combination		
disse	desa	disseesa 'from further there horizontally'		
χate	χata	xateexaa <b xateeta> 'from down there down- wards'		
χate	dela	xateela 'from down there upwards'		
χate	desa	xateesa 'from down there on the horizontal plane'		
χatte	χata	<pre>xatteexaa <?xatteeta> 'from further down there downwards'</pre>		
χatte	dela	xatteela 'from further down there upwards'		
χatte	desa	xatteesa 'from further down there on horizontal plane'		

Table 3: Directionals cliticising to locatives

The following table contains the (im)permissible combinations of locatives, the destination adverb and directionals.

Locative	destination	directional	combination
aye	opa	dela	aypadela
aye	opa	desa	aypadesa
aye	opa	χata	aypaxata
irre	opa	dela	irripadela
irre	opa	desa	*irripadesa
irre	opa	χata	*irripaxata
dise	opa	dela	*disipadela
dise	opa	desa	disipadesa
dise	opa	χata	*disipaxata
disse	opa	dela	*dissipadela
disse	opa	desa	dissipadesa
disse	opa	χata	*dissipaxata
χate	opa	dela	χatipaχata
χate	opa	desa	*xatipadela
χate	opa	χata	*xatipadesa
χatte	opa	dela	?xattipadela
χatte	opa	desa	χattipadesa
χatte	opa	χata	χattipaχata

Table 4: Combining locatives, destination adverb and directionals

8.2.3. Time adverbs

In this subsection I present time adverbs. I begin with the discussion of parts of a day. A day can be decomposed into various adverbial time frames given in (15).

(15)	teykantaa	'morning'
	Guɗaaɗaa	'midmorning'
	kuyya?ta	'midday'
	kallaptaa	'(very) late afternoon'
	kalaakala(yta)	'evening'
	otumalaa	'midnight'
	paraa minaa	'dawn (lit.: in front of sun rising)'
	halkeetta	'night'

The following time adverbs refer to time frames within the day of conversation. The reference is the moment of conversation **amma** 'now'.

(16)	amma	'now'
	Gaari/helaanna ¹³	'a moment ago'
	kuli	'latter'
	amma sede	'right now'
	amma dehate	'just a moment ago'

Using the time adverb **awwi** 'today', the day of conversation, as a reference point we have the following time adverbs.

awwi	'today'
awtapiisa	'always' (awta 'when' piisa 'all')
χala	'yesterday'
χallakkali	'the day before yesterday'
χattakkali	'three days ago [the day before the day before yesterday]
χatta	'in the past, long time ago'
parre	'tomorrow'
partaane	'the second day after the day of conversation'
namakule	'the third day after the day of conversation'
setikule	'the fourth day after the day of conversation'
itturpa	'in the future' (isituraaopa 'in front of self')
hekere	'remote future'
	awwi awtapiisa xala xallakkali xattakkali xatta parre partaane namakule setikule itturpa hekere

The time adverbs in (18) refer to nights. Except the night of the day of conversation, the rest refer to past nights. In Konso, one cannot use the night of the day of conversation raawwa 'tonight' after sundown. The day ends at sundown and the preceding night is considered to be part of the 24-hour cycle: night+day, not day+night.

(18)	raawwa	'tonight'
	χallapo	'last night'
	χalakallape	'the second night before the day of conversation'
	χattakkallape	'the third night before the day of conversation'

¹³ helaanna has a variant form helaadda.

A week is tappaa or torpaa from tappa 'seven' or torbaa 'seven'.

A recent past or a near future is expressed by the adverb yensi 'these days'. The reading of past or future depends on the aspect of the sentence. In (19), for example, we have the time adverb yensi and the verb root roop- 'to rain'. (19a) is different from (19b) in that it contains a perfective aspect, which, together with the time adverb, shows that the event of raining is a completed event. (19b) contains a future imperfective, which, together with the time adverb, indicates that the event of raining is not a completed event but an event expected to happen soon. With the present imperfective, the adverb yensi expresses an event that has been going on for some time, as in (19c).

- (19a) yensi i=roop-t-i these.days 3=rain-3F-PF 'It rained recently.'
- (19b) yensi i=roop-t-a these.days 3=rain-3F-IPF.FUT 'It will rain sometime.'
- (19c) yensi i=roop-ni these.days 3=rain-IPF.PRES 'It is raining these days.'

We also have time adverbs that refer to a year. These are given in (20). The reference is the year of conversation.

yeswi	'this year'
parpali?	'last year'
partura?	'the year before last year'
partussa	'the third year before the year of conversation'
paraanna	'next year'
parkeettu	'the years to come (after next year)'
	yeswi parpali? partura? partussa paraanna parkeettu

Adverbs referring to a day following the day of an event are marked by the dative suffix as in (21a). When reference is made to a day preceding the day of an event, the postposition tura 'in front of' is used with the time adverbs as in (21b).

(21a)	faasika parraytaa?e de?ti			
	faasika	parreayta-?=i	dey-t-i	
	Easter	next.day-DAT = 3	come-3F-PF	
	'She cam	he the day after Easter.'		

(21b)	faasika tura xalaa ɗe?ti			
	faasika	tura	χala=i	dey-t-i
	Easter	in.front.of	yesterday = 3	come-3F-PF
	'She came on the day before Easter.'			

The division of the year into months is closely associated with agricultural cycle. The year is divided into twelve months. The first month of the year is January (see, also Yohannes and Gemechu 1996:9). A month is broadly classified into two weeks of moonshine and two weeks of dark nights. The twelve months of the year are the following:

(22)	oypa	'January'
	sakaanukama	'February'
	murano	'March'
	peelalta	'April'
	harta	'May'
	tela	'June'
	olxola∫a	'July'
	sessay∫a	'August'
	partupta	'September'
	kisa	'October'
	ollindala	'November'
	poorinka	'December'

A week has seven days, most of which are named after the different places where market is held. Thus, the names of the days of the week differ from place to place. Below I give the days of the week as they are called in my area.

(23)	ompakku	'Monday'
	lankayya	'Tuesday'
	oypattaali	'Wednesday'
	paGawli	'Thursday'
	paGawli parrayta	'Friday'
	palawwa	'Saturday'
	saampata	'Sunday'

Some people, particularly old people, use the name Gommoossa instead of lankayya for Tuesday, suggesting that in the past markets were held in Gommoossa. Alternatively, lankayya is called palawwa a Jakka? 'the small palawwa' as a small number of people hold market in the same place where a very large number of people hold market on palawwa 'Saturday'. The reason why the small market is held on Tuesday in palawwa is because lankayya is far from my area. Another remark is that if market is not held on the day following a market day, then the name of the previous market day and the time adverb parrayta 'the following day' are used, as in paGawli parrayta 'Friday'.

8.3. Conjunctions

The following is the list of the conjunctions:

(24)	oo/ootoo/kande	'if'	conditional
	awta/etee	'when'	temporal
	akkaa	'that'	complement
	kasu/kuli	'also, even'	inclusive
	ka∕i∫u?	'and'	coordination/consecutive
	maa/umma	'but'	contrast
	taakine	'or/otherwise'	alternative

The conjunctions listed above are discussed in the chapter on Complex sentences in this study. See also Mous and Ongaye (2009). Below, I give brief remarks and illustrative examples.

Conditional conjunctions mark support clauses in conditional sentences as can be seen from the example in (25). For details of conditionals, see 12.1.1.

(25)	i∫a? ooɗeyo, konfasi? ?iteyyaɗa			
	ifa-?	00	dey-o,	
	3SGM.PRO-NOM	if	come-DP.IPF.FUT	
	konfa-si?	i=te	vyad-a	
	shorts-DEF.M/F	s-DEF.M/F 3 = receive-IPF.FUT		
	'If he comes, he wil	l receive	e the shorts.'	

The temporal conjunctions **awta** and **etee** 'when' mark temporal clauses as shown in (26). The conjunction **awta** also serves as a conditional conjunction (see details in 12.1.2).

(26) awtak konfasit teyto, ?anal leli awta=i? konfa-si? tey-t-o, when=2 shorts-DEF.M/F find-2-DP.IPF.FUT
ana-? lel-i 1SG.PRO[ACC]-DAT tell-IMP.SG 'When you find the shorts, let me know.'

The conjunction ka marks not only coordinated nouns as in (27a) but also conjoined consecutive clauses as in (27b).

(27a) silpoota ka akaafa hoe and spade 'hoe and spade'

(27b)	i∫aɗ ɗiluppupaa anay ka unta pohay				
	ifa-?	dila-oppupa = i	an-ay	ka	
	3SGM.PRO-NOM	field-into $= 3$	go-PF[3M]	and	

unta poh-ay crops harvest-PF[3M] 'He went to the field and harvested crops.'

The conjunction i f u? conjoins only nouns as in (28a). The example in (28b) is unacceptable because the conjunction i f u? is used to conjoin consecutive events.

(28a)	kappooli i∫uy yoonaasin akkay				
	kappooli ifu	? yoo	naasi=in ak	k-ay	
	Kappole and	d You	onasi = 1 see	e-PF[3M]	
	'I saw Kappool	e and Yo	oonase.'		
(28b)	*xooya i∫u? ɗak	adoosin	ih haaɗa		
	хооу-а	ifu?	dakadaa-osini?	haad-a	
	come-IMP.PL	and	stones-DEM.P	carry-IMP.PL	

(intended: 'Come and carry these stones!')

The conjunctions maa and umma express counter-expectation or contrast, as shown in (29):

(29a)	urmalaapa i?anti maa kappaasi? ?iɗapti				
	<i>urmalaa-opa</i> market-to	i = an-t-i 3 = go-3F-PF	<i>maa</i> but	<i>kappaa-si?</i> wheat-DEF.M/F	

i=dap-t-i 3 = not.find-3F-PF 'She went to market but could not find the wheat (to buy).'

(29b) koɗaasin ko?ni umma dikkanninco koɗaa-si?=in koɗ-ni umma work-DEF.M/F=1 work-IPF.PRES but

> *dikkad-ni=in-kiy-o* finish-IPF.PRES=3NEG-be-NEG 'I do the work but it does not get finished.'

Alternatives are expressed by the conjunction taakine 'or, otherwise'. Example:

(30)	diluppupa sookadu taakine urmalaapa aani				
	dila-oppupa	sookad-u	taakine		
	field-into	go.to.field-IMP.SG	or		
	urmalaa-opa	aan-i			
	market-to	go-IMP.SG			
	'(You (SG)) Go to the field or market!'				

The suffix -m is also used to mark an alternative, as shown in (31).

(31)	tikaa-si?	in=sah-a-m
	house-DEF.M/F	1 = sweep-IPF.FUT-or

in = dii∫-a
1 = leave-IPF.FUT
'Shall I sweep the house or leave it?'

9. Basic syntax

This chapter presents word order in noun phrases and simple sentences. It also treats verbless sentences and contains information on both comparatives and equative sentences. The comparative sentences are first discussed, followed by the discussion about equatives. Finally, we examine relative clauses.

9.1. Word order

9.1.1. Word order in noun phrases

A noun phrase may consist of just a noun. The following are illustrative examples:

- (1a) kumayta stick 'a stick'
- (1b) tapayta rat 'a rat'
- (1c) iskatta women 'women'
- (1d) Gimayaa old.men 'old men'

A noun phrase may consist of a head noun and a definite suffix as shown in (2).

- (2a) kuta-si? dog-DEF.M/F 'the dog'
- (2b) orra-si? people-DEF.M/F 'the people'
- (2c) kaharraa-sini? sheep-DEF.P 'the sheep'

(2d) Goraa-sini? trees-DEF.P 'the trees'

A noun phrase can also be formed from a noun and a demonstrative suffix. For instance, the demonstrative suffix -osi? occurs with the noun tika 'house' in (3a), and the demonstrative suffix -osini? occurs with the noun dillaa 'fields' in (3b).

- (3a) tikoosi? *tika-osi?* house-DEM.M/F 'this house'
- (3b) **dilloosini?** *dillaa-osini?* fields-DEM.P 'these fields'

A noun phrase may contain a head noun with possessive suffixes, as shown in (4).

- (4a) tika-awu house-1SG.POSS.M/F 'my house'
- (4b) fillaa-ssu comb-3PL.POSS.P 'their comb'
- (4c) **xormaɗaassin** oxen-2PL.POSS.P 'your oxen'

Indefinite head nouns modified by attributive adjectives contain a relative particle a, as in (5a-b). Such noun phrases may be followed by a quantifier, as in (5c-d).

(5a) nama a der-a person REL be.tall-SG 'a tall person' (lit.: 'a person who is tall')

- (5b) hellaa a ded-der-aa? children REL PL-be.tall-P 'tall children' (lit.: 'children who are tall')
- (5c) Goyra a der-a tokka tree REL be.tall-S one 'a tall tree' (lit.: 'a tree which is tall')
- (5d) Goraa a dedderaal lakki *Goraa a ded-der-aa? lakki* trees REL PL-be.tall-P two 'two tall trees' (lit.: 'two trees which are tall')

In noun phrases composed of a head noun and a quantifier, the word order is head noun followed by quantifiers. When numerals higher than one are used as quantifiers, singulative nouns are used in the noun phrases, as in (6a-b). In noun phrases, plurative nouns may occur with numerals higher than one as in (6c-d).

- (6a) **tika lakki** house two 'two houses'
- (6b) nama ken person five 'five people'
- (6c) **xorma-ɗaa leh** ox-PL six 'six oxen'
- (6d) kahar-raa afur sheep-PL four 'four sheep'

The use of the singulative noun nama 'person' in the context of noun phrases quantified with numerals higher than one is special in that its suppletive plural form orra 'persons, people' is never used with numeral quantifiers, as the ungrammaticality of (7b) illustrates.

196

(7a)	nama	ken = in	akk-ay
	person	five = 1	see-PF[3M]
	'I saw fi	ve people.'	

(7) ***orra** ken=in akk-ay people five=1 see-PF[3M] (intended: 'I saw five people.')

Interestingly, both nama 'person' and orra 'persons, people' may occur with such quantifiers as lamayta 'some.M' as shown in (8).

(8a)	nama lamaytaa aytulaa ca				
	nama	lamayta = i	ayetulaa	kiy-a	
	person	some. $M = 3$	out.there	be-IPF.FUT	
	'There are some people out there.'				

(8b)	orra lamaytaa aytulaa ca				
	orra	lamayta = i	aye-tulaa	kiy-a	
	persons	some. $M = 3$	out.there	be-IPF.FUT	
	'There are some people out there.'				

The quantifier **piisa** 'all' may occur together with numerals in noun phrases. The order is that the numeral precedes the quantifier. Here is an example:

(9)	antih hellaasinik k	n piisan akkay		
	anti-?	hellaa-sini?	ken	
	1SG.PRO-NOM	children-DEF.P	five	
	piisa=in ak	k-ay		
	all=1 see	e-PF[3M]		
	'I saw all five chil	dren.'		

9.1.2. Word order in simple sentences

In simple sentences with intransitive verbs and overt subjects, the word order is that the subject precedes the verb as in (10a-b). In simple sentences with overt subject and overt object, the word order is subject—object—verb as in (10c-d).

(10a)	i∫eennax xala ide?ti				
	ifeenna-?	xala	i=dey-t-i		
	3SGF.PRO-NOM	yesterday	3 = come-3F-PF		
	'She came yesterday.'	- •			

inur rinnirra			
inu-?	in=hir-n-a		
1PL.PRO-NOM 'We will run.'	1 = run[PL] - 1PL-	IPF.FU'	Г
i∫aG Goyrasi? ?imura	ay		
ifa-?	Goyra-si?	i	=mur-ay
3SGM.PRO-NOM	tree-DEF.M/	F 3	S = cut[SG]-PF[3M]
'He cut the tree.'			
attil lahasi? ?ikkatti			
atti-?	laha-si?	i?=ka	t-t-i
2SG.PRO-NOM	ram-DEF.M/F	1 = sel	1-2-PF
'You (SG) sold the	ram.'		
	inu? Annira inu? IPL.PRO-NOM 'We will run.' ifac coyrasi? ?imura ifa-? 3SGM.PRO-NOM 'He cut the tree.' attil lahasi? ?ikkatti atti-? 2SG.PRO-NOM 'You (SG) sold the	inur rinnira inu-? inu-? inu-? inu-? inu-? inu-? inu-? inu-? inu-? inuray ifa-? ifacf Goyrasi? ?imuray ifa-? SGM.PRO-NOM tree-DEF.M/ 'He cut the tree.' attil lahasi? ?ikkatti atti-? 2SG.PRO-NOM ram-DEF.M/F 'You (SG) sold the ram.'	inur rinnirainu-? $in = hir-n-a$ 1PL.PRO-NOM $1 = run[PL]-1PL-IPF.FU'$ 'We will run.''ifacf cfoyrasi? ?imuray $ifa-?$ $cfoyra-si?$ 3SGM.PRO-NOMtree-DEF.M/F'He cut the tree.'attil lahasi? ?ikkatti $atti-?$ $laha-si?$ $i?=ka$ 2SG.PRO-NOMram-DEF.M/F'You (SG) sold the ram.'

The above simple sentences may occur without the overt subjects, in which case the subjects are understood from the type of the subject clitic and the gender agreement marker on the verb. The sentences in (10a) and (10c) are repeated below as (11a) and (11b) without the subject noun.

(11a) χ ala ide?ti χ ala i=dey-t-iyesterday 3=come-3F-PF'She came yesterday.'

(101) . 00.1.

(11b) Goyrasi? ?imuray *Goyra-si? i=mur-ay* tree-DEF.M/F 3=cut[SG]-PF[3M] 'He cut the tree.'

Below, I show different word orders that are possible, without discussing the meaning differences. For example, the SV word order in (10a), repeated here as (12a), has the VS order in (12b). The examples in (12c-f) have the same constituents but differ in the order of those constituents: (12c) has SOV word order, (12d) has SVO word order, (12e) has VSO word order, and (12f) has OVS word order. VOS and OSV word orders are also possible, though I do not show them here. Further research is needed to determine the functional differences of these word order variants.

(12a)	iseennax xala ideyti				
	ifeenna-?	xala	i=dey-t-i		
	3SGF.PRO-NOM	yesterday	3 = come-3F-PF		
	'She came.'				

198

	i = dow t i i	Coonna 2	vala
	3 = come-3F-PF 'She came.'	SGF.PRO-NOM	yesterday
(12c)	iʃac Goyrasi? ?imura <i>iʃa-?</i> 3SGM.PRO-NOM 'He cut the tree.'	y <i>Goyra-si?</i> tree-DEF.M/F	<i>i=mur-ay</i> 3=cut[SG]-PF[3M]
(12d)	iʃa? ?imuray Goyrasi <i>iʃa?</i> 3SGM.PRO-NOM 'He cut the tree.'	? <i>i=mur-ay</i> 3=cut[SG]-PF[3	<i>Goyrasi?</i> M] tree-DEF.M/F
(12e)	imuray if a Goyrasi? i=mur-ay 3 = cut[SG]-PF[3M] 'He cut the tree.'	<i>i∫a-?</i> 3SGM.PRO-NC	<i>Goyra-si?</i> DM tree-DEF.M/F
(12f)	Goyrasi? ?imuray ?ifGoyra-si?imittree-DEF.M/F3 ='He cut the tree.'	a? <i>nur-ay</i> = cut[SG]-PF[3M]	<i>iʃa-?</i> 3SGM.PRO-NOM

Simple sentences may occur with temporal adverbs such as χala 'yesterday' and parre 'tomorrow'. Such temporal adverbs are not restricted in their position. They may occur sentence initially as in (13a), between the subject and object as in (13b), between the object and the verb as in (13c) or sentence final as in (13d).

(13a)	χala Gimaytasik karmaa i?i∬ay					
	χala	Gimayta-si?	karmaa	i=ij	ſf-ay	
	yesterday	old.man-DEF.M/	F lion	3 = 1	till-PF[3M]	
	'Yesterday the old man killed a lion.'					
(13b)	Gimaytasiχ χala karmaa i?i∬ay					
	climavta_ci?	vala	barr	naa	$i - i f \int_{-2V}$	

Giinayta-sir	Xala	Karmaa	I=IJJ-ay
old.man-DEF.M/F	yesterday	lion	3 = kill-PF[3M]
'Yesterday the old ma	an killed a lion	ı.'	

(13c)	Gimaytasix karmaa	χala i?i∬ay		
	Gimayta-si?	karmaa	χala	i=i∬-ay
	old.man-DEF.M/F	lion	yesterday	3 = kill-PF[3M]
	'The old man killed			
(13d) Gimaytasix karmaa i?ijjay xala Gimayta-si? karmaa i=?ijf-ay xala old.man-DEF.M/F lion 3=kill-PF[3M] yesterday 'The old man killed a lion yesterday.'

9.2. Verbless sentences

The predicate of a sentence can be a verb, noun, adjective or adverb. Verbless sentences may contain nouns that express a profession as in (14a) or a place of origin as in (14b-c).

(14a)	anti? ?an?akimitta	
	anti-?	an=akim-itta
	1SG.PRO-NOM	1 = treat.patient-3SGM
	'I am a physician.'	

- (14b) namasif firaatitta *nama-si? firaat-itta* man-DEF.M/F Dirashe-3SGM 'The man is a Dira∫itta.'
- (14c) isena? ?akimtteeta *isena-? akim-tteeta* 3SGF.PRO-NOM treat.patient-3SGF 'She is a physician.'
- (14d) ifina? ?a??akimiyyaa *ifina-?* a?=akim-iyyaa 2PL.PRO-NOM 2=treat.patient-P '(You (SG)) are physicians.'
- (14e) orroosik kawwaaɗaa orra-osi? kawwaaɗaa people-DEM.M/F Gawwada 'These people are Gawwada.'

Verbless sentences may also be formed from temporal adverbs. The nominative suffix -? is added to names of the days of the week. Here are some examples:

- (15a) **awwi palawwa** today Saturday 'Today is Saturday.'
- (15b) **xala lankayya** yesterday Tuesday 'Yesterday was Tuesday.'

(15c) palawwa? ?awwi palawwa-? awwi Saturday-NOM today 'Today is Saturday.'

Temporal adverbs and question words such as ay_{a} 'where?' and ay_{a} where?' and ay_{a} when?' also form verbless sentences, as shown in (16).

- (16a) awwi ayfa
 today where
 'What is the day today?'
 (lit.: Where is today?)
- (16b) palawwa? ?aytamu palawwa-? aytamu Saturday-NOM when 'When is Saturday?'

Verbless sentences can also be formed from numerals with possessor nouns, as shown below.

- (17a) hellaa-ssu lakki children-3PL.POSS.P two 'They have two children.' (lit.: 'Their children are two.')
- (17b) **dillaa-yyu** sessa fields-1SG.POSS.P three 'I have three fields.' (lit.: 'My fields are three.')

Furthermore, verbless sentences may be formed from demonstrative pronouns and other nominals, as illustrated in (18).

- (18a) **sedi tika-awu** this house-1SG.POSS.M/F 'This is my house.'
- (18b) seni pinaanaa these wild.animals 'These are wild animals.'

9.3. Comparative and equative sentences

A comparative construction is expressed by the postposition Gara 'on' and the verb root Gap- 'to have'. Gara Gap- is a phrase used for 'to exceed'. The following are illustrative examples.

(19a)	Apittud derumaak Kappooli Gara iGapa						
	Apittu-?	der-umaa-?	Kappooli				
	Apittu-NOM	be.tall-ABS-DAT	Kappooli				
	Gara i=Ga	p-a					
	on $3 = ex$	ceed-IPF.FUT					
	'Apittu is taller	'Apittu is taller than Kappoole.'					
	(lit.: 'Apitto exe	(lit.: 'Apitto exceeds Kappoole for tallness.')					
(19b)	lahasik kappum	lahasik kappumaac colpasic cara icapa					
	laha-sik	kapp-umaa-?	Golpa-si?				
	ram-DEF.M/F	be.fat-ABS-DAT	he-goat-DEF.M/F				
	Gara i=Gap	-a					
	on $3 = \exp(-\frac{1}{2})$	eed-IPF.FUT					
	'The ram is fatter than the he-goat.'						

(lit.: The ram exceeds the he-goat for fatness.)

Equative sentences are expressed by a construction in which the equated element is the subject, the entity to which it is equated receives the postposition mina? 'in front of (facing)' and the value of comparison is expressed in a predicative adjective or a (derived) abstract noun plus the dative and a verb 'to be'. The equated element may be a pronoun (20a), an independent possessive pronoun (20b) or a noun preceded by a genitive (20c).

(20a)	inantasi? ?i∫a mina?e ɗerumaak kitta							
	inanta-si?	?i∫a	mina?=i	der-umaa-?				
	girl-DEF.M/F	he	in.front.of $= 3$	be.tall-ABS-DAT				
	kiy-t-a							
	be-3F-IPF.FUT	be-3F-IPF.FUT						

(20b) inantasi χ χ ayya mina?e deri *inanta-si*? χ ayya mina?=*i* der-*i* girl-DEF.M/F mine in.front.of=3 be.tall-PF 'The girl is as tall as I am.'

'The girl is as tall as he is.'

(20c)	simmintoosi? ?a ɗakaam mina?ee kokkooki					
	simmintoota-asi?	<i>?a</i>	dakaá-?	mina?=i		
	cement-DEM.SG	GEN	stone-GEN	in.front.of $= 3$		

kokkook-i be.strong-PF 'This (mixed) cement is as strong as stone.'

A noun may precede the genitive particle which, in turn, is followed by a possessive pronoun as in (21).

(21)	inantaasi? ?a xayya mina?e deri						
	inanta-asi?	а	<i>хаууа</i>	mina?=i	der-i		
	girl-DEM.SG	GEN	mine	in.front.of $= 3$	be.tall-PF		
	'The girl is as t	tall as I a	m.'				

9.4. Relative clauses

Relative clauses follow their head noun. Except for a definite head noun in subject relative clauses, the head noun is marked by the relative particle ?a. In subject relative clauses in which the head noun is definite, there are no subject clitics. The head noun is never represented in the relative clause by a pronoun. Moreover, there is no marking of the end of the relative clause. Special verb forms are used in relative clauses. These special forms mark gender and/or number and vary with respect to aspect. For example, in the present imperfective, first person singular and third person singular masculine add -yo; plurals of all persons and single nouns with plural gender value add -yaa?; second person singular, third person singular feminine and nouns that show third feminine gender agreement marker on the verb add -ttu. These forms are added after the present imperfective suffix -ni. The special forms are followed by the cleft construction marker (see also Section 3.5). The following are illustrative examples:

(22a)	ana a urmalaapa anniyoó i∫a akkay						
	ana	а	urmalaa-opa				
	1SG.PRO.ACC	REL	market-to				

an-ni-yo-ó go-IPF.PRES-1SG/3SGM-CLF

ifa 3SGM.PRO.ACC

akk-ay see-PF[3M] 'It's me who was going to the market who saw him.'

(22b)	i∫oonna a urmalaapa anniyaa?é i∫a akkay				
	i∫oonna	а	urmalaa-opa		
	2PL.PRO.ACC	REL	market-to		
	an-ni-yaa?-é		ifa		
	go-IPF.PRES-P-Cl	LF	3SGM.PRO.ACC		
	<i>akk-ay</i> see-PF[3M]				
	'It's you (PL) who went to the market and saw him.				
(22c)	i∫eenna a urmalaapa annittoó i∫a akkay				
	<i>ifeenna</i>	а	urmalaa-opa		

3SGF.PRO.ACC REL market-to *an-ni-ttu-ó ifa akk-ay* go-IPF.PRES-P-CLF 3SGM.PRO.ACC see-PF[3M] 'It's her who went to the market and saw him.'

It is also common for first person singular to add -ttu in the present imperfective.

In the future imperfective, except second person plural and third person plural, the remaining persons replace the future imperfective marker -a with -u. The second person plural, the third person plural and single reference nouns with plural gender value add -a? to the future imperfective suffix. Here are some examples:

anti? ?inantasi? ?urmalaapa antun upa					
anti-?	?inanta-si?	urmalaa-opa			
1SG.PRO-NOM	girl-DEF.M/F	market-to			
<i>an-t-u=in</i> go-3F-1SG/1PL/2S 'I know the girl wh	G/3SGM/3SGF = 1 o will go to the ma	<i>up-a</i> know-IPF.FUT ırket.'			
	anti? ?inantasi? ?urr anti-? 1SG.PRO-NOM an-t-u=in go-3F-1SG/1PL/2S 'I know the girl wh	anti? ?inantasi? ?urmalaapa antun upa anti-? ?inanta-si? 1SG.PRO-NOM girl-DEF.M/F an-t-u = in go-3F-1SG/1PL/2SG/3SGM/3SGF = 1 'I know the girl who will go to the mat			

(23b)antit tuparraasini? ?urmalaapa anaa? ?inupaanti-?tuparraa-sini?urmalaa-opa1SG.PRO-NOMgirl-DEF.M/Fmarket-to

an-aa? in = up-a
go-P 1 = know-IPF.FUT
'I know the girls who will go to the market.'

In the perfective, except the second person singular and third person singular feminine, the remaining persons have the third person masculine perfective suffix -ay. All plural persons add -ee? after -ay. The second person singular and third person singular feminine have the perfective marker -i. The following are demonstrative examples.

(24a)	hellaasin <i>hellaa-s</i> children	niχ χala h <i>ini?</i> -DEF.P	iirayee?in akkay <i>χala</i> yesterday	<i>hir-ay-ee?=in</i> run[PL]-PF[3M]-P=1
	<i>akk-ay</i> see-PF[3 'I saw tl	3M] ne childre	en who ran yeste	rday.'
(24b)	innaasin <i>innaa-si</i> children	iχ χala đ <i>ni?</i> -DEF.P	eyayee?in akkay <i>xala</i> yesterday	<i>dey-ay-ee?=in</i> come-PF[3M]-P=1
	<i>akk-ay</i> see-PF[3 'I saw tl	3M] ne child v	vho came yester	day.'
(24c)	inanta a	de?ti ide	ri	
	inanta	а	dey-t-i	i=der-i
	girl	REL	come-3F-PF	3 = be.tall-PF
	'The gir	l who can	me is tall.'	

In the subsequent subsections, I discuss word order in relative clauses, subject relative clauses, non-subject relative clauses and headless relative clauses.

9.4.1. Word order in relative clauses

In relative clauses with indefinite antecedent, the word order is that the head noun is followed by the relative particle **?a**. The relative particle is followed by the object, which, in turn, is followed by the verb as in (25a). With definite subjects, the head noun is followed by the object, which is, in turn, followed by the verb as in (25b). Note that despite the English translation in (25a), the head noun is indefinite.

(25a)	nama person 'The perso	a REL on who	sawwi Sawwe helped Sav	GaarGaar-ay help-PF[3M] wwe came.'	i=dey-ay 3=come-PF[3F]
(25b)	nama-si?		saww	ri GaarGaar-ay	

230)	nama-s17	saww1	GaarGaar-ay
	person-DEF.M/F	Sawwe	help-PF[3M]

i=dey-ay 3=come-PF[3M] 'The person who helped Sawwe came.'

In subject relative clauses, the word order is strict. For example, any reordering of the contituents of the example in (25a) yields unacceptable sentences, as in (26): (26a) is unacceptable because the relative particle occurs clause-initially. Similarly, sentence (26b) is unacceptable because the relative particle comes after the object noun **sawwe** (proper name); (26c) is unacceptable since the verb is moved from its clause-final position; (26d) is unacceptable because the object of the relative clause precedes the definite head noun.

(26a)	*a nam	a sawwe	GaarGaa	ar-ay	i = dey-ay
	REL pers	son Sawwe	help-PF	[3M]	3 = come-PF[3M]
	(intended:	'The person w	who helped	Sawwe ca	me.')
(26b)	*nama	sawwe a	GaarG	aar-ay	i=dey-ay
	person	Sawwe R	EL help-P	PF[3M	3=come-PF[3M]
	(intended:	'The person w	who helped	Sawwe ca	me.')
(26c)	*a Gaar	rGaar-ay	nama	sawwe	i=dey-ay
	REL help	o-PF[3M]	person	Sawwe	3=come-PF[3M]
	(intended:	'The person w	who helped	Sawwe ca	me.')
(26d)	*sawwe na *sawwe sawwe	masiG GaarGa <i>nama-si?</i> person-DEF	aray ideyay F.M/F 1	<i>GaarGaar-a</i> help-PF[3N	ly /]
	1 = dey - ay				

3 = come-PF[3M] (intended: 'The person who helped sawwe came.')

In object relative clauses, the reordering of the subject and object is needed. In (27a), we have a subject relative clause but an object relative clause in (27b).

(27a)	hellaasiniG Golpa	isi? ?i∬ayee? ?iGaGGapamin
	hellaa-sini?	Golpa-si?
	children-DEF.P	he-goat-DEF.M/F
	<i>?iff-ay-ce?</i> kill-PF[3M]-P	i = GaG-Gap-am-i-n 3 = PL-catch-PAS-PF-P to be leited the begin potential of the second secon
		to kined the ne-goat were caught.

(27b)Golpaytasee a hellaasini? ?i∬in iGalamay
Golpayta-si=i?ahellaa-sini??i∬-i-nhe-goat-DEF.M/F=3RELchildren-DEF.Pkill-PF-P

i=Gal-am-ay
3=slaughter-PAS-PF[3M]
'The he-goat that the children killed was slaughtered.'

9.4.2. Subject relative clauses

In subject relative clauses, the head noun is the subject of the relative clause. Subject relative clauses can be headed by a definite head noun (28a-b) or an indefinite head noun (28c-d).

(28a) filaasinip patayee? ?iteyaɗin *filaa-sini? pat-ay-ee?* comb-DEF.P be.lost-PF[3M]-P

> *i=teyad-i-n* 3=find.MID-PF-P 'The comb that went missing was found.'

(28b) orrasiG Goraa Guuray ideyay orra-si? Goraa Guur-ay people-DEF.M/F trees cut[PL]-PF[3M]

> *i=dey-ay* 3=come-PF[3M] 'The people who cut trees came.'

- (28c) tika a pald-a? i=paGaar-i house REL be.wide-M/F 3=be.good-PF 'A house that is wide is good.'
- (28d) orra a Goraa Guur-ay i=dey-ay people REL trees cut[PL]-PF[3M] 3=come-PF[3M] 'People who cut trees came.'

9.4.3. Non-subject relative clauses

In non-subject relative clauses, the head noun is not the subject of the clause. In such relative clauses, the object of the verb can be relativised. In (29) the object **?okkatta** 'cow' is relativised as a definite object head noun (29a) and as an indefinite head noun in (29b).

(29a)	anti? ?okkattasik k	atamayin ak	kay				
	anti-?	okkatta-si'i	e k	at-am-ay=in	akk-ay		
	1SG.PRO-NOM	cow-DEF.	M/F se	ell-PAS-PF[3M] = 1	see-[3M]		
	'I saw the cow that	it was sold.'					
(29b)	anti? ?okkatta a katamayin akkay						
	anti-?	okkatta	а	kat-am-ay=in			
	1SG.PRO-NOM	cow	REL	sell-PAS-PF[3M]=1		
	akk-ay						
	see-[3M]						
	'I saw a cow that	was sold.'					

In non-subject relative clauses, the object of the dative can also be relativised. In (30a), object noun in the dative phrase **konfa** 'shorts' is relativised. In (30b), (irrespective of the English translation) the indefinite dative object **ohta** 'blanket' is relativised.

(30a)	konfaseen kappoolip pidday ikeray					
	konfa-si?	a=in	kappoole-?			
	shorts-DEF.M/F	REL = 1	kappoole-DAT			
	pidd-ay	<i>i=ker-ay</i>				
	buy[SG]-PF[3M] 3 = be.old-PF[3M]					
	'The shorts that I bought for Kappoole got worn out.'					
(201)	1, 11, 1.1.	c · 01 1 c				

(30b) ohta ak kantoolid daassi ?baldi
ohta a=i? kantoole-? daaf-t-i i=bald-i
blanket REL=2 kantoole-DAT give-2-PF 3=be.wide-PF
'The blanket that you (SG) gave to Kantoole was wide.'

In non-subject clauses, the object of the postposition can be relativised, as in (31).

(31)	Goyraseen Garaa luukkata pohay imuramay					
	<i>Goyra-si?=in</i>	Garaa	luukkata			
	tree-DEF.M/F = 1	on	fruit			
	poh-ay	i=mur-a	am-ay			
	harvest-PF[3M]	3 = cut[S]	G]-PAS-PF[3M]			
	'The tree that I pick	ked the fru	its from was cut.			

9.4.4. Headless relative clauses

Headless relative clauses are characterised by not having overt head nouns. This is shown in the following examples:

(32a)	an i∫a akkinu male anɗe?nu					
	a=in	ifa	akki-n-u			
	REL = 1	3SGM.PRO[ACC]	see-1PL-NEG.IPF.FUT			
	<i>male</i> without 'Unless w	<i>an=dey-n-u</i> 1NEG = come-1PL-NE te see him, we shall not	EG.IPF.FUT come (back).'			
(32b)	aa inun ak	tkin male indeyan				
	a=i	inu=in	akk-n			
	REL = 3	1PL.PRO[ACC] = 3NE	EG see-P			
	male	in=dey-a-n				

without 3NEG = come-IPF.FUT-P'Unless they see us, they will not come (back).'

10. Interrogative clauses

In this chapter I analyse the morphological, syntactic and lexical properties of polar interrogatives. I also describe tag questions and content questions.

10.1. Polar interrogatives

Polar questions which elicit 'yes' or 'no' answers are marked by lengthening a final o or a of the questioned word or by adding the suffix -e when a final constituent in a sentence has a final -i or a consonant. They are also characterised by having a rising intonation. When a sentence final nominal ends in a long vowel, polar interrogatives are marked only by the rising intonation (Black 1973; Ongaye 2000). The polar interrogatives in (1) are formed from single nouns, those in (2) are formed from proper names, and those in (3) are formed from cardinal numerals.

- (1a) tikaa *tika-a* house-Q 'Is it a house?'
- (1b) piʃaa *piʃaa-a* water-Q 'Is it water?'
- (2a) Orxaytoo Orxayto-o Orxayto-Q 'Is it Orxayto?'
- (2b) **χasootee χasoote-e χasoote-Q** 'Is it χasoote?'
- (2c) Okittaa *Okitta-a* Okitta-Q 'Is it Okitta?'
- (3a) ken-e five-Q 'Is it five?'

210

(3b) lakkee *lakki-e* two-Q 'Is it two?'

The following are sentential examples. The examples in (4) are affirmative declarative sentences while those in (5) are their polar interrogative counterparts.

(4a)	Antut tikupa ideya					
	Antu-?	tika-opa	i=dey-a			
	Anto-NOM	house-to	3 = come-IPF.FUT			
	'Anto will con	ne home.'				
(4b)	χormasi? ?ikat	amay				
	xorma-si? i=kat-am-ay					
	ox-DEF.M/F	3 = sell-PA	S-PF[3M]			
	'The ox was so	old.'				
(5a)	Antut tikupa ?i	ɗeyaa				
	Antu-?	tika-opa	i=dey-a-a			
	Anto-NOM	house-to	3 = come-IPF.FUT-Q			
	'Will Anto cor	ne home?'				
(5b)	χormasi? ?ikat	amaye				
	χorma-si?	i=kat-an	n-ay-e			
	ox-DEF.M/F	3 = sell-P	PAS-PF[3M]-Q			

As can be seen from the examples in (4) and (5), polar interrogatives are formed from declaratives either by lengthening the final vowel (in this case, vowel a) of the declarative as in (5a) or by adding the suffix -e when the declarative has a final consonant as in (5b). The following are additional sentential interrogative examples with the suffix -e:

(6a) hellaasini? ?ide?nee
hellaa-sini? i=dey-ni-e
children-DEF.P 3 = come-IPF.PRES-Q
'Are the children coming?' or
'Do the children come?'

'Was the ox sold?'

(6b) namasi? ?ideree *nama-si? i=der-i-e* person-DEF.M/F 3=be.tall-PF-Q 'Is the person tall?' Responses to polar interrogative may be **aa** 'yes' or **inna**?(**a**) 'no', as illustrated respectively in (7b) and (7c), which are responses to (7a). The 'yes' or 'no' responses may be followed by explanatory sentences.

(7a)	antut tikupa ideyaa				
	antu-?	tika-opa	i=dey-a-a		
	?anto-NOM	house-to	3 = come-IPF.FUT-Q		
	'Will ?anto co	ome home?'			

- (7b) aa (i=dey-a) yes (3=come-IPF.FUT) 'Yes. (He will come.)'
- (7c) inna?(a) (in=dey-u) no (3NEG=come-NEG.IPF.FUT) 'No. (He will not come.)'

Polar interrogatives are also very common in conversational discourse and are mostly found in greetings (see also Section 13.3). The following are illustrative examples.

- (8a) **nakaytaa** *nakayta-a* health-Q 'How are you?'
- (8b) iffapaannee i?=fapaad-ni-e 2=be.strong-IPF.PRES-Q 'Are you getting strong?'

Note that confirmation or echo-questions are also formed by lengthening the final vowel **o** or **a** of the declarative or by adding suffix -**e** when the final constituent of a sentence has a final -**i** or a consonant. The following are illustrative examples.

(9a) aynoo ayno-o who-Q 'Who(, did you say)?'
9b) anaa ana-a 1SG.PRO.OBJ-Q '(Did you mean) me?' 212

- (9c) ayno-o kal-ay-e who-Q come.home-PF-Q 'Who came(, did you say)?'
- (9d) a de?too ?a de?-t-u-u PT come-3F-OPT-Q 'Let her come(, did you say)?'

10.2. Tag questions

Tag questions are marked by suffix -n(n). This suffix appears single when a consonant follows it as in (10a) or as a geminate when followed by a vowel as in (10b). Sometimes, tag questions appear with the verb root kid- 'say'.

(10a)	inantasi? ?ide?tin kid-a					
	inanta-si?	i=dcy-t-i-n	kid-a			
	girl-DEF.M/F	3 = come-3F-PF-TAG	say-IPF.FUT			
	'The girl came,	didn't she?'	-			

(10b) ikalayinne *i=kal-ay-nn-e*3 = return.home-PF-TAG-Q
'He returned home, didn't he?'

The suffixes that mark tag question and the instrumental (see Section 3.2.4) are homophonous. The rules that apply to add single (-n) or geminate (-nn) are also identical in these two cases.

10.3. Content questions

In (11), I list the content question words.

(11)	maana	'what?'
	aytam(u)	'when?'
	aynu	'who?'
	ay∫aa	'where?'
	meeGaa	'how many?'
	atta	'how?'
	maana?i	'why?'
	maana malla	'why?/for what reason?'
	a ?aynu	'whose?'
	axaamu	'which one?'
	?axaamane?	'which ones?'

In the above list, the content question word maana?i 'why?' is formed from maana 'what?' and the dative suffix -?. In fast utterances, maana?i 'why?' is

also pronounced as **maani?** 'why?'. The content question word **a aynu** 'whose?' is formed from the genitive particle **a** and **aynu** 'who?'. It seems that the content question words **axaamu** and **axaamane?** are formed by the same strategy, but **xaamu** and **xaamane?** do not exist on their own.

The following are examples containing content questions.

- (12a) aytamud de?ti aytamu=i? dey-t-i when = 2 come-2-PF 'When did you (SG) come?'
- (12b) Apittu? ?ayʃaa ca *Apittu-?* ayʃaa=i kiy-a Apitto-NOM where=3 be-IPF-FUT 'Where is Apitto?'
- (12c) orrasi? ?attaa karmaasi? ?iffay orra-si? ?atta = i karmaa-si? iff-ay people-DEF.M/F how = 3 lion-DEF.M/F kill[SG]-PF[3M] 'How did the people kill the lion?'
- (12d) maana?=in dey-a why=1 come-IPF.FUT 'Why should I come?'

The associative particle opa occurs with the content question word aynu 'who?' to mark a plural subject. This is demonstrated in (13).

(13) opa aynoo deyay
 opa aynu-o dey-ay
 ASS who-Q come-PF[3M]
 'Who (and their associates) came?'

The content question word for 'how much?' is formed from the particle **a**, the content question word **atta** 'how' and the verb root kit- 'to be'. Gender is marked on the verb root. The following are illustrative examples.

(14a)	aannaa a a	atta caa?ih	heenta		
	aannaa	а	atta	kiy-aa?=i?	heent-a
	milk	GEN	how	be-P=2	want-IPF.FU7
	'How mu	ch milk d	o you (SG) want?'	

(14b) daammaa a atta coo pidditi daammaa kiv-o=ipidd-t-i a atta flour REL how be-3M=3buy[SG]-3F-PF 'How much flour did she buy?' (14c) alleetaasid dooggita a atta kitto pirta alleeta-asi? dooggita atta kit-t-o а hut-DEM.M/F be-3F-IPF.FUT mud which how pir-t-a finish-3F-IPF.FUT 'How much mud will this hut consume (to build it)?'

The dative suffix is attached to aynu 'who?' to express an indirect object. With meeGaa 'how many?', the dative suffix shows a specific amount/number. With aytam(u) 'when', it marks a specific temporal adverb. The following are illustrative examples.

- (15a) aynu-?=in daaʃ-a who-DAT=1 give-IPF.FUT 'Who shall I give (it) to?'
- (15b) meeGaa?in xormasik kanna meeGaa-?=in xorma-si? kat-n-a how.many-DAT=1 ox-DEF.M/F sell-1PL-IPF.FUT 'For how much (money) shall we sell the ox?'
- (15c) aytamu?e χ ooraa Gapti *aytamu-?=i* χ ooraa Gap-t-i when-DAT=3 appointment hold-3F-PF 'For when did she arrange an appointment?'

From the question word ayfaa 'where?', it is possible to form questions that elicit a person's place of birth/residence or nationality. Such questions are derived by the singulative suffixes -itta for masculine (16a), -itteeta for feminine (16b) and -ta for plural (16c).

- (16a) ay**fitta** ay**faa-itta** where-M 'Where is he from?'
- (16b) ay∫itteeta ay∫aa-itta where-F 'Where is she from?'

(16c) **ayʃaa-ta** where-P 'Where are they from?'

In the following examples, the subjects are first person (17) and second person (18). In these cases subject clitics an = for first person and a? = for second person are required.

- (17a) an?ayjitta an = ?ayjaa-itta 1 = where-M 'Where am I from?'
- (17b) an?ayʃitteeta an = ?ayʃaa-itteeta 1 = where-F 'Where am I from?'
- (18a) a??ayfitta
 a?=?ayfaa-itta
 2=where-M
 'Where are you (SGM) from?'
- (18b) a??ayʃitteeta a?=?ayʃaa-itteeta 2=where-F 'Where are you (SGF) from?'

First and second person plurals require independent personal pronouns, (19).

- (19a) inon ayfaata *inu-?=?an* ayfaa-ta 1PL.PRO-NOM=1 where-P 'Where are we from?'
- (19b) ifinna? ?ayfaata *ifinna-?=a?* ayfaa-ta 2PL.PRO-NOM=2 where-P 'Where are you (PL) from?'

The ordinal suffix -atta is added to the content question word *meeGaa* 'how many?' to elicit information about the rank of someone in a group. This can be seen from the example in (20).

```
(20) meeGattaa sookti

meeGaa-atta=i sook-t-i

how.many-ORD=3 exit-3F-PF

'What did she rank?'
```

The genitive particle **a** occurs with question words and assigns various meanings: with **meeGaa** 'how many?', it yields a specific quantity (21).

(21) **faGaa a meeGaá?in pidda** *faGaa a meeGaá-?=in pidd-a* local.beer GEN how.many-GEN=1 buy[SG]-IPF.FUT 'How many birrs worth of local beer should I buy?'

In the examples that we have seen so far, there is only one question word per sentence. However, it is possible to have two or more question words in the same sentence when the speaker misses the information provided by other speech participants. For instance, each of the following sentences has two question words.

(22a)	<i>ayno-o</i> who-CLF 'Who boug	<i>maana</i> what ht what?'	<i>pic</i> bu	<i>ld-ay</i> y-PF[31	M]
(22b)	ayno-o who-CLF 'Who beat	aynu who.O whom?'	BJ	G id-ay beat-P	/ PF[3M]
(22c)	aynoo aynu ayno-ó who-CLF.C 'Who beat y (lit., 'Who i	G Giɗay 20BJ v whom?' is it that v	<i>ynu-?</i> vho-N who be	OM eat?')	<i>Gid-ay</i> beat-PF[3M]

Each of the following examples contains three question words.

(23a)	ayoo aynum maana ɗaa∫ay					
	ayo-o	aynu-?	maana	daaf-ay		
	who-CLF	who-DAT	what	give-PF[3M]		
	'Who gave	what to whom?	?'	5 1 3		
(23b)	ayoo ay∫am	maana akkay				
	ayo-o	ay∫a <i>-1</i>	maana	akk-ay		
	who-CLF	where-LOC	what	see-PF		
	'Who saw y	what where?'				

11. Negation

In this chapter, I analyse negation. The chapter has three sections. Section 11.1 treats verbal negation in declarative clauses. Section 11.2 deals with negation in nominal sentences. Section 11.3 presents lexical negation.

11.1. Negation in declarative sentences

Negation in declarative sentences is marked by subject clitics and/or negative suffixes on the verb. The forms of negative subject clitics are an = for first persons, $a^2 =$ for second persons and in = for third persons. Note that the form of the negative subject clitic for third persons and the form of the affirmative subject clitic for first persons are homophonous. The forms of the negative suffixes on the verb vary according to aspect as discussed below.

11.1.1. Negative Perfective

The negative marker in the perfective is the suffix -n. This morpheme precedes the perfective aspect marker -i. Except for the first person plural and second person plural, subject personal pronouns are optional. In other words, first person plural and second person plural require subject personal pronouns. Number and gender is not marked on the negative perfective verb.

(1a)	antic Goyrasi? ?ar anti-? 1SG.PRO-NOM 'I did not cut the	mmurri <i>Goyra-si?</i> tree-DEF. tree.'	M/F	<i>an=mur-n-i</i> 1NEG=cut[SG]-NEG-PF
(1b)	ifinat tikupa adde <i>ifina-?</i> 2PL.PRO-NOM 'You (PL) did not	ni <i>tika-opa</i> house-to t come home.'	<i>a?=a</i> 2NEC	<i>Gey-n-i</i> } = come-NEG-PF
(1c)	inantasip pi∫aasini <i>inanta-si?</i> girl-DEF.M/F 'The girl did not t	i? ?in?oraapni <i>pifaa-sini?</i> water-P fetch the water.	in = 2 , 3NEC	<i>braap-n-i B</i> = fetch-NEG-PF

Without overt subjects, the present imperfective affirmative for first person singular is segmentally identical to that of the perfective negative for third persons. The affirmative and negative distinction for these persons is made by tone: a low tone marks the present imperfective affirmative for first person singular as in (2a), while a high tone marks perfective negative for third persons as in (2b).

- (2a) immukni in=muk-ni 1NEG-sleep-IPF.PRES 'I sleep.'
- (2b) immukní in = muk-n-í 3NEG = sleep-NEG-PF 'He/She/They did not sleep.'

The paradigm in (3) is an additional example. The optional subject pronouns are left out in the paradigm. The verb root used in the paradigm is **muk**-'sleep'. Note that the alveolar nasal of the first person and third person subject clitics, and the glottal stop of the second person subject clitic are realised as **m** due to assimilation.

(3)	ammukni	an=muk-n-í	'I did not sleep.'
	inom mukni	ino=an muk-n-i	'We did not sleep.'
	ammukni	a?=muk-n-i	'You (SG) did not sleep.'
	i∫inam mukni	i∫in=a? muk-n-i	'You (PL) did not sleep.'
	immukni	in=muk-n-i	'He/she/they did not sleep.'

Sometimes, the lexeme nama 'person' is used instead of the first person plural subject pronoun in negative verbs in all aspects. For example, in (4a) we have an interrogative sentence for which a negative answer is given with the first person subject pronoun in (4b), and with the lexeme nama 'person, man' in (4c). The latter renders the sentence impersonal.

- (4a) χ ormasip patay itteytinee χ orma-si? pat-ay i?=tey-t-i-n-e ox-DEF.M/F lose-PF 2=find-2-PF-P-Q 'Did you (PL) find the lost ox?'
- (4b) inon teyni *ino=an tey-n-i* 1PL.PRO.NOM=1NEG find-1PL-PF 'We did not find it.'
- (4c) naman teyni *nama=in tey-n-i* person=3NEG find-NEG-PF 'We did not find it.' (lit.: 'A person did not find it.')

Bliese and Sokka (1986:22) provide an example (adapted here) from the Karatte dialect in which the negative for first person plural occurs without either an overt personal subject pronoun or the lexeme **nama** 'person'. In my dialect, the example must have the first person singular as the subject and example (5) would be ungrammatical.

(5) *andámmi an = dám-n-i 1NEG = eat-NEG-PF 'I/We did not eat.'

11.1.2. Negative future imperfective

In the future imperfective, negation is marked by the subject clitic for all persons, and, except for second person plural and third person plural, also by the negative suffix -u on the verb. The second person plural and third person plural do not have the negative suffix -u on the verb. All subject personal pronouns can be left out. The following are illustrative examples.

- (6a) dettow $an = \chi a$?-u early 1NEG = wake.up-IPF.FUT.NEG 'I will not wake up so early.'
- (6b) Goyrasi? ?ammurtu *Goyra-si?* a?=mur-t-u tree-DEF.M/F 2NEG=cut[SG]-2-IPF.FUT.NEG 'You (SG) will not cut the tree.'
- (6c) inantasif fatanaappa impi?tu *inanta-si? fatanaa-oppa* girl-DEF.M/F exam-in

in=pi?-t-u 3NEG = fail-3F-IPF.FUT.NEG 'The girl will not fail in the exam.'

The sentences in (7) are equivalent affirmative forms of the examples in (6):

- (7a) dettow in = χ a?-a early 1 = wake.up-IPF.FUT 'I will wake up so early.'
- (7b) Goyrasi? ?immurta *Goyra-si? i?=mur-t-a* tree-DEF.M/F 2=cut[SG]-2-IPF.FUT 'You (SG) will cut the tree.'

(7c)	inantasif fatanaappa ?ipi?ta			
	inanta-si?	fatanaa-oppa	i=pi?-t-a	
	girl-DEF.M/F	exam-in	3NEG = fail-3F-IPF.FUT	
	'The girl will fa	il in the exam.'		

Consider the paradigms in (8) as well.

(8a)	ammuku	< in=muk-u	'I will not sleep.'
	ammuknu	< an=muk-n-u	'We will not sleep.'
	ammuktu	< a?=muk-t-u	'You (SG) will not sleep.'
	ammuktan	< a?=muk-t-a-n	'You (PL) will not sleep.'
	immuku	< in=muk-u	'He will not sleep.'
	immuktu	< in=muk-t-u	'She will not sleep.'
	immukan	< in=muk-a-n	'They will not sleep.'
(8b)	immuka	< in=muk-a	'I will sleep.'
	immukna	< in=muk-n-a	'We will sleep.'
	immukta	< <i>i?=muk-t-</i> a	'You (SG) will sleep.'
	immuktan	< i?=muk-t-a-n	'You (PL) will sleep.'
	imuka	< i=muk-a	'He will sleep.'
	imukta	< i=muk-t-a	'She will sleep.'
	imukan	< i=muk-a-n	'They will sleep.'

From the examples in (6) and (7), as well as the paradigms in (8), we can see that negation in the future imperfective is marked by the suffix -u while affirmative future imperfective is marked by the suffix -a.

11.1.3. Negative present imperfective

Generally, the negative present imperfective is characterised by a main and auxiliary verb construction plus a set of (negative) subject clitics and, depending on the person/number of the subject, an additional negation marker -u/o. In the negative present imperfective of the verbs up- 'know', sah- 'be able to', pah- 'resemble, look like' and heen- 'want', the auxiliary verb is not used (see below in the present section). When the subject is first or second person, the subject clitics are attached to both the main and auxiliary verb (9a-d). When the subject is third person, the subject clitics are attached only to the existential verb (9e-g). In addition, when the subject is singular or first person plural, a negation marker -u/o is affixed at the final slot of the existential verb, but when the subject is second person plural or third person plural, the negation marker u/o is not affixed to the existential verb (compare example (9d) and (9g) to the other examples in (9)). The negative suffix is realised as -o when the form of the existential verb has a final palatal consonant. It occurs as -u when the existential verb has a final alveolar consonant. The following are illustrative examples:

(9a)	ankeerri anco an = keer-ni 1NEG = run[SG]-IPF.Pl 'I do not run.'	RES	<i>an = kiy-o</i> 1NEG = be-NEG
(9b)	anhirri ankinnu an=hir-ni 1NEG=run[PL]-IPF.PI 'We do not run.'	RES	<i>an=kit-n-u</i> 1NEG=be-1PL-NEG
(9c)	akkeerri akkittu a?=keer-ni 2NEG=run[SG]-IPF.Pl 'You (SG) do not run.'	RES	<i>a?=kit-t-u</i> 2NEG=be-2-NEG
(9d)	ahhirri akkittan <i>a?=hir-ni</i> 2NEG=run[PL]-IPF.PI 'You (PL) do not run.'	RES	<i>a?=kit-t-a-n</i> 2NEG=be-2-IPF.FUT-P
(9e)	keerri inco <i>keer-ni</i> run[SG]-IPF.PRES 'He does not run.'	<i>in=ki</i> y 3NEG	<i>v-o</i> = be-NEG
(9f)	keerri inkittu <i>keer-ni</i> run[SG]-IPF.PRES 'She does not run.'	<i>in=k</i> 3NEC	<i>tit-t-u</i> G=be-3F-NEG
(9g)	hirri incan <i>hir-ni</i> run[PL]-IPF.PRES	<i>in=kiy</i> 3NEG	<i>v-a-n</i> = be-IPF.FUT-P

'They do not run.'

In fast speech, the negative subject clitics of the existential verb are often encliticised to the main verb. This encliticisation deletes the glottal stop of the subject clitics. This in turn results in vowel coalescence for first and second persons: i+a=ee as shown in (10a). For third persons, the final vowel of the present imperfective suffix and the initial vowel of the negative subject clitic become a short vowel (i+i=i) as illustrated in (10b).

(10a)	kawwattasi? ?addawneek kittu				
	kawwatta-si?	a?=daw-ni=a?	kit-t-u		
	terrace-DEF.M/F	2.NEG-build-IPF.PRES = $2NEG$	be-2-NEG		
	'You (SG) are not building the terrace.'				

(10b)	i∫ax xar∫a ɗammin co)		
	ifa-?	χar∫a	dam-ni = in	kiy-o
	3SGM.PRO-NOM	beans	eat-IPF.PRES $=$ 3NEG	be-NEG
	'He does not eat bear	ns.'		

With overt objects, it is possible to have three negative subject clitics for first and second person: one occurs with the object as a prefix, the second one with the main verb and the third one with the existential verb. Compare (11a-b) with (11c-d).

(11a)	aGGoyrasi? ?ammurri	
	a?=Goyra-si?	a?=mur-n-i
	2NEG = tree-DEF.M/F	2NEG = cut[SG]-NEG-PF
	'You (SG) did not cut the	tree.'

(11b)	anxormoosi? ?anpiddu	
	an=xorma-osi?	an=pidd-u
	1 NEG = ox-DEM.M/F	1NEG = buy[SG]-IPF.FUT.NEG
	'I will not buy this ox.'	

(11c) an $\chi ar \int a$ and αmni anco $an = \chi ar \int a$ $an = d\alpha m-ni$ an = kiy-o1NEG = beans 1NEG-eat-IPF.PRES 1NEG-be-NEG 'I do not eat beans.'

(11d)	addillaa ?aGGonni akkittu				
	a?=dillaa	a?=Got-ni	a?=kit-t-u		
	2NEG = fields	2NEG-dig-IPF.PRES	2NEG = be-2-NEG		
	'You (SG) do no				

The negative subject clitics that occur with overt objects are optional, (12).

- (12a) Goyrasi? ?ammurri Goyra-si? a?=mur-n-i tree-DEF.M/F 2NEG=cut[SG]-NEG-PF 'You (SG) did not cut the tree.'
- (12b) xormoosi? ?anpiddu xorma-osi? an = pidd-u ox-DEM.M/F 1NEG = buy[SG]-IPF.FUT.NEG 'I will not buy this ox.'
- (12c) χarf_a and αmni anco χarf_a an = dam-ni an = kiy-obeans 1NEG-eat-IPF.PRES 1NEG-be-NEG 'I do not eat beans.'

The verb roots in (13a) do not require the existential verb for negation in the present imperfective as shown in (13b-d). In 6.2.1.2, we also saw that these verb roots differ from other verb roots in that they do not attach the present imperfective aspect marker **-ni**.

- (13a) up- 'know' sah- 'be able to' pah- 'resemble, look like' heen- 'want'
- (13b) χ opoosini??anheenu χ opaa-osini? an = heen-ushoes-DEM.P 1NEG = want-NEG'I do not want these shoes.'
- (13c) i**f**ak kawwatta ɗawiya insahu *ifa-? kawwatta ɗaw-iya* 3SGM.PRO-NOM terrace build-VN

in=sah-u 3NEG-be.able.to-NEG 'He is not able to build a terrace.'

(13d) ifina? ?oli a??uptan *ifina-? oli* 2PL.PRO-NOM each.other

> *?a?=?up-t-a-n* 2NEG = know-2-IPF.FUT-P 'You (PL) do not know each other.'

11.1.4. Negative dependent

Negative dependent in conditional clauses and temporal clauses is marked by negative subject clitics, as well as negative suffixes. Here are some examples:

oon ankalin kikawpan ɗeya			
00-n	an=kal-	in	ke
if-N	1 NEG = 1	return.home-NEG	2SG.PRO.ACC
<i>kapa-c</i> near-to 'If I do	ppa = in p = 1 po not return	<i>dey-a</i> come-IPF.FUT rn home, I will come	e to you.'
	oon an oo-n if-N <i>kapa-c</i> near-to 'If I do	oon ankalin kika oo-n an=kal- if-N 1NEG = kapa-opa = in near-to = 1 'If I do not retu	oon ankalin kikawpan ɗeya $oo-n$ $an = kal-in$ if-N $1NEG = return.home-NEG$ $kapa-opa = in$ $dey-a$ near-to = 1come-IPF.FUT'If I do not return home, I will come

(14b)	kanɗen urmalaapa anaanin koɗaasi? ?inki? ?iyyaɗakanɗe-nurmalaa-opaan = aan-inif-Nmarket-to1NEG = go-NEG
	kodaa-si?in = ki-?iyyad-awork-DEF.M/F1 = 2SG.PRO.ACC-DAThelp-IPF.FUT'If I did not go to the market, I will help you with the work.'
(14c)	an i∫a akkinu male anɗe?nu a=in ifa akki-n-u REL=1 3SGM.PRO[OBJ] see-PL-NEG.IPF.FUT
	malean=dey-n-uwithout1NEG = come-PL-NEG.IPF.FUT'Unless we see him, we shall not come (back).'
(14d)	kandee punu de?ta ohtaisi? ?ijeenna? ?andaajo kande=i punu dey-t-a ohta-si? if=3 even come-3F-IPF.FUT cloth-DEF.M/F
	<i>ifeenna-?</i> 3SGF.PRO[ACC]-DAT 'Even if she comes, I will not give her the cloth.'
(14e)	awtan ankeerin, i∫a anGaddaapuawta-nan=keer-ini∫awhen=N1NEG=run-PF3SGM.PRO[ACC]
	an = Caddaan_u

an = Gaddaap-u 1NEG = catch.up.with-NEG 'When I do not run, I don't catch up with him.'

For additional examples and details, see conditional clauses in Section 12.1.1 and temporal clauses in Section 12.1.2.

11.1.5. Prohibitives with opa

Prohibition is expressed by opa (or its short form o) and negative subject clitics on the existential verb. The sentences in (15a and 16a) are interrogatives and those in (15b and 16b) are responses expressing prohibition. The responses may occur with inna? 'no' as in (16c).

- (15a) tikaayfupa i?annee tika-ayfu-opa i=an-ni-ehouse-POSS.M/F.3PL-to 3=go-IPF.PRES-Q 'Is it possible to go to their house?'
- (15b) opa annin can opa 2an-ni=in kiy-a-nPROH go-IPF.PRES=3.NEG be-IPF.PRES-P 'It is forbidden to go (in).'
- (16a) kupalaata idammee kupalaata i=dam-ni-erabbit 3=eat-IPF.PRES-Q'Is rabbit eaten?'
- (16b) opa dammin can *opa dam-ni=in kiy-a-n* PROH eat-IPF.PRES=3.NEG be-IPF.PRES-P 'It is forbidden to eat (rabbit).'
- (16c) inna? ?opa ɗammin can *inna? opa ɗam-ni=in* no PROH eat-IPF.PRES=3.NEG

kiy-a-n be-IPF.PRES-P 'No! It is forbidden to eat (rabbit).'

11.1.6. Negative imperative

As discussed in Section 6.4.1, the affirmative imperative verb is marked by -i when the addressee is singular and by -a when it is plural, but it is not marked with subject clitics. Negative imperatives, on the other hand, have negative subject clitics. In addition, the negative imperative verb is marked by the suffix -an, for both singular and plural addressee. Consider the following examples:

- (17a) **in = aan-an** 2NEG = go-NEG.IMP.SG/PL '(You (SG/PL)) Do not go!'
- (17b) Goyraasi? ?immuran Goyra-asi? i?=mur-an tree-DEM.M/F 2NEG=cut[SG]-NEG.IPM '(You (SG/PL)) Do not cut the tree!'

11.1.7. Negative optatives

Negative optative is marked on the verb by the negative subject clitic in = and the negative suffix -in on the verb. These morphemes do not distinguish number; both third person singular and plural are marked by these morphemes, as illustrated in (18a and 18b). Number is sometimes expressed in the lexical root if the root is inherently plural, as is the case in (18b).

- (18a) in=?aan-in 3NEG=go-NEG.OPT 'Let him/her/them not go.'
- (18b) in=hir-in 3NEG=run[PL]-NEG.OPT 'Let them not run.'

11.1.8. Negation in adjectival clauses

Negation in adjectival clauses requires an adjectival root and the existential verb. Negative subject clitics occur with the adjectival root for first and second persons but not for third person subject. Likewise, negative suffixes do not occur with the adjectival root for all persons. The existential verb in adjectival clauses contains negative subject clitics for all persons. Moreover, except for second person plural and third person plural, the remaining persons occur with negative suffixes on the existential verb. (See Section 11.1.3, where similar restrictions are observed in non-adjectival lexical verbs). The negative suffixes are -u/o. Plural subjects require the reduplication of the adjectival root's initial $C_1V(C_1)$ for number agreement. Subject personal pronouns are optional. The following are illustrative examples:

(19a)	anderi anco				
	an=der-i	an=kiy-o			
	1 NEG = be.tall-PF	1 NEG = be-NEG			
	'I am not tall.'				

- (19b) addedderi akkittan a?=ded-der-i a?=kit-t-a-n 2NEG = PL-be.tall-PF 2NEG = be-2-IPF.FUT-P'You (PL) are not tall.'
- (19c) **der-i** in=kit-t-u be.tall-PF 3NEG=be-3F-NEG 'She is not tall.'

Inchoative adjectival clauses contain the suffix -aad. Furthermore, all persons have negative subject clitics. Except for second person plural and third person

plural, the remaining persons occur with a negative suffix on the adjectival root. In (20a-b) are sentential examples with the adjectival root der- 'be tall, long'. In (20c), I give the surface form of the complete paradigm.

- (20a) anderaadu an = der-aad-u 1NEG = be.tall-INCH-NEG.IPF.FUT 'I will not become tall.'
- (20b) addedderaattan
 a?=ded-der-aad-t-a-n
 2NEG = PL-be.tall-INCH-2-IPF.FUT-P
 'You (PL) will become tall.'

anderaadu	'I will not become tall.'
andedderaannu	'We will not become tall.'
adderaattu	'You (SG) will not become tall.
addedderaattan	'You (PL) will become tall.'
inderaadu	'He will become tall.'
inderaattu	'She will not become tall.'
indedderaadan	'They will not become tall.'
	anderaadu andedderaannu adderaattu addedderaattan inderaadu inderaattu indedderaadan

11.2. Negation in nominal clauses

Negation in nominal clauses is marked by the clause final clitic **-nnin**. The following are illustrative examples:

(21a)	senit tuuyyawwaannimma xarxarayaa		
	seni?	tuuyyawwaa-nnin-ma	xarxarayaa
	DEM.PL	pigs-NEG-but	warthogs
	'These are	_	

(21b) **an=akim-itta-nnin** < hakim 'physician' Amh.> 1 = physician-AGENT.SGM-NEG 'I am not a physician.'

In the future imperfective, nominal clauses require the verb root kodd- 'become' to which negative subject clitics and a negative suffix are added. Here are some examples:

(22a)	akim-itta	an=kodd-u
	physician-AGENT.SGM	1NEG = become-IPF.FUT.NEG
'I will not become a physiciar		n.'

- (22b) akim-itteeta in = kodd-u physician-AGENT.SGM 1NEG = become-IPF.FUT.NEG 'He will not become a physician.'
- (22c) akim-iyyaa in=kodd-a-n physician-AGENT.PL 3NEG=become-IPF.FUT-P 'They will not become physicians.'

Possessive nominal clauses also add the clitic **-nnin** to express negation. The following are illustrative examples:

- (23a) init tikaawunnin *ini? tika-aawu-nnin* DEM.M/F house-1SG.POSS.M/F-NEG 'This is not my house.'
- (23b) dila-adi-nnin field-3SG.POSS-NEG 'It is not his/her field.'

The verb root kid- 'say' is sometimes used with object form of pronouns in negative clauses. Negative subject clitics as well as the negative suffix -n occur with this verb root. In the following examples, (24a) is a context for the reply in (24b).

(24a)	kee Goyrasim muray	/e	
	ke-é	Goyra-si?	mur-ay-e
	2PRO.ACC-CLF	tree-DEF.M/F	cut[SG]-PF[3M]-Q
	'Is it you (SG) who		

(24b) anan ki?ni ana = in kid-n-i 1SG.PRO.ACC = 3NEG say-NEG-PF 'Not me.' (lit.: 'He/she/they did not say me.')

11.3. Lexical negation

There are certain verb roots that inherently have a negative meaning. For instance, the verb root dii (stop' carries a negative reading in relative clauses, as shown in (25)

(25)	nama a	nama a de?naá diifu ixorada				
	nama	а	dey-naá	diif-u	i=xorad-a	
	person	REL	come-VN	stop-IPF.FUT.DP	3 = be.fined-IPF.FUT	
	'A person who stops coming will be fined.'					

The other lexical item with a negative meaning is **male** 'without', which stands in lexical contrast with the word **olle** 'with'. This is shown below.

(26a)	i∫a olleen aana <i>i∫a</i> 3SGM.PRO[ACC] 'I will go with him.'	<i>olle=in</i> with=1	<i>an-a</i> go-IPF.FUT
(26b)	i∫a maleen aana <i>ifa</i> 3SGM.PRO[ACC]	<i>male=in</i> without=	<i>an-a</i> 1 go-IPF.FUT

'I will go without him.'

Each of the above clauses may occur with negative markers rendering the opposite meaning.

(27a)	i∫a olle anaanu		
	ifa	olle	an=aan-u
	3SGM.PRO[ACC]	with	1 NEG = go-NEG.IPF.FUT
	'I will not go with him.'		-

(27b)	i∫a male anaanu				
	ifa	male	an=aan-u		
	3SGM.PRO[ACC]	without	1 NEG = go-NEG.IPF.FUT		
	'I will not go without him.'				

Still another lexical item with a negative meaning is **malaal**- 'be unable to'. The following is an illustrative example:

(28) ijak keerinta imalaalay
 ija-? keer-inta i=malaal-ay
 3SGM.PRO-NOM run[SG]-VN 3=be.unable.to-PF
 'He was unable to run.'

11.4. Movement of subject clitics and emphatic negation

Unlike their affirmative counterparts, negative subject clitics cannot be separated from the verb and do not occur with overt subjects. This is illustrated by the ungrammatical forms in (29).

(29a)	*atteek keraa Gapni <i>atti=a? keraa Gap-n-i</i> 2SG.PRO=2NEG thief catch-NEG-PF (intended: 'You (SG) did not catch thief.')
(29b)	*anten mottooGaa akkini anco anti-?=an mottooGaa akki-ni 1SG.PRO-NOM=1NEG car see-IPF.PRES
	an=key-o 1NEG=be-NEG (intended: 'I do not see a car.')
(28c)	*kutaasin karraa Gapu <i>kuta-asi = in karraa</i> dog-DEF.M/F = 3NEG squirrel
	<i>Gap-u</i> catch-IPF.FUT.NEG (intended: 'The dog will not catch a squirrel.')
Negatic meaning	on is emphasised by using the lexeme apare 'somewhere'. It renders a g equivalent to the English adverb 'never'. Here are some examples:
(30a)	kussitu? ?apare toxupa inanní $in = an-n-i$ kussitto-??apare $toxa-opa$ $in = an-n-i$ kussitto-NOMsomewhereToxa-to $3NEG = go-NEG-PF$ 'Kussitto has never been to Toxa.'
(30b)	anti? ?apare koommaytipa an?anníanti-?aparekoommayte-opa $an = an-n-i$ 1SG.PRO-NOM somewhere koommayte-to1NEG = go-NEG-PF'I have never been to Koommayte.'
(30c)	is a pare dila inkanní $i fa-?$ $a pare$ $dila$ $in = kat-n-i$ 3SGM.PRO-NOMsomewherefield $3NEG = sell-NEG-PF$ 'He never sold a field.''He never sold a field.' $in = kat-n-i$
(30d)	iJoonna? ?apare incán <i>iJoonna-?</i> apare in=kiy-á-n 3PL.PRO-NOM somewhere 3NEG=be-IPF.FUT-NEG 'They are nowhere.'

12. Complex sentences

This chapter deals with complex sentences and has five sections. The first section, 12.1, deals with adverbial clauses. Section 12.2 discusses purpose clauses. Section 12.3 treats complement clauses. Section 12.4 presents other clause linking. Section 12.5 is concerned with quotative clauses.

12.1. Adverbial clauses

Various strategies are used to mark adverbial support clauses. They are:

- 1. conjunction plus clause
- 2. head noun plus relative clause plus postposition
- 3. headless relative clause plus postposition
- 4. clause marked with conjunction plus postposition
- 5. head noun plus relative clause
- 6. headless relative clause

12.1.1. Conditional clauses

In the normal order of conditional clauses the supporting clause precedes the focus clause. The term "focus clause" is used for the clause that denotes the crucial and resulting state or activity; the term is taken from Dixon and Aikhenvald (2009) (see also Mous and Ongaye Oda (2009)). Affirmative supporting conditional clauses appear with various conjunctions. These conjunctions are **oo/ootoo**, **ka/kande** and **awta**. All these conjunctions occur with suffix -n, whose semantic value is not yet known to me (see also Ongaye (in press)). What is clear to me about this suffix, however, is that its occurrence with conjunctions makes subject clitics flexible. Furthermore, it does not allow the occurrence of the dependent clause marker -o. In the glossing, I use N to represent suffix -n. Negative conditionals are marked with the relative pronoun **a** and the conjunction **male** 'without' while concessive conditionals are marked with the conjunction **kande** 'if' and the adverb **punu** or **nefu** 'even'.

Focus (main) clauses do not have conjunctions or any particular suffixes that set them apart from supporting conditional clauses. However, a pause is required after the supporting clause when it precedes the focus clause, and when the subject clitic of the focus clause does not move to the supporting clause.

In the subsequent discussions, I present conditional sentences that express events that are likely to happen, events that are likely but not certain to happen, and events that are unlikely to happen. Furthermore, concessive conditionals are treated. I begin with the discussion of conditional sentences which show the likelihood of the events in the focus clauses. Let us look at the examples in (1). In (1a), the first person subject clitic occurs with the conjunction **oo**. In both (1b) and (1c), the conjunction **oo** occurs with suffix -**n**. As a result of this suffix, the dependent clause marker -**o** disappears. The distinction between (1b) and (1c) is that in (1b) the first person subject clitic occurs with the conjunction whereas in (1c) it occurs with the verb. In all the examples, the dependent/support clauses precede the focus clauses. The example in (1d) is unacceptable because the subject clitic **in** = can only move to the verb if the conjunction contains the suffix -**n** in the support clause.

(1a) oon deyo, piifaasi? ?indama oo=in dey-o piifaa-si? if=1 come-DP.IPF.FUT lunch-DEF.M/F

> *in = dam-a* 1 = eat-IPF.FUT 'If I come, I will eat the lunch.'

(1b) oonin deya, piifaasi? ?indama *oo-n=in dey-a piifaa-si?* if-N=1 come.IPF.FUT lunch-DEF.M/F

> *in=dam-a* 1=eat-IPF.FUT 'If I come, I will eat the lunch.'

(1c) oon indeya, piifaasi? ?indama oo-n in = dey-a piifaa-si? if-N 1 = come.IPF.FUT lunch-DEF.M/F

> *in=dam-a* 1=eat-IPF.FUT 'If I come, I will eat the lunch.'

(1d)*oo indeyo, piifaasi? ?indamaooin=dey-oif1=come-DP.IPF.FUTlunch-DEF.M/F

in=dam-a 1=eat-IPF.FUT (intended: 'If I come, I will eat the lunch.')

Conditional sentences in which the speaker expresses that the event is likely but not certain to happen require the conditional conjunctions, except kande(n),

to occur with the suffix -n. The aspect in the support clause may be present imperfective (2a) or perfective (2b).

(2a) oonin tikupa anni, inkil lela oo-n=in tika-opa ?an-ni, if-N=1 house-to go-IPF.PRES
in=ki-? lel-a 1=you-DAT tell-IPF.FUT 'It is not yet certain to me whether I will go home, but if I decide to do so, I will let you know.'

> sookitta-si?=in pidd-a salt-DEF.M/F=1 buy-IPF.FUT 'I'm not yet sure whether to go to market, but if I do go, I will buy the salt.'

Conditional clauses that express unlikely events occur with the conjunction kande(n) and perfective aspect in the support clause. Here are some examples:

(3a)	kandee nama piisa deyay, kodaasi? ?idikkada					
	kande=i	nama	piisa	dey-ay,	koɗaa-si?	
	if=3	person	all	come-PF	work-DEF.M/F	
	<i>i=dikkad</i> 3=finish.M 'If everybo	<i>i=dîkkad-a</i> 3 = finish.MID-IPF.FUT 'If everybody came, the work would get finished.'				
(3b)	kanɗen xon <i>kanɗe-n</i> if-N	rmasin kata <i>χorma-s</i> ox-DEF	ay, kuura a <i>i = in</i> .M/F = 1	aytin oor∫a <i>kat-ay,</i> sell-PF		

kuura-ayti=inoor-ſ-adebt-2.SG.POSS.SG=1return-CAUS-IPF.FUT'If I sold the ox, I would pay your debt.'

Conditional clauses that express unlikely events may also occur with a present imperfective aspect in the if-clause. In this case, only the conjunction **kanden** is used, as in (4).

(4a)	kanɗen pi <i>kanɗe-n</i> if-N	isantee de?ni kawy <i>piisante = i</i> everyone = 3	vattasi? ?idikkatta <i>dey-ni</i> come-IPF.PRES
	<i>kawwatta</i> terrace-D 'It is certa the terrac	-si? $i = diEF.M/F 3 = bin that all of themwe would get finish$	<i>kkad-t-a</i> e.finished-3F-IPF.FUT a are not coming, but if they did come, hed.'
(4b)	kanɗen tik <i>kanɗe-n</i>	tupan kalay, i∫eeni <i>tika-opa=in</i>	na in?akka <i>kal-ay</i> ,

kande-ntika-opa=inkal-ay,if-Nhome-to=1return.home-PF[3M]ifeennain=akk-a3SGF.PRO[ACC]1=see-IPF.FUT'It is certain that I won't go home, but if I did, I would see her.'

Nominal conditionals that express unlikely events (contrary to facts) are marked with the conjunction kanden and the nominal subject clitics an = for first persons, a? = second persons and ø for third persons, as in any other nominal clause. First and second person plurals require personal object pronouns in addition to the subject clitics. Some examples:

(5a)	kanɗen akkarmaa, keltaytasiG Gapta				
	kande-n	?a?=karma	na, keltayta-si?=	keltayta-si?=i?	
	if-N	2 = lion	baboon-DEF.	baboon-DEF.M/F = 2	
	<i>Gap-t-a</i> catch-2-IP	F.FUT			
	'If you (SG) were a lion, you (SG) would catch the baboon.'				
(5b)	kanɗen ka <i>kanɗe-n</i>	rmaa, keltayta <i>karmaa</i> ,	si? ?iGapa <i>keltayta-si?</i>	i=Gap-a	
	if-N 'If he were	lion e a lion, he wo	baboon-DEF.M/F ould catch the baboon	3 = catch-IPF.FUT n.'	
(5c)	kanđen inoon χ ampiraa, moontannin hirra kanđe-n 2 ino = in χ ampiraa, if-N we = -1 birds				
	moonta-nn=inhir-n-asky-INST=1fly[PL]-PL-IPF.FUT				
	'If we were birds, we would fly in the sky.'				
So far I have discussed affirmative conditionals. Below I discuss negative conditionals. Negative conditionals occur with the same conjunctions as the affirmative conditionals. A negative conditional with the meaning 'unless' has a different form, shown below. Negative conditionals require negative subject clitics, as in (6).

(6a)	oon urmalaa	pa ananneen	a kinnin koɗaasin ki? ?iyy	vaɗa
	<i>oo-n urn</i>	n <i>alaa-opa</i>	an=an-ni=an	<i>kit-in</i>
	if-N man	·ket-to	1NEG=go-IPF-NEG	be-NEG
	<i>kodaa-si?=</i> work-DEF.M 'I am not ye do not go, I	$\begin{array}{ccc} in & k \\ M/F = 1 & 2 \\ et certain wh \\ will help yo \end{array}$	<i>e-?</i> SG.PRO.ACC-DAT ether I go to market or not not be work.'	<i>iyyad-a</i> help-IPF.FUT tot but if I
(6b)	kanɗen urma <i>kanɗe-n</i> if-N	alaapa anaan <i>urmalaa-op</i> market-to	in koɗaasi? ?inki? ?iyyac a an=aan-in 1NEG=go-NEG	fa
	<i>kodaa-si?</i>	in = 2	<i>ki-?</i>	<i>iyyad-a</i>
	work-DEF.M	M/F $1 = 2$	2SG.PRO.ACC-DAT	help-IPF.FUT
	'If I do not j	go to the ma	ırket, I will help you witl	h the work.'

A negative conditional with the meaning 'unless' has the relative pronoun **a** and the postposition **male** 'without'. The relative pronoun introduces headless relative clauses. Here are some examples:

(7a)	an i∫a akkinu male anɗe?nu				
	a=in	ifa	akk-n-u		
	REL = 1	3SGM.PRO[ACC]	see-1PL-NEG.IPF.FUT		
	male	an=dey-n-u			
	without	1 NEG = come-1PL-N	IEG.IPF.FUT		
	'Unless w	ve see him, we shall no	t come (back).'		

(7b) aa inun akkin male indeyan a=i inu=in akk-n REL=3 1PL.PRO[ACC]=3NEG see-P male in=dey-a-n without 3NEG=come-IPF.FUT-P 'Unless they see us, they will not come (back).'

Concessive conditionals are marked with the conjunction kande 'if' and the adverb punu or nefo 'even'. Subject clitics are attached to kande. The conces-

sive conditional conjunction **kande punu** may appear as discontinuous. This same conjunction and adverbs are also used to mark concessive clauses. The following are illustrative examples.

(8a) kandee punu de?ta ohtaisi? ?iseenna? ?andaaso kande = ipunu dey-t-a ohta-si? if = 3come-3F-IPF.FUT cloth-DEF.M/F even ifeenna-? an=daaf-o 3SGF.PRO[ACC]-DAT 1 NEG = give-NEG.IPF.FUT'Even if she comes, I will not give her the cloth.' (8b) kandeep punu de?tan anaa? ?akkitan kande=i? punu dey-t-a-n ana=a?akk-t-a-n if = 2even come-IPF 1SG.PRO.ACC = 2NEG see-IPF.FUT-P 'Even if you (PL) come, you (PL) will not see me.' (8c) kandee punu amma indeyin kuli? ?ixoratta kande=i punu ?amma in=dey-i-n if = 3even now 3NEG = come-PF-NEG

> *kuli?* $i = \chi orad-t-a$ latter 3 = be.fined-3F-IPF.FUT'Even if she has not come now, she will be fined latter.'

A concessive clause is marked by the conjunction kande 'if' and the adverbs nefu/punu 'even'. Subject clitics occur with kande part of the conjunction. Here are some examples:

(9a)	kandeen nefu kaaf	aasiniG Gapa i∫o	oonna??a	anɗaa∫u
	kande = in nefu	1 <i>kaafaa-sini?</i>	' c	<i>sap-a</i>
	if = 1 even	1 money-DEF	F.P h	ave-IPF.FUT
	<i>iʃoonna-?</i> 3PL.PRO[ACC]-Ľ 'Even if I have the	an= DAT 1NE e money, I will	<i>daa∫-u</i> G = give- not give	NEG it to them.'
(9b)	namasik kandee pu	unu deyay χawy	wa?teen a	nana
	<i>nama-si?</i>	<i>kande=i</i>	<i>punu</i>	<i>dey-ay</i>
	person-DEF.M/F	if=3	even	come-PF[3M]
	<i>xawwa?te=in</i> alone=1	<i>an-a</i> go-IPF.FUT		

'Even if the person came, I would go alone.'

The concessive adverb **nefu** is different from **punu** in that the former may occur clause-finally. For example, in (10a), **kande** and **nefu** occur contiguously while in (10b) **nefu** occurs clause-finally. This positional shift does not alter the semantics of the sentence. **kande** and **nefu** do not exchange their positions, as doing so yields an ungrammatical sentence, as illustrated in (10c).

(10a)	kandeen nefu kaafaasiniG Gapa ifoonna? ?andaafukande = innefukaafaa-sini?although = 1althoughmoney-DEF.P
	Gap-aifoonna-?an = daaf-uhave-IPF.PRESthey-DAT1NEG = give-NEG'Although I have the money, I will not give it to them.'
(10b)	kandeen kaafaasiniG Gapa nefu ifoonna? ?andaafu kande=in kaafaa-sini? Gap-a if=1 money-DEF.P have-IPF.PRES
	nefuifoonna-?an = daaf-ueven3PL.PRO[ACC]-DAT1NEG = give-NEG'Even if I have the money, I will not give it to them.'
(10c)	*punon kanɗe kaafaasiniG Gapa ifoonna? ?anɗaafu <i>punu=in kanɗe kaafaa-sini? Gap-a</i> if=1 if money-DEF.P have-IPF.FUT
	<i>ifoonna-?</i> 3PL.PRO[ACC]-DAT (intended: 'Even if I have the money, I will not give it for them.')

12.1.2. Temporal clauses

Temporal adverbial clauses are introduced by awta 'when', oo 'when, if', ee/etee 'when', or a.

The temporal adverbial conjunction **awta** 'when' may occur in the perfective as in (11a) or the imperfective as in (11b).

(11a)	awtan keera	y, ini∫a Gad	daapay	
	awta=in	keer-ay	in = ?ifa	Gaddaap-ay
	when $= 1$	run-PF	1 = 3SGM.PRO.ACC	catch.up.with-PF
	'When I ran, I	l caught up	with him.'	

(11b) awtaa paritun oli akkina awta=i par-it-u=in oli akk-n-a when=3 sunrise-3F-DP.IPF.FUT=1 REC see-PL-IPF.FUT 'We will see each other when the sun rises.'

In temporal clauses, the conjunction **oo** may occur in the imperfective as in (12). Remember that this conjunction is basically a conditional conjunction, as discussed earlier.

(12a) oon kaafaasinit teyun kid daafa oo=in kaafaa-sini? tey-u=in when=1 money-DEF.P obtain-DP.IPF.FUT=1
ki-? daaf-a 2SG.PRO.AC-DAT give-IPF.FUT 'When/if I will obtain the money, I will give it to you (SG).'
(12b) oo atoota feyya? ?awditee dehootaasi? ?ikokti

i = kokta i eyyar rawdice denotaasii rikoktioo = i atoota feyya-? awdi-t-i,when = 3 sun very.well-DAT shine-3F-PFdehoota-asi? i = kok-t-imalt-DEM.M/F 3 = dry-3F-PF'This malt dried when the sun shone very well.'

In the following examples, the conjunction **ee/etee** is used. It occurs only in the perfective as shown in (13).

(13a)	een aanay χormasin akkay					
	ee=in	?an-ay,	χorma-si?=in	akk-ay		
	when $= 1$	go-PF	ox-DEF.M/F = 1	see-PF		
	'When I v	vent there,	I saw the ox.'			

(13b) etee de?ti maanaa ko?ti etee = i dey-t-i maana = i kod-t-iwhen = 3 come-3F-PF what = 3 do-3F-PF 'What did she do when she came?'

The relative pronoun **a** also serves as a temporal clause marker. The following are illustrative examples.

(14a)	a Goyra n	urriyon i	fa akkay
	a=i	Goyra	mur-niyo=in
	REL = 3	tree	cut[SG]-IPF.PRES.3SGM = 1

ifa akk-ay 3SGM.PRO[ACC] see-PF[3M] 'I saw him while (he was) cutting a tree.'

(14b) ax xormasip piddinittun ki akkay a=i? xorma-si? piddi-ni-ttu=in REL=3 ox-DEF.M/F buy[SG]-IPF.PRES-2=1 ki akk-ay 2SG.PRO.ACC see-PF[3M] 'I saw you (SG) while (you (SG) were) buying the ox.'

Temporal adverbial clauses may also occur with the relative pronouns \mathbf{a} and the postposition kammaa as in (15a) or the conditional conjunction oo and the postposition kammaa as in (15b).

(15a)	an tika kay	n tika kayni kammaa roopa ipaayti				
	a=in	tika	kay-n-i	kammaa		
	REL = 1	house	reach-PL-PF	after		
	roopa	i=paay-t-i				
	rain	3 = start - 3F	-PF			
	'It started	to rain afte	r we arrived hor	ne.'		

(15b) oon heeriya dikkifu kammaan faGaa ika oo=in heer-iya dikkif-u if=1 buy[PL]-NML finish-DP.IPF.FUT

> *kammaa*=*in faGaa ik-a* after=1 local.beer drink-IPF.FUT 'I will drink faGaa after I finish buying.'

12.1.3. Reason and result clauses

In this section, I discuss reason and result clauses together because of semantic relationships. Reason and result clauses are semantically related in that result (effect) is the outcome of reason (cause). Both reason and result clauses occur with the (possessive) noun **Goota** 'concerning/about' and **malla** 'because (of)' or the relative pronoun **a**. The morpheme **malla** occurs in the final position of the support clause. Here are some examples:

(16a) attic Gootaap paaciti malla antaa immalaalti atti-2 coota=i2 paaciti

atti-1	G00ta = 17	paag-t-1
2SG.PRO-NOM	concerning = 2	be.sick-2-PF

malla	an-taa	i?=malaal-t-i
because	go-INF	2 = be.unable.to-2-PF
'You (SG)	could not g	o because you (SG) were sick.'

(16b)	alleetasi? ?a tuuɗa kelaan kinnin mallaa pi?ti						
	alleeta-si?	a=i	tuuda	kela = in			
	hut-DEF.M/F	that $= 3$	pillar	under $=$ 3NEC	j		
	kit-ni-n	m	alla=i	pi?-t-i			
	be-IPF.PRES-N	EG be	ecause $= 3$	fall-3F-PF			
	'The hut collaps	sed because	there is no	pillar under it.'			

The following are additional examples:

(17a)	hellaasiniG Gootaa farin mallaa Gidamin					
	hellaa-s	ini?	Goota = i		far-i-n	
	children	-DEF.P	concernin	g = 3	be.late-PF-P	
	mallaa	Gid-a	m-i-n			
	because	flog-l	PAS-PF-P			
	'The ch	ildren wer	e flogged be	cause th	ey were late.'	
(17b)	a pi?ay	mallaa har	kaadi Gepay			
	a	pi?-ay	malla = i	harka-	-adi	Gep-ay
	REAS	fall-PF	REAS = 3	hand-3	3SG.POSS.M/F	break-

PF[3M]

'He broke his hand because he fell (down).'

12.1.4. Purpose clauses

Purpose is expressed by the conjunction **akkaa** and the postposition **malla** as in (18a) or the relative pronoun **a** and the postposition **malla** as in (18b).

(18a)	?anti? ?akkaan xorma piɗɗu			mallan kaafaa kattanni		
	anti-?	akkaa	n = in	χorma		
	1SG.PRO-NOM	that =	:1	OX		
	pidd-o		malla	a=in	kaafaa	
	buy[SG]-DP.IPF.F	UT	becau	use = 1	money	

katt-ad-ni collect-MID-IPF.PRES 'I am saving money in order to buy an ox.'

(18b) anti? ?an χ orma piddu mallan kaafaa kattanni anti-? $a = in \chi$ orma 1SG.PRO-NOM that = 1 ox

> *pidd-u* malla=in kaafaa buy[SG]-DP.IPF.FUT because=1 money

katt-ad-ni collect-MID-IPF.PRES 'I am saving money in order to buy an ox.'

Purpose can also be expressed by using an infinitive or verbal noun with or without the dative case marker instead of a support clause. The following are illustrative examples.

(19a) Gimaytasi? ?alleeta Gupiya mallaa Goraa Guuray Gimayta-si? alleeta malla = iGup-iya build-NMLZ old.man-DEF.M/F hut because = 3Goraa Guur-ay cut[PL]-PF[3M] trees 'The old man cut trees in order to build a hut.' (19b) Gimaytasi? ?alleeta Gupiya?e Goraa Guuray Gimayta-si? Gup-iya-?=i alleeta old.man-DEF.M/F build-VN-DAT = 3hut Goraa Guur-ay

trees cut[PL]-PF[3M] 'The old man cut trees in order to build a hut.' (lit.: The old man cut trees for building a hut.)

12.2. Complement clauses

Complement clauses occur with the complementisers ine, sede and akkaa. The complementisers ine and sede occur in the position after an overt subject, while the complementiser akkaa occurs in the object position. Details of higher predicates and their modality interpretations are examined in Ongaye (2004). The following are illustrative examples.

(20a)	Kussittus sedee χ	orma piɗɗay	⁄e ana χasay∫ay
	Kussittu-?	sede=i	χorma
	Kussitto-NOM	that = 3	OX

pidd-ay=i	ana	χas-ay∫-ay			
buy[SG]-PF = 3	1SG.PRO.ACC	please-CAUS-PF			
'The fact that Kusitto bought an ox pleased me.'					

- (20b) akkaan anti? ?urmalaapa aanay ifeenna? ?idakayti akkaa=in anti? urmalaa-opa that=1 1SG.PRO-NOM market-to
 an-ay ifeenna-? i=dakay-t-i go-PF[3M] 3SGF-PRO-NOM 3=hear-3F-PF 'She heard that I went to the market.'
- (20c) akkaa? ?antin inupa akkaa = i? aan-t-i-n in = up-athat = 2 go-2-PF-P 1 = know-IPF.FUT 'I know that you (PL) went.'

12.3. Other clause linking

12.3.1. Conjoined consecutive clauses

Conjoined consecutive clauses are marked by the conjunction ka, which is followed by an intonation break. This is shown below.

(21a)	inug (<i>inu-?</i> 1PL.P	Foyrasim mur PRO-NOM	ri ka i∫an kalli <i>Goyra-si?=in</i> tree-DEF.M/F=1	<i>mur-n-i</i> cut[SG]-1PL-PF
	<i>ka</i> and 'We c	<i>ifa-n</i> 3SGM.PR0 sut down the t	D[ACC]-INST	<i>kal-n-i</i> come.home-1PL-PF ne.'
(21b)	i∫aɗ ɗ	iluppupaa ana	y ka ?unta pohay	

()	-2EE				
	ifa-?	dila-oppupa = i	an-ay	ka	
	3SGM.PRO-NOM	field-into $= 3$	go-PF[3M]	and	

unta poh-ay crops harvest-PF[3M] 'He went to the field and harvested crops.'

Conjoined consecutive clauses that involve imperatives are also joined by the conjunction ka. Examples:

хооу-а	ka	dakadaa-osini?	haad-a	
come-IMP.PL	and	stones-DEM.P	carry-IMP.PL	
'Come and carry these stones!'				

(22b) aani ka Gayrasim muri *an-i ka Gayra-si? mur-i* go-IMP.SG and tree-DEF.M/F cut[SG]-IMP.SG 'Go and cut the tree!'

In chapter 4, I discussed that coordinated nouns can be combined with the conjunction ka or ifu? However, the use of the conjunction ifu? instead of ka in consecutive clauses is not allowed, as demonstrated in (23).

(23a)	*inuG Goyrasim murri i∫u? ?i∫an kalli				
	inu-?	-	Goyra-si?=in	mur-n-i	
	1PL.P	RO-NOM	tree-DEF.M/F = 1	cut[SG]-PL-PF	
	ifu?	i∫a-n	i	kal-n-i	
	and	3SGM.PR	D[ACC]-INST r	eturn.home-1PL-PF	
	'We c	ut down the t	ree and brought it hom	ne.'	

(23b)	*χοοya i∫uɗ ɗakaɗoosinih haaɗa				
	хооу-а	ifu?	dakadaa-osini?	haad-a	
	come-IMP.PL	and	stones-DEM.P	carry-IMP.PL	
	(intended: 'Come				

12.3.2. Contrast

Contrast is expressed by maa or umma. The conjunction maa is most often adversative. The following are illustrative examples.

(24a) i?anti maa idapti i=an-t-i maa i=dap-t-i 3=go-3F-PF but 3=not.find-3F-PF'She went (there) but could not find it.'

(24b) ipi?ay maa immiiddammi i=pi?-ay maa in=miidd-am-n-i3=fall-PF but 3NEG=hurt.SG-PAS-NEG-PF'He fell but he is not hurt.'

(24c) kahartannim maa lahaa patay *kaharta-nnin maa laha-a pat-ay* ewe-NEG but ram-CLF disappear-PF[3M] 'It is not a ewe but a ram that went missing.'

In the following example, the conjunction umma is used.

(25) if an asni umma de?ninco ifa = in as-ni umma him = 1 wait-IPF.PRES but

> *dey-ni-in=kiy-o* come-IPF.PRES-3NEG=be-NEG [3M] 'I am waiting for him but he does not come.'

In the following proverb, the coordinating conjunction ka expresses contrast rather than addition. The proverb is used when someone who is afraid of a stronger person (likened here with acacia species kolalta) threatens another less strong person (likened here with a thin plant species seyta).

kolalta	fuur-f-aa	ka	seyta-n
acacia.spe	ciesfear-DCAUS-VN	and	plant.species-INST

put-a win-VN 'Fearful of kolalta but victorious over seyta.'

12.3.3. Alternatives

Alternatives are expressed by -m (27a) or the conjunction taakine 'or, otherwise' (27b).

(27a)	pilliyaasi? inGeedam ayi		
	pilliyaa-si?	in=Geed-a-m	2
	knife-DEF.M/F	1 = take-IPF.FUT-or	here

in=diif-a 1=leave-IPF.FUT 'Shall I take the knife or leave it here?'

(27b) urmalaapa? ?anta taakine diluppupan ollin sookanna urmalaa-opa=i? an-t-a taakine market-to=2 go-2-IPF.FUT otherwise dila-oppupa=in ollin sookad-n-a field-into=1 together go.to.field-1PL-IPF.FUT

'You (SG) will go to market. Otherwise we will go to the field together.'

A rejection type of alternative expression 'instead of/rather than' is marked by forms a...kapaa or an infinitive with kapaa or a verbal nominal with kapaa. With the conjunction a...kapaa, the subject clitic must occur with the a. The morpheme kapaa occurs in the final position of a dependent clause. There is a pause after the dependent clause. Here are some examples:

(28a)	an pi∫aa? ?aanu kapaa, oha?in aana				
	a=in	pi∫aa-?	?an-u	kapaa,	
	instead.of $= 1$	water-DAT	go-DP.IPF	instead.of	
	oha-?=in	an-a			
	fodder-DAT = 1	go-IPF.FU	Т		
	'Instead of goin	g to fetch wate	er, I will go coll	ect fodder.'	
(28b)	a? ?essi ?antu ka	paa, aye muki	ka parree paraa	n keɗi	
	a=i?	essi	an-t-u	kapaa,	aye
	instead.of $= 2$	this.time	go-2-DP.IPF	instead.of	here
	muk-i	ka pai	ree paraa	a-n	
	sleep-IMP.SG	and ton	norrow morr	ing-INST	

ked-i

go.in.the.morning-IMP.SG

'Instead of going home at this time (of the day), spend the night here and go (there) tomorrow early in the morning.'

The alternative clause which is expressed by the use of the infinitive/verbal noun and kapaa requires the word woyy- 'be preferable' in the main clause. The verb root in the illustrative example in (29a) occurs with the infinitive suffix -iya, while the one in (29b) occurs with a verbal nominal suffix -taa.

(29a)	urmalaapa aaniya kapaa ɗiluppupa aaniyaa woyyi					
	urmalaa-opa	an-iya	kapaa	dila-oppupa		
	market-to	go-VN	instead.of	field-into		
	an-iya = i	woyy-i				
	go-INF = 3	be.good-PF				
	'It is better to	go to the field	than to go to t	he market.'		
(29b)	urmalaapa ant	aa kapaa ɗilupp	upa ?aantaa w	oyyi		
	urmalaa-opa	an-taa	kapaa	dila-oppupa		
	market-to	go-VN	instead.of	field-into		
	an-taa = i	woyy-i				
	go-VN = 3	be.good-PF				
	'Going to the	field is better th	nan going to th	he market.'		

It is possible for an infinitive and a verbal nominal to interchangeably occur in either clause. For example, in (30a), the first clause has an infinitive form while the second clause has a verbal nominal form. In (30b), the verbal nominal form occurs in the first clause while the infinitive form occurs in the second clause.

(30a) urmalaapa aaniya kapaa diluppupa aantaa woyyi urmalaa-opa an-iya kapaa dila-oppupa market-to go-INF instead.of field-into an-taa = i woyy-i be.good-PF go-VN=3'To go to the field is better than going to the market.' (30b) urmalaapa aantaa kapaa diluppupa aaniyaa woyyi urmalaa-opa an-taa kapaa dila-oppupa market-to go-VN instead.of field-into an-iya = i woyy-i go-INF = 3be.good-PF 'Going to the field is better than to go to the market.'

12.4. Quotative clauses

Quoted clauses occur within the focus clause. They are headed by the verb kid-'say'. The example in (31a) uses direct reporting whereas the one in (31b) has an indirect report.

(31a)	inatasi? ?inkalaye ki?ti			
	inata-si?	in=kal-ay=i	kid-t-i	
	girl-DEF.M/F	1 = return.home-PF[3M] = 3	say-3F-PF	
	'The girl said, "I came home.""			

(31b) if eenna? ?ifa? ?ikalayee ki?ti *if eenna-? if a-?* i=kal-ay=i3SGF.PRO-NOM 3SGM.PRO-NOM 3= return.home-P=3

> *kid-t-i=i* say-3F-PF=3 'She said that he had come home.'

13. Ideophones and interjections

This chapter describes the phonological and morphological characteristics as well as the metaphoric use of ideophones. It also presents the description and classification of interjections. Finally, it presents a brief description of greetings and leave-taking expressions.

13.1. Ideophones

All ideophones have closed syllables. Only short vowels occur in ideophones. Moreover, except for one instance (Gumaf), all disyllabic ideophones have the same vowel in both syllables. In utterances, ideophones require the verb root kid- 'say' to which inflectional as well as derivational suffixes are attached. For example, some ideophones occur only with the verb stem ki?f- 'cause to say' <kid-f- say-DCAUS-> (see sentential examples in (5)). Ideophones denote a verbal action as well as the manner in which the action is done. In the following sub-sections, I present the phonological templates of ideophones, reduplication in ideophones, verbal and nominal derivations in ideophones and the metaphoric use of ideophones.

13.1.1. Phonological templates

Konso ideophones fall into CVC or CVCVC templates. The ideophones in (1) have a CVC template. Note that the lexical meanings of some ideophones appear similar but that in use there is subtle differences that distinguish their meanings.

(1)	pas	'to detach, break away; scatter'
	pos	'to break into two pieces; emit light suddenly'
	po∫	'to break (e.g. head, calabash with water)'
	pap	'to hit with a flat thing'
	piw	'to disappear'
	pup	'to blow'
	pad	'to hit slightly'
	paf	'to crash'
	pa∫	'to break (e.g. calabash); bite into fatty meat'
	ped	'to hit slightly'
	peG	'to explode'
	paw	'to fire a gun'
	ni6	'to hit heavily'
	niG	'to choke'
	ma∫	'to bite or smash a fatty thing'
	mo∫	'to bite or smash a fatty thing'
	maſ	'to step heavily on something'
	moχ	'to give a knock on the head'

mi∫	'to urinate little due to fear, etc.'
moG	'to knock on the head with the hand'
fa∫	'to splash'
ful	'to run away suddenly from a hideout'
fuɗ	'to swell lightly'
fab	'to kiss'
fim	'to stand firmly'
fir	'to get out, shoot fast (e.g. snake, spear)'
∫ir	'to slide'
ful	'to give sharp smoke; have a sharp cough'
kir	'to shock; shiver'
ka∫	'to have a feeling of sudden fear'
ko∫	'to drop or step into dry fallen leaves'
kaf	'to bite little; cut little'
kiw	'to be stunned'
hin	'to buzz'
lus	'to insert easily; enter quickly'
las	'to insert easily'
li6	'to extinguish'
6a6	'to kick'
6ir	'to become erect (e.g. penis); protrude from overeating (of
	the belly)'
6ar	'to break a piece of cloth at once'
tul	'to fire a gun'
til	'to hit with a fist'
tiw	'to hit with a fist; fire a gun'
tof	'to drip'
tu∫	'to pour fluid'
tiw	'to gunshot; drop something heavy'
Gaw	'to hit with something hard'
Gen	'to be naughty'
waχ	'to hit something dry with a stick or piece of stone'
waɗ	'to hit something'
waG	'to hit with stone or a small stick'
wah	'to slap'
war	'to slap'
waf	'to hit with a thin stick'
waχ	'to open wide (e.g. legs)'
was	'to open eyes widely and suddenly'
ɗas	'to cut/break into two pieces'
ɗuɓ	'to lash'
ɗu∫	'to shrink slowly'
ɗi∫	'to give a mild but quick pain'
ɗa∫	'to give a mild but quick pain'
ɗa?	'to shoot with a stone; hit with stick'

The following ideophones have the CVCVC template.

(2)	kalaw	'to roll over'
	kafar	'to bite little'
	kiliw	'to roll over'
	kofor	'to clink'
	kosof	'to hop'
	makal	'to slip through hand'
	miGir	'to be difficult to catch'
	muGur	'to be difficult to crush with the teeth'
	medek	'to become weak after being stiff'
	moyod	'to become lame'
	∫iGir	'to change position swiftly'
	, Sipir	'to twist; wind quickly'
	∫akar	'to jump/run lightly'
	pifiw	'to clink'
	pilif	'to flash light'
	pikir	'to faint and drop on the ground'
	Galaw	'to become pale'
	Gumaf	'to become crooked'
	fapaG	'to splash'
	fopoG	'to dip into water'
	fogor	'to kick on the buttocks'
	fuGur	'to pull out tooth, piece of rock'
	futuG	'to overflow'
	futuk	'to suddenly run out in an ambush'
	nakar	'to scratch with claws; shallow bite by animals'
	tukur	'to snatch; take with force'
	hapar	'to jump into a conversation'

A prolonged act of the ideophones with the CVC template is expressed by prolonging the articulation of the final consonant of the ideophone. The final consonants are continuants. Examples:

(3)	hurrr	'to make a continuous sound (e.g. by a thrown stone)'
	forrr	'to flow (pour) uninterruptedly'
	ɗu∭	'to shrink slowly'
	lusss	'to get inserted steadily'
	fulll	'to blow sharp smoke continuously'
	hinnn	'to buzz around'

There are also ideophones with $CV_1C_2C_2V_1C_2C_2V_1C_2C_2...$ template. These ideophones show motion of many people or things. Also, sometimes the flow of floods is expressed with these ideophones.

250

(4)	mudduddudd	'to rush or gash'	
	tittittitt	'to rush'	
	χiddiddiddidd	'to rush; thunder'	
	tuttuttutt	'to rush'	
	puppuppupp	'to rush; strom'	

13.1.2. Reduplication in ideophones

The ideophones we have seen in (1) and (2) show two types of reduplication: full and partial. Reduplication in ideophones expresses the intensity or repetition of the action expressed.

Both the CVC (5a-b) and CVCVC (5c-d) templates may show full reduplication.

- (5a) mox mox ki?fi mox mox kid-f-i IDEO IDEO say-DACUS-IMP.SG 'Knock on it a couple of times!'
- (5b) timpaasinit tiw tiwee ki?ni *timpaa-sini? tiw tiw=i kid-ni* drum-DEF.P IDEO IDEO=3 say-IPF.PRES 'The drum is being beaten.'
- (5c) **Salootaasik kalaw kalaw ki?fi** *faloota-asi? kalaw kalaw kid-f-i* thread-DEM.M/F IDEO IDEO say-DCAUS-IMP.SG 'Roll this thread!'

The following ideophone occurs only in the reduplicated form:

(6) $ku \int ku \int 'to murmur'$

Partial reduplication is found only in disyllabic ideophones. There are two interesting aspects of partial reduplication in disyllabic ideophones: first, the part of the ideophone that is reduplicated and, second, the direction of reduplication. In disyllabic ideophones, it is the CVC syllable of the CVCVC that is reduplicated, and the direction of reduplication is rightwards. This rightward reduplication is in opposition to the reduplication pattern in verbs (6.1.5) and adjectives (7.2). Below are demonstrative examples:

(7)	kalawlaw	from	kalaw	'to roll over'
	miGirGir	from	miGir	'to be difficult to catch'
	medekdek	from	medek	'to become weak after being stiff'
	pifiwfiw	from	pifiw	'to clink'
	Gumafmaf	from	Gumaf	'to become crooked'

Dhoorre and Tosco (1998:127) have also reported the rightward reduplication of the CV part of the second syllable in Somali ideophones.

Disyllabic ideophones make semantic distinctions when they are derived or underived. These are shown below:

- Simple (underived) disyllabic ideophones indicate a single (punctual) action (8a);
- Full reduplication of disyllabic ideophones indicates that the action is done randomly or at a longer duration due to the size (big) or weight (heavy) of an object (8b);
- Partial reduplication in disyllabic ideophones indicates that the action is done very quickly. It shows a sense of urgency or small size or light weight (8c).
- (8a) kalaw IDEO 'Roll over'
- (8b) kalaw kalaw IDEO IDEO 'roll over and over'
- (8c) kalaw-law IDEO-RDP 'roll over and over very quickly'

The following ideophone makes four semantic distinctions on the basis of reduplication and gemination.

(9)	pilif	'a spark of light (e.g. lightning, gunfire)'
	pilif pilif	'a few sparks of light or at some intervals
	piliflif	'sparks of light at a fast rate'
	pilliif	'a spark of light for a brief duration'

13.1.3. Verbal derivation in ideophones

Some ideophones can be transitivised by adding the causative suffix -J. The addition of the causative suffix geminates the final consonant of the ideophone. The following are illustrative examples:

gun'

Ideophones can also be transitivised by adding the causative suffix to the accompanying verb kid- 'say'. This is exemplified in (11).

- (11a) tiw ki?fi tiw kid-f-i IDEO say-DCAUS-IMP.SG 'Drop it (on the group)!' '(You (SG)) Shoot it!' tiw 'to drop something heavy; gunshot'
- (11b) kalaw ki?fi kalaw kid-f-i IDEO say-DCAUS-IMP.SG
 '(You (SG)) Make it roll!' kalaw 'to roll over'

The verb root kid- 'to say' may occur with more than one derivational suffix. For instance, in the following example, it occurs with the causative and the middle suffixes.

(12a) tul ki?sadu tul ki?sadu IDEO say-DCAUS-MID-IMP.SG '(You (SG)) Smoke it for yourself!' tul 'to fire a gun'

13.1.4. Nominal derivation in ideophones

Nominals may be derived from ideophones. For disyallbic ideophones, the nominal derivation involves the reduplication of the CVC before adding a nominal suffix. The nominal suffixes are -a (M/F) and -aa(P). The following are illustrative examples.

(13)	tofaa	'water droplets'	< tof 'to drip'
	∫akarkara	'careless person'	< ∫akar 'to carelessly do'
	haparpara	'care free'	< hapar 'to be care free' >
	miGirGira	'one with	< miGir 'to be unpredictable'
		unpredictable persor	nality'

13.1.5. Metaphoric use of ideophones

Some ideophones are also used metaphorically in Konso. Below, I give some illustrative examples:

(14a)	inantaasiw waa a fakkaaG Gudaa Gumaf ki?ni <i>inanta-asi?</i> waa a fakk-aa? $Gudaa = i$ girl-DEM.M/F thing REL be.small-P on = 3
	<i>Gumaf kid-ni</i> IDEO say-IPF.PRES 'The girl gets angry with anything small.' <i>Gumaf</i> 'to crook'
(14b)	Gimaytasik kalawee kiɗayGimayta-si?kalaw=ikid-ayold.man-DEF.M/FIDEO=3say-PF'The old man died suddenly.'kalaw 'to roll over'
(14c)	Gimaytasit torraasinee a feyyaa?e ∫ipir ki?∫ayGimayta-si?torraa-sineold.man-DEF.M/Fdiscussion-DEF.PREL
	feyyaa-?=i fipir kid-f-ay well-DAT=3 IDEO say-DCAUS-PF 'The old man spoiled a healthy discussion.' fipir 'to twist quickly'
(14d)	waasini? $ipo \int ki? \int ay$ waa-sini? $i = po \int$ kid-f-aything-DEF.P $3 = IDEO$ say-DCAUS-PF'He disclosed the secret.' $po \int$ 'to break'
(14e)	sereerutaa kamman fir ki?ni sereeruta-a kamma-n fir kid-ni diarrhoea behind-PATH IDEO say-IPF.PRES 'He is having explosive diarrhoea.' fir 'to get out fast'

(14f) kallaataayfu? ?ili6 ki?ti
kallaata-ayfu? i=li6 kid-t-i
living-3PL.POSS.M/F 3=IDEO say-3F-PF
'Their familyhood collapsed.'
li6 'to extinguish'

13.2. Interjections

Following Ameka (1992), I classify Konso interjections into three: expressive interjections, conative interjections and phatic interjections

13.2.1. Expressive interjections

Expressive interjections express the speaker's emotions or sensations at the time of utterance. Below, I provide translations and, where possible, the contexts in which they are used. However, I do not claim that the contexts of use mentioned here are complete.

(15)	haa(?ee)/hinee(yyee)	'What happened was that' 'What I want to say is that' 'The case is that'
	we?e	'Oh, my goodness!' 'Oh, really?'
	αχ(χαγ)	'I am disgusted by that.' 'I am serious/Come what may.'
	іфф	'It stinks (of a fart or bad smell).'
	uh	'It's painful/hurting.' 'It's heavy.' 'I feel tired.'
	aayyi	'Ouch!' (<aayyaa 'mother'="">)</aayyaa>
	huu	'Wow!' 'It's incredible!'
	atum	'I disapprove it (used by women).' 'Shut up (used by women)!
	waappu	'I do not believe you.' 'It's surprising!'
	uu(h)	'It is very great.' 'It is very difficult.'

The following are illustrative examples:

- (16a) uu inansi? ?ikokkooki *uu inanta-asi? i=kokkook-i* INTERJ girl-DEM.M/F 3=be.strong-PF 'Wow, this girl is strong!'
- (16b) uu aappoosi? ?ineeGi *uu aappaa-osi? i=neeG-i* INTERJ father-DEM.M/F 3=be.bad-PF 'Oh, this man is dangerous!'

The following is a phrasal expressive interjection:

(17) awwee de?ta (ha) awwi=i dey-t-a (ha) today=3 come-3F-IPF.FUT (INTERJ) 'I'm telling you that I did not do it.' 'It's unbelievable.' (lit.: It will come today.)

13.2.2. Conative interjections

The conative interjection used as a response to calls is **ee** 'yes!'. It is used equally by all people irrespective of age, gender and social status.

Conative interjections that demand an action from the hearer are expressed by the verb root diif- 'to stop'. They are like imperatives, distinguishing singular hearer and plural hearer.

(18) **diifi** 'You (SG) stop what you are doing!' **diifa** 'You (PL) stop what you are doing!'

The following interjections are used to present something to someone:

(19) hindo 'You (SG), here you are!' hinda 'You (PL), here you are!'

The verb root Gap- 'hold, catch' is also used as a presentational expression as shown below:

(20) aypa ɗesa Gapi aye-opa desa Gap-i here-to there hold-IMP.SG 'You (SG), here you are!'

The other type of conative interjection is that used to summon or disperse animals. The following are used to summon animals:

(21)	hee∫	call to a dog
	tuktuktuk	call to chicken
	me?e?e?	call to a goat
	ma?a?a?	call to a sheep
	aturr	call to a cat < aturraata 'cat'>
	ump ^w aaa	call to a cow/ox/bull

The following conative interjections, in contrast, are used to disperse or chase animals:

(22)	saay	to disperse birds
	enaG	to chase away a sheep
	laG	to chase away a ram
	usuk	to chase away a goat
	usss	to chase away goats/sheep
	heecc	to chase away cows/oxen
	∫ok	to chase away (a) donkey(s)
	luk	to disperse chickens < lukkalitta 'chicken'
	tapay	to chase away (a) $rat(s) < tapayta 'rat'$
	kut	to chase away a dog $<$ kuta 'dog'

13.2.3. Phatic interjections

The following expression is used to welcome someone who arrives from the field, a market or a trip.

(23) okaadu 'welcome!'

The following phatic interjection is used to reject what someone has said and indicate that the addressee is expected to stop talking about the subject.

(24) ef 'I am disgusted by what you said and I want you to stop talking about this'

13.3. Greetings and leave-taking expressions

13.3.1. Greetings

In this section, general greetings and leave-taking expressions are discussed. General greetings, greetings used in the morning, during the daytime, in the evening and greetings used upon entering someone's compound/house are presented.

The interrogative word atta 'how?' is used in most greetings.

General greetings are expressed with the words nakaytaa 'health, peace' and atta 'how?'. These words may be used separately or in combination. The verb root fapaad- 'be strong' is also used in general greetings. Interrogative suffixes are added to nakaytaa or to fapaad-. Moreover, rising intonation is used. There are two words that are used as a polite form of greeting between men: innayti and sakni. These words are used only with nakaytaa 'health, peace' or atta 'how?'.

The following are the most common/general greetings in Konso:

- (25a) nakaytaa health.Q 'How are you?' (lit.: Is it peace/health?)
- (25b) nakaytaa-wwee health-only.Q 'How are you?' (lit.: Is it only peace/health?)
- (25c) atta nakaytaa how health.Q 'How are you?'
- (25d) atta nakaytaa-wwee how health-only.Q 'How are you?' (lit.: Is it only peace/health?)
- (25e) iffapaannee i?=fapaad-ni=e 2=be.strong-IPF.PRES-Q 'How are you?' (lit.: Are you (SG) strong?)
- (25f) atta iffapaannee *atta if=fapaad-ni=e* how 2=be.strong-IPF.PRES-Q 'How are you?'
- (25g) nakaytaa sakni health my.friend.M 'How are you doing, my friend?'

(25h) atta innayti how my.friend.M 'How are you doing, my friend?'

Proper names may also occur in greetings. They may occur sentence-initially as in (26) or finally as in (27).

- (26a) kappooli atta kappoole how 'Kappoole, how are you?'
- (26b) kappooli nakaytaa-wwee kappoole health-only.Q 'Kappoole, how are you doing?'
- (26c) kappooli atta nakaytaa-wwee kappoole how health-only.Q 'Kappoole, how are you doing?'
- (27a) **atta Kappooli** how Kappoole 'How are you, Kappoole?'
- (27b) nakaytaa-wwee Kappooli health-only.Q Kappoole 'How are you doing, Kappoole?'
- (27c) atta nakaytaa-wwee Kappooli how health-only.Q Kappoole 'How are you doing, Kappoole?'

Greetings used when entering someone's compound/house are expressed using the noun hallaa 'children'. The plural gender vocative suffix -y is added to hellaa. The word hellaay may be used alone as in (28a) or with the greeting forms of the time of the day of conversation, as in (28b-d).

- (28a) hellaa-y children-VOC.P'Hi everyone!' (i.e. Is there anybody there?)
- (28b) hellaay ixxa?tinee hellaa-y i?=xa?-t-i-n-ee children-VOC.P 2=stand.up-2-PF-P-Q 'Hi everyone! Good morning.'

- (28c) hellaay i??ooltinee hellaa-y i?=?ool-t-i-n-ee children-VOC.P 2=spend.day-2-PF-PL-Q 'Hi everyone! Good afternoon/evening.'
- (28d) hellaay atta? ?ooltin hellaa-y atta=i? ool-t-i-n children-VOC.P how=2 spend.day-2-PF-PL 'Hi everyone! Good afternoon/evening.' (lit.: Hi Children! How did you (PL) spend the day?)

In the above examples, **hellaay** occurs initially. However, it is equally possible to have it finally, as in (29).

- (29a) ixxa?tinee hellaay i?=xa?-t-i-n-ee hellaa-y 2= stand.up-2-PF-PL-Q children-VOC.P 'Good morning everyone.'
- (29b) i??ooltinee hellaay *i?=?ool-t-i-n-ee hellaa-y* 2=spend.day-2-PF-PL-Q children-VOC.P 'Good afternoon/evening everyone.'

The following greeting expression is also used when entering someone's compound/house. It usually implies that the person entering the compound/house has not visited the addressee(s) for some time.

(30) hellay maanak ko?nittan *hella-y* maana = i? kod-ni-ttan
children-VOC.P what = 2 do-IPF.PRES-PL
'Hello! What are you doing?'
(lit.: Hi, children! What are you in?)

Greetings in the morning involve the verb root χa ?- 'rise'. The following are illustrative examples.

(31a) ixxa?tinee i?=xa?-t-i-n-ee 2=rise-2-PF-PL-Q'Good morning.' (lit.: Did you (PL) rise?)

- (31b) attax xa?tin atta=? xa?-t-i-n how=2 rise-2-PF-P 'Good morning.' (lit.: 'How did you (PL) rise?')
- (31c) ixxa?tee innayti i?=xa?-t-i-ee innayti 2=rise-2-PF-Q my.friend.M 'Good morning, my friend.' (lit.: 'Did you (SG) rise, my friend?'
- (31d) attax xa?ti ?innayti atta = i? xa?-t-i innayti how = 2 rise-2-PF my.friend.M 'Good morning, my friend.' (lit.: How did you (SG) rise, my friend?'

Greetings require knowledge of social relationships for addressing people. These terms appear in their vocative form and may occur sentence-initially or finally.

(32)	aappu	'father'	< aappaa 'father'	
	apuyya	'uncle'	< apuyyaata 'uncle'	
	maamma	'aunt'	< maammata 'aunt'	
	aakka	'grandfather'	< aakkaa 'grandfather'	
	?aayyi	'mother'	< aayyaa 'mother'	
	okkooyyu	'grandmother'	< okkooyyita 'grandmother	r'
	aappula (M) 'cousin (maternal aunt)'	< aappulayta	
	a∫umu	'nephew (sister's son)'	< a∫uma	
	a∫umta	'nephew (sister's daughter'	< a∫umta	

The following are illustrative examples:

(33a)	aappi	1	atta	nakaytaa	
	fathe	r.VOC.M/F	how	health	
	'How	v are you doing,	daddy?'		
(33b)	atta	nakaytaa-wee	a	appu	

- how health-only.Q father.VOC 'How are you, daddy?'
- (33c) aappu atta nakaytaa-w-ee father.VOC how 'Daddy, how are you?'

Both inanta 'girl' and tuparaa/tuparraa 'girls' may be used as vocatives when addressing a girl that someone does not know by name. However, the use of inanta 'girl' implies impoliteness or contempt, as in (34a), whereas tuparaa/tuparraa 'girls' carries with it politeness, as in (34b). When the addressee is plural (girls), then, the plural vocative marker -y is added to tuparaa/tuparraa 'girls', as shown in (34c).

- (34a) inanta, tika a Ongayi axaamu girl house POSS Ongaye which 'Hey, girl! Which house is Ongaye's?'
- (34b) tuparaa, tika a Ongayi axaamu girls house POSS Ongaye which 'Hey, girl! Which house is Ongaye's?'
- (34c) tuparaa-y tika a Ongayi axaamu girls-VOC.PL house POSS Ongaye which 'Hey, girls! Which house is Ongaye's?'

The plural tuparrad/daa < tuparraa 'girls'> is used to praise a girl who has done a good job. Similarly, hamiyyad/daa < hamiya 'male child', hamiyyaa 'male children'> is used to praise a boy who has done something very well. In both cases, the plural morpheme -d/daa does not express plurality in these uses. In the following example, after hearing the report of the daughter that she fetched water twice (35a) the mother praises her daughter as in (35b).

(35a)	aayyee! pijaasinil lakkin ooray						
	aayyee!	<i>pi∫aa-sinî</i> ?	lakki = in	oor-ay			
	mammy!	water-DEF.P	two = 1	return-PF[3M]			
	'Hi Mamm	y! I fetched the w	vater twice.'				

(35b) tuparraddaa girls 'Well done!'

When entering into somebody's house, the use of the plural vocative suffix -y is added to hellaa 'children' < hellaa-y 'children-VOC.PL' > 'Hey! Anybody there?' is the most common form to ask if there is anybody there in the house or to let a family member(s) know that you are coming in. The word toola 'family' is also common in this context but it does not occur with the vocative suffix.

13.3.2. Leave-taking

We distinguish a short and long/indefinite time leave-taking. The short time leave-taking is for the day of conversation or a few days after that. Such leave-taking can further be divided into a daytime and an evening/night time of the day of conversation. The verb root **ool**- 'spend day(s)' is used in leave-taking. The word **nakaytaa** 'health, peace' is used with the instrumental case suffix -n(n) accompanying the verb root **ool**.

The following are examples of leave-taking during the daytime:

- (36a) oolla ool-n-a spend.day-1PL-OPT
 'Have a good day.'
 (lit.: 'May we have a good day.')
- (36b) nakaytan oolla *nakayta-n ool-n-a* health-INST spend.day-1PL-OPT 'Have a good day!' (lit.: 'May we spend the day with health/peace!')

The following are examples of leave-taking in the evening/night:

- (37a) muk-n-a sleep-1PL-OPT 'May we sleep.'
- (37b) nakayta-n muk-n-a health-INST sleep-1PL-OPT 'May we sleep in peace!' (lit.: 'May we sleep with health!')

The following are leave-taking for a longer period:

(38a) oppa oolla oppa ool-n-a in spend.day-1PL-OPT 'May you have a good day.'

(38b) oppa Gaa?i-n-a in sit.down-1PL-OPT 'May you stay in peace.'

Enquiring the well-being of somebody else is expressed by mentioning the name of the person whose well-being is requested, followed by the postpositional phrase maanaappaa <maana-oppaa what-in> and the existential verb root kiy-. Examples:

- (39a) kappoolim maanaappaa ca *kappooli-? maana-oppaa=i kiy-a* kappoole-NOM what-in=3 be-IPF.PRES 'How is kappoole doing?' (lit.: What is kappoole in?)
- (39b) hellaatti maanaappaa can hellaa-tti maana-oppaa=i children-2SG.POSS.P what-in=3

kiy-a-n be-IPF.FUT-P 'How are your children?' (lit.: What are your children in?)

14. Texts

In this chapter, I provide two transcribed and glossed stories. The first text is the story Teekoole's son's bag, and the second is a story about a second wife. In both texts I use a four-line transliteration: in the first line I represent the Konso sentence as it is recorded, in the second line I indicate morpheme boundaries, in the third line I give translation of lexemes and glossing of grammatical morphemes, in the fourth line I give a free translation of the whole sentence. Both stories were told by my grandmother.

14.1. Text 1: polaa a innaá Teekoolí?¹⁴ Teekoole's Son's Bag

001	χattaa ɗawwir	ki?ni ka inna 11.	a Teentoo	li i∫u? í	?innaa 7	Seekooli 1	ka ollin o	okkaá
	vatta =	i	kid-ni		ka	innaá		
	long.tin	ne.ago $= 3$	say-IP	F.PRES	and	child.C	BEN	
	а	Teentooli	ifu?	innaa		а	Teekool	li
	GEN	Teentoole	and	child.(GEN	GEN	Teekool	e
	ka	okkaá = i	olli-n		C	laww-ni.		
	and	cattle.ACC=	= 3 togeth	er-INST	`h	erd-IPF.I	PRES	
	'It is sa poor fa	id that long t mily herded c	ime ago, a attle toget	a child o her.'	of a rich	family a	nd a chilo	l of a
002	innaá T	eekooli nolaá	Gapanee k	iini.				
	innaá	а	Teeko	oli	nolaá	=3		
	child.G	EN GEN	Teeko	ole	bag.A	CC = 3		
	Gap-a-n	n=i	kid-ni.					
	have-IP	PF.FUT-P=3	say-IP	F.PRES				
	'It is sa	id that the poo	or family's	s child ha	ad a bag	•		
003	oo kay kiɗaye,	ti kuyya?ta 'aani ka okka	takkaayye, yaa oor∫i!'	innaá	Teentoo	oli ka in	naá Teek	coolik
	00	kay-t-i	kuyya	?ta	takka-	ayye,		
	when	reach-3F-PF	day		one.F-	BKGRD		
	innaá	Teer	ntooli	ka	innaá			
	child.G	EN Teer	toole	and	child.	GEN		

¹⁴ The major characters in this story are Teekoole's son and Teentoole's son. The word **teekoole** is derived from the verb root **teek**- 'to be poor' whereas the word **teentoole** is derived from the noun **teenta**/teyanta 'wealth'.

	<i>Teekooli-?</i> Teekoole-DAT	<i>kid-ay-</i>	e, ISM1-BKGRF	`	<i>'aan-i</i> 100-IMP SG	<i>ka</i> and
	I CERODIE-DAI	say-rr[JIVIJ-DKOKL	,	g0-11v1F.50	anu
	<i>okkayaa</i> cattle	<i>oor-∫-i!</i> return-I	<i>,</i> DCAUS-IMP.	SG		
	'One day, Teen drive the cattle	toole's back!"	boy ordered '	Teel	koole's boy, say	ring, "Go and
004	innaá Teekooli anka aano oorju	ka kiine .'	e 'in?oor∫ama	hin	ɗo ka nolaayyu	asseeyiG Gapi
	innaá	а	Teekooli		ka	
	child.GEN	GEN	Teekoole		and	
	<i>kid-ni-e</i> say-IPF.PRES-E	BKGRD	<i>in=oor-∫-a-</i> 1=return-D	- <i>ma</i> CAU	JS-IPF.FUT-but	
	<i>hind-o</i> here.you(SG).ar	e-VOC.	<i>ka nolaa-yyu</i> SG and bag-1SG.POSS.		M/F	
	<i>assi-aye-?</i> like.this-here-L0	<i>Gap-i</i> hold-IMP.SC	Ĵ	<i>an=ka</i> 1 = and	<i>aan-o</i> go-DP	
	<i>oor-ſ-u.'</i> return-DCAUS- 'Then Teekoole back but hold m	OPT s son s y bag au	aid to Teento nd let me go a	oole' and o	s son, "I will d drive [them] bac	rive the cattle
005	innaasineé Teek	ooli ka c	kkayaasini? ?	oori	ssa? ?aanin.	
	innaa-sini?-é		a		Teekooli	ka
	child-DEF.P-BK	KGRD.G	EN GEN	٧	Teekoole	and
	<i>okkayaa-sini?</i> cattle-DEF.P 'And the child o	of the po	<i>oor-ſ-ta-?</i> return-DCAU or family we	US-V nt to	VN-DAT drive the cattle	<i>aan-i-n.</i> go-PF-P back.'
006	oo tiitaaway i?ir oo tiitaaw- when return-F	nnaá Tee <i>ay</i> PF[3M]	koolik kiinee <i>i=innaá</i> 3=child.GE	ʻ nol i N	aayyu ɗaafi!' <i>Teentooli-?</i> Teekoole-DAT	
	<i>kid-ni-e</i> say-IPF.PRES-E 'When Teekool "Give my bag b	BKGRD e's boy back!"'	<i>'polaa-yyu</i> bag-1SG.PO returned, he	SS.N sai	<i>daaf-i!'</i> M/F give-IP d to the rich f	M.SG amily's child,

007	ikiine innaá Teentooli ka kiinee 'ayen can.'							
	<i>i = kid</i> - 3 = say	<i>ni-e</i> -IPF.PRE	ES-BKG	RD	<i>innaá</i> child.G	EN	a GEN	<i>Teentooli</i> Teentoole
	<i>ka</i> and	<i>kid-ni-e</i> say-IPF	e F.PRES-I	BKGRD	<i>'aye=1</i> here=1	<i>in</i> 3NEG		
	<i>kiy-a-r</i> be-IPF 'It is sa	n.' .FUT-P aid that T	reentool	e's boy s	said, 'It i	s not her	·e.''	
008	ikka ki <i>ikka</i> and.3 'And ['	inee 'ay∫i <i>kid-ni-e</i> say-IPF. Teekoole	upaa tay PRES-B 's son] s	in?' KGRD said, "W	<i>'ayʃa</i> where here has	2opa = i to = 3 it gone?	<i>t"</i> go.	<i>ay-i-n?'</i> away-PF-P
009	innaá T <i>innaá</i> child.C	Feentooli JEN	ka ayen <i>a</i> GEN	can <i>Teento</i> Teento	<i>oli</i> le	<i>ka</i> and		
	<i>kid-ni-</i> say-IPI 'And T	<i>e</i> F.PRES-H Feekoole'	BKGRD	<i>'aye=1</i> here=1 said, "It	<i>in</i> 3NEG is not he	<i>kiy-a-n</i> be-IPF. ere."	.' FUT-P	
010	ooree i <i>ooree</i> then	nnaasine	é Teekoo <i>innaa-s</i> child-D	oli imiiro <i>sini?-é</i> DEF.P-Bl	oodin ka KGRD.C	a Orrotá [:] BEN	? ?opa k <i>a</i> GEN	eerinee kiini. <i>Teekooli</i> Teekoole
	i = min 3 = be.	<i>rood-i-n</i> angry-PF	-P	<i>ka</i> and	a GEN	<i>Orrotá-</i> Orrota-	<i>?</i> GEN	
	<i>opa</i> to 'Then,	<i>keer-i-i</i> run[PL] Teekoole	n <i>=i</i>]-PF-P <i>=</i> e's son §	: 3 got angry	<i>kid-ni.</i> say-IPI and rar	F.PRES n to Orro	ta's hou	se.'
011	'Orrota <i>Orrota</i> '[And]	a! Orrota! <i>! Orrota!</i> he said,]	, Orrota!	Orrota!'				

012 *ikka kiinee 'Ooy!' ikka kid-ni-e 'Ooy!'* and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD 'yes!' 'And [the Orrota] said "Yes!''

013 ikka kiinee 'xooyee talaá Teentooli poki poki.' 'χοοy-i-e ikka kid-ni-e and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD come-IMP.SG-BKGRD talaá Teentooli pok-i а GEN Teentoole shoot.PL-IMP.SG goats.GEN pok-i.' shoot.PL-IMP.SG 'And he said, "Come and shoot Teentoole's son's goats!"" 014 Orrotak kiinee 'opa Teentooli maanaa kodin?' Orrota-? kid-ni-e 'opa Teentooli Orrota-NOM say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD ASS Teentoole kod-i-n?' maanaa what do-PF-P 'Orrota said, "What have Orrota and his mates done?"" 015 ikka kiinee 'nolaa innaá Teekoolee pajin.' ikka kid-ni-e ʻpolaa a innaá and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD bag child.GEN GEN Teekooli = ipaſ-i-n.' lose-PF-P Teekoole = 3'And he said, "He has lost Teekoole's son's bag."" 016 ikka kiinee 'intiitay.' ikka kid-ni-e 'in=tiit-ay.' and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD 1=refuse-PF[3M] 'And he said, "[Sorry] I am not coming."" 017 ikiinee ikka a Apitta? ?opa keeray ka 'Apitta! Apitta!' kiɗay i=kid-ni-e ikka Apitta-? а 3 = say-IPF.PRES-BKGRDand.3 GEN fire-LOC 'Apitta! Apitta!' kid-ay opa keer-ay ka run[SG]-PF[3M and Fire! Fire say-PF[3M] to 'And he ran to Fire's house and said, "Fire! Fire!"" 018 ikka kiinee 'Ooy. Ooy.' ikka kid-ni-e 'Ooy. Ooy.' and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD Yes! Yes! 'And [the fire] said, "Yes! Yes!""

019	ikka kiinee 'χοοyi ka mana Orrootak kupi kupi!.'
	ikka kiɗ-ni-e 'xooy-i ka
	and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD come-IMP.SG and
	<i>mana Orroota-? kup-i kup-i!.'</i> house Orroota-GEN burn-IMP.SG burn-IMP.SG 'And he said, "Come and burn Orroota's house!""
020	ikka kiinee 'Orroota maanaa ko?ti?'maana=iikka kid-ni-e 'Orrootamaana=iand.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD Orrootawhat=3
	<i>kod-t-i?</i> ' do-3F-PF 'And he said, "What has Orroota done?""
021	ikka kiinee 'talaá Teentooli pokiyaa tiitti.' <i>ikka kid-ni-e 'talaá</i> and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD goats.GEN
	aTeentoolipok-iyaatiit-t-i.'GENTeentooleshoot-VNrefuse-3F-PF'And he said, "They refused to shoot Teentoole's goats."'
022	ikka kiinee 'opa Teentooli maanaa kodin?' <i>ikka kid-ni-e 'opa Teentooli</i> and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD ASS Teentoole
	maana = ikod-i-n?'what = 3do-PF-P'And he said, "What have Tentoole and his mates done?"'
023	ikka kiinee 'nolinnaá Teekoolee pa∬in.' <i>ikka kid-ni-e 'nolaa a</i> and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD bag GEN
	<i>innaá</i> $Teekooli = i$ $paff-i-n.'$ child.GEN Teekoole = 3 loss-PF-P 'And he said, "He lost Teekoole's son's bag.""
024	ikka kiinee 'intiitay.' <i>ikka kid-ni-e 'in=tiit-ay.</i> ' and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD 1=refuse-PF[3M] 'And he said, "[Sorry] I am not coming."'

025	ikiine ikka a pi faa ? ?opa keerayew. $i = kid$ -ni-eikkaapi faa -? $3 = say$ -IPF.PRES-BKGRDand.3GENwater-LOC
	<i>opa keer-ay-ew.</i> to run[SG]-PF[3M]-again 'And again, he ran to Water.'
026	'Piʃaa-y!Piʃaa-y!'water-VOC.PWater-VOC.P'Water! Water!'
027	ikka kiinee 'Ooy.' <i>ikka kid-ni-e 'Ooy!'</i> and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD yes 'And the water said "Yes!"'
028	innaá Teekooli ka kiinee 'χοοyi ka Apitta li66iʃi li66iʃi!' <i>innaá a Teekooli ka</i> child.GEN GEN Teekoole and
	<i>kid-ni-e 'χοοy-i ka</i> say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD come-IMPF.SG and
	Apittalibb-f-ifireextinguish-DCAUS-IMP.SG
	<i>li66-f-i!'</i> extinguish-DCAUS-IMP.SG 'And Teekoole's son said, 'Come and extinguish Fire!''
029	ikka kiinee 'Apitta maanaa koɗay?'maana=iikka kid-ni-e 'Apittamaana=iand.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD firewhat=3
	<i>kod-ay?</i> ' do-PF[3M] 'And the water said, "What has the fire done?""
030	ikka kiinee 'tikoorrootak kupiyaa tiitay.' <i>ikka kid-ni-e 'tika a</i> and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD house GEN
	<i>Orrootá-? kup-iya=i tiit-ay.'</i> Orroota-GEN burn-VN=3 refuse-PF[3M]
'And he said, "He refused to burn Orroota's house.""

031	ikka kiinee 'Orroota maanaa ko?ti?'maana=iikka kid-ni-e 'Orrootamaana=iand.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD Orrootawhat=3
	<i>kod-t-i?</i> ' do-3F-PF 'And he said, "What has Orroota done?""
032	ikka kiinee 'talaá Teentooli pokiyaa tiitti.' <i>ikka kid-ni-e 'talaá</i> and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD goats.GEN
	aTeentoolipok-iyaatiit-t-i.'GENTeentooleshoot-INFrefuse-3F-PF'And he said, "He refused to shoot Teentoole's son's goats."
033	ikka kiinee 'opa Teentooli maanaa koɗin?' <i>ikka kiɗ-ni-e 'opa Teentooli</i> and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD ASS rich
	maana = ikod-i-n?'what = 3do-PF-P'And he said, 'What have Teentole and his mates done?''
034	ikka kiinee 'nolinnaá Teekoolee pa∬in.' <i>ikka kid-ni-e 'nolaa a</i> and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD bag GEN
	<i>innaá</i> $Teekooli=i$ $paff-i-n.'$ child.GEN Teekoole=3 loss-PF-P 'And he said, "They have lost Teekoole's son's bag.""
035	ikka kiinee 'intiitay.' <i>ikka kid-ni-e 'in=tiit-ay.'</i> and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD 1=refuse-PF[3M] 'And he said, "[Sorry] I am not coming.'''
036	<i>ikka keerew.</i> <i>ikka keer-ay-ew.</i> and.3 run[SG]-PF[3M]-again 'And he ran again.'

- 037 **'Arpa! Arpa!'** Elephant! Elephant!
- 038 ikka kiinee 'Oooy.' *ikka kid-ni-e 'Oooy.*' and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD yes 'And he said, "Yes!"'
- 039 [•]χοοyi ka sirkan pi∫aá siibbi siibbi!' [•]χοοy-i ka sirka-n Piſaá come-IMP.SG and trunk-INST Water.ACC

sii66-isii66-i!'take.a.sip-IMP.SGtake.a.sip-IMP.SG'Come and sip up Water at once!'

040 ikka kiinee 'Pijaa maanaa kodin?' *ikka kid-ni-e 'Pijaa maana=i* and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD Water what=3

> *kod-i-n?*' do-PF-P 'What has Water done?'

041 *ikka kiinee 'Apitta libbissaa tiitin.' ikka kid-ni-e 'Apitta* and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD Fire

> lib6-f-ta = i tiit-i-n.' extinguish-DCAUS-INF = 3 refuse-PF-P 'It has refused to extinguish Fire.'

- 042 'Apitta maanaa koɗay?' 'Apitta maana=i koɗ-ay?' Fire what=3 do-PF[3M] 'What has Fire done?'
 043 'manoorrootak kupiyaa tiitay.'
- *'mana a Orroota-? kup-iya=i tiit-ay.'* house GEN Orroota-GEN burn-VN=3 refuse-PF[3M] 'He has refused to burn Orroota's house.'
- 044 ikka kiinee 'Orroota maanaa ko?ti?' *ikka kid-ni-e* 'Orroota maana = i and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD Orroota what=3

kod-t-i?' do-3F-PF 'And he said, "What has Orroota done?""

045 ikka kiinee 'talaá Teentooli pokiyaa tiitti.' *ikka kid-ni-e 'talaá* and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD goats.GEN

aTeentoolipok-iyaatiit-t-i.'GENTeentooleshoot-VNrefuse-3F-PF'And he said, "He has refused to shoot Teentoole's son's goats.""

046 ikka kiinee 'opa Teentooli maanaa kodin?' *ikka kid-ni-e 'opa Teentooli* and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD ASS Teentoole

> *maana=i kod-i-n?*" what=3 do-PF-P 'And he said, "What have Teentoole and his mates done?""

047 ikka kiinee 'polinnaá Teekoolee pa∬in.' *ikka kid-ni-e 'polaa ?a* and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD bag GEN

> *innaá* Teekooli = i paff-i-n.'child.GEN Teekoole = 3 loss-PF-P 'And he said, "They lost Teekoole's son's bag.""

- 048 ikka kiinee 'intiitay.' *ikka kid-ni-e 'in=tiit-ay.'* and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD 1=refuse-PF[3M] 'And he said, "[Sorry] I am not coming."'
- 049 ikka a Kolalta? ?opa keerayew ka kiinee 'Kolalta! Kolalta!' keer-ay-ew ikka Kolalta-? я opa and.3 GEN Acacia-LOC run[SG]-PF[3M]-again to ka kid-ni-e 'Kolalta! Kolalta!' say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD Acacia! Acacia! and 'And he ran to Acacia's' house, and said, "Acacia! Acacia!""
- 050 ikka kiinee 'ee!' ikka kid-ni-e 'ee!'
 - and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD yes 'And he said "Yes!"

051 'xooyi ka Arpa Garap pi?i pi?i.' ʻχοοy-i ka Arpa Gara-? come-IMP.SG and Elephant on-LOC pi?-i pi?-i.' fall-IMP.SG fall-IMP.SG 'Come and fall on Elephant!' 052 ikka kiinee 'Arpa maanaa koday?' 'Arpa ikka kid-ni-e maana = i and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD Elephant what = 3kod-ay?' do-PF[3M] 'And he said, "What has Elephant done?" 053 ikka kiinee 'sirkan pi∫aá sii66iyaa tiitay.' ikka kid-ni-e 'sirka-n and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD trunk-INST piſaá tiit-ay.' siibb-ya=i sip-VN = 3water.ACC refuse-PF[3M] 'He said, "He refused to sip up Water."" 054 ikka kiinee 'Pijaa maanaa kodin?' *Pifaa maana = i* kid-ni-e kod-i-n?' ikka and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD Water what=3 do-PF-P 'What has Water done?' ikka kiinee 'Apitta li66issaa tiitin.' 055 ikka kid-ni-e 'Apitta and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD Fire *li66-f-ta=i* tiit-i-n.' extinguish-DCAUS-VN = 3refuse-PF-P 'It has refused to extinguish Fire.' 056 ikka kiinee 'Apitta maanaa koday?' ikka kid-ni-e 'Apitta maana = i say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD Fire and.3 what = 3kod-ay?' do-PF[3M] 'And he said, "What has Fire done?""

057	<pre>'manoorrootak kupiyaa tiitay.' 'mana a Orroota-? kup-iya=i tiit-ay.' house GEN Orroota-GEN burn-VN=3 refuse-PF[3M] 'He has refused to burn Orroota's house.'</pre>
058	ikka kiinee 'Orroota maanaa ko?ti?' <i>ikka kid-ni-e 'Orroota maana = i kod-t-i?'</i> and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD Orroota what = 3 do-3F-PF 'And he said, "What have the Orroota done?'''
059	ikka kiinee 'talaá Teentooli pokiyaa tiitti.' <i>ikka kid-ni-e 'talaá</i> and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD goats.GEN
	aTeentoolipok-iyaatiit-t-i.'GENTentooleshoot-VNrefuse-3F-PF'And he said, "He refused to shoot Teekoole's son's goats."'
060	ikka kiinee 'opa teentooli maanaa koɗin?' <i>ikka kid-ni-e 'opa Teentooli</i> and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD ASS Teentoole
	maana = ikod-i-n?'what = 3do-PF-P'And he said, "What have Teentoole and his mates done?"
061	ikka kiinee 'polinnaá Teekoolee pa∬in.' <i>ikka kid-ni-e 'polaa a</i> and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD bag GEN
	<i>innaá</i> $Teekooli = i$ $paff-i-n.'$ child.GEN Teekoole = 3 loss-PF-P 'And he said, "They lost Teekoole's son's bag.""
062	ikka kiinee 'intiitay.' <i>ikka kid-ni-e 'in=tiit-ay.'</i> and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD 1=refuse-PF[3M] 'And he said, "[Sorry] I am not coming."'
067	ikka keerayew. <i>ikka keer-ay-ew.</i> and.3 run[SG]-PF[3M]-again 'And he ran again.'

068 'Kurfa! 'Kurfa!' Rat! Rat!' 069 ikka kiinee 'ee' 'ee' ikka kid-ni-e and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD 'yes!' 'And the rat said, "Yes!"" 070 'xooyi ka Kolalta kelaa hittinnaa Guuri Guuri!' 'χοοy-i ka Kolalta kela-a hittinnaa come-IMP.SG and Acacia under-LOC roots Guur-i!' Guur-i cut[PL]-IMP.SG cut[PL]-IMP.SG 'Come and cut roots from Acacia!' 071 ikka kiinee 'Kolalta maanaa koɗay? ikka kid-ni-e 'Kolalta maana = i and.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD Acacia what = 3kod-ay? do-PF[3M] 'And he said, "What has Acacia done?" 072 ikka kiinee 'Arpa Garap pi?iyaa tiitay.' kid-ni-e 'Arpa ikka Gara-? say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD Elephant and.3 on-LOC pi?-iya=i tiit-ay.' fall-INF = 3refuse-PF[3M] 'And he said, "He has refused to fall on Elephant."" 073 ikka kiinee 'Arpa maanaa koday?' 'Arpa ikka kid-ni-e maana = i say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD Elephant and.3 what = 3kod-ay?' do-PF[3M] 'And he said, "What has Elephant done?"" ikka kiinee 'sirkan Pisaá sii66iyaa tiitay.' 074 ikka kid-ni-e 'sirka-n say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD trunk-INST and.3

	<i>Piſaá</i> water.A 'He said	.CC d, "He ro	<i>sii66-ya</i> sip-INF efused to	a=i b=3 a sip Wat	<i>tiit-ay.'</i> refuse-F ter.'''	PF[3M]		
075	ikka kii <i>ikka</i> and.3 'What h	nee 'Pi∫a <i>kid-ni-e</i> say-IPF nas Wate	a maana PRES-I r done?	a koɗin? BKGRD	, <i>'Piʃaa</i> Water	<i>maana</i> = what = 3	i	<i>kod-i-n?"</i> do-PF-P
076	ikka kiin <i>ikka</i> and.3	nee 'Api <i>kid-ni-e</i> say-IPF	tta li66is PRES-I	ssaa tiitin BKGRD	.' <i>'Apitta</i> Fire			
	<i>li66-ʃ-ta</i> extingui 'It has r	a=i ish-DCA efused t	US-INF o exting	r=3 uish Fire	<i>tiit-i-n.</i> refuse-F .'	, PF-P		
077	ikka kiir <i>ikka</i> and.3 'And he	nee 'Api <i>kid-ni-e</i> say-IPF e said, "Y	tta maan . .PRES-1 What has	aaa koɗay BKGRD s Fire do	7?' <i>'Apitta</i> Fire ne?'''	maana = what = 1	= <i>i kod</i> 3 do-	<i>f-ay?'</i> PF[3M]
078	'manoon <i>'mana</i> house 'He has	rrootak k <i>a</i> GEN refused	tupiyaa 1 <i>Orroota</i> Orroota to burn	tiitay.' a-? a-GEN Orroota [*]	<i>kup-iya</i> burn-Vl s house.	=i N=3	<i>tiit-ay.</i> refuse-]	, PF[3M]
079	'Orroot <i>'Orroot</i> a Orroota '[And h	a maanaa a he said,]	a ko?ti?' <i>maana =</i> what = "What h	= <i>i</i> 3 has Orroc	<i>kod-t-i?</i> do-3F-F ota done?	P F		
080	ikka kiir <i>ikka</i> and.3	nee 'tala <i>kid-ni-e</i> say-IPF	á Teento PRES-I	ooli pokiy 3KGRD	/ aa tiitti. <i>'talaá</i> goats.G	, EN		
	<i>a</i> GEN 'And he	<i>Teentoo</i> Teentoo e said, "I	o <i>li</i> ole He refus	<i>pok-iya</i> shoot-V ed to sho	a 'N bot Teent	<i>tiit-t-i.'</i> refuse-3 coole's sc	F-PF on's goa	ıts."'
081	ikka kiir <i>ikka</i> and.3	nee 'opa <i>kid-ni-e</i> say-IPF	Teentoo PRES-F	oli maana 3KGRD	a koɗin? <i>'opa</i> ASS	," <i>Teentoo</i> Teentoo	<i>li</i> le	

maana = i kod-i-n?" what = 3 do-PF-P 'And he said, "What have Teentoole and his mates done?""

082 ikka kiinee 'polinnaá Teekoolee paffin.' ikka kid-ni-e 'nolaa а say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD bag and.3 GEN pa∬-i-n.' innaá Teekooli=i child.GEN Teekoole = 3loss-PF-P 'And he said, "They lost the Teekole's son's bag."" 083 'intiitay.' 'in=tiit-ay.' 1 = refuse-PF[3M]'[And he said,] "I refuse to come."" 084 ikka keer-ay-ew. and.3 run[SG]-PF[3M]-again 'He ran again.' 085 Alla?itta! Alla?itta! Vulture! Vulture! 086 ɗay-i!' 'χοοy-i ka Kur∫a ɗay-i come-IMP.SG and hit-IMP.SG hit-IMP.SG rat 'Come and hit Rat!' 087 oore alla?ittasi? ?a olkela ankaassadin male Tapaytasid dawtad dway. alla?itta-si? ol-kela oore a crow-DEF.M/F then concerning each.other-under in=kaassad-in male Tapayta-si? 3NEG = ask-NEGwithout Rat-DEF.M/F daw-ta-? doy-ay hit-VN-DAT jump-PF[3M] 'Then, without asking what happened, the Vulture flew to hit Rat.' 088 Tapayta ka xa?aɗay ka Kolalta kelaa hittinnaa Guuriyaa paayyay. Tapayta ka χa?ad-ay Kolalta ka Rat and run-PF[3M] and Acacia

kela-a	hittinnaa	Guur-iya=i
under-LOC	roots	cut[PL]-INF = 3

paayy-ay. start-PF[3M] '[Then] the rat ran and started cutting the Acacia's roots.'

089	Kolalta tamma <i>Kolalta</i> Acacia <i>Gara-opa.</i> on-to 'Acacia was a	o fay ka Ar j <i>tammag</i> be.afraid fraid and b	pa Garpa <i>-ay</i> 1-PF[3N began fal	a. 1] Iling on	<i>ka</i> and Elephar	<i>Arpa</i> Elephar nt '	nt
090	ikiinee Arpa k <i>i=kid-ni-e</i> 3 = say-IPF.PF <i>sii66-iyaa-opa</i> sip-VN-to 'It is said that	a Pi∫aa sii6 RES Elephant b	66iyaapa <i>Arpa</i> Elephar began go	nt bing to s	<i>ka</i> and ip Wate	<i>Piʃaa</i> Water er.'	
091	Pi∫aa ka Apitta <i>Pi∫aa ka</i> Water and 'And Water [r	a li66issaap <i>Apitta</i> fire an] to extin	ba. nguish F	<i>li66-ʃ-t</i> . extingu Fire.'	<i>aa-opa</i> ish-DC	AUS-to	
092	Apitta ka man <i>Apitta</i> Fire 'And Fire [ran	oorrootak k <i>ka</i> and] to burn (kupiyaap <i>mana</i> house Drrota's	a. <i>a</i> GEN house.'	<i>Orroo</i> Orrota	<i>tá-?</i> -GEN	<i>kup-iyaa-opa</i> burn-VN-to
093	Orrootak ka ta Orroota-? Orroota-NOM pok-iyaa-opa shoot[PL]-VN '[Then] Orroo	llaá Teento -to ta [ran] to	ooli poki <i>ka</i> and shoot T	iyaapa. <i>tallaá</i> goats.G eentoole	EN 's son's	<i>Teentoo</i> Teentoo s goats.'	o <i>li</i> ble
094	maanaa hasay maana = i what = 3 'What is left, t	oore? <i>has-ay</i> remain-l	PF[3M]	then	oore?		
095	polaá innaá Te <i>polaa a</i> bag GEN 'Teekoole's so	ekooli . <i>innaá</i> child.GE on's bag.	EN	<i>Teekoo</i> Teekoo	o <i>li</i> le		

096	oore in	naá Teer	tooli ka	nolaasin	ee innaá	Teekool	i ɗaa∫in.
	oore	innaa		a	Teento	oli	ka
	then	child		GEN	Teento	ole	and
	nolaa-s	vini?	а	innaa	Teekoo	oli	daaf-i-n.
	bag-DE	EF.P	GEN	child	Teekoo	ole	give-PF-P
	'Then,	Teentoo	le's son	gave bac	k Teeko	ole's so	n's bag.'
097	oore in	naá Teek	cooli ka j	nolaadi G	feedadin	•	
	oore	innaa	а	Teekoo	oli	ka	
	then	child	GEN	Teekoo	le	and	
	nolaa-o	ſi		Geed-a	d-i-n.		
	bag-3S	- G POSS	M/F	take-M	ID-PF-P		
	'Then	Teekoole	e's son to	ook back	his bag	,	
			o bon te				
098	ayi Gar	a?ee dik	kanni tor	roosini.			
	aye	Gara-?	=i	dikkad-	ni		torraa-oosini?.
	here	on-LO	C = 3	finish-I	PF.PRE	S	story-DEM.P
	'It is he	ere that t	his story	ends.'			

14.2. Text 2: Ahta a Lammootá? A Second Wife

001	χ attaa kiini ka, aappaa to χ atta = i long.time.ago = 3			okkakka <i>kid-ni</i> say-IPI	kkakka ahawwaa lakk <i>kid-ni ka,</i> say-IPF.PRES and		faɗay. <i>aappaa</i> husband	
	<i>tokka-i</i> one.M- 'A long	<i>ikka</i> ∙and.3 g time aş	<i>ahaww</i> wives go, there	<i>aa</i> was a m	<i>lakki =</i> two=3 an who	e <i>i fad-ay.</i> 6 marry-l took two	PF[3M] o wives.'	
002	oo ahay <i>oo</i> when	wwaa lak <i>ahaww</i> wives	cki faɗay <i>'aa</i>	, ahta pa <i>lakki</i> two	ayyutaa <i>fad-ay,</i> marry-	ito?ti. PF[3M]	<i>ahta</i> wife	
	<i>a</i> GEN 'Of the	<i>paayyu</i> first two wiv	u <i>ta</i> ves, the f	i = toy 3 = die irst wife	<i>t-i.</i> -3F-PF e died.'			
003	oo to?t oo when	i ooreeyy <i>toy-t-i</i> die-3F∙	ye, ahta l -PF	ammatta <i>oore-ea</i> then-B	k kuyya' <i>eyye</i> KGRD	?ta takka <i>ahta</i> wife	ayye a GEN	
	<i>lamma</i> second	<i>tta-?</i> -GEN	<i>kuyya?</i> day	ta	<i>takka-e</i> one-Bk	eyye KGRD	luGGisa = i leather.skirt = 3	
	<i>pidd-t-</i> , buy-3F 'When leather	<i>i.</i> -PF she [th skirt.'	e first w	vife] die	d, one d	day the	second wife bought a	1
004	luGGisa kookaa	a kideeta 1.	a uwwaa	parraa	xattaayy	лее а ха	ttaateeyyee akata kok	-
	<i>luGGisa</i> leather	a .skirt	<i>kid-eet</i> say-INI	<i>a uwwaa</i> Fskirt		<i>parraa</i> years		
	<i>a</i> GEN 'Many	<i>χatta-a</i> long.tii years ag	<i>yyee</i> ne.ago-E 30 leather	BKGRD skirt m	<i>akata</i> very eant an e	<i>kokkoo</i> strong-	<i>k-aa?.</i> P e skirt.'	

005 ee lucGisasip pidditi oorineeyye, maanaa ko?ti, tuparraa maanaa ko?ti, tuparraa lakkee pijaa? ?erkiti.

<i>ee</i>	<i>luGGisa-si?</i>	<i>pidd-t-i</i>	<i>oore-neeyye</i>
when	leather.skirt-DEF.M/F	buy-3F-PF	then-BKGRD

maana = i	kod-t-i	tuparraa
what $= 3$	do-3F-PF	girls

lakki=i pifaa-?erk-t-i.two=3 water-DATsend-3F-PF'When she bought the leather skirt, "what did she do?" She sent twogirls to fetch water.'

006 takka? ?enanta xaadi. *takka-? enanta xaadi.* one.F-NOM girl 3SG.POSS.M/F 'One was her daughter.'

007 takka? ?enanta aayyaasinit to?te. *takka-? enanta a aayyaa-sini?* one.F-NOM girl GEN mother-DEF.P

> *toy-t-i-?* die-3F-PF-GEN '[And] one was a daughter of the deceased mother.'

008 ee pijaa? ?anniyaaneeyye, maanaa ko?ti enantaadik kulpa a feyyaa? ?erkti ka enantase aayyaasinit to?te, maanaa ko?ti ?iGeetti kaa kulpaadi diddiptannee diddiptanne oppa Gu?ti.

	ee when	<i>pifaa-?</i> water-E	DAT	<i>an-ni-ya</i> go-IPF.	<i>aan-eyye</i> PRES-31	PL-BKG	RD	maana = i what = 3
	<i>kod-t-i</i> do-3F-I	PF	<i>enanta-a</i> girl-3S0	<i>adi-?</i> G.POSS.	M/F-DA	Т	<i>kulpa</i> calabasl	h
	a GEN	<i>feyy-aa</i> well-P	?	<i>erk-t-i</i> send-3F	-PF	<i>ka</i> and	<i>enanta-</i> girl-DE	<i>se</i> F.M/F
	<i>a</i> GEN	<i>aayyaa-</i> mother-	<i>sini?</i> DEF.P		<i>toy-t-i</i> die-3F-1	PF	<i>maana =</i> what = 3	= <i>i</i> 3
	<i>kod-t-i</i> do-3F-I	PF	<i>i=Geec</i> 3=take	<i>f-t-i</i> -3F-PF	ka = i and = 3			
<i>kulpa-adi</i> calabash-3SG.POSS.M/F				diddipta-nn = i needle-INST = 3				

oppa Gud-t-i. into pierce.PL-3F-PF

'When they [the girls] were to go to fetch water, what she [the second wife] did was give her daughter a calabash without holes but she pierced holes in calabash of the daughter of the deceased mother.'

009 oo kulpallaasiniG Gu?ti kammaayyee, enantase a lammitteetak kirruppupa i?anti i?anti ka pijaasini? ?oraapni ka oo immaktu ka ela Geetto, kammannee allit tuttuGmanni.

oo when	<i>kulpall</i> calabas	<i>laa-sini?</i> shes-DE	F.P	<i>Gud-t-</i> pierce	<i>i</i> -3F-PF	<i>kammaa-yyee,</i> after-BKGRD	
<i>enanta</i>	<i>-si</i>	a	<i>lamm</i>	<i>itteeta-?</i>	EN	<i>kirra-oppupa</i>	
girl-DI	EF.M/F	GEN	secon	d.wife-G		reiver-into	
<i>i=an-t-i</i>		<i>ka</i>	<i>pifaa-sini ora</i>		<i>oraap-</i>	p -ni	
3=go-3F-PF		and	water-DEF.P feto		fetch-I	n-IPF.PRES	
<i>ka</i>	<i>oo</i> when	<i>immak</i>	k <i>-t-u</i>	<i>ka</i>	<i>dela</i>	<i>Geed-t-o,</i>	
and		fill-3F	-DP	and	up	take-3F-DP	
kamma	n-nn=i		alli?	tut-tuc	fmad-ni.		

behind-PATH = 3 away PL-spill-IPF.PRES 'The girl fetched the water and when she filled the calabashes and took them up, the calabashes leaked water from underneath.'

010 inansix xaadi ooreeyye kulpallaadi i?immakatti ka xa?atti ka tayti.

inanta-si?	<i>xaadi</i>	oore-eeyye
girl-DEF.M/F	3SG.POSS.M/F	then-BKG

kulpallaa-adi	i=immak-ad-t-i	ka
calabashes-3SG.POSS.M/F	3 = fill-MID-3F-PF	and

 $\chi a ? a d - t - i$ katay-t - irun[SG]-3F-PFandgo.away-3F-PF'Her daughter [however]filled her calabashes and ran and went away.'

011 ataakka? ?ikiitee 'attan assi patta kala ka luGGisoosid dapa?'

ataakka-?	i=ki?-t-i	'atta=in	assi
the.other.one-NOM	3 = say-3F-PF	how = 1	like.this

patta	kal-a	ka	luGGisaa-osi?
only	return.home-IPF.FUT	and	skin.skirt-DEM.M/F

dap-a?'

lose-IPF.FUT

'[And] the other said: "How can I go home without [fetching] water like this and lose the skin skirt?""

012 Ka immakni inanta la?ayyuk ka yaalti yaalti ka ooreeyye kamma? ?ikka Garah halkeetaawti.

<i>ka</i>	<i>immak-ni</i>	<i>inanta</i>	<i>a</i>	<i>la?ayyu-?</i>
and	fill-IPF.PRES	girl	GEN	someone's-GEN
<i>ka</i>	<i>yaal-t-i</i>	<i>yaal-t-i</i>	<i>ka</i>	<i>oore-eeyye</i>
and	toil-3F-PF	toil-3F-PF	and	then-BKGRD
<i>kamma</i>	a-? ikka	<i>Gara-?</i>	C	<i>halkeetaaw-t-i.</i>
then-L	OC and.the	en.3 on-LO		be.dawn-3F-PF
•And th	he girl filled the	calabashes again	and aga	in until it was dawn.'

013	ee hall	ee halkeetaawti maanaa ko?ti?					
	ee	halkeetaaw-t-i	maanaa	kod-t-i?			
	when	be.dawn-3F-PF	what	do-3F-PF			
	'When	it was dawn, what di	d she do?'				

014	hotaarta a kir	ra kapaɗ d	lehaye ca	1.	
	hotaarta	а	kirra	kapa-?	deh-ay=i
	acacia.sp	REL	river	near-LOC	sprout- $3M = 3$

kiy-a. be-IPF.FUT 'There was an acacia tree near the river.'

015 hotaarsi? ?oppaayye karkaɗaa ca. *hotaarta-si?* oppaa-aayye karkaɗaa = i acacia.sp-DEF.M/F BKGRD beehives = 3

> *kiy-a* be-IPF.FUT 'In the acacia tree there were beehives.'

016 ikka Goyrasi? ?oppupa feyyatti ka karkaa Garaa kaysaa ela Gapti.

<i>ikka</i> and.the	en.3	<i>Goyra-si?</i> tree-DEF.M/F	<i>oppupa</i> into	<i>feyyad</i> climb.	<i>f-t-i</i> up-3F-PF
<i>ka</i>	<i>karkaa</i>	<i>Gara-a</i>	ST	<i>kaysaa</i>	<i>dela</i>
and	beehive	on-DES		beehive.cover	upward

Gap-t-i.	

hold-3F-PF

'And then, she climbed the tree up and pulled the cover of one of the beehives up.'

017	Ka ota	Ka otanta karkaa? ?i∫u? ?a kaysaak karam mukti.				
	<i>ka</i> and	otanta centre	a GEN	<i>karkaa-?</i> beehive-GEN	<i>ifu?</i> and	
	а	kavsaa-?		kara-?	muk-t-i	

а	kaysaa-?	kara-?	muk-t-i.
GEN	beehive.cover-GEN	in-LOC	sleep-3F-PF
'And th	en, she lay between th	e beehive and b	eehive cover.'

018 ata a hotaartasi? ?oppupa feyyannittooyyee feyyannittooyye karmaa ijeenna akkay.

ata	а	hotaarta-si?	oppupa
by.the.way	when	acacia.sp-DEF.M/F	into

feyyad-ni-kit-t-o-yyee climb.up-IPF.PRES-be-3F-IPF.FUT.DP-BKGRD

karmaa	<i>i∫eenna</i>	akk-ay.
lion	3SGF.PRO[ACC]	see-PF[3M]
'A lion saw her	when she was climbing	up the tree.'

019 ee mukteeyye, karmaasik ka aanay ka kiinee 'Kelaa dela karkaa Garaa dela kaysaa. kaysaa. Maanaa otante poori poori? anaa ela de?nim kee xaa de?ni?'

<i>ee</i> when	<i>muk-t-i-eeyye,</i>			<i>karmaa-si?</i>	<i>ka</i>	
	sleep-3F-PF-BKGRD			lion-DEF.M/F	and	
<i>aan-ay</i>	M]	<i>ka</i>	<i>kid-ni =</i>	<i>i</i>	<i>'kela-a</i>	
go-PF[3		and	say-IPF	.PRES = 3	'under-LOC	
<i>dela</i> upward		<i>karkaa</i> beehive		<i>Gara-a</i> on-LOC	<i>dela</i> upward	

<i>kaysaa.</i> beehive.cover	<i>Maanaa</i> what	a da	<i>otanta-e</i> middle-	, BKGRD	
<i>poor-i</i> be.black-PF	<i>poor-i?</i> be.blacl	k-PF			
<i>ana-a</i> 1SG.PRO.ACC	-CLF	<i>dela</i> up.there	2	<i>dey-ni-n</i> come-IF	n PF.PRES-or
<i>ke-e</i> 2SG.PRO.ACC 'When she was hive, above is a come up there of	-CLF asleep, a beehiv or you cl	χaa downwa the lion e cover. imb dow	ard came ar What is n?"	<i>dey-ni?</i> come-IF nd said, ' s black i	PF.PRES 'Underneath is a bee- n the middle? Shall I
inantasi? ?oppa <i>inanta-si?</i> girl-DEF.M/F	oorinnin <i>oppa</i> into	kittu. <i>oor-∫-ni</i> return-I	i <i>=in</i> DCAUS-	IPF.PRE	S=3NEG
<i>kit-t-u.</i> be-3F-NEG '[And] the girl o	loes not	respond.	,		
karmaasikka an ɗela kaysaa. kay kee xaa ɗe?ni?'	nma opp ⁄saa.	a? ?oora Maana	iy ka kii a ?otante	inee 'Ke e poori p	laa ɗela karkaa Garaa oori? anaa ela ɗe?nim
<i>karmaa-si?</i> lion-DEF.M/F	<i>ka</i> and	<i>amma</i> now		<i>oppa-?</i> into-LO	С
<i>oor-ay</i> return-PF[3M]	<i>ka</i> and	<i>kid-ni =</i> say-IPF	<i>i</i> .PRES =	:3	<i>'kela-a</i> 'under-LOC
<i>dela</i> upward	<i>karkaa</i> beehive	;	<i>Gara-a</i> on-LOC	C	<i>dela</i> upward
<i>kaysaa.</i> beehive.cover	<i>manaa</i> what		<i>otanta-e</i> middle-	, BKGRD	
<i>poor-i</i> be.black-PF	<i>poor-i?</i> be.blacl	k-PF			
<i>ana-a</i> 1SG.PRO.ACC	-CLF	<i>dela</i> up.there	;	<i>dey-ni-n</i> come-IF	n PF.PRES-or

ke-exaadey-ni?2SG.PRO.ACC-CLFdownwardcome-IPF.PRES'And the lion repeated saying, "Underneath is a beehive, above is a
beehive cover. What is black in the middle? Shall I come up there or
you come down?"

022 inantasi? ?umma oppa oorinnin kittu. *inanta-si? umma oppa* girl-DEF.M/F at.all into

oor-n-ni=inkit-t-u.return-DCAUS-IPF.PRES=3NEGbe-3F-NEG'The girl does not respond at all.'be-3F-NEG

023 oore karmaasi? ?i?ela feyyanniya inantasiG Geediya ka ɗamta?i

oore karmaa-si? i = delathen lion-DEF.M/F 3 = upward

feyyad-ni-kiy-ainanta-si?Geed-iyaclimb.up-IPF.PRES-be-IPF.FUTgirl-DEF.M/Ftake-INF

ka dam-ta-? and eat-VN-DAT 'Then, the lion started climbing up in order to catch the girl and eat her.'

024 inantasi? ?oorinee ikiine 'anaa χ ata de?ni.' *inanta-si?* oorine i=kid-nigirl-DEF.M/F then 3 = say-IPF.PRES

> *'ana-a* χ*ata dey-ni.'* '1SG.PRO.ACC-CLF down come-IPF.PRES 'Then the girl said, "It's me who is coming down.""

025 ee lekkatti oore karmaasi? ?ikiine 'kin ɗamam anac Geetta ka a??ektaawu piitan akkayin male irroota sakal ana ha?ta ka a kunɗattati? ?ana lekkissa?'

<i>ee</i> when	<i>lekkad-t-i</i> climb.down-3	BF-PF	<i>oore</i> then	<i>karmaa</i> lion-DE	e -si? EF.M/F
i=kid-	ni	'ke=i	'n		dam-a-m
3 = say	-IPF.PRES	2SG.P	RO.ACC	C = 1	eat-IPF.FUT-or

<i>ana=i?</i> 1SG.PRO.ACC	=2 t	<i>Geed-t-</i> take-2-1	<i>a</i> IPF.FUT	<i>ka</i> and	
<i>a?=ekta-awu</i> 2NEG=tail-1S0	G.POSS.M	⁄l/F	<i>piita-n</i> ground-	PATH	
<i>a?=kay-in</i> 2NEG=reach-N	JEG J	<i>male</i> REAS	<i>irroota</i> mounta	in	<i>sakal</i> nine
<i>ana</i> 1SG.PRO.ACC	<i>haad-t-a</i> carry-2-I	PF.FU	Г	<i>ka</i> and	a GEN

kuɗan-ttati-? ana ten-ORD-GEN 1SG.PRO.ACC

lekkif-t-a?'

step.down-2-IPF.FUT

"When she climbed down, the lion said to the girl, "Shall I eat you (SG) or will you (SG) carry me over nine mountains without letting my tail touch the ground, and set me down on the tenth?""

026 ikka kiine 'a? ?ana ɗamtu kapaa irroota sakalin ki ki haaɗa ka a kunɗattatik ki lekkiſa.'

ikka kid-ni 'a=i? ana then.3 say-IPF.PRES concerning=2 1SG.PRO.ACC

dam-t-ukapa-airrootasakal=ineat-2-DPnear-LOCmountainnine=1

ke haad-a ka a 2SG.PRO.ACC carry-IPF.FUT and GEN

kudan-ttati-? ki ten-ORD-GEN 2SG.PRO.ACC

lekkif-a.'

step.down-IPF.FUT

'And then she said, "Instead of you (SG) eating me, I will carry you (SG) over nine mountains and set you (SG) down on the tenth mountain."

027 ifeeddaa ha?ti ha?ti ?inantasik ka irroota sakal tuullissi ka a kundattateeyye fila tokka kapa kayin karmaasi? ?ikiinee 'ayikka tikaawoy ana lekkifi.'

<i>ifeedda</i> then = 3	= <i>i</i>	<i>haad-t-t</i> carry-3	i F-PF	<i>haad-t-</i> carry-3	i F-PF	<i>inanta-s</i> girl-DE	<i>si?</i> F.M/F	
<i>ka</i> and	<i>irroota</i> mounta	in	<i>sakal</i> nine	<i>tuull-ʃ-i</i> cross-D	<i>t-i</i> CAUS-3	BF-PF	<i>ka</i> and	
<i>a</i> GEN	<i>kuɗan-t</i> ten-OR	<i>ttat-eeyy</i> D-BKGI	e RD	<i>Jila</i> rock	<i>tokka</i> one.M	<i>kapa-a</i> near-LC)C	
<i>kay-i-n</i> reach-P	F-P	<i>karmaa</i> lion-DE	<i>-si?</i> EF.M/F	<i>i = kid-i</i> 3 = say-	<i>i=kid-ni</i> 3=say-IPF.PRES			
<i>'ayikka</i> here.DE	EST	<i>tika-aw</i> house-1	<i>tika-awo-y</i> house-1SG.POSS.M/F-BKGRD					
<i>ana lekkif-i.'</i> 1SG.PRO.ACC step.down-PF 'Then, the girl carried and carried the lion over nine mountains and o the tenth one near a rock, the lion said, "Let me down as my house is here."'								
ikka lek <i>ikka</i> and.3 'And sh	t kissi . <i>lekkif-i</i> step.do ne let hir	<i>t-i</i> wn-3F-P n down.'	F					
oo lekk	isseeyye	, karmaa	sii paayy	yay ka ki	ine '∫ilaa	aynu pass	sannaa pas.'	
<i>oo</i> when	<i>lekkif-s</i> step.do	s <i>-i-eeyye</i> wn-3F-P	, F=BKC	GRD	<i>karmaa</i> lion-DE	<i>-si?=i</i> EF.M/F=	- 3	
<i>paayy-a</i> start-PF	y [3M]	<i>ka</i> and	<i>kid-ni</i> say-IPF	F.PRES	<i>ʻfila-ay rock-3P</i>	<i>nu</i> PL.POSS	.M/F	
<i>passad-</i> detach- 'When opened!	<i>naa</i> NMLZ she let l	<i>pas.'</i> IDEO nim dow	n, the li	on starte	d saying	, "O roc	k opf ours be	
01 11 1		< • • •						

028

029

030 filasik ka olkelaa 'pas' kiɗay. *fila-si?* ka ol-kela=i 'pas' kiɗ-ay. rock-DEF.M/F and together-under=3 IDEO say-PF[3M] 'And the rock opened at once.'

- 031 ikka kullin. *ikka kull-i-n* and.3 enter-PF-P 'And they went in.'
- 032 oo kullin kammaa ikka ifeenna dehammi ka kiinee ''oon kutu ka kalliyo, ikkiita?e 'xuutti xuutte xuutte xutte. ildaa xurpannaa xuutte xuutte. Mattan xuttaytoo xuutte, xuutte. Kuyyanta Gudaa ropa, ropa.'

oo when	<i>kull-i-n</i> enter-P	F-P	<i>kamma</i> after-L0	<i>aik</i> OC	<i>ka</i> and.3	<i>ifeenna</i> 3SGF.PRO[ACC]		
<i>deham-</i> advise-	<i>ni</i> IPF.PRE	S	<i>ka</i> and	<i>kid-ni</i> say-IPF	PRES.	<i>'oo = in</i> when = 1		
<i>kut-u</i> hunt-D	Р	<i>ka</i> and	<i>kal-ni-k</i> enter-II	<i>kiy-o,</i> PF.PRES	-be-DP			
<i>i?=kid-t-a-? 'xuutti xuutte xuutte xutte.</i> 2=say-2-IPF.FUT-DAT xuutti xuutte xuutte xutte.								
<i>ildaa</i> eyes	<i>χurpan</i> logs	naa	<i>χuutte</i> χuutte	<i>χuutte.</i> χuutte.				
<i>Matta-n</i> head-IN	n NST	<i>χutt-ay</i> be.big-	<i>t-oo</i> AGENT-	-VOC	<i>χuutte,</i> χuutte	χ <i>uutte.</i> χuutte		
<i>Kuyya</i> day 'After o ing and Big-eye in the d	n <i>ta</i> entering, l come h ed χuutte laytime. ²	<i>Guda</i> = on.side the lion tome, yo e xuutte.	<i>i</i> = 3 advised u should Big-hea	<i>rop-a,</i> rub-IPF her and say [sir ided χuu	C.FUT said to ng] 'χuu tte χuut	<i>rop-a.'</i> rub-IPF.FUT her, "When I go hunt- tti χuutte χuutte χutte. te. You (SG) rub [kill]		

033 anti? ?anka kiɗaa 'Faayu faayo, faayo, faayo. ilɗaa fanGallaa faayo, faayo. Kasaraa faffaanaa faayo faayo. Soysa faffafaa faayo faayo.'

<i>anti-?</i> 1SG.PRO-NOM			an = ka 1 = and	<i>kid-a</i> say-I	<i>kid-a</i> say-IPF.FUT	
<i>faayo,</i> faayo,	<i>faayo,</i> faayo, f	<i>faayo.</i> Taayo.	<i>ilɗaa</i> eyes	<i>fanGallaa</i> splinters		
<i>faayo,</i> faayo,	<i>faayo.</i> faayo.	<i>Kasaraa</i> braids	a	<i>faffaanaa</i> handful	<i>faayo</i> faayo	

faayo.	Soysa	faffaf-aa	faayo	faayo.'
faayo.	skirt	IDEO-NMLZ	faayo,	faayo

'And I will say, "Faayu, faayo, faayo, faayo. Eyes like splinters faayo, faayo, clinking skirt faayo, faayo.""

034	4 ka assi ollik kiɗin ka ollik kalin.							
	ka	assi	olli-?	kid-i-n				
	and	like.this e	ach.other-DAT	say-PF-P				

ka olli-? kal-i-n and each.other-DAT agree-PF-P 'They said this to each other, and agreed with each other.'

035 oo ollik kalin kammaayye, karmaasik kutaymaasiniti?ee aanay. *oo olli-? kal-i-n* when each.other-DAT agree-PF-P

> *kamma-a-yye, karmaa-si?* after-LOC-BKGRD lion-DEF.M/F

kut-anaa-siniti?=i?aan-ayhunt-NMLZ-DEF.PL=3go-PF[3M]'After making the agreement, the lion went hunting.'

036 Ka oo kutanaasinik kela kalliyo karmaasik ka tika kapa kayay, ipaayyay ka kiinee 'Faayu faayo, faayo, faayo. ildaa fanGallaa faayo, faayo. Soysa faffafaa faayo faayo. Kasaraa faffaanaa faayo faayo'.

<i>ka</i> and	<i>?oo</i> when.3	<i>k</i> h	<i>kut-anaa-sin?</i> hunt-NMLZ-DEF			<i>kela</i> under	
<i>kal-ni-l</i> return.ł	k <i>iy-o</i> nome-IPI	F.PRES-be	e-DP	<i>karmaa</i> lion-DE	<i>-si?</i> EF.M/F	<i>ka</i> and	
<i>tika</i> house	<i>kapa</i> near	<i>kay-ay,</i> reach-PF[[3M]	<i>i=paay</i> 3=star	<i>y-ay</i> t-PF[3M]	<i>ka</i> and
<i>kid-ni</i> say-IPF	F.PRES	<i>'Faayu</i> 'Faayu		<i>faayo,</i> faayo,	<i>faayo,</i> faayo, f	<i>faayo.</i> aayo.	
<i>ildaa</i> eyes	<i>fanGall</i> splinter	laa f rs fa	<i>faayo,</i> `aayo,	<i>faayo.</i> faayo.	<i>Kasaraa</i> braids	2	<i>faffaanaa</i> handful

faayo	faayo.	Soysa	faffaf-aa		faayo	faayo.'		
faayo	faayo.	skirt	IDEO-NM	1LZ	faayo,	faayo		
'And v	when the	lion wa	is coming	from	hunting,	and reached near the		
house, he started saying, "Faayu, faayo, faayo, faayo. Eyes like splin-								
ters faayo, faayo, clinking skirt faayo, faayo.""								

037 kamma? ?inantasik ka tika karaa ɗesa paayyitew ka kiine 'xuutti xuutte xuutte xutte. ilɗaa xurpannaa xuutte xuutte. Mattan xuttaytoo xuutte, xuutte. Kuyyanta Guɗaa ropa, ropa'.

<i>kamma-?</i> after-LOC		<i>inanta-si?</i> 3SGF.PRO-DEF.M/F			<i>ikka</i> and.3	<i>tika</i> house	<i>kara-a</i> in-LOC	
	<i>desa</i> from	<i>paayy-t</i> start-3F	<i>t-i-w</i> S-PF-aga	in	<i>ka</i> and	<i>kid-ni</i> say-IPF	F.PRES	<i>'χuutti</i> χuutti
	<i>χuutte</i> χuutte	<i>χutte</i> χuutte	<i>χuutte</i> χutte.		<i>ildaa</i> eyes	<i>χurpan</i> logs	naa	
	<i>χuutte</i> χuutte	<i>χuutte.</i> χuutte.		<i>Matta-n</i> head-IN	<i>γutt-ay</i> NST	<i>t-o</i> be.big-	AGENT	-VOC
	<i>χuutte,</i> χuutte		<i>χuutte.</i> χuutte		<i>Kuyyai</i> day	nta	<i>Guda</i> = on.side	= 3

rop-a, rop-a.' rub-IPF.FUT rub-IPF.FUT

'And after that from inside the house, the girl started saying, "xuutti xuutte xuutte xutte. Big-eyed xuutte xuutte. Big-headed xuutte xuutte. You (SG) rub [kill] in the daytime."

038 Kammak karmaasif 'filaaynu passannaa pasee' kiɗay. *kamma-? karmaa-si?* '*fila-aynu* after-LOC lion-DEF.M/F rock-1PL.POSS.M/F

passad-naapas=i'kid-ay.detach-NMLZIDEO = 3say-PF[3M]'After that, the lion said "O rock of ours be opened!""

039 **filasikka panamay ikka kullay**. *fila-si? ikka pan-am-ay ikka kull-ay* rock-DEF.M/F and.3 open-PAS-PF[3M] and.3 enter-PF[3M] 'And the door opened and then he went in.'

040	oo kull <i>oo</i> when	ay kamm <i>kull-ay</i> enter-P	naa ?ikiɗ F[3M]	aye '∫ilaa <i>kamma</i> after-L0	aynu luɓ <i>-a</i> DC	$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{\hat{b}anna} & \mathbf{lut} \\ \mathbf{i} = \mathbf{k} \mathbf{i} \mathbf{d} \mathbf{-} \mathbf{a} \\ 3 = \mathbf{s} \mathbf{a} \mathbf{y} \mathbf{-} \end{aligned}$	6!' <i>ay-e</i> ·PF[3M]-BKGRD
	<i>'fila-ay</i> rock-11 'After o	<i>mu</i> PL.POSS entering,	.M/F he said,	<i>lu66-an</i> IDEO-1 'O rock	<i>na</i> NMLZ or ours	<i>lu6!'</i> IDEO be close	d!''
041	Oore ∫i <i>oore</i> then 'Then t	lasikka d <i>Jila-si?-</i> rock-D he rock	fufamay - <i>ikka</i> EF.M/F- closed.'	and.3	<i>duf-am</i> shut-PA	<i>-ay</i> AS-PF[31	M]
042	ka oore ɗammi.	e waasine	ee kutayo	e ka ley∫	aye ka i	∫an kala <u>y</u>	ye seni laatak ko?ni ka
	<i>ka</i> and <i>ka</i> and	<i>oore</i> then <i>ley∫-ay</i> kill[PL]	<i>waasini</i> thing - <i>c</i> -PF[3M	i?]-BKGR	a REL D	<i>kut-ay-</i> hunt-PF <i>ka</i> and	e [3M]-BKGRD
	<i>ifa-n</i> 3SGM.	PRO[AC	CC]-INS	Г	<i>kal-ay-</i> return.ł	e 10me-PF	[3M]-BKGRD
	<i>seni</i> these 'And the food an	<i>laata-?</i> food-D nen, she id they e	AT prepare at.'	<i>kod-ni</i> do-IPF. s the th	PRES ings he	<i>ka</i> and hunted a	<i>dam-ni.</i> eat-IPF.PRES and brought home for
043	kuyya?ta takkaayye, oo i∫ak kutaymaa? ?aanayeeyye, innaasuk ka ?irroosiG Garpa horeeta ɗawwin.						
	<i>kuyya?</i> day	ta	<i>takka-a</i> one.M-	<i>yye,</i> BKGRD		oo when.3	
	<i>iʃa-?</i> 3SGM.	PRO-NC	ЭM	<i>kut-ayn</i> hunt-N	n <i>aa-?</i> MLZ-DA	АT	<i>aan-ay-eeyye,</i> go-PF[3M]-BKGRD
	<i>innaa-s</i> child-3	<i>u?</i> POSS.P	<i>ka</i> and	<i>irroota-</i> mounta	<i>si?</i> in-DEF.	M/F	<i>Garpa</i> onto
	<i>horeeta</i> cattle 'One d cattle o	ay, after nto the r	<i>daww-1</i> herd-Pf he [the nountain	<i>f-n</i> F-P lion] we	ent hunti	ing, her	[girl's] brother herded

044 innaasinik ka oorine filasix xaayfuG Garaaxaa Geeday ka sindaa sindaaway. innaa-sini? oorine *(ila-si?* χaay[u? ka child-DEF.P and then rock-DEF.M/F their Garaa $\chi a = i$ sindaa sindaaw-i-n. from.top.donwards = 3 urine urinate-PF-P 'And then, the boy urinated on top of the rock [and the urine flowed down].' oore inantasi? ?ipaayyitee kiini ka kiine 'Maanaa sindaa 045 innaanno? ?innaanno? ?alaawni alaawni?' kid-ni oore inanta-si? *i=paayy-t-i-e* then girl-DEF.M/F 3 = start-3F-PF-BKGRD say-IPF.PRES ka kid-ni *'Maana = i* sindaa a and say-IPF.PRES what = 3urine GEN innaa-nnó-? innaa-nnó-? a child-1PL.POSS.P-GEN GEN child-1PL.POSS.P-GEN alaaw-ni?' smell-IPF.PRES 'And then the girl started saying, "What is it that smells like my brother's urine?"" 046 inatasik ka oppa? ?oorri ka kiinee 'Maanaa sindaa innaanno? innaanno? alaawni, alaawni, alaawni?' oor-ni ka inata-si? ka oppa-? return-IPF.PRES girl-DEF.M/F into-LOC and and *'Maana = i* kid-ni-e sindaa ?a GEN say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD what = 3urine innaa-nnó-? innaa-nnó-? а child-1PL.POSS.P-GEN GEN child-1PL.POSS.P-GEN alaaw-ni, alaaw-ni, alaawni?' smell-IPF.PRES smell-IPF.PRES smell-IPF.PRES 'And the girl repeats saying, "What is it that smells like my brother's

294

urine?""

047 ijak ka lokkoote jilasiG Garaaxa dakkaysannee kiini ka kiinee 'inim maanaa nessa Garooti xannok kiini kiini?'

	<i>ifa-?</i> 3SGM.PRO-NC	M	<i>ka</i> and	<i>lokkoot</i> slowly	e	<i>∫ila-si?</i> rock-DE	EF.M/F
	<i>Garaaχa</i> from.on.downwards		<i>dakkaysad-ni-e</i> listen-IPF.PRES-BKGRD				
	<i>kid-ni</i> say-IPF.PRES	<i>ka</i> and	<i>kid-ni-e</i> say-IPF	PRES-B	KGRD	<i>ʻini?</i> this	
	maana = i what = 3	<i>nessa</i> voice	<i>Garooti</i> Garooti		<i>χanno-1</i> 1PL.PO	, SS-GEN	I
	<i>kid-ni</i> say-IPF.PRES 'He [the boy] w then said "What	<i>kid-ni?</i> say-IPF was liste t is it tha	, .PRES ning car t sounds	efully fr like our	om the Garoote	rock do 's voice:	wnwards and
048	ikka ∫ilasiG Gud <i>ikka</i> and.then.3	aaxa loki <i>Jila-si?</i> rock-DI	koo lekk EF.M/F	aɗay ka <i>Guɗaaya</i> from.sic	nessasiɗ a le.downy	ɗakkays vards	anni. <i>lokkoo</i> slowly
	<i>lekkad-ay</i> climb.down-PF[[3M]	<i>ka</i> and	<i>nessa-si</i> voice-D	7 EF.M/F		
	<i>dakkaysad-ni.</i> listen-IPF.PRES 'Then, he slowly	y climbe	d down 1	the rock	and liste	ned to th	ne voice.'
049	oo ɗakkaysanniy oo when.3	o asu ne <i>dakkays</i> listen-IF	essa Garo <i>sad-ni-yc</i> PF.PRES	otee pah -3SGM	ta. <i>asu</i> just	<i>nessa</i> voice	<i>a</i> GEN
	Garooti = i Garoote = 3 'While he was 1	<i>pah-t-a</i> resembl istening,	e-3F-IPI it was ju	F.FUT ust like c	faroote's	voice.'	
050	ikka paayyay ka <i>ikka</i> and.then.3	kiinee ' <i>paayy-a</i> start-PF	Garoote! y [3M]	Kee ay l <i>ka</i> and	karaa caa <i>kid-ni-e</i> say-IPF	ı?' .PRES-B	SKGRD

296	
	<i>'Garoote!</i> Ke-e aye kara-a kiy-a-a?' Garoote! 2SG.PRO.ACC here inside-CLF be-IPF.FUT-Q 'And then, he started saying "Garootte! Is it you inside here?"
051	iseennakka kiine 'Haa? ?innaannu anaa aykara ca.'iseenna-?kakid-ni-e3SGF.PRO-NOMandsay-IPF.PRES-BKGRD
	'Haa?innaa-nnuana-ayou.knowchild-1PL.POSS.P1SG.PRO.ACC-CLF
	aykarakiy-a.'hereinbe-IPF.FUT'She then said, "You know our son, it is me who is in here."
052	ikka 'filaaynu passanna pas' kiiti <i>ikka 'fila-aynu passad-na pas'</i> and.then.3 rock-1PL.POSS.M/F detach-NMLZ IDEO
	<i>kid-t-i</i> say-3F-PF 'And then, she said "O rock of ours be opened!""
053	filasikka 'pas kiɗay'fila-si?-ka'pasrock-DEF.M/F-andIDEOsay-PF[3M]'And the rock got open.'
054	ikka karaa sookti.sook-t-i $ikka$ $kara = i$ $sook-t-i$ and.then.3 $in = 3$ $exit-3F-PF$ 'And the she came out.' $in = 3$ $exit-3F-PF$
055	ikka kiine 'maana? ?aye kooni?'ikkakid-ni-eand.then.3say-IPF.PRES-BKGRDwhat=2
	<i>aye kod-ni?</i> ' here say-IPF.PRES 'And then, he said "What are you doing here?""
056	ikka kiine 'Ha awsee aayyaaG Geetti ka luGGisa pidditeeyye anka pifaa? ?anninnooyye, ifeenna? ?iGeetti ka kulpaawuppah hooffaa Gu?ti ka inantaadi? a feyyaád daassi.

<i>ikka</i> and.then.3	<i>kid-ni-e</i> say-IPF	FUT-BI	KGRD	<i>'Ha</i> you.knc)W	
<i>awsee</i> that.time	<i>aayyaa</i> - mother-	? NOM	<i>Geed-t-i</i> take-3F	<i>i ka</i> -PF	<i>luGGis</i> and	<i>a</i> skin.skirt
<i>pidd-t-i-eyye</i> buy[SG]-3F-PF-	BKGRE)	<i>anka</i> and.ther	n.1	<i>pifaa-?</i> water-D	DAT
<i>aan-ni-nno-eyye</i> go-IPF.PRES-11	; PL-BKG	RD	<i>ifeenna</i> 3SGF.P	-? RO-NO	М	
i = Geed-t-i 3 = take-3F-PF	<i>ka</i> and	<i>kulpa-a</i> calabasl	<i>wu</i> h-1SG.P	OSS.M/I	F	
<i>oppa-?</i> into-LOC	<i>hooffaa</i> holes		<i>Gud-t-i</i> pierce-3	BF-PF	<i>ka</i> and	
<i>inanta-adī-? a feyy-aa? daaf-t-i.</i> girl-3POSS.M/F-DAT REL be.well-P give-3F-PF 'And she said, "You know, when that day mother bought the skin skirt and we were going to fetch water, she gave me a calabash with holes, and gave her daughter one in a good condition.""						
i∫eettaá ?inantaa <i>i∫eettaá</i>	di Geetti <i>inanta-a</i>	ka detto	w ?oraap	oatti ka ta <i>Geed-t-</i>	ayti. <i>i</i>	ka
then	giri-3SC	J.PO55.	IVI/F	take-3F	-PF	and
<i>dettow</i> on.time 'That is why h soon.'	<i>oraap-a</i> fetch-M er daug	<i>d-t-i</i> IID-3F-P hter fetc	F hed wat	<i>ka</i> and ter quick	<i>tay-t-i</i> go.away cly and	y-3F-PF headed home
xayya anka oraapni ka oraapni umma immakaannincan.						
<i>хаууа</i>	anka		oraap-n	i	ka	

mine and.then.1 fetch-IPF.PRES and oraap-ni umma

fetch-IPF.PRES INTENSF.NEG

immak-aad-ni=in-kiy-a-n.

057

058

fill-INCH-IPF.PRES = 3NEG-be-IPF.FUT-P

'And I was pouring water into my calabashes again and again but they were not filling up.'

058	anka issik kiine <i>anka</i> and.then.1	'Kaata maanin as <i>issi-?</i> self-DAT	assi patta kala ka lucccisoosid dapa?' <i>kid-ni-e</i> say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD		
	<i>'Kaata</i> but	<i>maana?=in</i> why=1	<i>assi</i> like.this	<i>patta</i> only	
	<i>kal-a</i> return.home-IPI	<i>ka</i> F.FUT and	<i>luGGisa-sil</i> skin.skirt-I) DEF.M/F	
	<i>dap-a?</i> lose-IPF.FUT 'And, I said to and lose the ski	myself "But wh n skirt?"	y should I	go home without the	water
059	anka oraapni ka <i>anka</i> and.then.1	oraapni umma ir <i>oraap-ni</i> fetch-IPF.PRES	nmakaannin <i>ka or</i> and fet	can. <i>aap-ni</i> ch.water-IPF.PRES	
	umma INTENSF.NEG 'And I was pou up'	<i>immak-aad-ni =</i> fill-INCH-IPF.J uring water into	<i>in-kiy-a-n.</i> PRES = 3NI my calabas	EG-be-IPF.FUT-P hes but they would n	ot fill
060	oore letta ka opp oore letta then sky 'Then, the sun v	bad dumti. <i>ka oppa-?</i> and into-LC went down.'	<i>di</i> . OC su	<i>m-t-i</i> 1.down-3F-PF	
061	anka Geeɗay ka <i>anka</i> and.then.1	hotaartuppupa fe <i>Geed-ay</i> take-PF[3M]	yyaɗay. <i>ka hc</i> and ac	<i>taarta-oppupa</i> acia.spinto	
	<i>feyyad-ay.</i> climb.up-PF[3M 'And the I climb	1] oed up acacia tre	e.'		
062	Ka kaysaa ela G <i>Ka kaysaa</i>	apay ka karkaa ij <i>dela</i>	uk kaysaasi <i>Gap-ay</i>	ni? ?otanta karam muk <i>ka karkaa</i>	ay.
	and beehive	cover upward	hold-PF[3	M] and beehive	
	<i>ifu? kaysaa</i> - and beehive	<i>sini?</i> .cover-DEF.P	<i>otanta</i> middle	<i>kara-?</i> inside-LOC	

muk-ay sleep-PF[3M] 'And I pulled a beehive cover up and was lying between a beehive and the cover.'

063 iseeddaa oorine karmaa ana akkay ka deyay ka kiine 'Kin damam irroota sakali? ?anan anta ka a kundattati? ?ana lekkissa?'

<i>iJeeddaa</i> then	then		<i>karmaa</i> lion	1	<i>ana</i> 1SG.PF	RO.ACC
<i>akk-ay</i> see-PF[3M]	<i>ka</i> and	<i>dey-ay</i> come-P	F[3M]	<i>ka</i> and		
<i>kid-ni-e 'Ke=in</i> say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD 2SG.PRO.ACC=1						
<i>dam-a-m</i> eat-IPF.FUT-or	<i>irroota</i> mounta	in	<i>sakali =</i> nine <i>=</i> 2	= <i>i?</i> 2		
<i>ana-n</i> 1SG.PRO.ACC	-INST		<i>aan-t-a</i> go-2-IF	PF.FUT	<i>ka</i> and	a GEN

kuɗan-ttati-? ana 1SG.PRO.ACC

ten-ORD-GEN

lekkif-t-a?'

step.down-DCAUS-2-IPF.FUT

'And then a lion saw me and came and said: "Shall I climb up or you come down and carry me over nine mountains and let me down on the tenth?""

064 anka kidee 'a? ?ana damtu kapaa irroota sakalin kin aana ka a kundattatik ki lekkija.'

an = ka 1 = and	<i>kid-ay-</i> say-PF[e [3M]-BK	GD	<i>'a?</i> that.2	<i>ana</i> 1SG.PRO.ACC
<i>dam-t-u</i> eat-2-DP	<i>kapa-a</i> near-L(DC	<i>irroota</i> mounta	in	<i>sakal=in</i> nine=1
<i>ke=in</i> 2SG.PRO.ACC	= 1	<i>aan-a</i> go-IPF	.FUT	<i>ka</i> and	a GEN
<i>kund-atta-ti-?</i> ten-ORD-?-LOO	C	<i>ki</i> 2SG.PI	RO.ACC	<i>lekkif-</i> put.dov	<i>a. '</i> wn-IPF.FUT

'And then, I said, "Instead of you eating me, I will carry you (SG) over nine mountains and put you (SG) down on the tenth.""

065 oore iseeddaa awsitee desa paayyatte ollin aye kalan. oore ifeeddaa awsitee desa paayy-ad-t-i then that from.that.day start-MID-3F-PF ollin kal-a-n aye live-IPF.FUT-P togetherhere 'It was then from that day onwards that they began living together here.' 066 ikka kiine 'Kuli? ?inantaaynu aytamut tikupa de?ta ka inu tooyyita?' ikka kid-ni-e 'Kuli? say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD later and.then.3 aytamu = i? tika-opa inanta-aynu girl-1PL.POSS.M/F when = 2house-to dey-t-a ka inu tooyy-t-a?' come-3F-IPF.FUT and 1PL.PRO[ACC] look-3F-IPF-FUT 'And he said, "So, sister, when will you come home and visit us?"' 067 iseeddaa ollix xooraa Gapin ikka pottaata isad daassi ika isan kalay. ifeeddaa olli-? Gap-i-n xooraa that.3 together-DAT hold-PF-P appointment ikka pottaata ifa-? and.then.3 3SGM.PRO[ACC]-DAT pumpkin daaf-t-i ikka i∫a-n and.then.3 3SGM.PRO.[ACC]-PATH give-3F-PF kal-ay. return.home-PF[3M] 'So they made an appointment, and then she him a pumpkin and then he went home with it.'

innaasinix xaayju? ?oo tika kayin itoolak kiine 'Ha? ?awwi Garooti 068 χannun akkay.' innaa-sini? χaayfu? tika kay-i-n 00 child-DEF.P **3PL.POSS** house reach-PF-P when kid-ni-e' i=toola-? Ha?

3 = family-DAT say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD you.know

awwi Garooti akk-av. $\chi annu = in$ 1PL.POSS.SG/PL = 1see-PF[3M] today Garooti 'When her brother arrived home, he said to his family, "You know, today, I saw our Garoote."" 069 aappaayjuk ka kiinee 'eef! Garootix xattaw to?tey ayjaayyee kitta akka Garoote maanat torrini.' aappaa-ay[u? ka kid-ni-e father-3PL.POSS.M/F say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD and 'eef! Garooti-? χatta-w IDEO Garooti-NOM long.time.ago-already toy-t-i-y ayfa a-yye=ikit-t-a die-3F-PF-BKGRD where -LOC = ibe-3F-IPF.FUT akka Garooti ? maanaá = i? torr-ni.' а that.2 what = 2Garoot GEN speak-IPF.PRES 'His father said, "Keep quiet! Garoote passed away a long time, [and] where is she that you are talking about?"" 070 ikka kiine 'awwin iseenna akkayin kiini.' ikka kid-ni-e *'awwi = in* and.then.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD 'today = 1 akk-ay=in *ifeenna* kid-ni.' see-PF[3M] = 1 say-IPF.PRES 3SGF.PRO[ACC] 'And he said, "I am saying that I saw her today."" 071 ikka kiine 'ayfa?i?' *'ay[a-?i?'* ikka kid-ni-e say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD where-LOC and.then.3 'And they said "Where?" 072 ikka kiine 'jila tokka Garaaxan sindaa sindaawin ka ikka kiine 'Maanaa sindaa ?innaannó? ?innaannó? ?alaawin alaawin?' ikka kid-ni-e '*ſila* tokka and.then.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD rock one.M/F Garaa xa = n sindaa sindaaw=in ka ikka on.downwards = 1urine urinate = 1and and.then.3 kid-ni-e 'Maanaa sindaa a say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD what urine GEN

innaa-nnó-?	а	innaa-nnó-?
child-1PL.POSS.P-GEN	GEN	child-1PL.POSS.P-GEN

alaaw-i-n?' alaaw-i-n smell-PF-P smell-PF-P 'And then he said, "I was urinating on a certain rock. And then someone said "What smells like my brother's urine?""

073 anka ɗakkaysanni ikka nessa Garooti xannúp paha anka lokkoote lekkaɗay ka jilasik kapan sookay.

anka	ɗakkaysaɗ-ni ikka		nessa	а	
and.then.1	listen-IPF.PRES and.th	en.3	voice	GEN	
Garooti	xannú-?	pah-a	a		
Garoote	1PL.POSS.M/F-GEN	look.	like-IPF.F	UT	

lokkoote	lekkad-ay	
	lokkoote	lokkoote lekkad-ay

anka	lokkoote	lekkad-ay	ka
and.then.1	slowly	climb.down-PF[3M]	and

fila-si? kapa = in sook-ay. rock-DEF.M/F near = 1exit-PF[3M] 'And I listened to the voice and it sounded like that of our Garoote, so I climbed down and got close to the rock.'

074 anka kidaye 'ini? ?aynoó nessa Garooti xannog Gapa?' anka kid-ay-e *'ini?* ayno-ó and.then.1 say-PF[3]-BKGRD this who-CLF

χannó-? Gap-a?' nessa Garooti а Garoote 1PL.POSS-GENhave-IPF.FUT voice GEN 'And then, I said, "Who is it that has the voice like our Garoote's?""

075 iseeddaak ka kiine 'anaá aykaraa ca innaannu.' ifeeddaa-? kid-ni-e ka 3SGF.PRO-NOM say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD and

'ana-á	aye-kara-a	kiy-a
1SG.PRO.ACC-CLF	here-in-LOC	be-IPF.FUT

innaa-nnu.' child.1PL.POSS.P 'And then she said "It is me inside here, brother."

076	Ka '∫i	Ka 'ʃilaaynu passannaa pas' kiiti.							
	Ka 'fila-aynu		passad-na	pas' kid-t-i.					
	and	rock-1PL.POSS.M/F	detach-NMLZ	IDEO	say-3F-PF				
	"And	"And 'O rock of ours be opened!" she said.'							

077 filasik ka panamay ikka karaa sookti ka akkaa aypa anti piisa ant torriti ka anka kuyya?taa oppaayye tikupa de?tu kuli olliG Gapni.'

<i>Jila-si?</i> rock-DEF.M/I	<i>ka</i> F and	<i>pan-am</i> open-P	<i>-ay</i> ASS-PF	[3M]	<i>ikka</i> and.the	n.3
<i>kara-a</i> in.LOC	<i>sook-t-</i> exit-3F	<i>i ka</i> -PF	<i>akka =</i> and.tha	i at = 3		
<i>aye-opa</i> here-to	<i>an-t-i</i> go-3F-l	PF	<i>piisa</i> all	<i>an-?</i> 1SG.PF	RO.ACC	-DAT
<i>torr-t-i</i> speak-3F-PF	<i>ka</i> and	<i>anka</i> and.the	n.1	<i>kuyya?</i> day=3	ta=i	a that
<i>oppaa-yye</i> in-BKGRD	<i>tika-opa</i> house-to	<i>dey-t-u</i> come-3	F-DP	<i>kuli</i> also	<i>olli-?</i> togethe	r-DAT

Gap-n-i.'

hold-1PL-PF

'And the rock got opened and she came out of hiding and told me how she ended up there. And then we set an appointment for her to come over and visit us here.'

078 oore kuyya?tasik kayti ka toolasik ka tikaayjuh harmisaɗay.

oore	<i>kuyya?ta-si?</i>	<i>kay-t-i</i>	<i>ka</i>
and.then	day-DEF.M/F	reach-3F-PF	and
4 10			

toola-si?	ka	tika-ayJu?
family-DEF.M/F	and	house-1PL.POSS.M/F

harmi∫-ad-ay

prepare-MID-PF[3M]

'When the appointment day came closer, the family prepared their house [to receive their girl].'

079 GarootiG Gootaa aappaadi ayen kinnin malla a de?naχ χa?nittooyye ipaayyiti ka kiine 'attan tika patta ayid diifa?'

	<i>Garooti-?</i> Garooti-NOM t		Goota = that = 3	<i>foota=i</i> hat=3 husband		<i>aappaa-adi</i> 1-3POSS.MF		<i>aye=in</i> here=3NEG	
	<i>kit-ni-r</i> be-IPF.	n PRES-N	EG	<i>malla</i> reason	<i>a</i> when	<i>dey-na-</i> come-N	.? IMLZ-D	DAT	
	<i>χa?-ni-</i> rise-IPI	<i>tto-oyye</i> F.PRES-I	PROG-B	KGRD	<i>i=paay</i> 3=star	<i>yy-t-i</i> t-3F-PF			
	<i>ka</i> and	<i>kid-ni-e</i> say-IPF	PRES-I	BKGRD	<i>'atta = 1</i> how = 1	in I	<i>tika</i> house		
	<i>patta</i> only 'Garoot going t out any	<i>aye-?</i> here-L(te's husb o her par body ins	DC and was ent's ho ide?""	<i>diif-a?</i> ² stop-IP not at l use, she	F.FUT nome an said "H	d when ow can]	she was I leave tl	about to start he house with-	
080	Ka Geo Goroon <i>Ka</i> and	etti ka s nitu akki <i>Geed-t-</i> take-3F	ookti ka ti ka ant <i>i</i> -PF	i raaka i i ka ɗeha <i>ka</i> and	takka jil mti. <i>sook-t-,</i> exit-3F	lasiχ χα: <i>i</i> -PF	ayfuk ka <i>ka</i> and	apaayye Goraa <i>raaka</i> old.woman	
	<i>takka</i> one.F	<i>∫ila-si?</i> rock-D	EF.M/F	<i>χaay∫u</i> 3PL.PC	? SS.M/F	<i>kapa-ay</i> near-L(<i>rye</i> DC		
	<i>Goraa</i> firewoo	od	<i>Gorood</i> collect.	<i>firewood</i>	l-IPF.PR	ES-3F-D	OP	<i>akk-t-i</i> see-3F-PF	
	<i>ka</i> and 'And th firewood	<i>an-t-i</i> go-3F-I nen she od near th	PF went out neir rock	<i>ka</i> and and fou and and	<i>deham</i> - advise- and an o d she we	<i>t-i.</i> 3F-PF old woma ent over a	an who and advi	was collecting ised her.'	
081	Ka oo ilɗaa f faffaana xurpan Guɗaa i	aappaaw anGallaa aa faayo naa xuut ropa rop	u kalliy faayo, faayo,' te χuutt a' kiɗi	ooyye k faayo. ikkiitaa e. Matta	a kiiniy Soysa f i?e 'χυυ in χutta <u>y</u>	o 'Faayı faffafaa utti xuut ytoo xuu	u faayo, faayo f te xuutt utte, xuu	faayo, faayo. aayo. Kasaraa te xutte. ildaa utte. Kuyyanta	

Guuaa	і гора, гора кі	41.
Ka	00	aappaa-awu
and	when.3	husband-1SG.POSS.M/F

kal-ni-yo-oyye ka return.home-IPF.PRES-3SGM-BKGRD and

<i>kid-ni-y</i> say-IPF	vo F.PRES-3	3SGM	<i>'Faayo,</i> faayo,	faayo,	<i>faayo</i> faayo	faayo.
<i>ildaa</i> eyes	<i>fanGall</i> splinter	l aa 'S	<i>faayo,</i> faayo,	<i>faayo.</i> faayo. b	<i>Kasaraa</i> oraids	2
<i>faffaana</i> handful	<i>aa</i> I faayo	<i>faayo</i> faayo.	<i>faayo.</i> skirt	<i>Soysa</i> IDEO-N	<i>faffaf-aa</i> IMLZ	2
<i>faayo</i> faayo,	<i>faayo,'</i> faayo		<i>i?=kid</i> 2=say-	- <i>t-a-?</i> 2-IPF.FU	UT-DAT	
'xuutti		χuutte	χutte	χuutte		ildaa
χuutti		χuutte	χuutte	χutte.		eyes
xurpan	naa	χuutte	χuutte.		Matta-n	,
logs		χuutte	χuutte.		head-IN	ST
χutt-ay	t-o		χuutte,		χuutte.	
be.big-	AGENT	-VOC	χuutte		χuutte	
<i>Kuyyar</i> day 'When	<i>ita</i> my hust	<i>Guda =</i> on.side	i = 3	<i>rop-a,</i> rub-IPF	.FUT	<i>rop-a.'</i> rub-IPF.FUT
like sn	linters f	Panu con	avo cli	nking sl	ayu, laay zirt faav	$y_0, 1aay_0, 1aay_0$

'When my husband comes and says "Faayu, faayo, faayo, faayo. Eyes like splinters faayo, faayo, clinking skirt faayo, faayo," you (SG) should say, "xuutti xuutte xuutte xutte. Big-eyed xuutte xuutte. Bigheaded xuutte xuutte. You (SG) rub [kill] in the the daytime."'

082 oo annittooyye, iGeetti ka hinkiikkataa pohatti ka poruppan dela luukiyan hakaa tikasee xatta oppaa dalatti kaynittu?e Goffallaa iskamman dakkiti.

ooaan-nwhen.3go-IP		<i>tto-oyye,</i> .PRES-3	SGF-BKGRD	i = Geed-t-i 3 = take-3F-PF	
<i>ka</i>	hinkiikkata	<i>poh-ad</i>	<i>-t-i</i>	<i>ka</i>	
and	hinkiikkata	pick-M	ID-3F-PF	and	
<i>poh-ad</i> -	e <i>t-i</i>	<i>ka</i>	<i>pora-oppa-n</i>	<i>dela</i>	
pick-M	ID-3F-PF	and	road-into-INST	upwards	
<i>luuk-iy.</i>	<i>a-n</i>	<i>haka</i>	<i>tika-se</i>	a	
eat.fruit	:-VN-PATH	until	house-DEF.M/F	REL	

dal-ad-t-i χatta oppa-a long.time.ago into-LOC beget-MID-3F-PF

kay-ni-ttu-?=i Goffallaa reach-IPF.PRES-3SGF-LOC = 3 skins

is-kamma-n dakk-t-i. self-after-PATH throw.PL-3F-PF 'While she was going to her parents' place, she picked lots of hinkiik-

kta fruits and until she reached the place where she was born, she ate the fruits and dropped the skins behind her.'

oo tikan sookteeyee, toolaaysu? ?alleeta kelapaa iseenna kullisay ka kanta ɗamtah haliyay. 200 tika-n sook-t-i-eyee, exit-3F-PF-BKGRD when.3 house-PATH toola-ayfu? alleeta kela-opa = ifamily-3PL.POSS.M/F under-to = 3hut kull-ſ-ay iseenna ka 3SGF.PRO[ACC] enter-DCAUS-PF[3M] and kanta damta-? haliy-ay. food-DAT call-PF[3M] neighbours

'When she arrived, her parents had her enter into the hut and called the neighbours for food.'

084 Karmaasi? ?oorine ikalay ka kiine 'Faayu faayo, faayo, faayo. ildaa fanGallaa faayo, faayo. Soysa faffafaa faayo faayo. Kasaraa faffaanaa faayo faayo.'

<i>Karmaa-si?</i> oorine lion-DEF.M/F then			<i>i=kal-ay</i> 3=return.home-PF[3M]			e-PF[3M]
<i>ka</i> and	<i>kid-ni</i> say-IPF	.PRES	<i>ʻχuutti</i> χuutti			
<i>χuutte</i> χuutte	<i>χutte</i> χuutte	<i>χuutte</i> χutte.		<i>ildaa</i> eyes	<i>χurpan</i> logs	naa
<i>χuutte</i> χuutte	<i>χuutte.</i> χuutte.		<i>Matta-n</i> head-IN	n IST	<i>χutt-ay</i> be.big-	<i>t-o</i> Agent-voc
<i>χuutte,</i> χuutte		<i>χuutte.</i> χuutte		<i>Kuyyai</i> day	nta	Guda = i on.side = 3

306
rop-a, rop-a.' rub-IPF.FUT rub-IPF.FUT 'And then, the lion came home from hunting and said, "xuutti xuutte xuutte xutte. Big-eyed xuutte xuutte. Big-headed xuutte xuutte. You (SG) rub [kill] in the the daytime.'

085 Kammaayye, raakasik ka paayyitew ka kiine 'xuutti xuutte xuutte xutte. ildaa xurpannaa xuutte xuutte. Mattan xuttaytoo xuutte, xuutte. Kuyyanta Gudaa ropa, ropa.'

	<i>Kammaa-ayye</i> after-BKGRD	e raaka-s old.wo	man-DEI	F.M/F	<i>ka</i> and	
	<i>paayy-t-i-ew</i> start-3F-PF-ag	gain	<i>ka</i> and	<i>kid-ni</i> say-IPF	.PRES	<i>'χuutti</i> χuutti
	<i>xuutte xutte</i> xuutte xuutte	e <i>χuutte</i> e χutte.		<i>ildaa</i> eyes	χurpani logs	naa
	<i>xuutte xuutte</i> xuutte xuutte	<i>e.</i> 2.	<i>Matta-n</i> head-IN	n <i>xutt-ayı</i> NST	<i>t-o</i> be.big-A	AGENT-VOC
	<i>χuutte,</i> χuutte	<i>χuutte.</i> χuutte		<i>Kuyyan</i> day	nta	Guda = i on.side = 3
	<i>rop-a,</i> rub-IPF.FUT 'And after th ''xuutti xuutte xuutte. You (S	<i>rop-a.</i> ' rub-IPI at the old xuutte x SG) rub [I	F.FUT 1 woman utte. Big- kill] in th	started -eyed χu e daytim	saying [utte χuu ue.'''	[with a coarse voice], tte. Big-headed χuutte
086	ikka paayyay] paha?'	ka kiine 'o	ee! awwi	maanaa	ki paayy	ay ka nessaayti ka assi
	<i>ikka</i> and.then.3	<i>paayy-</i> start-P	<i>ay</i> F[3M]	<i>ka</i> and	<i>kid-ni-e</i> say-IPF	PRES-BKGRD
	<i>'ee! awwi</i> Wow! today	<i>maanaa</i> what	<i>a ki</i> 2SG.PR	RO.ACC	<i>paayy-a</i> start-PF	y [3M]

ka nessa-ayti ka assi and voice-2SG.POSS.M/F and like.this

pah-a resemble-IPF.FUT

'And then, he started saying, "Wow! What has happened to you (SG) today that your voice is like that?"

087 Geedi ka Go?taayti kara harmisaɗu!' *Geed-i ka Go?ta-ayti kara harmf-ad-u!'* take-IMP.SG and throat-2SG.POSS.M/F in prepare-MID-OPT 'And clear you throat!'

088 ikka harmisatti. *ikka harmf-ad-t-i* and.then.3 prepare-MID-3F-PF 'And then she prepared herself.'

089 ikka paayyayew ka kiine 'Faayu faayo, faayo, faayo. ildaa fanGallaa faayo, faayo. Soysa faffafaa faayo faayo. Kasaraa faffaanaa faayo faayo.' *ikka paayy-ay-ew ka* and.the.3 start-PF[3M]-again and

<i>kid-ni-e</i>		<i>'Faayu</i>		<i>faayo,</i>	<i>faayo,</i>
say-IPF	PRES-BKGRD	faayu		faayo	faayo
<i>ildaa</i>	<i>fanGallaa</i>	<i>faayo,</i>	<i>faayo.</i>	<i>Kasaraa</i>	
eyes	splinters	faayo,	faayo. ł	oraids	

faffaanaa	faayo	faayo.	Soysa	faffaf-aa
handful faayo	faayo.	skirt	IDEO-1	NMLZ

faayo faayo' faayo, faayo 'And again he said, "Faayu, faayo, faayo, faayo. Eyes like splinters faayo, faayo, clinking skirt faayo, faayo."

090 Raakasik ka nessasee paayyutatinnew kiiti. *Raaka-si? ka nessa-se a* old.woman-DEF.F and voice-DEF.M/F GEN

> *paayy-uta-tinn-ew kid-t-i.* start-ORD-INST-again say-3F-PF 'And the old woman welcomed the lion with the same voice as before.'

091ikka miirooday ka 'filaaynu passannaa pas' kiday ka ela kullay.ikkamiirood-ayka'fila-aynuand.then.3be.angry-PF[3M]androck-1PL.POSS.M/F

	<i>passad-na</i> detach-N 'And ther into the r	a pas' IMLZ IDEO n he got angry rock house.'	<i>kid-ay</i> say-PF[3N y and said	<i>ka</i> M] and , "O rock	<i>ela</i> up k of our	<i>kull-ay.</i> enter-PF[3 s be opened	M] . And went
092	oo kullay oo h when e	v raaka kokeett <i>kull-ay</i> enter-PF[3M	titaa aye c <i>raaka</i> old.wor	a. nan	<i>kokeett</i> skinny	<i>tita=i</i> =3	
	<i>aye h</i> here b 'When he	<i>kiy-a.</i> pe-IPF.FUT e entered, he f	found a sk	inny old	woman	·	
093	Ka Geed ki?ʃay. <i>Ka c</i> and t	fay ka apittup G eed-ay take-PF[3M]	paɗ ɗela <i>ka</i> and	raakasik <i>apitta-oj</i> fire-into	katay <i>ppa-?</i> -LOC	ka Geeday	ka naGaw
	<i>dela i</i> upward o	r <i>aaka-si?</i> old.woman-DI	EF.F	<i>kat-ay</i> throw-P	PF[3M]	<i>ka</i> an	d
	<i>Geed-ay</i> take-PF[3 'And the took her her'	<i>ka</i> 3M] and en he threw th out of the fir	<i>naGaw</i> IDEO ne old wo e and put	<i>kid-f-ay</i> say-DC. man into her in h	z AUS-PH o the fin tis mout	F[3M] re, [and afte th and then	er a while] swallowed
094	Ka sooka <i>Ka s</i> and e	y ka ahtasiχ χ <i>sook-ay</i> exit-PF[3M]	xaadi fadiy <i>ka</i> and	a paayya <i>ahta-si?</i> wife-DE	y . EF.M	<i>χaadi</i> 3POSS.M	
	<i>fad-iya</i> find-NM 'And he	<i>paayy</i> LZ start-F went out and s	<i>-ay</i> PF[3M] started to	look for	his wife	.'	
095	oo faddii firfaye?e oo when.3	niyooyye Gol ?akkay ka olle <i>fadd-ni-yo-o</i> find.SG-IPF.	faa a hin ew aanay a <i>yye</i> PRES-3S	kiikkatá? aanay. GM-BKC	' ?a por GRD s	ruppan ɗela <i>Golfaa a</i> skin GE	olkammaf
	<i>hinkiikka</i> tree.spC	a <i>tá-? a</i> GEN REL	<i>pora-op</i> road-int	p pa-n to-PATH	[<i>dela</i> upward	
	<i>ol-kamm</i> together-	after-LOC	<i>firf-ay-o</i> line.up-	<i>e?=i</i> PF[3M]-	P = 3	<i>akk-ay</i> see-PF[3M	<i>ka</i> [] and

	<i>olle-w</i> togethe 'While ing in a	r-again he was a long ro	<i>aan-ay</i> go-PF[looking w and h	[3M] for her, e followe	<i>aan-ay.</i> go-PF[3M] he saw <i>hinkiika</i> ed them.'	<i>ata</i> peels v	which were ly-
096	Ka olle <i>Ka</i> and	aanay k olle togethe	a tikased ergo-PF[e ahtaaɗi [3M]	karpa kulliti kap <i>aan-ay</i> go-PF[3M]	pan sooka <i>ka</i> and	y. <i>tika-se</i> house-DEF
	a that	<i>ahta-ac</i> wife-35	fi SG.POS	S.M	<i>kara-opa</i> in-to	<i>kull-t-i</i> enter-3	F-PF
	<i>kapa-n</i> near-PA 'And th which b	ATH nen he fo his wife	<i>sook-a</i> exit-PF ollowed had ente	<i>y.</i> F[3M] the <i>hinki</i> ered.'	<i>iikkata</i> peels and	l reached	the house into
097	Ka karj <i>Ka</i> and 'And h	pa kullay <i>kara-op</i> in-to e went in	7. <i>Da</i> n.'	<i>kull-ay</i> enter-P	: F[3M]		
098	oo kull oo when.3	ay kamn	naa orra <i>kull-ay</i> enter-F	lakaytaa / PF[3M]	?akkay ka kiine <i>kammaaorra</i> after	'ahtaawu <i>lekayta</i> people	a daa fa!'a=imany=3
	<i>?akk-ay</i> see-PF	v [3M]	<i>ka</i> and	<i>kid-ni-</i> say-IPI	e F.PRES-BKGRI)	
	<i>'ahta-a</i> wife-15 'After I my wif	wu SG.POSS he entere fe!'''	5.M ed, he sa	<i>daaʃ-a!</i> give-IN aw many	,, /P.PL people and said	l, "(You	(PL)) Give me
100	ikka kii <i>ikka</i> and.the	ine 'ahta m.3	ayti aye <i>kid-ni-</i> say-IPI	n kittu.' e F.PRES-I	<i>'ahta-</i> , BKGRD wife-2	<i>ayti</i> 2SG.POSS	S.M
	<i>aye=in</i> here=3 'And th	<i>n <mark>kit-t-u.</mark></i> 3NEG ney said,	, be-3F- "Your	NEG wife is n	ot here."'		

101 ikka oppa? ?ooray ka kiine 'ahtaawu ɗaafa!'

ikka	oppa-?	oor-ay	ka
and.then.3	into-LOC	repeat-PF[3M]	and

kid-ni-e	'ahta-awu	daa∫-a!'
say-IPF.PRES.BKGRD	wife-1SG.POSS.M	give-IMP.SG
'And then he repeated a	nd said '(You (PL))	Give my wife back!""

ikka kiine 'ahtayti ?ayen kittu.'ikkakid-ni-eand.then.3say-IPF.PRES-BKGRDwife-2SG.POSS.M

aye=in kit-t-u.' here=3NEG be-3F-NEG 'And they said, "Your wife is not here.""

103 ikka kiine 'axxaykittaay kuti?i ka ɗamta ɗami ka kuli?in torriyaannay.' *ikka kid-ni-e 'a?=xaykitta-ay* and.then.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD 2=guest-BKGRD

kuti?-i	ka	damta	dam-i	ka
sit.down-IPM.SG	and	food	eat-IMP.SG	and

kuli?=intorriy-aad-n-a-y.'later = 1speak-MID-1PL-IPF.FUT-BKGRD'And then they said, "Since you (SG) are a guest, sit down and havesome food, and we shall discuss later!""

104 ikka kiine 'anheenu. ahtaawow anaɗ ɗaafa!' *ikka kid-ni-e 'an = heen-u.* and.then.3 say-IPF.PRESBKGRD 1NEG = want-NEG

> *ahta-awu-w ana-?* wife-1SG.POSS.M/F-only 1SG.PRO.ACC-DAT

daa∫-a!'

102

give-IMP.PL 'And then he said, "I do not want [to sit down]. (You (PL)) just give my wife back!"

105 ikka Geedin ka ahsiχ χααdi Gudap palatteewwaa hidin ka napan ifeenna da?tin. ikka ka Geed-i-n ka ahta-si?

ikka	ka	Geed-i-n	ka	ahta-si?
when.3	and	take-PF-P	and	wife-DEF.M/F

<i>χaadi</i>	<i>Guda-</i>	?palatDCpiece	t teewwaa
3POSS.M/F	on-LC		es.of.cloth.for.holding.pot
<i>hid-i-n</i>	<i>ka</i>	<i>napa-n</i>	<i>ifeenna</i>
tie-PF-P	and	soot-INST	3SGF.PRO[ACC]

da?t-i-n. paint-PF-P 'And then, they put rags on his wife and also painted her with soot.'

106 oore ikka Geedin ka tuparraa alleeta kelaa ca takka takkaa sookinni ka kiine 'ini?e?' oore ikka Geed-i-n ka tuparraa alleeta then and.then.3 take-PF-P and girls hut kela=i kiy-a takka takka

sook-f-nikakid-ni-e'ini?-e?'exit-DCUAS-IPF.PRESandsay-IPF.PRES-BKGRDthis.one-Q'And then, they started bringing the grils inside the hut out one by oneand for each girl they said, "Is this one her?"'

one

one

107 ikka kiine 'ininninn.'

under = 3

ikka	kid-ni-e	<i>'ininninn.'</i>
and.then.3	say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD	not.this.one
'And then he	said, "Not this one."	

108opan ka amma apliyaas sookin ka kiine ''ini?ee?'
opankaammaapliyaa?
anotherandnowanother

be-IPF.FUT

sook-f-i-n ka kid-ni-e exit-DCAUS-PF-P and say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD

'ini?-e?'

this.one-Q

'And they made another [girl] come out and asked him "Is this one her?""

109 ikka kiine 'ininninn.' *ikka kid-ni-e 'ini-inninn.'* and.then.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD this.one-not 'And then he said, "Not this one."'

110 oo iskatta atooka sookay kammaayye iGeedin ka ahsix xaadi sookfin ka kiine 'ini?e?'

oo when.3	<i>iskatta</i> women	<i>atooka</i> other		<i>sook-ay</i> exit-PF[3M]
<i>kammaa-ayye</i> after-BKGRD	<i>i=</i> 0 3=	G eed-i-n take-PF-P	<i>ka</i> and	<i>ahta-si?</i> wife-DEF.M/F
<i>χaadi</i> 3POSS.M/F	<i>sook-∫-i-n</i> exit-DCAU	S-PF-P	<i>ka</i> and	

kid-ni-e 'ini?-e?' say-IPF.PRES.BKGRD this.one-Q 'After the other women came out of the hut, they had made his wife come out of the hut and asked him, "Is this one her?""

- 111 ikka kiine 'aa.' *ikka kid-ni-e 'aa.'* and.then.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD yes 'And he said, "Yes!""
- 112 oorine ikka ifak kidine xaykumak kuti?i. *oorine ikka ifa-?* then and.then.3 3SGM.PRO-NOM

kid-i-n-exaykuma-?kuti?-i.say-PF-P-BKGRDguest.ABS-DAT sit.down-IMP.SG'And then they asked him and said, "(You (SG) Sit down as a guest!""

- 113 ikka kuti?ay. *ikka kuti?-ay.* and.then.3 sit.down-PF[3M] 'And then he sat down.'
- 114 Sikkammaa ooree meertaa Galin ka uupeeyye Geedin ka oktaappap paltittaa χar∫in.

Sikkammaa	ooree	meertaa	Gal-i-n
after.that	then	fattened.ox	slaughter-PF-P

ka	uupe-eyye	Geed-i-n	ka	okta-oppa-?
and	knowingly-BKGRD	take-PF-P	and	pot-into-LOC

paltittaa χar∫-i-n. white.rock cook[beans]-PF-P 'After that they brought a fattened ox and slaughtered it but instead of the meat, they knowingly put a piece of white rock in the pot.'

115	Ka palti	ittasiG Geedin ka	kiine 'aj	puyya apuyya ke	e kokkookeey χοοyi ka
	G araa n <i>Ka</i> and	axi!' <i>paltitta-si?</i> white.rock-DEF	.M/F	<i>Geed-i-n</i> take-PF-P	<i>ka</i> and
	<i>kid-ni-e</i> say-IPF	PRES-BKGRD	<i>'apuyya</i> uncle	<i>a apuyya</i> uncle	
	<i>ke-e</i> 2SG.PR	RO[ACC]-CLF	<i>kokkoo</i> be.stror	<i>k-i-ey</i> 1g-PF-BKGRD	
	χοοy-i come-II 'And th stuff fro	MP.SG ten, they said [to om the pot as it is	<i>ka</i> and the lion s you wh	<i>Gara-a nax-i!</i> on-LOCdish.ou] "Uncle, uncle, to is strong enou	t-IMP.SG come and dish out the gh to do so!""
116	ikka oo <i>ikka</i> and.ther 'And th	wsaɗay. <i>oowfad</i> n.3 agree-P en he agreed.'	<i>f-ay</i> F[3M]		
117	oo naxr oo when	iiyooyye, oktaasi <i>лах-ni-yo-oyye,</i> dish.out-IPF.PR	k ka pad ES-3SG	fti ka pi∫aasinikka M-BKGRD	a Garap tuGmaɗin. <i>okta-asi?</i> pot-DEF.M/F
	<i>ka</i> and	<i>paG-t-i</i> break-3F-PF	<i>ka</i> and	<i>pifaa-sini?</i> water-DEF.P	<i>ikka</i> and.then.3
	<i>Gara-pa</i> on-to 'When spilled a	<i>tucimac</i> be.spill he was dishing all over him'	f- <i>i-n.</i> ed-PF-P out, the	e pot broke, and	then the [hot] water
118	ikka aka <i>ikka</i> and.ther 'And th	ata male luGGay. <i>akata</i> n.3 very en he was very b	<i>male</i> much padly sca	<i>luGG-ay.</i> scald-PF[3M] ilded.'	

119Paltitasik ka ifa Garap pi?ayew.
Paltitasi?ifaGara-?white.rock-DEF.M/Fand3SGM.PRO[ACC]on-LOC

pi?-ay-ew. fall-PF[3M]-again 'And again, the white rock fell on him.'

120 Karmaasi? ?oo to?niyooyye sakaa sakay ka kiine 'oo kokaawu issaltan ?ikka kokooyye Garooti pattaa issalmaa ?oppaayye huuɓa ɗiiʃeeyye nama a piliya inhuuɓu.'

Karmaa-si?	00		toy-ni-y	<i>vo-оууе</i>	
lion-DEF.M	when.3		die-IPF	PRES-3SGM-I	BKGRD
<i>saka=i sak-ay</i> will=3 will-PF	[3M]	<i>ka</i> and	<i>kid-ni-e</i> say-IPF	e F.PRES-BKGRI)
<i>'00=i?</i>	kokaa-a	iwu		issal-t-a-n	
when = 2	skin-1S	G.POSS	.M/F	peg-2-IPF.FUT	Г-Р
ikka	kok-o-o	ууе		Garooti	patta=i
and.then.3	be.dry-l	DP-BKG	ĥRD	Garoote	only = 3
issalmaa	oppa-a-	ayye		ћиив-а	
pegs	in-LOC	-LOC		pull.PL-IPF.FU	JT
diife-eyye		nama	?a	piliya	
otherwise-BKG	RD	person	REL	other	

in=huu6-u.'

3NEG = pull.PL-NEG.

"While the lion was dying, he pronounced his last wishes and said, "After you (P) spread my skin to dry, nobody except Garoote must pull the pegs.""

121 oo karmaasiG Galin ka kokaasiχ χaadi issalin ikka kallaptaawnittooyye roopaa ayee de?ni.

00		karmaa-si?	Gal-i-n	ka
when.3	5	lion-DEF.M/F	slaughter-PF-P	and
<i>kokaa-</i> skin-D	<i>si?</i> EF.M	<i>χaadi</i> 3SG.POSS.M/F	<i>issal-i-n</i> 5 peg-PF-P	<i>ikka</i> and.then.3
<i>a</i> when	<i>kallapt</i> late.ev	<i>ta-aw-ni-tto-oyye</i> ening-VL-IPF.PR	ES-3SGF-BKGF	<i>roopa</i> R rain
ka	aye=i	dey-ni.		

and here = 3 come-IPF.PRES

'When they slaughtered the lion and spread its skin to dry and when it was becoming a late afternoon, rain was coming.'

122	ikka kiine 'aana ka kokaase a appaase Garooti huu66a!'						
	<i>ikka</i> and.then.3	<i>kid-ni-e</i> say-IPF.PRES-BI	<i>aan-a</i> KGRD go-IMP.PL	<i>ka</i> and			
	trakan an	a annaa aa	dana	ati			

KUKAA-SC	a	appaa-se	Garoou
hide-DEF.M	GEN	husband-DEF.M/F	Garooti

huu66-a!'

pull.SG-IMP.PL

'And they said, "(You (PL)) Go and pull the hide of Garoote's husband!""

123 ikka aanin ka issalmaa huu6in ka huu6in ka a oppaa caa huu6in ma issalmitta tokkaa orra malaalay.

<i>ikka</i>	en.3	<i>aan-i-i</i>	<i>а</i>	<i>ka</i>	<i>issalma</i>	aa huu6-i-n
and.th		go-PF	-Р	and	pegs	pull.PL-PF-P
<i>ka</i>	<i>huuб-</i> ,	<i>i-n</i>	<i>ka</i>	a	<i>oppaa</i>	<i>kiy-a</i>
and	pull.P	L-PF-P	and	REL	into	be-IPF.FUT
<i>huuб-i</i> pull.Pl	<i>i-n</i> L-PF-P	<i>ma</i> but	<i>issaln</i> peg	nitta	<i>tokka =</i> one = 3	<i>i orra</i> people

malaal-ay.

be.unable.to-PF[3M]

'And then they went and [started] pulling the pegs from the skin but one peg refused to be pulled out.'

124	opa ka ekkay∫in ka ekkay∫in ka malaalin.							
	opa	ka	ekkay∫-i-n	ka	ekkay∫-i-n	ka		
	and.then	and	try-PF-P	and	try-PF-P	and		

malaal-i-n.

```
be.unable.to-PF-P
```

'And then they tried and tried but were unable to pull it.'

125 ikka kiine 'Nammay! aana ka ahsiχ χaadi haliya ikka de?tu ka huu66itu.' ikka kid-ni-e 'Nammay! and.then.3 say-IPF.PRES-BKGRD guys

	<i>an-a</i> go-IMP.PL	<i>ka</i> and	<i>ahta-sil</i> wife-D	? χaadi EF.F	3SG.PC	DSS.M	
	<i>haliy-a</i> call-IMP.PL	<i>ikka</i> and.the	en.3	<i>dey-t-u</i> come-3	F-OPT	<i>ka</i> and	1
	<i>huu66-t-u.</i> ' pull.SG-3F-0 'And they sa pull it [the p	OPT iid, "Men! eg] out"'	Go and c	call upor	n his wife	e and let her	come and
126	oore Garoote oore Garo then Garo	sik ka de?ti <i>pote-si?</i> pote-DEF.M	i ka takka 1/F	an tafti is <i>ka</i> and	ssalimitta <i>dey-t-i</i> come-3	si. F-PF	
	<i>ka takk</i> and one- 'Then Garoo	r a-n FREQ te came and	<i>taf-t-i</i> grab-31 d pulled	F-PF the peg a	<i>issalim</i> peg-DE at once.	<i>itt-asi</i> CF.M/F	
127	issalmittasi? tayin. <i>issalmitta-sil</i> peg-DEF.M/	?ittura?ee ? F	i∫eenna <i>is-tura</i> - self-in.	Geeday ?=i front-LC	ka kok $OC = 3$	aasi? ?ollin <i>ifeenna</i> 3SGF.PRO	moontupa [ACC]
	<i>Geed-ay</i> take-PF[3M]	<i>ka</i> and	<i>kokaa-s</i> skin-Dl	<i>si?</i> EF.M/F	<i>olli-n</i> togethe	r-INST	
	<i>moonta-opa</i> sky-to 'The peg to parted to the	<i>tay-i-n.</i> depart- ok her stra sky.'	PF-P ight awa	y and to	ogether	with the skin	n they de-
128	awsite desa j aappaase Gar <i>awsite</i>	paayyatte in cooti. <i>desa</i>	ni ɗuutini <i>paayy-a</i>	iyo anka <i>ad-t-i</i>	Ga?aww	vaa kiininno, <i>ini</i>	kokaase a
	that.time	from	start-M	ID-3F-P	F	this.one	
	<i>duut-ni-yo</i> thunder-IPF.	PRES-3SG	М	<i>anka</i> that.1	Ga?awv thunder	<i>Vaa</i>	
	<i>kid-ni-nno,</i> say-IPF.PRE	S-1PL	<i>kokaa-s</i> skin-Dl	se EF.M	a GEN	<i>aappaa-se</i> husband-Dl	EF.M
	<i>a Gar</i> o GEN Garo	poti. Dote					

'From that day onwards this thing that thunders and that we call it thunder is the skin of Garoote's husband.'

129	akkamsim mina?ew, aw iniyo ka hankaa?niyo, in	rsitee desa paayyatte hankaadoosip 'pilliif' ki- iG GarGarootasee Garootí.			
	akkama-si?	mina?-e	₩,	awsite	desa
	like.that-DEF.M/F	like.tha	t-again	that.time	from
	<i>paayy-ad-t-i</i> start-MID-3F-PF	<i>hankaa</i> lightnin	<i>da-osi?</i> g-DEM.	M/F I	<i>'pilliif'</i> DEO
	<i>kid-ni-yo</i> say-IPF.PRES-3SGM	<i>ka</i> and	<i>hankaad</i> lighten-	<i>1-ni-yo,</i> IPF.PRES	5-3SGM
	<i>ini? GarGaroota-se</i> this.one hair.pin-DEF.F 'Similarly, since that da Garoote's hairpin.'	<i>a</i> GEN ay, the l	<i>Garotí-l</i> Garoote ightning	?. -GEN that flasl	nes [in the storm] is

15. List of nouns

In this chapter, I provide a wordlist of nouns. I give the gender values for the single nouns because the gender value for nouns with plurative suffixes or P gender impose a plural gender value. For matters of space, I provide glosses only for single references.

Single	Multiple and (P)	gloss
aannaa (P)	aannaɗaa	'milk'
aannata (F)	aannawwaa	'limestone'
aataa (P)	aataɗɗaa	'culture'
apuyyaata (M)	apuyyaawwaa	'maternal uncle'
ada (M)	addaa	'cheek'
afaa (P)	afaɗɗaa	'mouth, language'
alkitta (M)	alkiyyaa	'sisal'
ama (M)	amaɗɗaa	'breast'
amma?itta (M)	amma?iyyaa	'breakfast'
apteenta (M)	apteenaa, ~ddaa	'snow'
apuyyaata (M)	apuyyaawwaa	'maternal uncle'
arasaa (P)	arasaɗɗaa	'local beer made for sale'
armayta (M)	armayaa	'cold, flu'
arpa (M)	arpaɗaa	'elephant'
arpatta (M)	arpattaddaa	grass species
arrapa (M)	arrappaa	'tongue'
aχawuta (F)	axawuwwaa	'roasted grain (for food)'
aykitta (M)	aykiyyaa	grass species
ayleennata (F)	ayleennawwaa	bean species
eennaa (P)	eennaɗaa	'field without huts in a town'
eetuta (F)	eetuwwaa	'dinner, supper'
ekerta (M)	ekeraa (P)	'olive'
ekta (F)	ekaa (P), ~ɗaa	'tail'
ela (F)	ellaa	'(water) well'
elalaa (P)	elaladdaa	'cowrie'
ellaa (P)	ellaɗaa	'spirit (e.g. of a well)'
erkanaa (P)	erkanaddaa	'message'
ikkaamaa (P)	ikkaamaɗɗaa	'selected seeds'
ikkirteeta (F)	ikkiraa, ~ɗɗaa	'louse'
ilillaa (M)	ilillaɗɗaa	cockroach species
ilkitta (M)	ilkaa (P), ~iyyaa	'tooth'
ilmaamaa (P)	ilmaamaɗɗaa	'tear'
ipsaa (P)	ipsaɗaa	'light'

irna (M) irnaɗaa 'gum' irroota (F) irroowwaa 'mountain' ohta (F) ohawwaa 'cloth (worn in the night)' 'cow' okkatta (M) okkaa, ~yaa olla?ta (F) olla?awwaa 'leaf' olsaa (P) olsaɗaa 'dream' oraaraa (P) oraaraddaa 'cloud (in the sky)' oraayta (M) oraayaa 'hyena' 'devil' orritta (M) orriyyaa 'fence' ovinta (F) oyinaa, ~dɗaa oytaɗaa 'upper part of homestead' oytaa (P) uffaata (F) uffaawwaa 'gull bladder, balloon' 'husk' ukka∬a (M) ukka∬aɗɗaa ukukkaɗɗaa 'egg' ukukkaa (P) undulaa (P) unGuladdaa 'grain store from bamboo' urmalaa (P) urmalaɗɗaa 'market' urrattaɗɗaa 'mist' urratta (M) utaa (P) utaɗɗaa 'faeces' 'front apron of woman's skirt' utturayta (M) utturayaa uussaa, ~ɗɗaa 'undigested food' uusa (M) uusaa (P) uu∫aɗɗaa 'little rain' uwwaa (P) uwwaɗaa 'dress' 'weed' fa66aɗaa fa66aa (M) fa66eernaddaa 'cartridge belt' fa66eernaa (P) falanfalleeta (F) falanfalleewwaa plant species falaGGaa, ~iyyaa 'flat stone' falaGGitta (M) fapara (M) faparraa 'rig' fifeewwaa fifeeta (F) 'ring' fiifaddaa 'curse' fiifaa (P) fileewwaa 'stick used by old women' fileeta (F) 'stick with a sharp end' finfoota (F) finfoowwaa firitta (M) firiyyaa 'bracelet' fooddita (F) fooggiwwaa 'mud' forrooGaddaa 'eye discharge' forrooGaa (P) fureeta (F) fureewwaa 'dirt' furkaɗaa 'milk during pregnancy' furka (M) furuGaanta (M) furuGaanaa bird species fuu66ata (F) fuu66awwaa cactus species da?ta (M) da?taddaa 'butter' 'flour' daammaa (M) ɗaammaɗaa dahannaata (F) ɗahannaawwaa 'gourd'

dakaa (M) daka(d)daa dalta (F) ɗaltaɗaa daltayta (M) ɗaltayaa ɗamayaa damayta (M) dankaa (M) ɗankaɗaa dapna (M) dapnannaa, ~daa dardaa (P) ɗarɗaɗaa deeputa (F) deepuwwaa dehamtaa (M) dehamtaddaa ɗiikkaa diika (M) ɗiklallaa dikla (M) dila (M) ɗillaa ditiitaa (M) ditiitaddaa do?ayta (M) do?ayaa dompolta (F) ɗompolaa doof∫aɗaa dooffaa (P) dukayta (M) ɗukayaa dumaata (M) dumaataddaa duttana (M) duttannaa ɗuukaamaɗɗaa duukaamaa (P) ɗuusuwwaa duusuta (F) fanGala (M) fanGallaa faroota (F) faroowwaa farta (F) fartadaa filaa (P) filaɗɗaa fillayyaata (F) fillayyaawwaa fira (M) firraa fulaa (P) fuladdaa funna (M) funnaɗaa furaa (P) furaddaa furfaaddaa furfaa (P) furoowwaa furoota (F) furtaɗaa furtaa (P) fuuraa (P) fuuraddaa haaɗiwwaa haadita (F) haaruta (F) haaruwwaa ha6taɗaa ha6ta (M) hakalaa (M) hakallaa hakayta (F) hakayaa hallaka (M) hallakkaa hanfufaa(P) hanfufaddaa hankaada (M) hankaaɗaɗɗaa hankaalta (M) hankaalaa

'stone' 'seed' 'relative' 'wind' 'throat' 'temple' 'lie, untruth' 'thirst' 'advice, consultation' 'blood' 'elbow' 'field' 'sweat' 'hide for carrying things in' 'chunk of dry soil' 'sarcasm' 'hedge' 'sunset, sundown' 'belly' 'boil (swelling)' 'fart' 'splinter' 'omen. luck' 'horse' 'comb' 'flea' 'guest, relative' 'gate, door' 'water outlet (e.g. pond)' 'padlock, key' 'baby's faeces' 'type of bead' 'cotton cord for women' 'fear' 'load, burden' 'revenge' 'border, foreign country' 'cabbage' 'second round of harvest' 'fat' 'saliva'

'lightning'

tree species

hankoolayta (M) hankoolayaa hanGaraara (M) hanGaraarraa harka (M) harkaa harpoorissa (M) harpoorissaddaa harraa6atta (M) harraa6attaddaa harreeta (F) harreewwaa haa∬ullaa (P) haa∬ullaɗɗaa hawla (M) hawlallaa herkiya (M) herkaɗaa hi66aa. ~ɗaa hi6ta (F) hidana (M) hiɗannaa hii66aa hii6a (M) hiippaa (P) hiippaɗaa hikkitta (M) hikkiyyaa hilteeta (F) hilteewwaa hinkaaffawwaa hinkaaffata (F) hinkiikkata (F) hinkiikkawwaa hiparaata (F) hiparaawwaa hirrii6addaa hirrii6aa (P) hirta (M) hirtaɗaa hittina (M) hittinnaa hooffaa hoofa (M) hoollata (F) hoollawwaa hoppatta (M) hoppayaa hoffa (M) ho∬aɗaa hotaarta (M) hotaaraa kaa6tuta (F) kaa6tuwwaa kaafaɗɗaa kaafaa (P) kaaffata (F) kaaffawwaa kaarayyoota (F) kaarayyoowwaa kaariyyaɗɗaa kaariyyaa (P) kaassaa kaasa (M) kaawwata (F) kaawwawwaa ka6a (M) kaɓaɗɗaa kaffaa kafa (M) kaharta (F) kaharraa kahitta (M) kahiyyaa kala?ta (F) kala?awwaa kana?ta (F) kana?awwaa kandaa (P) kanɗaɗɗaa kaankita (F) kaankiwwaa kannoota (F) kannoowwaa kanta (M) kantaɗaa kannatta (M) kappattaddaa,~yaa weed species 'caterpillar' 'hand' tree species 'cobweb' 'donkey' 'leaf' 'grave, tomb' 'axe' 'lip' root crop species 'meat soup' 'riddle' 'star' 'sycamore tree' 'ant' plant species 'bat (animal)' 'eyelash' 'man's special knife' 'root' 'hole' 'sheep skin' 'guts (for food)' 'cliff' tree species 'farm tool' 'money' 'teff' 'concubine' 'devil' 'horn, gun' 'mirror, glass' 'canal for irrigation' 'clan' 'ewe' tree species 'spider' 'palm' grass species 'mule' 'calabash to drink from' 'sub-village' 'mud from/around well'

kappaa (M) karayta (M) karissa (M) karitta (M) karakaa (M) karmaa (M) karratta (M) kasaraa (P) kasirayta (M) katipayta (M) kawkawa (M) kawlaa (P) kawsa (M) kawwatta (F) kaylaa (P) kayyaha (M) kee?uta (F) kehayta (M) kela (M) keltayta (M) keraa (M) kessa (M) ki?saa (P) killootaa (F) kilpa (M) kirra (M) kittayyaa (M) koɗaa (M) kokaa (M) kolalta (M) kolkaa (P) kollatta (M) konfa (M) koo6ta (F) koofinaa (P) koorita (F) kootaara (M) koromta (F) kosaa (P) koſkoſa (M) koskorta (F) koylaata (F) kulilta (M) kulleeta (F) kupa?taa (P)

kappaɗaa karavaa karissaɗɗaa kariyyaa karkaɗaa karmaɗaa karrayaa kasaraa kasirayaa katipayaa kawkawwaa kawlallaa. ɗaa kawsaɗaa kawwayaa kaylaɗaa kayyahhaa kee?uwwaa kehayaa, \sim ɗɗaa kellaa keltayaa kere?ta kessaɗaa ki?saɗɗaa killoowwaa kilpallaa kirraɗaa kittayyaɗɗaa koɗaɗɗaa kokaɗɗaa kolalaa kolkaɗaa kollayaa konfaɗaa koo6taɗaa koofinaddaa kooriwwaa kootaarraa koromaa kosaɗɗaa koſkoſſaa koskoraa koylaawwaa kulillaa kulleewwaa kupa?taddaa

'wheat' 'tributary' 'guts' 'belly' 'beehive' 'lion' 'squirrel' 'dreadlocks' 'tick (parasite)' plant species ʻjaw' 'metal tool for ginning' 'chin: beard' 'terrace' 'tassel' 'lawn (chief's compound)' 'belching' kind of musical instrument 'vagina' 'baboon' 'thief' 'bosom, chest' 'fireplace; cricket (insect)' 'ritual' 'knee' 'river' 'bedbug' 'work' 'skin, hide' 'acacia' 'food without cabbage' 'animal skin' 'short' tree species 'lung' 'type of cloth' '(small) granary' 'heifer' 'big granary' 'comb (of chicken, bird)' 'partridge' bird species 'guinea fowl' 'hood; cap' 'tortoise'

kuppoota (F)	kuppoowwaa	'cotton thread'
kurra (M)	kurraɗaa	'ear'
kurruuf∫aa (M)	kurruuf∫aɗɗaa	'droppings (sheep or goats)'
kusa (M)	kussaa	'penis'
ku∫ilaa (M).	ku∫illaa	'maggot (as parasite)'
kussitta (M)	kussiyyaa	'second-born son'
kusumta (F)	kusumtaɗɗaa	'navel'
kuta (M)	kuttaa	'dog'
kuufa (M)	kuuffaa	'pile of cow dung'
kuyyaalayta (M)	kuyyaalayaa	'dust'
kuupata (F)	kuupawwaa	'gnat'
laakaanta (M)	laakaanaa	plant species
laallata (F)	laallawwaa	plant species
lafta (F)	lafaa	'bone'
laha (M)	lahaɗɗaa	'ram'
landeeta (F)	landeewwaa	'spleen'
lawaseeta (F)	lawa∫eewwaa	'mouse'
leemmuta (F).	leemmuwwaa	'bubble'
leGaa (P)	leGaddaa	'loan'
leya (M)	leyaɗɗaa	'month'
locta (F)	loGGaa	'leg, foot'
lukkalitta (M)	lukkaliyyaa, \sim aa	'hen, chicken'
maakaa (M)	maakaɗɗaa	'snake'
maanGaa (M)	maanGaɗaa	'fresh edible grain seeds'
maanGirayyaata (F)maanGirayyaawwaa	plant species
maaGayta (M)	maaGayaa	plant species
mahanta (F)	mahanaa, ~ɗɗaa	grass species
makkaa (P)	makkaɗaa	'sickness'
mala (M)	malaɗɗaa	'system, wisdom, strategy'
malχaa (M)	malxaɗaa	'flood'
marfaa (P)	marfaɗaa	'hip'
marGinaa (P)	marGinaddaa	'intestine'
masarta (F)	marsaa	'buttock'
masaanaa (P)	masaanaddaa	'autumn'
ma∫annaata (F)	ma∫annaawwaa	'roof top made from clay'
maskahanta (M)	maskahanaa	tree species
massatta (M)	massayaa	'crocodile'
mate?ta (F)	mate?taddaa, ~eww	aa 'upper millstone'
matta (M)	mattaɗaa	'head'
meelaala (M)	meelaallaa	'mould (of snake)'
mehaddaa (P)	mehaddaa	'belongings'
miɗaa (P)	miɗaɗɗaa	'cabbage leaves'
miira (M)	miirraa	'anger'

misinta (F)	misinaa, ~ɗɗaa	'clitoris'
moohaa (M)	moohaɗɗaa	'family spirit'
mookkaa (P)	mookkaɗaa	'cassava'
mooluta (F)	mooluwwaa	'bald'
moona (M)	moonnaa	'mound of soil'
moonta (F)	moontadaa	'sky'
mooraa (M)	mooraddaa	'public square'
moossuta (F)	moossuwwaa	'piece of bread'
mootta (m/f)	moottadaa	'friend'
mooyyileeta (F)	mooyyileewwaa	'chigger, sand flea'
moGorGorissa (M)	moGorGorissaddaa	grass species
mottooGaa (M)	mottooGGaa	'car, vehicle'
moχna (M)	moxnannaa	'rocky place'
mudkahanta (M)	muɗkahanaa	tree species
mura (M)	murraa	'forest'
murkufaa (M)	murkufaɗɗaa	'fish'
muukuta (F)	muukuwwaa	'frog'
muuGa (M)	muuGGaa	'ladle'
muutiya (M)	muutiyaɗɗaa	'worm'
naalaa (M)	naalaɗɗaa	'spoiled behaviour'
nahtitta (M)	nahtiyyaa, ~ɗɗaa	'centre of the head'
napaalayta (M)	napaalayaa	bird species
napahta (F)	napahawwaa, nappaa	a'ear'
naplatta (M)	naplattaɗɗaa	bird species
nessa (M)	nessadaa	'soul, breath'
noodduta (F)	noodduwwaa	'bribe'
	0	(, , , ,
naannaa (P)	naannadaa	'tomato'
pirtaa (P)	nirfadaa	'hair'
jupuraa (P)	nupuraddaa	component of loom
poofuto (E)	poofuurroo	'aidahuma'
paajula (F)	paajuwwaa	'span (measurement)'
$paakkuta(\Gamma)$	paakkuwwaa	'feather'
paala (W)	paallawwaa	'clay plate to fetch fire with'
paankaa (P)	paankadaa	'machete'
paarkaa (1)	paarikauda	'disease sickness'
paarkaalaa (P)	paarkaaladdaa	'enemy'
paarkaalaa (1)	paarkaalauuaa	plant spacing
paasa(W)	paassaa paftadaa	'house made from stones'
paria (1) pahnaa (D)	panauaa pahnaddaa	'example'
paliliaa (r)	painauuaa pakaannadddaa	root crop species
panaaiiiaa (F)	pakaannauuuaa	'mumps'
panajulia (r)	panajeewwaa	'wide shield'
pakalaa (r)	ракатациаа	white sinch

palla (M) palladaa 'v-shaped thing' palta (M) paltadaa 'white basalt' para (M) parraa 'vear' paraffaddaa 'finger millet' paraffaa (M) 'heartburn' parappaGaddaa parappaGaa (P) parfuma (M) parfummaa 'stool (to sit on)' parkaɗaa 'work team' parka (M) payraɗaa payraa (P) 'type of farm tool' peeGaa (M) peeGaddaa 'metal or clay dish for baking' peeGaa (P) рееббаа 'quarrel, dispute' piffitta (M) piffiyyaa grain species piirtuwwaa 'sun' piirtuta (F) pinanta (M) pinaanaa 'animal' pirpirta (M) pirpiraa 'juniper tree' pi∫addaa 'water' pi∫aa (P) pofaddaa 'serpent' pofa (M) pohaa (P) pohaddaa 'contribution, tribune' pohmayta (M) pohmayaa 'chameleon' 'shorts (with pockets)' pokkeeta (F) pokkeewwaa pondohdohhaata (F)pondohdohhaawwaa plant species poolluwwaa 'hole in the ground' poolluta (F) poortadaa 'barley' poorta (M) pooyta (F) pooytadaa 'mourning, crying' poGa∬a (M) poGa∬addaa 'back door' poGallaa (M) poGalladdaa 'clan chief' 'lower jaw' poGoota (F) poGoowwaa 'road' pora (M) porraa poroxxaata (F) poroxxaawwaa 'component of payraa' pottaata (F) pottaawwaa 'pumpkin' punitta (M) 'coffee' puniyyaa punsukkayta (M) punsukkayaa 'owl' purkaayyata (F) purkaayyawwaa bird species pussayyaawwaa pussayyaata (F) lizard species puukkaɗɗaa puukkaa (M) 'corpse' puulluta (F) puulluwwaa 'fermented dough' putteena (M) putteennaa 'enjera' Gaawa (M) Gaawwaa 'hole' 'coughing' Gaawuta (F) Gaawuwwaa Gannatta (M) lizard species Gannayaa 'monkey' Gapaleeta (F) Gapaleewwaa Gapoota (F) Gapoowwaa 'local beer' Garratta (M) Garrayaa 'cheese' 'firstborn son' Garta (M) Gartadaa Gawre?ta (F) Gawre?ewwaa tree species

Gayranta (M) Gayya (M) Gimayta (M) Gina?itta (M) Ginda (M) Giti∬oota (F) Golfaa (P) Golpa (M) Goola (M) GoonGita (M) Goo∫a (M) Goyra (M) Gupitta (M) Gurrupayta (M) Gussa (M) raaka (F) rafayta (M) raGaa (M) riifa (M) rikaa (M) ritta (F) riwwa?itta (M) roopa (M) rukkatta (M) ruuffata (F) saallaa (M) saalpuuGaa (M) saaraa (P) saayaa (P) saalilikoota (F) saalpataa (M) sankaylitta (M) sappeeta (F) sapanta (F) sara6ta (M) sata?ta (M) sayleeta (F) seettitaa (M) seyyitta (M) sindaa (P) sipla (M) sitaa (P)

solaa (P)

Gayyaɗaa Gimayaa Gina?aa, ∼iyyaa Gindaddaa Giti∬oowwaa Golfallaa, ~daa Golpallaa, ∼yaa Goollaa GoonGiwwaa Gooffaa, ∼dɗaa Goraa Gupiyyaa Gurrupayaa Gussadaa raakkaa rafayaa raGaddaa riifaɗɗaa rikaɗɗaa rittaɗaa riwwa?iyyaa rooppaa, ~ddaa rukkayaa ruuffawwaa saallaɗaa saalpuuGaddaa saaraɗɗaa saayaɗɗaa saalilikoowwaa saalpataddaa sankayliyyaa sappeewwaa sapanaa sar6aa sata?awwaa sayleewwaa seettiyyaa seyyittaddaa sindaddaa siplallaa sitaddaa

soladdaa

Gayranaa

'leopard' 'smoke' 'old man' 'rib; spring (of car)' 'side' 'sneezing' 'pod, bark (of tree)' 'he-goat' 'cow/ox hide for sleeping on' 'throat' 'skin disease' 'tree' 'finger' 'crow' 'wall' 'old woman' 'fallow land' 'type of hut' 'pubic hair' 'toothbrush' 'young she-goat' 'milky way' 'rain' tree species 'big intestine (of animals)' 'cow dung' 'skunk' 'poem' 'rectum' 'rumen, first stomach of ruminant' 'belt' 'component of payraa' 'species, type' acacia species 'calf (of leg)' 'heart' 'mane' 'upper foot' 'hawk' 'urine' 'metal, iron' 'tail (of an animal)' 'tail (of a bird)'

sookitta (M)	sookiyyaa	'salt'
soroora (M)	soroorraa	'rainy season'
sukeenta (F)	sukeenaa	'female lamb'
surraa (M)	surraɗaa	'waist'
suuma (M)	suummaa	'witch doctor's revelation'
s ^w aa (P)	s ^w aaɗɗaa	'meat'
∫ааббаа (Р)	∫ааббасаа	'stretcher'
∫ahaa (P)	∫ahaɗɗaa	'honeycomb'
∫aɗɗaa (M)	∫aGGaɗaa	'calabash cup'
∫aloota (F)	∫aloowwaa	'cotton thread'
∫ehta (F)	∫ahtaɗɗaa	'grass snake'
∫enGera (M)	∫enGerraa	'long stick with hook'
∫ila (M)	∫ilallaa	'rock'
∫ipiritta (M)	∫ipiriyyaa	'spin'
∫oloGloGitta (M)	∫oloGloGiyyaa	'claw'
∫onka (M)	∫onkaɗaa	type of hut
∫ooraa (M)	∫ooraddaa	'thin stick to flog with'
∫uulayta (M)	∫uulaytaɗɗaa	type of sorghum
taahayta (M)	taahayaa, \sim ɗɗaa	'sand'
taaltaallata (F)	taaltaallawwaa	'giraffe'
taammata (F)	taammawwaa	'desert bee'
taa∫a (M)	taa∬aa	plant species
taata (M)	taattaa	'residue'
tafa (M)	taffaa	'thigh'
takala (M)	takallaa	'valley'
talteeta (F)	talaa	'she-goat'
tampoota (F)	tampoowwaa	'tobacco'
taamta (F)	taammaa, ∼ɗaa	'branch'
tankaa∬ata (F)	tankaa∬awwaa	'hedgehog'
tawna (M)	tawnannaa, ~ɗaa	'bell'
te?∫aa (P)	te?∫aɗɗaa	'elephantiasis'
teeka (M)	teekkaa, ~ddaa	'preying mantis'
teepaa (P)	teepaddaa	'rope'
teetta (M)	teettadaa	'threshing field'
telGayta (M)	telGayaa	'lizard'
tiiruta (F)	tiiruwwaa	'circular object'
tika (F)	tikkaa	'house'
timpiliGi∫aa (M)	timpiliGi∫aɗɗaa	tree species
tinnayta (M)	tinnayaa	tree species
tirmaama (M)	tirmaammaa	'bruise'
tiraa (P)	tiraɗɗaa	'liver'
tiyyaa (P)	tiyyaɗaa	'dispute'
tofaa (P)	tofaddaa	'water droplet'
	-	•

tokkayta (M) tokkayaa 'porcupine' tollo?ta (F) tollo?owwaa 'hump' tomaddaa 'bowl' toma (M) tooraa (P) tooraddaa torradaa torraa (P) tokudoota (F) tukuɗoowwaa 'nape' tullatta (M) tullayaa, ~dɗaa 'old cow' tulluppaata (F) tulluppaawwaa tulpeeta (F) tulpeewwaa tuu6uwwaa tuu6uta (F) tuuɗɗaa 'pillar' tuuda (M) tuuma (M) tuumaɗɗaa tuuyyata (F) tuuyyawwaa 'pig' tuyyuuraa (M) tuyyuurraa 'airplane' waakkaa (P) waakkaɗaa wataroota (F) wataroowwaa 'fly' χa?tiya (M) χa?tiyaddaa χaallita (F) γaalliwwaa 'reed' χaa∫aa (P) χaa∫aɗɗaa χaayyata (F) χaayyawwaa 'stick' χ alitta (M) χaliyyaa χ allaa (P) χallaɗaa 'kidnev' χalla∬a (M) χalla∬aɗɗaa χammayaa χammayta (M) 'bird' χ ampirteeta (F) γampiraa χapnaa (P) χapnaɗaa χarinta (F) χarinaa χarraɗaa χarra (M) 'warthog' χarχarayta (M) χarχarayaa 'shoulder' χa∬itta (M) χa∬iyyaa 'molar' χawlo?ta (F) yawlo?owwaa χ aylaa (P) χaylaɗaa χayna?ta (M) xayna?taddaa χeellaa χeela (M) χoffaɗaa 'groin' χoffaa (P) χola?itta (M) χ ola?aa, \sim yyaa χoladdaa χolaa (P) χolmaa (M) χolmaɗaa 'neck' χommaata (F) χommaawwaa χompalta (F) χompalaa 'cactus' χopta (F) χ opaa (P); ~ddaa 'shoe' χoraa (P) χooraddaa χorma (M) χormadaa

'opposition' 'speech, talk' 'wood-boring beetle' 'hippopotamus' 'false banana bread' 'onion, garlic' 'wooden statue' 'rope made from sisal fibre' bird species 'nightmare' 'rhinoceros horn' 'fallow land' 'forest (of clan chief)' 'horizontal fence bar' 'door, gate' plant species 'strongly cotton thread' 'boundary' cactus species 'hot drink made from coffee leaves' 'vengeance' 'fine, punishment' 'ox, bull'

χottooma (M)	χottoommaa	'fist'
yaakata (F)	yaakawwaa	'bead'
yaaya (M)	yaayyaa	'type of bead'
yeela (M)	yeellaa	'field along the river bank'
yo?matta (M)	yo?mayaa	'grindstone'
yo?ta (F)	yo?taɗɗaa	'greed'
yooyta (M)	yooytaɗaa	'jackal'

References

- Ameka, Felix (1992). Introduction Interjections: the universal yet neglected part of speech. *Journal of Pragmatics* 18:101-118.
- Alemayehu Dereje (2003). The Noun Phrase in Konso. B.A thesis, Ababa University.

Andrzejewski, B. W (1957). Some Preliminary Observations on the Borana Dialect of Oromo [Galla]. *Bulletin of the School of Oriental and African Studies* 19:354-374.

Banti, Giorgio (1986). Adjectives in East Cushitic. In Bechhaus-Gerst, M. and Serzisk. F. (eds), *Cushitic-Omotic. Papers from the International Symposium on Cushitic and Omotic Languages*, Cologne, January 6-9. Hamburg: Helmut Buske.

- Black, Paul (1973). Draft Sketch of Konso Phonology, Morphology and Syntax. Unpublished Manuscript.
- Black, Paul (1974). Lowland East Cushitic Subgroupping and reconstruction. PhD dissertation. Yale University
- Bliese and Sokka (1986). Konso Exceptions to SOV Typology. Journal of *Ethiopian Studies* 19:1-40.
- Bender, Lionel M. et. al (1976). Language in Ethiopia. London: OUP.
- Beniam Mitiku (2000). Noun Morphology of Konso: Some Inflections and Derivations. BA thesis. Addis Ababa University.
- Central Statistical Agency (2009). Housing and Population Census result.
- Daniel Damtew (2000). Compounding in Konso. BA thesis, Addis Ababa University.
- Daudey, Henriette and Hellenthal, Anne-Christie (2004). Some Morphosyntactic Aspects of the Konso Language. MA thesis, Leiden University.
- Dixon, R.M.W. and Aikhenvald, A. (2009). *The Semantics of Clause Linking: A Cross-linguistic Typology*. Oxford: Oxford University Press
- Dhoorre, C.A. and Tosco, Mauro. (1998). Somali ideophones. *Journal of African Cultural Studies* 11(2): 125-156.

Gallo Aylate (2008). A Morphological Analysis of the Konso Verb with Emphasis on the Inflection of the Verb. MA thesis, Nairobi Evangelical Graduate School of Theology

- Geberew Tulu (2005). The Morphology of Gawwada. M.A thesis, Addis Ababa University.
- Getahun Amare (1999). Noun Phrase Structure in Konso. *Journal of Ethiopian Studies*. 32:51-88. Addis Ababa: Institute of Ethiopian Studies.
- Haile Eyesus Engidashet (1986). Konso Orthography. Addis Ababa.
- Hayward, Richard (1981). Nominal Suffixes in Dirayta (Gidole). *Bulletin of the School of Oriental and African Studies* 44(1):126-144
- Hayward, Richard J (1995). *The challenge of Omotic*. An inaugural lecture delivered on 17 Feburary 1994. London: SOAS.

- Owens, Jonathan (1985). *A grammar of Harar Oromo (Northeastern Ethiopia)*. Hamburg: Helmut Buske.
- Mahamod Aden (1999). Relativization in Konso. BA thesis, Addis Ababa University.
- Mous, Maarten (2004). The Causative in Konso. In Kastenholz, R. and Storch, A. (eds). *Sprache und Wissen in Afrika*, pp.213-228. Cologne: Rüdiger Köppe Verlag.
- Mous, Maarten (2005). Coordination in Konso. *Journal of Ethiopian Studies* 38(1-2): 97-114.
- Mous, Maarten (2007). The middle and passive derivation in Konso. In Azeb Amha, Mous, Maarten and Savá, Graziano (eds), Omotic and Cushitic Language Studies: Papers from the fourth Cushitic and Omotic Conference, Leiden, 10-12 April 2003, pp.213-229. Cologne: Rüdiger Köppe Verlag.
- Mous, Maarten and Ongaye Oda (2009). The Semantics of Clause Linking in Konso. In *The Semantics of Clause Linking: A Cross-linguistic Typology*. Dixon, R.M.W and Aikhenvald, A.Y (eds). pp. 336-355. Oxford University Press
- Mulugeta Seyoum (2008). A Grammar of Dime. Utrecht: LOT
- Ongaye Oda (2000). Simple Sentences in Konso. BA thesis, Addis Ababa University
- Ongaye Oda (2004). An Overview of Complex and Complement Clauses in Konso. MA thesis, Addis Ababa University
- Ongaye Oda (2010). The Spread of Punctual Derivation in Oromoid and Werizod Languages. In Crass, J and Meyer, R (eds), *Language Contact and Language Change in Ethiopia*. Cologne: Rüdiger Köppe Verlag.
- Ongaye Oda (in press). Conditional Clauses in Konso. Proceedings of the 5th Omo-Cush Conference
- Sasse, Hans-Jürgen (1982). *An etymological dictionary of Burji.* Hamburg: Buske.
- Sasse, Hans-Jürgen (1986). A southwest Ethiopian language area and its cultural background. In: Fishman, Joshua A, Tabouret-Keller, André, Clyne, Michael, Krishnamurti, Bh. and Abdulaziz Mohamed (eds.), *The Fergusonian Impact: In Honor of Charles A. Ferguson on the Occasion of His 65th Birthday. Vol. 1: From Phonology to Society.* Berlin: Mouton deGruyter, 327-342.
- Savá, Graziano (2005). *A Grammar of Ts'amakko.* Cologne: Rüdiger Köppe Verlag.
- Sim, Ronald (1977). A linguistic sketch: Phonology and Morphology of the Word in Konso. MA thesis, University of Nairobi.
- Stroomer, Harry (1995). A Grammar of Boraana Oromo (Kenya): Phonology, Morphology and Vocabularies. Cologne: Rüdiger Köppe Verlag.
- Tizita Getahun (2003). Verb Morphology of Konso. BA thesis. Addis Ababa University.
- Tolemariam Fufa (2009). A Typology of Verbal Derivation in Ethiopian Afroasiatic Languages. Utrecht: LOT

- Tosco, Mauro (2001). *The Dhaasanac Language*. Cologne: Rüdiger Küppe Verlag.
- Vähäkangas, Anna (2009). A Brief Grammar of the Konso Language. SIL
- Wedikind, Klaus (2002). Sociolinguistic Survey Report of the Languages of the Gawwada (Dullay), Diraasha (Gidole), Muusiye (Bussa) Areas. SIL International.
- Wondwosen Tesfaye (2007). Aspects of Diraytata Morphology and Syntax: A Lexical-Functional Grammar Approach. PhD Thesis. Trondheim.
- Yohannes Hadaya and Gemechu Gedeno (1996). Konso-English-Amharic Dictionary. FRP Technical Pamphlet No. 10.

Samenvatting (Summary in Dutch)

Het proefschrift *A grammar of Konso* is een beschrijvende grammatica van het Konso, gebaseerd op veldwerk en introspectie van de auteur.

In de inleiding (hoofdstuk één) wordt kort ingegaan op de cultuur en sociale structuur van de Konso die in zuidwest Ethiopië wonen. Het hoofdstuk beschrijft hun intensieve landbouw en hun traditionele methodes om erosie tegen te gaan. Het hoofdstuk bevat ook de belangrijkste algemene informatie over de Konsotaal: de klassificatie, de situatie rond erkenning van een orthografie en keuze voor een schrift en de beperkte omvang van geschreven literatuur in het Konso. Alle voorgaande taalkundige werken die betrekking hebben op het Konso worden genoemd en kort besproken en de dataverzameling wordt uitgelegd.

Hoofdstuk twee behelst de fonologie van het Konso met analyse van fonemen, klinkers en medeklinkers, en uitleg over hun fonetische realisatie in context. De implosieven verliezen hun stemhebbendheid als ze lang (geminaat) zijn. Alle consonanten kunnen als geminaat optreden. Voor de bewijsvoering voor fonemische status wordt gebruikt gemaakt van (bijna-)minimale paren. De vijf klinkers kunnen lang en kort voorkomen. Ik behandel de distributie en beperkingen daarop van klinkers en medeklinkers. Toon kan contrastief zijn in het Konso (Lage tegenover Hoge toon) maar de functie van dit onderscheid is uiterst beperkt. Het hoofdstuk bevat een overzicht van de kenmerken van de lettergreep. Ik presenteer ook een aantal gevallen van opmerkelijke lexicale variatie die niet fonologisch van aard lijken te zijn. De fonologische regels van het Konso komen aan bod, inclusief die die beperkt zijn tot specifieke morfemen, de morfofonologie.

Hoofdstuk drie geeft een kort en bondig overzicht van de basisstructuur van de zin. Dit hoofdstuk is op deze plaats nodig om de voorbeeldzinnen in de volgende hoofdstukken te begrijpen. De meeste Konso zinnen hebben een clitisch element dat naar het subject verwijst maar los van het werkwoord en vóór het werkwoord op verschillende plaatsen in de zin kan staan, zich hechtend aan het woord ervoor of erachter. Deze subjectclitica worden hier behandeld. De basisstructuur van verbale zinnen, nominale zinnen, adjectivale zinnen en cleft zinnen komen aan bod.

Hoofdstuk vier gaat over het naamwoord. Het naamwoord in het Konso onderscheidt onder andere geslacht en getal. De beide dimensies geslacht en getal zijn zeer interessant en in het bijzonder hun interactie, zoals ook het geval is in verscheidene andere Koesjitische talen. Het hoofdstuk begint met een uiteenzetting over geslacht en laat zien dat deze categorie zijn bestaansrecht ontleent aan de concordantie op het werkwoord (subject) en op de modificeerders van het naamwoord. Het geslacht van naamwoorden is een lexicaal gegeven en alleen in een beperkt aantal gevallen te relateren aan de sexe van de bezielde referent. Na de introductie van geslacht komt getal aan de orde. Het Konso kent een aantal verschillende meervoudsvormingen waarvan de distributie in het lexicon aangegeven dient te worden. Naast meervoudsvorming kent het Konso ook enkelvoudsvorming van naamwoorden. Allerlei combinaties van afleiding voor getal voor dezelfde nominale wortel zijn geattesteerd: singulatief, of pluratief, of beide, of geen van beide. De categorie van getal vereist ook concordantie en wel op het adjectief, waar zij onafhankelijk is van de concordantie naar geslacht die ook op het adjectief gemarkeerd is. Interessant en op het eerste gezicht onverwacht voor de lezer die niet vertrouwd is met Koesjitische talen is het feit dat één van waardes van geslacht "meervoud" is, maar los staat van "meervoud" als waarde voor getal. Naast deze onderwerpen komen in dit hoofdstuk ook aan bod: markering van definietheid, van (specifieke) indefinietheid, en van demonstrativa. Ik leg in dit hoofdstuk uit hoe er geteld wordt, en hoe de basale rekenkundige operaties worden uitgedrukt. Het hoofdstuk bevat een inventaris van de verschillende mogelijkheden van afleiding naar en vanuit de categorie van naamwoord. Ook casus komt aan bod. Ik sluit het hoofdstuk af met enkele woorden over samenstellingen.

Hoofdstuk vijf gaat over voornaamwoorden: persoonlijke, aanwijzende en bezittelijke voornaamwoorden. Ik behandel hier ook de uitdrukking van wederkerigheid (reflexieven en reciproken).

Hoofdstuk zes is gewijd aan het werkwoord. Allereerst behandel ik de werkwoordsafleidingen causatief, mediaal, passief, inchoatief, pluractioneel en punctueel. De laatste twee zijn buitengemeen interessant omdat ze in feite een werkwoordelijk getalsysteem (getal van de gebeurtenis) vormen met inflectionele eigenschappen, zoals de verplichtheid tot uitdrukking, maar ook met derivationele eigenschappen zoals lexicale bepaaldheid voor welke vormen, pluractioneel en/of punctueel, er zijn. Punctueel behelst dat de actie één keer of ten dele of intensief plaats vindt. Het tweede onderdeel van hoofdstuk zes gaat over de werkwoordsinflectie. Het basisonderscheid is tussen perfectief en imperfectief aspect maar binnen het imperfectieve aspect is er een speciale vorm die ik continuative noem. Op het modale vlak worden ook de optatief uitgedrukt en de gebiedende wijs. De negatieve vormen komen aan bod in hoofdstuk elf.

Adjectieven zijn het onderwerp van hoofdstuk 7. Reduplicatie van adjectieven kan meervoudigheid aanduiden maar ook intensiteit. De verschillende nominalisaties van adjectieven komen ter sprake.

Hoofdstuk acht behandelt de resterende lexicale categoriën zoals postposities, bijwoorden en conjuncties. Dit laatste morfologische hoofdstuk heeft een inventariserend karakter.

Vanaf hoofdstuk negen komt de syntaxis aan de orde, hoewel ook in de voorafgaande hoofdstukken al syntactische zaken zijn aangekaart. Ik behandel woordvolgorde binnen de naamwoordgroep en de volgorde van woordgroepen binnen de zin, inclusief de nominale zin. Ik duid aan hoe vergelijking in Konso uitgedrukt wordt en ik besteed aandacht aan de syntactische eigenschappen van bijzinnen.

Hoofdstuk tien behandelt vraagzinnen: inhoudsvragen, ja/nee vragen en zogenaamde tag questions. Hoofdstuk elf behandelt negatie. Er zijn speciale negatieve werkwoordsvormen om negatie uit tedrukken, maar negatie wordt ook uitgedrukt in het subjectcliticum en met lexicale middelen waardoor een zin verscheidene uitdrukkingen van negatie kan bevatten. In hoofdstuk twaalf behandel in complexe zinnen waaronder conditionele zinnen. Complementzinnen worden hier behandeld maar ook bijwoordelijke zinnen van tijd, reden en doel. Het hoofdstuk inventariseert de verschillende manieren om zinnen te verbinden.

Hoofdstuk dertien gaat over ideofonen, waarin de klank intrinsiek betekenis uitdrukt, en over interjecties. Het hoofdstuk eindigt met de vaste uitdrukkingen die gehanteerd worden bij begroeting en het nemen van afscheid. Met deze paragraaf nemen we afscheid van de grammatica en zijn we in staat de twee teksten van hoofdstuk veertien te doorgronden. Deze teksten zijn tot in detail geglost. Hoofdstuk vijftien tenslotte is een lijst van naamwoorden met hun getal en geslachtsvormen. Deze lijst vormde de basis voor hoofdstuk vier.

Curriculum Vitae

Ongaye Oda Orkaydo was born on 8 March 1976 at Kuume village in Konso, Ethiopia. In June 1997, he completed his high school education at Konso Junior and Senior High School. In November 1997 he began his studies at Addis Ababa University and obtained his B.A. degree in Linguistics in 2000. From November 2000 to August 2003 he was employed as a graduate assistant at Dilla University, then at Dilla College of Teacher Education and Health Sciences. In September 2003 he began the graduate programme at Addis Ababa University and received his M.A. degree in Linguistics in 2004. From September 2004 to August 2007, he was a lecturer at Dilla University. Apart from teaching linguistics and English courses, he served as an assistant coordinator for the Continuing Education Programme, coordinator for the Distance Education Unit, and vice dean to the Teacher Education Faculty. From September 2007 to August 2011, he was employed as a PhD researcher at Leiden University Centre for Linguistics (LUCL), Department of African Languages and Cultures. He is married and has two sons and a daughter.